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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) Affirm and adopt (no changes)
) SS. D Affirm with changes
COUNTY OF COOK ) [ Reverse

[ Modity

D Injured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d))
[ ] Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(z))

[ ] second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)

[ ] PTD/Fatal denied

None of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Gustavo Dominguez-Zilli,

Petitioner,
12 WC 04491
Cintas, :
16IWCC0364
Respondent.

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review under §19(b) having been filed by the Respondent/Petitioner
herein and notice given to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of causal
connection, temporary total disability/maintenance, medical expenses, prospective medical care,
permanency, penalties and attorney fees, and evidentiary rulings and being advised of the facts
and law, affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and made a
part hereof. The Commission further remands this case to the Arbitrator for further proceedings
for a determination of a further amount of temporary total compensation or of compensation for
permanent disability, if any, pursuant to Thomas v. Industrial Commission, 78 111.2d 327, 399

N.E.2d 1322, 35 Ill.Dec. 794 (1980).

FINDINGS OF FACTS AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

e Petitioner was a 54 year old employee of Respondent, who described his jobs. Petitioner
was working for Respondent in September 2011 and at that time he had been there 14-15
years. Petitioner had been hired by Respondent in 1998 under the name Juan Fray
Vasquez and he began using (Gustavo Dominguez-Villi in 2005 (no longer under
Vasquez). He changed the name he used because they told Petitioner they were going to
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be checking documents and they were then giving Petitioner two weeks to take care of
that. Petitioner testified that he came back with documents for Respondent; he did not
recall what year, but that was when he started using the name Gustavo Dominguez-Villa
and Respondent accepted Petitioner under that name and Petitioner had then continued
working for Respondent until his accident. In September 2011 Petitioner testified that
Respondent had him washing machines in the washing corridor. He had to program the
bags in the computer and send each one to the washing machines. On the date of
accident, September 9, 2011-(11 WC 46725), Petitioner testified that the truck loaders
did not show up and Mr. Navarrette, the boss at the time, told Petitioner to go and unload
trucks with a co-worker. Petitioner indicated that normally there were 3-4 people when
fully staffed. That day there was just Petitioner and a young guy unloading the trucks.
Petitioner stated that day was unloading the trucks and they had to pick up a pile of
clothes and when picking up the piles he got a very strong pain in his lower back. He had
to pick up the clothes from the floor of the truck as it was all thrown all gver on the floor.
e e 1€ hi2d to_pick up. the. clothes. with his arms from the floor and put into a laundry bag and. ...
that was when he got the bad pain. His normal shift was t:00 to 10:00pm and the accident
occurred about 8:00-9:00pm. Petitioner testified that he did not tell the supervisor that
day as when he left work at 10:00 he looked in the office but the boss was very busy with
the machines because he had wash to do. He had finished working that day but he was in

pain. The accident occurred on a Friday and he did not work the weekend. He did not go
to work on Monday as he went to the doctor.

e Petitioner testified at that time he was making about $12.25 per hour and worked
normally an eight hour day, five days per week regularly (40 hour work week). He
indicated he had always been available to work a full, week prior to the injury ($490.00
per week). Petitioner testified on the Monday after the accident he went to see Dr. Jose
Castro. Prior to September 9, 2011 Petitioner testified that physically he had no problems
doing his full job and had never had any prior major low back injury before that date.
Petitioner testified that after he saw the doctor that day, on about September 12 or 13 he
went and spoke with Justino and told him that he would be out a week because the doctor
was going to do some studies; he understood he had a deviated, displaced disc. Petitioner
stated that at that time Petitioner told Justino that he had injured his low back on that
prior Friday while working and he had the very severe pain in his back. Petitioner
testified when he saw Dr. Castro September 12, 2011 he told the doctor why he was
seeking treatment, he expected that in the records. Petitioner did not recall if he had
returned to work on that Tuesday. Petitioner testified that he did fill out a written accident
report with Respondent; with Justino and Miguel Alfaro. Petitioner filled out the report
with what he could understand; as there were parts that he did not comprehend, so he
only filled out the parts he did comprehend. Petitioner did not recall if he had returned to
work shortly after that, but he had returned to work; the records were indicated he worked
in September 2011. Petitioner had continued to treat with Dr. Castro in September and
October 2011 and he was doing the same work with the washing machines, pushing and
pulling carts that weighed about 400-500 pounds full of clothes, and some were filled
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with carpets. Petitioner indicated there was a scale and the carts were weighed and he saw
that. He indicated the carpets are washed and go on a belt that empties the product to the
cart. He had to push the carpet carts 30-35 feet where they were rolled up. Petitioner
noted that the clothes carts did weigh less. There were carpets, clothes, towels, and table
clothes in the carts and they weighed different depending on what was in them. Petitioner
testified during that time he had continued to work his job and the pain was getting
stronger and stronger in his lower back. Petitioner continued to treat with Dr. Castro
September through November and in November 2011 he was referred to Dr. Michael
Malek by Dr. Castro. Petitioner was having therapy while he was working. He did not
recall if he worked November 7, 2011 (12 WC 04491). Petitioner did recall going to
Northwest Community Hospital in November with Justino; he went due to the strong
pain in his back, because he continued to work with the strong pain in his back and it
would have gotten worse. After that point in November 2011 he continued to treat with
Dr. Castro and Dr. Malek and he had three back injections; one November 26, 2011.

Petitioner indicated.the.injection.did.not. have.any. effect.. He. had. the. second. injection . .. ...

December 9, 2011 and that had no effect; as he continued to work the pain was getting
worse. He had the third injection December 23, 2011; he had the third because Dr. Malek
said that treatment entailed three injections. He saw Dr. Malek December 30 and the
records reflected he was doing better and he was released to light duty, 20 pound
restriction. Petitioner did ask Respondent for a position within the restrictions and they
did accommodate and Petitioner returned to work. In January 2012 he was folding towels
and hanging aprons; different from his normal JOb duties and he had ability to sit and
stand. He was not doing other jobs at that point in 2012. He had continued to treat with
the doctors then and before the end of 2012 Dr. Malek recommended surgery which
Petitioner had May 16, 2013 and the effect was that he had less pain after the surgery and
he had less pain and inflammation in the legs. Petitioner continued with therapy after the
surgery and then had a functional capacity evaluation and they released him back to
work. Petitioner then requested work within the restrictions and he did return to that work
about January 6, 2014; he did not recall what job at that point; he then indicated that he
was folding towels at that point either sitting or standing. Petitioner testified then he still
had the pain continuing, but less severe in his back. He had worked full eight hour days
then and there were others also working that job. He indicated the other works worked all
day standing up folding towels. Petitioner indicated Respondent gave him other
accommodations; he stated when he got the pain real bad they would give him a chance
to lie down in the boss of the truck driver’s seat; he did not recall how long he would do
that, maybe 1-2 times per day.

Petitioner was no longer working for Respondent. He indicated at the meeting with
Justino and Andres from HR, they said there was no position for Petitioner because the
restrictions were permanent; that meeting was about May 22 in Justino’s office and the
lady from HR was also there with Andres-(the translator). Petitioner indicated Andres
told him that until the doctor gave Petitioner a note with changed restrictions they could
noOt return him to work. Petitioner did not keep working after that meefing and he
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indicated that he would have liked to keep working. Petitioner had not worked since that
meeting. Petitioner indicated he lost a lot. He stated he can no longer do the things he did
before; he cannot even walk any long distance because he gets tired. He indicated he can
do simple things; he could work light work. He did not know if he could do his old job as
he does not' feel the same and his back bothers him a lot and he gets tired. Petitioner
Stated that if he stands or sits too long his back hurts him. Petitioner indicated given his
back condition, he did not think he could push full carts of rugs and laundry.

On cross examination, Petitioner did not recall if he had a conversation with Justin De
Vault on September 9, 2011, Petitioner denied telling Mr. De Vault September 9, 2011
that Petitioner was upset about his work hours. Petitioner agreed he alleges a work
accident September 9, 2011. Petitioner agreed he did not tell anyone about the accident
on that date; he stated he did not tell him that day because Mr. De Vault was not in the
office. Petitioner did not recall if he called in sick September 12, 2011. Petitioner testified

that he_did.report the accident.(either.September.13.or September.14,.201.1) but.he.did.... -

not recall the exact date. Petitioner saw Dr. Malek October 7, 2011; Petitioner indicated
the doctor always knew about the accident. He did not recall if he gave the doctor a
history of the accident when he saw Malek Qctober 7, 2011.

Petitioner agreed when he started working for Respondent he used the name Juan Fray
(SS#XXX-XX-9473—he did not recall the number). Petitioner agreed he later used the
SS8# XXX-XX-8675. He did not recall the SS# he was currently using. Petitioner denied
having three different social security numbers at Respondent.

Petitioner did not recall giving Dr. Malek a history June 8, 2012 of returning to regular
work duty. Petitioner agreed that he is not a US citizen; undocumented. Petitioner did not
recall if he worked for Respondent in 2002 up to 2006 under the name Juan Fray.
Petitioner did not recall if he changed his name at Respondent in 2007 to Gustavo
Dominguez-Zilli. Petitioner did not recall filling out a Personal Information Change form
changing his birth date. Petitioner did not recall being told by Respondent October 2006
that they were notified by Social Security that Petitioner’s number did not match up.
Petitioner agreed after his low back surgery he did return back to work at Respondent and
worked full time and earning the same amount as before the accident. Petitioner stopped
working for Respondent May 14 and he had not looked for employment since. Petitioner
agreed that at his attorney’s request he met with Miss Stafseth a vocational rehab
counselor. He did not recall informing her that he could not legaily work in the United
States. He again agreed that he had not looked for work in the U.S. (or any other country)
since he last worked at Respondent. He did not recall if he told her that he had worked in
Mexico before coming to the U.S. He did not recall telling her that he could operate a
forklift. He did not know if she ever tried to find him employment. Petitioner did not
recall filling out an accident report 9/14/11. Petitioner did identify his signature at the
pottom (RX 7); Petitioner stated that he did not fill it out. Petitioner demed indication
there that he did not want to see a doctor.

i
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® On re-direct examination, Petitioner agreed he testified that he had used two different
names during his employment with Respondent (he started under Juan Fray Vasquez and
then to Gustavo Dominguez-Zilli). He agreed it was his signature on RX 7 and he
recognized it as his. Petitioner indicated it was not his writing for other answers on the
report and he did not recognize that writing. Petitioner testified that when he was injured
September 9, 2011 he had filled out a written history with Respondent of how he was
injured and RX 7 was not what he had filled out.

The Commission finds that Petitioner testified of the mechanism of injury and Petitioner’s
testimony is unrebutted and supported in the evidence. Petitioner did not report the injury on that
Friday but he clearly gave timely notice within a week. The initial medical visit did not note the
accident in the doctor’s notes, but the intake sheet did indicate the work accident. Petitioner’s
testimony is consistent with the medical records throughout of his ongoing condition of ill-being.

- Petitioner. likewise_gave. consistent.history. with-Respondent’s. examiner. and. vocational .rehab.... -

people. Petitioner remains on permanent sedentary restrictions and Respondent no longer
accommodates the restriction and Petitioner is not a legal citizen so he cannot legally obtain
work in the U.S. There is no indication of any prior back history and Petitioner, in fact, had been
working for Respondent for many years, albeit under two different names. The evidence and
testimony clearly reflects that Petitioner’s symptoms never totally abated and left him on the
permanent restrictions and ongoing symptoms. The Arbitrator found Petitioner met the burden of
proving causal connection regarding 11 WC 46725 (D/A 9/9/11) ((but not accident/CC to 12 WC
04491 (D/A 11/7/11) as there is not even a mention in records of any such occurrence)). The
evidence and unrebutted testimony is supported consistently throughout to find Petitioner met the
burden of proving caunsal connection to his current condition of ill-being. The Commission finds
the decision of the Arbitrator as not contrary to the weight of the evidence. And, herein, affirms
and adopts the Arbitrator’s finding as to causal connection.

The Commission finds as to evidentiary findings and bifurcation, that the Arbitrator did not err
given the facts and circumstances presented. Given the testimony at the end of the 1% day, there

was clearly need for the matter to be bifurcated and clearly within the discretion of the
Arbitrator.

The Commission, with the above finding of ongoing causal connection, further finds evidence of
Petitioner being still on the permanent sedentary restrictions and Respondent no longer
accommodating the restriction, and Petitioner being unable to find sedentary work given his
unskilled labor history, and inability to legally work in the U.S. and other factors. With above
causal connection findings the evidence and testimony finds Petitioner met the burden of proving

entitlement to the temporary total disability-(TTD) benefits as awarded, and the denial of
maintenance.
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The Commission, with the above finding of ongoing causal connection, further finds evidence of
Petitioner’s ongoing treatment through fusion surgery with the records supporting the medical
bills in evidence. With above causal connection that the evidence and testimony finds Petitioner
met the burden of proving entitlement to the medical benefits as awarded. The Commission finds
the decision of the Arbitrator as not contrary to the weight of the evidence, and, herein, affirms
and adopts the Arbitrator’s finding as to medical expenses.

The Commission finds that Respondent clearly had some questions of compensability based on
causal connection and through surgery and the permanent restrictions. Respondent clearly had
accommodated the restrictions to the time of surgery and based on their §12 examination denied
payment of benefits. Respondent’s actions do not appear in bad faith or as vexatious behavior to
rise to the level to warrant penalties here. Petitioner failed to meet the burden of proving
entitlement to such remedy. The Commission finds the decision of the Arbitrator as not contrary

—.t0 the weight of the evidence, and, herein, affirms and adopts the Arbitrator’s finding as to denial .
of penalties and attorney fees.

The Commission finds that the issue of permanency was not determined by the Arbitrator as it
was heard under §19(b), the matter, herein, is remanded to the Arbitrator for that determination.
The Commission finds the decision of the Arbitrator as not contrary to the weight of the
evidence, given the fact the matter was heard under §19(b).

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the
Arbitrator filed October 15, 2015 is hereby affirmed and adopted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that this case be remanded to the
Arbitrator for further proceedings consistent with this Decision, but only after the latter of
expiration of the time for filing a written request for Summons to the Circuit Court has expired
without the filing of such a written request, or after the time of completion of any judicial
proceedmgs if such a written request has been filed.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under §19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.



16IWCC0364

11 WC 46725, 12 WC 04491
Page 7

Bond for the removal of this cause to the Circuit Court by Respondent is hereby fixed at

the sum of $75,000.00. The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court
shall file with the Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit Court.

(.98 et

0-4/21/16 JUN 1 - 2016 David Gore
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[LLINOIS WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
NOTICE OF 19(b) ARBITRATOR DECISION

CORRECTED
DOMINGUEZ-ZILLI, GUSTAVO Case# 11WC046725
Employee/Petitioner 12WC004491
CINTAS IGIWC00364

Employer/Respondent

On 10/15/2015, an arbitration decision on this case was filed with the Illinois Workers' Compensation Commission in
Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed.

If the Commission reviews this award, interest of 0.08% shall accrue from the date listed above to the day before the
date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall
not accrue.

A copy of this decision is mailed to the following parties:

2512 THE ROMAKER LAW FIRM
PATRICK SEROWKA

211 W WACKER DR SUITE 1450
CHICAGO, IL 60606

0075 POWER & CRONINLTD
ROBERT E LUEDKE

900 COMMERCE DR SUITE 300
OAK BROOK, IL 60523
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| Injured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d))
JSS. ] Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF COOK ) ] second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
ZI None of the above

ILLINOXS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
CORRECTED ARBITRATION DECISION
19(b)

Gustavo Dominguez-Zilli Case # 11 WC 46725

Employee/Petiticner

V.

Consolidated case: 12 WC 4491

Cinias
Employer/Respondent

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was
~ mailed to each party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Thompson-Smith, Arbitrator of the

“Commission, 1 the city of Chicago, on 04/29/15 & 06/22/15,  After reviewing all of the

evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes findings on the disputed issues checked below, and
attaches those findings to this document.

DISPUTED ISSUES

A.

Qw

Hﬁmmwmc

e

©zZ

D Was Respondent operating under and subject to the lllinois Workers' Compensation or
Occupational

Diseases Act?
[l Was there an employee-employer relationship?

|E Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by
Respondent?

D What was the date of the accident?
X| Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?
[s Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?
. ‘What were Petitioner's earnings?
[ ] What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?
D What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?

[ZI Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary?

Has Respondent paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical
services?

E] Is Petitioner entitled to any prospective medical care?

IE What temporary benefits are in dispute?
[]TPD Maintenance TTD

. Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?

l___l Is Respondent due any credit?

D Other
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FINDINGS

On 09/9/11 & 11/7/11, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the

Act.

On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.
On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.
Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is causally related to the accident.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $24,774.53; the average weekly wage was
$476.80.

On the date of accident, Petitioner was 54 years of age, single with no dependent children.
Petitioner has received all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent kas not paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical
services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $0.00 for TTD, $0.00 for TPD. $0.00 for maintenance, and
$0.00 for other benefits, for a total credit of $0.00. -

Respondent is entitled to a credit of $0.00 under Section 8(j) of the Act.

ORDER FOR 11WC46725

17D

Respondent shall pay Petitioner TTD for a period of 41 & 4/7 weeks at a rate of $317.87, as
provided in Section 8(b} of the Act. No maintenance is awarded.

Medical benefits

Respondent shall pay Petitioner $37,228.09 for Dr. Malek’s bill; $38,427.89 for bills from
Fullerton Surgery Center; the bills for Our Lady of Resurrection, in the amount of $57,659.45;
the bills for N.R. Anesthesia, in the amount of $5,152.04; and the bills for Lakeshore Surgery
Center in the amount of $21,450.16, as provided in Sections 8(a) and 8.2 of the Act.

Penalties
No penalties or attorney’s fees are awarded pursuant to the Act.

Order for 12WC4491
No benefits are awarded pursuant to the Act.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS: Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after
receipt of this decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this
decision shall be entered as the decision of the Commission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE: If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set
forth on the Notice of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day
before the date of payment; however, if an employee's appeal results in either no change or a
decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.
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FINDINGS OF FACT

The disputed issues in these matters are: 1) accident; 2) notice; 3) causal connection; 4)
earnings; 5) average weekly wage; 6) medical bills; 7) temporary total disability; 8)
maintenance; 9) penalties; and 10) attorney’s fees. See, AX1.

Petitioner’s testimony regarding the accident date of September 9, 2011;
(11WC46725) _

The petitioner testified that he had been working for Respondent for approximately
fifteen (15) years and that on September 9, 2011, while performing a different job than
usual, he injured his lower back. This testimony is unrebutted. He also testified that he
originally started working for Respondent under the name Juan Fray Vasquez however,
when his documents were challenged by the government, Petitioner presented new
documents to Respondent under the name of Gustavo Dominguez-Zilli. The respondent
accepted these documents and continued Petitioner’s employment, under the new name
and social security number. Tr. of 4/29/15, pp. 7-19; PX8 pp.6-32.

Petitioner further testified that on September 9, 2011, the truck loaders did not show up
for work and he was told to unload the truck with another person. While picking up a
pile of clothes, he felt a pain in the lower part of his back. He did not tell anyone about it
that day because his supervisor was busy with the machines. This was a Friday toward
the end of his shift. On Monday, the petitioner presented to Dr. Ramon J. Castro.

Petitioner further testified that some time after treaiment he was given sedentary
restrictions and after a meeting with his supervisor and a co-worker acting as
Interpreter, his employment with Respondent was terminated on May 22, 2014, after his
restrictions were made permanent by Drs. Castro and Malek. He has not looked for a
job since he was terminated and denied that he told his supervisor that he would not go
to the “company clinic”; does not remember if he called in sick on September 12, 2011;
and currently does not know if he could perform his old job because of his back pain.

Petitioner’s testimony regarding the accident date of November 7 2011;
- (12WCq491)

Petitioner testified that he did not remember if he worked on November 7, 2011, but

testified that he did go to the hospital with a person named Justino, on that date. The

medical records of Northwest Community Hospital show that the petitioner was seen on

November 8, 2011, for a “workers comp back injury”. He was discharged the same day

and told to follow-up with Dr. Castro. PX2.
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“lifting and unloading clothies™. "On Septembeér 14, 2011, the doctor’s notes state the same

Testimony of Kari Stafseth, Petitioner’s vocational rehabilitation
counselor

Petitioner called Ms. Stafseth, a certified rehabilitation counselor, who testified that she
met with the petitioner, evaluated him and drafted a report regarding his potential
employment capabilities. According to her, because the petitioner never had formal
training or education, petitioner is unskilled, cannot speak English, and cannot return to
his previous employment because of his restrictions and the Mexican job market is
slanted toward young males. Therefore, there is no viable stable job market for the
petitioner in the United States or Mexico. On cross-examination, Ms. Stafseth testified
that there are Spanish speaking people with disabilities, working in the Unites States, as
long as they are legally employable. Tr. 6/2/15, pp. 111-155.

Petitioner’s treatment

On September 12, 2011, Petitioner presented to Dr. Castro and a patient history was
taken which states under Present Ailment “low back pain radiating to both legs...he was

mechanism of injury and the petitioner was taken off work. PX1, pp. 17-21.

Petitioner continued treating with Dr. Castro through on or about September 4, 2014,
diagnosed as having a herniated disc and lumbar radiculopathy. On October 29, 2012,
Petitioner was prescribed work hardening, a functional capacity evaluation (“FCE”) and
was returned to work on or about January 11, 2012. PX3, pp. 24-75.

Petitioner also treated with Dr. Michel H. Malek on or about October 7, 2011, referred by
Dr. Castro. The medical notes state that the petitioner had been having low back pain,
radiating down both lower extremities, for the past three weeks. There was no neck
pain, headaches or radicular symptoms around the chest or upper extremities, but pain
did radiate into the upper lumbar region. Walking was bothersome and “the patient
states that he is a machine operator and his work has aggravated his condition.” The
September 16, 2011 MRI scan of the lumbar spine “shows evidence of desiccation,
central disc herniation at L5-S1, evidence of bulging at 13-4, L4-5, with evidence of
foraminal narrowing at L5-S1, bilaterally.” Dr. Malek recommended injections, which
were performed on November 26, 2011, December 9, 2011 and December 23, 2011.
Petitioner was released to return to work in a light duty capacity on December 30, 2011;
which he testified he did. PX3, pp. 22-36; Tr. pp. 36-39.

On January 6, 2012, Dr. Malek recommended a conditioning program for two to four
weeks, followed by a functional capacity evaluation (“FCE”). Petitioner was to return to
work with restrictions on January 11, 2012. As of February 3, 2012, Petitioner did not
have the conditioning program but had returned to work for eight (8) hours however,

4
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after four (4) hours, the pain increased. Dr. Malek stated that after the conditioning
program, Petitioner could return to work and would be at maximum medical
improvement (“MMI”). PX3, pp. 37-39.

Dr. Malek’s next entry is dated June 8, 2012, where he is still strongly recommending a
conditioning program followed by an FCE. On November 2, 2012, Dr. Malek states that
the conditioning program still has not been done therefore he opines that the next step
is to proceed with an EMG/NCV of the bilateral lower extremities, lumbar discography
and a repeat MRI. The patient’'s MMI status was rescinded. PX1 & 3, pp. 40-43.

On November 30, 2012, Dr. Malek notes the IME with Dr. Ryan Hennessey on May 25,
2012, in which Dr. Hennessey states that the petitioner symptoms were not reported
until five (5) days after the injury therefore, he questions causation. The Arbitrator
notes that the petitioner reported lower back pain with radiation three (3) days after the
accident, on September 12, 2011. Dr. Malek explained that in his experience, “this is
“actually not a reason to question causation, but actually adds to the credlblhty of the
patient. Credible people, after an injury, will wait to see if the pain progresses, persists,
prior to reporting it as most people do not want to start a workman’s comp process
unless they are sure the symptoms are persistent. In this case, the patient did wait to see
if the symptoms would go away and only when they did not, he made his report.” The
doctor challenges Dr. Hennessey’s statement that the petitioner’s examination is
normal, as the EMG/NCV proved Dr. Hennessey’s conclusions were incorrect. PX3, pp.
44-47. . . -

On December 7, 2012, a discogram was performed which was purported to be “positive
at the L5-81 level, with contribution from L3-4, L4-5. Post-discogram CT done 12/7/12

showed grade IV tear at the L5-S1, L3-4 and L4-5.” Petitioner was to return to work
with restrictions. PX3, pp. 48-54.

On January 2, 2013, Petitioner presented to Dr. Malek, who noted that his repeat MRI of
the lumbar spine performed on December 22, 20112 showed 1) pathology at L3-4, L4-5,
L5-81, with evidence of desiccation of the disc at three levels, with symptoms worsened
at L3-4 and L5-81; 2) disc herniation at L5-31 and moderate right foraminal narrowing
at L5-S1; and 3) moderate left foraminal narrowing at L4-5. Surgery was discussed. A
second opinion was obtained from Dr. Yapoor, who stated that the petitioner’s condition
was causally related to the work activity and recommended a three-level fusion.
Petitioner was returned to work with restrictions. PX3, pp. 55-64; PX4.

The petitioner was subsequently seen on February 20, 2913, April 1, 2013, May 13, 2013,
with surgery taking place on May 16, 2013, i.e., a L5-S1 fusion with L4-5 decompression.
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The insurance company only authorized the L5-S1 fusion, with no allowance for surgery
at L3-4 or L4-5. Px3 pp. 64-88.

On the May 24, 2013 follow-up, Petitioner presented to Dr. Malek with intense surgical
back pain and pain radiating down his leg. By June 10, 2013, the petitioner was much
better, still wearing a brace, off work and by December 20, 2013, he was returned to
work in a sedentary position per an FCE performed on October 8, 2013.

On January 6, 2014, the petitioner returned to work, folding towels and on May 5, 2014,
the doctor notes that the petitioner is not tolerating sedentary work and he was taken off
work, pending a job description analysis. PX3, pp. 89-116.

Deposition of Ryon M. Hennessy, September 18, 2013
Dr. Hennessy testified that he examined the petitioner on May 25, 2012 after a review of
Dr. Castro’s notes and radiographic films. Dr. Hennessy further testified that although

the petitioner complained of a work accident on September 12, 2011, “there was no
mention of any work injury or trauma” in Dr. Castro’s notes, on the initial visit. The
Arbitrator notes that on September 12, 2011, Petitioner presented to Dr. Castro and a
patient history was executed which states under Present Ailment “low back pain
radiating to both legs...he was lifting and unloading clothes” and that this was the initial
visit. Dr. Hennessy further testified that there was no positive Waddell sign although
the petitioner was moving slowly. Petitioner “demonstrated 5 out of 5 strength in both
upper and lower extremities....and there was no deformity of his lumbar spine.” This
doctor’s diagnosis was “a lumbar strain”. He further testified that “there was no
correlation between the subjective radiculopathy and the MRI findings, therefore the
epidurals themselves would not be related to the accident of 9-9-2011, as epidurals are
to treat radiculopathy.” He determined the petitioner to be at maximum medical
improvement (“MMI”). RX3.

Deposition of Dr. Kenneth Smith, February 25, 2015

This doctor testified that he did a review of Petitionier’s records and that he originally
concluded that the L5-S1 spinal fusion with fixation and grafting was not reasonable or
necessary. However, after further review, he thought that Drs. Malek and Yapoor had a
reasonable basis for the fusion recommendation and that the requested bilateral
laminectomy with nerve root decompression should be certified. He further testified
that he was not familiar with the URAC standards. PX6 & RX4.

Deposition of Dr. M. Bryan Neal, April 17, 2015
Dr. Neal examined the petitioner on November 17, 2014 and noted that Petitioner stated
he was in a lot of pain after lumbar surgery. He was taking hydrocodone on a daily

6



uweaomssawoaes - 16IWCC0364

basis. Dr. Neal diagnosis of the petitioner was “low back pain with lower extremity pain
and parenthesis bilaterally, status post L5-St arthrodesis and L4-Ls decompression
spinal surgery”. The doctor’s impairment rating, based on the AMA Guidelines was a
class grade of “E” “which is the highest grade and the highest impairment” that the
doctor could assign; he found that the petitioner “had a 9% whole person impairment.”
Rxa.

Testimony of Anna Ahlborn, Respondent’s vocational rehabilitation
counselor

Ms. Ahlborn testified that she is a certified rehabilitation counselor, who met with
petitioner on November 13, 2014, for an initial assessment, after review of his FCE and
other documents. She further testified that she looked for jobs in Mexico only because
the petitioner does not have legal status to work in the United States. She testified that
she was able to find appropriate jobs for the petitioner, in Mexico. Upon cross-
examination, Ms. Ahlborn agreed that the petitioner could not return to his pre-injury
job at the respondent’s place of employment however, Petitioner could be competltlve in

e g@eKING  0therJobs: Trig/ 20 /15, PP TO2=177 Q0 wwrmmrrs s st s s e e

Testimony of Respondent’s wiinesses

Mr. Miguel Alfaro testified that he is employed by Respondent and has worked in one
capacity or another since June of 1996. He was first shift supervisor when the petitioner
was employed in September of 2011. He further testified that he was in a meeting with
the petitioner and Justin DeVault, acting as translator, in September of 2011. He could
not remember the exact date.  He testified regarding Petitioner’s exhibit 20, i.e., the
accident report, also Petitioner’s exhibit 8. Tr. 6/22/15, pp. 22-60.

Mr. Justin DeVault testified that he wrote the investigative report for Petitioner’s
accident and conducted an Ishikawa review of the accident, to identify the root cause of
it. He further testified to a report he authored, explaining the accident and that the
petitioner initially reported being sick and then came back and said he had an accident.
Tr. 6/22/15, pp. 65-84.

Respondent introduced into evidence medical bills, pursuant to Section 8.2 of the Act in
its exhibit 5 and petitioner introduced into evidence, medical bills as its exhibit 16.
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CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

C. Did an accident occur which arose out of and in the course of

Petitioner’s employment by Respondent?
A decision by the Commission cannot be based upon speculation or conjecture. Deere
and Company v Industrial Commission, 47 lll.2d 144, 265 N.E. 2d 129 (1970). A
petitioner seeking an award before the Commission, must prove by a preponderance of
credible evidence each element of the claim. Illinois Institute of Technology v.
Industrial Commission, 68 Ill.2d 236, 369 N.E.2d 853 (1977). Where a petitioner fails
to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that there exists a causal connection
between work and the alleged condition of ill-being, compensation is to be denied. Id.
The facts of each case must be closely analyzed to be fair to the employee, the employer,
and to the employer’s workers’ compensation carrier. Three “D” Discount Store v
Industrial Commission, 198 IlL.App. 3d 43, 556 N.E.2d 261, 144 Ill.Dec. 794 (4th Dist.
1989).

The burden is on the petitioner seeking an award to prove by a preponderance of

credible evidence all the elements of his claim, including the requirement that the injury
complained of arose out of and in the course of his or her employment. Martin vs.
Industrial Commission, 91 Ill.2d 288, 63 Ill.Dec. 1, 437 N.E.2d 650 (1982). The mere
existence of testimony does not require its acceptance. Smith v Industrial Commission,
98 Ill.2d 20, 455 N.E.2d 86 (1983). To argue to the contrary would require that an
award be entered or affirmed whenever a claimant testified to an injury no matter how
much his testimony might be contradicted by the evidence, or how evident it might be
that his story is a fabricated afterthought. U.S. Steel v Industrial Commission, 8 Ill.2d
407, 134 N.E. 2d 207 (1956).

It is not enough that the petitioner is working when an injury is realized. The petitioner
must show that the injury was due to some cause connected with the employment.
Board of Trustees of the University of Illinois v. Industrial Commission, 44 Ill.2d 207,
214, 254 N.E.2d 522 (1969); see also Hansel & Gretel Day Care Center v Industrial
Commission, 215 [1L.App.3d 284, 574 N.E.2d 1244 (1991).

The Illinois Supreme Court has held that a claimant’s testimony standing alone may be
accepted for the purposes of determining whether an accident occurred. However, that
testimony must be proved credible. Caterpillar Tractor vs. Industrial Commission, 83
Nll.2d 213, 413-N.E.2d 740 (1980). In addition, a claimant’s testimony must be
considered with all the facts and circumstances that might not justify an award. Neal vs.
Industrial Commission, 141 IlL.App.3d 289, 490 N.E.2d 124 (1986). Uncorroborated
testimony will support an award for benefits only if consideration of all facts and
circumstances support the decision. See generally, Gallentine v. Industrial
Commission, 147 Ill.Dec 353, 559 N.E.2d 526, 201 IlLApp.3d 880 (2nd Dist. 1990), see
also Seiber v Industrial Commission, 82 Ill.2d 87, 411 N.E.2d 249 (1980), Caterpillar v
Industrial Commission, 73 Ill.2d 311, 383 N.E.2d 220 (1978). Ii is the function of the
Commission to judge the credibility of the witnesses and to resolve conflicts in the
medical evidence, and assign weight to the witness’ testimony. O’Dette v. Indusirial

8
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Commuission, 79 Ill.2d 249, 253, 403 N.E.2d 221, 223 (1980); Hosteny v Workers'
Compensation Comimnission, 397 [ll.App. 3d 665, 674 (2009).

Regarding case number 11 WC 46725, the petitioner has testified that he had an accident
at work on September 9, 2011, by which he injured his lower back. This testimony was
not rebutted. Petitioner’s medical records support his claim therefore the Arbitrator
finds that the petitioner has proven, by a preponderance of the evidence, that he had an
accident that arose out of and in the course of his employment by Respondent.

Regarding case number 12 WC 04491 the Arbitrator does not find that the petitioner has
proven, by a preponderance of the evidence, that he had a second accident, as his
testimony was vague and he stated that he went to the hospital on November 7, 2011.
The Arbitrator finds that the medical records show that Petitioner went to the hospital
on November 8, 2011, the next day; and there is no mention of a new accident.

_.E. __Was timely notice of the accident given to.Respondent? . e
The Arbitrator finds that timely notice was given for the accident in case number 11 WC
46725 however, the Arbitrator finds no evidence of notice given of a November 7, 2011
accident in case number 12 WC 04491.

F. Is Petitioner’s current condition of ill-being causally related to the
injury?

It is within the province of the Commission to determine the factual issues, to decide the
weight to be given to the evidence and the reasonable inferences to be drawn there from;
and to assess the credibility of witnesses. See, Marathon Oil Co. v. Industrial Comm'n,
203 Ill. App. 3d 809, 815-16 (1990). And it is the province of the Commission to decide
questions of fact and causation; to judge the credibility of witnesses and to resolve
conflicting medical evidence. See, Steve Foley Cadillac v. Industrial Comm'n, 283 IIL
App. 3d 607, 610 (1998).

It is established law that at hearing, it is the employee’s burden to establish the elements
of his claim by a preponderance of credible evidence. See, Illinois Bell Tel. Co. v.
Industrial Comm’n., 265 Il. App. 3d 681; 638 N.E. 2d 307 (15t Dist. 1994). This includes
the issue of whether Petitioner’s current state of ill-being is causally related to the
alleged work accident. Id. A claimant must prove causal connection by evidence from
which inferences can be fairly and reasonably drawn. See, Caterpillar Tractor Co. v.
Industrial Comm’n., 83 Ill. 2d 213; 414 N.E. 2d 740 (1980). Also, causal connection can
be inferred. Proof of an employee’s state of good health prior to the time of injury and
the change immediately following the injury is competent as tending to establish that
the impaired condition was due to the injury. See, Westinghouse Electric Co. v.

9
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Industrial Comm’n, 64 Ill. 2d 244, 356 N.E.2d 28 (1976). Furthermore, a causal
connection between work duties and a condition may be established by a chain of events
including Petitioner’s ability to perform the duties before the date of the accident and
inability to perform the same duties following that date. See, Darling v. Industrial
Comm'n, 176 Ill.App.3d 186, 193 (1986). The Arbitrator finds that the petitioner has
proven, by a preponderance of the evidence, that his current condition of ill-being is
causally related to the accident in case number 11 WC 46725 however, he has not proven
that issue in case number 12 WC 04491.

G. What were Petitioner’s earnings? ‘

The petitioner testified that in September 2011, he earned $12.25 per hour and worked
eight hours a day, five days a week. There is a dispute between the parties’ the petitioner
states that his earnings preceding the injury were $24,774.53, with an average weekly
wage of $476.80 and the Respondent states that the petitioner’s average weekly wage
was $320.00. The respondent has not offered evidence to support its average weekly

wage ‘statement theréfore, thé Arbitrator finds and concluded that the Petitioner’s™
average weekly wage is that stated on the Request for Hearing, i.e., $476.80.

J. Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable

and necessary? Has Respondent paid all appropriate charges for all
reasonable and necessary medical services?

The Arbitrator finds that certain medical services were necessary and reasonable and are
awarded by the Arbiirator and are to be paid to the petitioner, pursuant to the fee
schedule as provided in Section 8.2 of the Act. However, the Arbitrator also finds and
concludes that some charges were unrelated to the work accident and unnecessary and
unreasonable i.e. charges by Hispanic Regional Clinics for a general profile in the
amount of $230.00; acute hepatitis panel, in the amount of $300.00; numerous 15
minute manual massages for $200.00 each. Dr. Malek’s bill, in the amount of $37,
228.09 is reasonable and necessary. The bills for Fullerton Surgery Center in the
amount of $38,427.89 were reasonable and necessary; the bills for Our Lady of
Resurrection, in the amount of $57,659.45, were reasonable and necessary; the bills for
N.R. Anesthesia, in the amopunt of $5,152.04, were reasonable and necessary; the bills
for Lakeshore Surgery Center. In the amount of $21,450.16, were reasonable and
necessary; and Dr. Malek’s bills were reasonable and necessary. As this matter is a
19(b), only those bills determined to be reasonable and necessary will be paid by the
Respondent pursuant to the medical fee schedule and the remaining bills will be
presented by the petitioner, at a later date.

10
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L. Whattemporary benefits are in dispute?
On the Request for Hearing, the petitioner claims to be entitled to TTD for a period of

106 & 6/7 weeks, from November 8, 2011 through January 5, 2014; and maintenance for
49 & 6/7 weeks, from May 15, 2014 through April 29, 2015. The Arbitrator does not
agree. Petitioner was released to return to work in a light duty capacity on December
30, 2011; which he testified he did. On January 6, 2012, Dr. Malek recommended a
conditioning program for two to four weeks, followed by an FCE. Petitioner was to
return to work with restrictions on January 11, 2012. On February 3, 2012, Petitioner
had not had the conditioning program but had returned to work for eight (8) hours
however and after four (4) hours, the pain increased. The petitioner was subsequently
seen on February 20, 2913, April 1, 2013, May 13, 2013, with surgery taking place on
May 16, 2013, i.e., a L5-S1 fusion with L4-5 decompression. The insurance company
only authorized the L5-S1 fusion, with no allowance for 13-4 or L4-5. On December 7,
2012, a discogram was performed, which was purported to be “positive at the L5-S1
level, with contribution from L3-4, L4-5. Post-discogram CT done 12/7/12 showed
grade TV tedrat the L5-ST, T3-4 and L4~5.” " Pétiticner was to return to work with
restrictions. PX3, pp. 48-54.

On the May 24, 2013 follow-up, Petitioner presented to Dr. Malek with intense back
pain radiating down his leg. By June 10, 2013, the petitioner was much better, still
wearing a brace, off work and by December 20, 2013, he was returned to work in a
sedentary position per an FCE performed on October 8, 2013.

On January 6, 2014, the petitioner returned to work, folding towels and on May 5, 2014,
the doctor notes that the petitioner is not tolerating sedentary work and he was taken off
work, pending a job description analysis. Therefore, the Arbitrator concludes that the
petitioner is entitled to TTD from November 8, 2011 through December 31, 2011; May
16, 2013 through December 20, 2013; and May 5, 2014 through May 22, 2014, his
termination date. The total is 41 & 4/7 weeks.

With regards to entitlement to maintenance, the Arbitrator finds and concludes that the
petitioner did not participate in a viable plan for rehabilitation ag he testified that he has
not looked for work since he was terminated and does not remember if he told the
rehabilitation counselor that he could not legally work in the United States. The
Arbitrator finds that the petitioner has not proven, by a preponderance of the evidence,
that he is entitled to maintenance, pursuant to the Act.

M. Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?
Illinois courts have refused to assess penalties under sections 19(k) and (1) of the Act
where the evidence indicates that the employer reasonably could have believed that the

11
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employee was not entitled to the compensation withheld. See, Board of Education v.
Industrial Commission, 93 Ill.2d 1, 442 N.E.2d 861 (1982); See also, Avon Products,
Inc. v. Industrial Commission, 82 Ill. 2d 297 (1980) and Brinkmann v. Industrial
Comumnission, 82 Ill. 2d 462 (1980). “Where a delay has occurred in payment of
workmen's compensation benefits, the employer bears the burden of justifying the
delay, and the standard we hold him to is one of objective reasonableness in his belief.”
Id. See also, City of Chicago v. Industrial Commission, 63 1ll. 2d 99 (1976).

The IHlinois Supreme Court has explicitly found an obligation on the part of
Respondents to diligently obtain information regarding a Petitioner’s claim in Board of
Educ. v. Industrial Comm’n, 93 Il. 2d 1, 66 Ill. Dec. 300, 442 N.E.2d 861 (1982). In
Board of Educ., the court found that the Chicago Board of Education “had or should
reasonably have had in its possession” sufficient evidence, that “would have disclosed
that the grounds for challenging temporary total disability liability were insubstantial at
best,” and therefore fees and penalties were warranted. The Supreme Court also found

that the Board’s “failure to obtain that information did not entitle the Board to assert
later that it acted in good faith because it was ignorant of the evidence in favor of the
employee.” See, Board of Educ. v. Industrial Comm'n, 93 Il 2d 1, 66 Ill. Dec. 300, 442
N.E.2d 861 (1982). The Arbitrator does not finds that the respondent’s behavior, in the

subject case, rises to the level of unreasonable and vexatious therefore no penalties are
awarded.

Both parties presented proposed statement as the nature and extent of Petitioner’s
injuries, after the petitioner argued vehemently, that this matter is being brought under
Section 19(b) of the Illinois Workers’ Compensation Act, (the “Act”™). The Arbitrator
finds that although this matter was brought under Section 19(b); both parties provided
testimony from rehabilitation counselors; and both parties presented a position on
nature and extent. The Arbitrator finds that this matter was brought under Section
19(b) therefore; any determination of the nature and extent of Petitioner’s injuries is
moot and will not be addressed. See, Tr. pg. 76.

12
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) D Affirm and adopt (no changes) |:I Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
) SS. I:l Affirm with changes D Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF ) D Reverse |:| Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
JEFFERSON [ | PTD/Fatal denied
g Modify & None of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS* COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Maurice Fleming,

Petitioner,
w  xosweesns
Manpower, Inc., 1 6 I ‘v C C 0 3 6 5
Respondent,

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review under §19(b) having been filed by the Respondent herein

and notice given to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of accident, causal
connection, temporary total disability, medical expenses, and penalties and attorney fees and
being advised of the facts and law, modifies the Decision of the Arbitrator as stated below and
otherwise affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and made a
part hereof. The Commission further remands this case to the Arbitrator for further proceedings
for a determination of a further amount of temporary total compensation or of compensation for
permanent disability, if any, pursuant to Thomas v. Industrial Commission, 78 I11.2d 327, 399
N.E.2d 1322, 35 1ll.Dec. 794 (1980).

FINDINGS OF FACTS AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

e Petitioner is a 45 year old employee of Respondent, who described his job as bag dump
operator. Respondent is a temp company and he worked through Pinnacle Food for the
past 10 months. He was regularly scheduled to work 40 hours per week and mandatory
overtime. He testified prior to the accident he had not missed 5 days of work for reasons
beyond his control like sickness, family emergency, no work available. He had taken part
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of a day for a doctor appointment. In his job he had an electric tow motor that would
move the skids from the station area. He had three-(3) places to tend and he staged the
pallets to where he had a bag dump. Depending on the setup he would have to move from
side to side, twist over, cut the bag, open it, lift the bag up and toss it into the dumpster.
There were different ingredients he dumped like salt, baking soda, flour, starch. The bags
he worked with weighed 50 pounds and each day varied to 300 or more bags dumped per
day. He had to load the bags onto the pallet (electric tow truck) and move them on the
truck. Petitioner did not have any x-rays or MRI’s of his back in the year before this
accident and before he had never seen an orthopedic specialist for his back.

¢ On the date of accident, February 4, 2015, Petitioner testified that he was staging and
getting ready to stage for the bag dump that he had already done, to replace the one he
had done. Petitioner stated that he was picking up a 50 pound bag of salt and as he was
picking it up and he turned and he felt a pull in his back. He stated it was discomfort and

little bit easy. He stated that his lower back was hurting and it extended to his hip and
groin area. Petitioner testified that the week of this hearing he had an SI joint injection
and prior to that injection he had been in constant pain from the day of this accident.

» Detitioner testified that on the day of the accident he went to the emergency room-(ER)
and then he had followed up with Dr. Roger Joy, on July 5, 2015, the day after this
accident. Petitioner testified that he did fill out an accident report at Manpower February
6, 2015. Dr. Joy had referred Petitioner to a specialist, Dr. Kovalsky and Petitioner had
been under continuous care since the accident. The SI injection he had prior to hearing
had then been providing current relief and prior to that injection nothing had provided
him relief from the pain. Petitioner testified that immediately after the accident the doctor
had given him restrictions of 14 days on light duty and he took the note to Respondent
and they could not accommodate the restrictions, and after those 14 days the doctor
authorized Petitioner off of work altogether. Petitioner had returned to work for a period
of time in March and he was then sitting down and in pain. He stated he had returned to
Dr. Joy and the doctor had taken him off work until further notice and he had not returned
to work since then. He had not returned to work as the doctor had not released him to
retum to work.

¢ Petitioner testified that prior to the SI injection he had pain in his groin and right side hip
and right side lower back at a pain level of 9/10 and it was constant. Prior to the injection,
in pain, he did not know how much he could pick up off the ground as he had not done it.
He had been able to walk around or stand for about 30 minutes before the pain that he felt
he had to sit. Petitioner testified that while he had been off he had not been paid from
Respondent or an insurance company and he had never received a letter explaining why
he was not being paid while off work. Petitioner agreed he had asked his attorney to write
a letter and make an effort to secure Petitioner payment while he was off work.

it-occurred-at-about-3:00;-his-shift-ended at 4:00:-He stated the rest-of his-shift he took ita~
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The Commission finds that there is indication in the medical records that Petitioner had some
back pain prior to February 4, 2015, however, Petitioner clearly kept working that heavy job
dumping the heavy bags of product for productions. As Petitioner noted in testimony, doing that
type of work you would conceivably get sore. Petitioner did that lifting, bending, twisting work
with the heavy job repetitively, but it was not until that specific February 4, 2015 incident that
aggravated Petitioner’s back to the breaking point and ongoing symptoms that had not abated,
but for post the recent SI injection providing some relief. The Commission notes that Petitioner
did not report anything work related when he presented to St. Mary Hospital ER on February 4,
2015 and he was evaluated for chest pain and low back pain. Petitioner had reported to Dr. Roger
C. Joy, February 5, 2015- and it was noted that patient presents for follow up for strain right
lower back, discomfort started about a month ago and had gotten worse, he lifts repetitive at
place of employment; seen in ER. Restrictions nothing over 25 pounds. Thereafter, the records
indicated the relationship to a work incident. Dr. Joy did indicate a causal op1n10n

~-The-Commission-notes Dr: Kovalsky-records-~-—- = ~

--April 9, 2015-history of—low back pam—(LBP) more nght Not workmg, further noted
radicular leg pain, numbness

~April 2, 2015-noted i 1n_]ury February 4, 2015, patient was lifting and; carrymg and
twisting and felt 1mmed1ate back pain with radiation to right buttock and thigh. Deriied prior LBP
or leg problems They noted he went to ER and Dr. Joy and was sent for an MRI. Off work since
February; No therapy yet. MRI shows slight bulging L3-4, 4-5; age related; not pathologic
injury; no herniations or annular tears. Clinical diagnosis noted as right SI joint dysfunction.
Symptoms 2 months and to be put on oral steroids; If not improving to consider SI injections.

--May 29, 2015-pain at 9/10. Patient has not been able to work since February due to
pain. SI tenderness and over right ileum. SI joint positive. Neuro intact. Diagnostic for SI
dysfunction. Discussed surgery; to try injections and therapy.
The Commission notes that Dr. Kovalsky’s records are silent as to a causal connection opinion,
but, the records do set out a clear mechanism of injury to otherwise support causation.

The Commission notes that Respondent’s witness, Mr. Buretta, Petitioner’s supervisor at
Pinnacle, testified that Petitioner did not report an accident to him at all, but he was questioned
by his supervisor days later and he learned of it. While the Pinnacle pamphlet indicated reporting
accident’s ‘immediately’, While Mr. Buretta did not receive ‘immediate’ notice, Petitioner
clearly reported it to Respondent, Manpower, and their accident report was dated and signed by
Petitioner two days later; the Pinnacle rules obviously do not give a higher reporting standard
than the Act. Had Petitioner been a Pinnacle employee and not reported the incident until two
days later, an accident was still reported and Mr. Buretta would have still received proper, timely
notice, whether he believed an accident actually occurred or not.

The Commlssmn finds that Petitioner’s testimony is really unrebutted and generally supported in
the medical records (but for the initial ER that was silent as to a work mc1dent) but Petitioner
also had chest pain which an ER would consider more important and pressing issue to explore.
And again, Petitioner reported the back pain to Dr. Joy the next day, albeit, as a ‘follow up’ for
low back pain related to work, rather than a specific lifting, twisting incident February 4, 2015.
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The evidence and basically unrebutted credible testimony in this record finds that Petitioner met
the burden of proving a specific accident that arose out of and in the course of employment
February 4, 2015 (possibly aggravating pain from repetitive heavy work) and further finds
Petitioner met the burden of proving a causal relationship between that specific incident to his
ongomg condition .of ill-being, The Commission finds the decision of the Arbitrator as not
contrary to. the weight of the evidence, and, herein, affirms and adopts the Arbitrator’s finding of
accident, as well as, affirms and adopts the Arbitrator’s finding as to causal connection.

The Commission, with the findings above of accident and causal connection, further finds the
medical records either restricting Petitioner or keeping him completely off work to find that
Petitioner met the burden of proving entitlement to the temporary total disability-(TTD)
awarded. The Commission finds the decision of the Arbitrator as not contrary to the weight of

the evidence, and, herein, afﬁrms and adOpts the Arbltrator s ﬁndmg as to total temporary

- dlsablhtyﬂ.wﬁwm e 1 g g S

The Commission, with the finding above of accident and causal connection, further finds the
medical records to support Petitioner’s ongoing condition of ill-being and treatment and need for
further treatment to find that Petitioner met the burden of proving the medical causation. The
Commission finds the decision of the Arbitrator as not contrary to the weight of the evidence,
and, herein, affirms and adopts the Arbitrator’s finding as to medical expenses.

: ! f
i i

The Comm1ss1on with' the finding above of accident and causal connection, further finds the
medical tecords and Petitioner’s testimony, and the Petitioner’s demands for benefits, The
Commission, however, does not find a lack of a reasonable basis for Respondent’s denial of
benefits. It is clear that Petitioner did not report ‘immediately’ to Pinnacle and there is the lack of
history of a work injury in the ER records, and also a lack of a narrative causal opinion from Dr.
Kovalsky, as noted in Respondent’s response to Petitioner’s penalty petition. The Commission
notes that while the records indicating a mechanism of injury consistent to support a causal
relationship and then there is the later causal opinion of Dr. Joy, there was still a reasonable basis
for Respondent to question compensability with the evidence presented. The evidence and
testimony finds Respondent’s basis for denial of benefits was not unreasonable and not vexatious
and to find Petitioner, therefore, failed to meet the burden of proving entitlement to the penalties
and attorney fees awarded by the Arbitrator, and therefore, the Commission finds the decision of
the Arbitrator as contrary to the weight of the evidence, and herein, reverses the Arbitrator’s
finding as to penalties and attorney fees to deny any and all penalties and attorney fees under the
Act.
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IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall pay to
the Petitioner the sum of $279.44 per week for a period of 21 weeks, that being the period of
temporary total incapacity for work under §8(b), and that as provided in §19(b) of the Act, this
award in no instance shall be a bar to a further hearing and determination of a further amount of
temporary total compensation or of compensation for permanent disability, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Arbitrator’s award of
penalties and attorney fees is reversed to deny any and all penalties and attorney fees under
§19(k), §19(1), & §16, of'the Act.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that this case be remanded to the
Arbitrator for further proceedings consistent with this Decision, but only after the latter of

—expiration-of the-time-for-filing-a-written-request-for Summons-to-the- Circuit-Court-has- expired-—-- -

without the filing of such a written request, or after the time of completion of any judicial
proceedings, if such a written request has been filed.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under §19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.

Bond for the removal of this cause to the Circuit Court by Respondent is hereby fixed at
the sum of $6,000.00. The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court
shall file with the Commission a Notice of Intent to Fjj#4for Review in Circuit Court.
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. ILLINOIS WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
‘2 ¢ »°,:NOTICE OF ;19(b) ARBITRATOR DECISION

FLEMING, MAURICE Case# 15WC008116

16IWCC0365

MANPOWER INC
Employer/Respondent

On 8/28/2015, an arbitration decision on this case was filed with the Tllinois Workers' Compensation Commission in
Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed.

If the Commission reviews this award, interest of 0.20% shall accrue from the date listed above to the day before the

date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall
not accrue.,

A copy of this decision is mailed to the following parties:

0384 NELSON & NELSON
REED C NELSON

420 N HIGH ST
BELLEVILLE, IL 62220

27895 HENNESSEY & ROACH PC
RICARD A DAY

415 N 10TH ST SUITE 200

ST LOUIS, MO 63101
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) . D [njured Workers” Benefit Fund (§4(d))
)8S. D Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF Jefferson ) [ second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
. . : a ! T ; ;; ‘ - 5 : Co None of the above

ER

ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

ARBITRATION DECISION
19(b)
Maurice Fleming Case # 15 WC 008116
Employee/Petitioner
V. Consolidated cases:

Manpower, Inc.
Employer/Respondent

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Edward Lee, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of Mt.
Vernon, on July 10, 2015. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes
findings on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.

DISPUTED ISSUES

A. D Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Illinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act?

D Was there an employee-employer relationship?

Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?
D ‘What was the date of the accident?

D Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?
[ ] What were Petitioner's earnings?

. D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

D What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?

S~ memMEUQW

D Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?

. D Is Petitioner entitled to any prospective medical care?

~

L. & ‘What temporary benefits are in dispute?
[ ] TPD [ ] Maintenance TTD

M. Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?
N. D Is Respondent due any credit?
0. D Other

ICArbDeci 9(b) 2/10 100 W. Randolph Street #8-200 Chicago, IL 60601 312/814-6611  Toll-free 866/352-3033  Web site: swww.iwec, il gov
Dovwnstate offices: Collinsville 618/346-3450 Peoria 30%/671-3019 Rockford 815/987-7292  Springfield 217/785-7084
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On 02/04/15, Respondent, Manpower, Inc. was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act.

FINDINGS

On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.
On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.

Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.
Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is causally related to the accident.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner eatned $17,974.82; (e average weekly wage was $418.95.

On the date of accident, Petitioner was 45 years of age, married with _1_ dependent children.

Respondent /as not paid all reasonable and necessary charges for all reasonable and necessary medical
services.

Necessary medical services have not been provided by the respondent, .

ORDER
Respondent shall pay Petitioner 21 weeks of temporary total disability benefits that have accrued from 2/05/15
through 07/10/15, and shall pay the remainder of the award, if any, in weekly payments.

Respondent shall pay to Petitioner penalties of $1,173.65. as provided in Section 16 of the Act; $ 2,934.12, as
provided in Section 19(k) of the Act; and $4,410.00, as provided in Section 19(1) of the Act.

In no instance shall this award be a bar to subsequent hearing and determination of an additional amount of
medical benefits or compensation for a temporary or permanent disability, if any.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review: within 30 days after receipt of this
decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the
decision of the Commission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice

of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however,
if an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

o A k_& Pl o] 15~

Signature of Arbitrator Date

ICArbDec19(b)

AJGQ 8 201
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Maurice Fleming v. Manpower, Inc.: Case No. 15 WC008116

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSION OF LAW

The issues in dispute are accident, causation, TTD and penalties.

The Arbitrator finds as follows:

The Arbitrator considers the testimony of Petitioner, Maurice Fleming. Mr. Fleming
is a 45 year-old African American man who worked for the Respondent since April
of 2014. He suffered a work related injury on February 4, 2015.

Petitioner worls as a bag dump operator. The job requires him to lift bags of
ingredients weighing as much as 50 pounds. (Transcript 11). Each bag is lifted

twice. Fifst the bagistoaded ontoapalletinthe-stagin g-area-~The-palletisthen -

wheeled to the bag dump area where Petitioner lifts the bag off of the pallet, turns,
and dumps the bag into the bag dump. (T 12).

On February 4, 2015, while Petitioner was liftinga 50 pound bag of salt to place iton
a pallet, he felt a “pull” in his back. (T 13). The injury occurred at 3:00 pm. (T. 13,
Petitioner’s Exhibit 1, First Report of Injury). His shift ended at 4:00 pm after which,
he went immediately to the ER. (T 13-15, Petitioner’s Exhibit 2, Medical Records -
St. Mary's Centralia).

Petitioner complained of back pain and chest pain at the ER. (PX 2). Much of the
care he received at the ER was precautionary and related to the chest pain. He was
also given a drug test, which was negative. (PX 2). However, upon discharge, his
primary diagnosis was muscle strain. He was prescribed Flexeril for muscle spasms,
Hydrocodone-acetaminophen for pain, and Naproxen for pain. (PX 2). He followed
up with his primary care physician the next day.

On February 5%, 2015, Petitioner saw his primary care physician, Dr. Roger joy.
(Petitioner’s Exhibit 3, Medical Records Dr. Roger C.Joy). Records from that visit
indicate that Petitioner was being seen in follow-up for a “strain”. (PX 3}. Dr.]oy did
note that Petitioner had discomfort for approximately one month, but noted that the
pain had gotten worse. (PX 3). There was no mention of chest pain in the record
from this day. Dr. Joy diagnosed Petitioner with back pain and prescribed Dolobid,
Norco, Zanaflex, Analgesia gel and physical therapy. He restricted his work to no
lifting over 25 pounds for two weeks. (PX 3).

Mr. Fleming’s employer could not accommodate those restrictions. (T. 38). Two
days after the injury, on February 6%, 2015, Mr. Fleming filled out a report of injury,
© indicating that he was injured at 3:00pm on February 4%, 2015 and turned it into
Manpower, Inc. (PX1]).
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On 2/19/15 Mr. Fleming returned to Dr. Joy with complaints of low back pain and
pain in the right paraspinals area. Dr. Joy noted that Petitioner had not yet had
physical therapy. (PX 3). Dr. Joy wanted him to have physical therapy before
returning to work because Dr. Joy believed the nature of his work would aggravate
the strain. {PX 3). He authorized Mr. Fleming off work until 2/24/15. (PX 3).

On 2/24/15, Dr. Joy again noted a lumbar strain in the right paraspinals at L3-5. (PX
3). Dr. oy noted that Petitioner had only completed one physical therapy session,

so he authorized him off work until 3/06/15. (PX 3). On 3/06/15, Dr. Joy stated that
the visit was a follow-up for low back pain in the lumbar region from L2-51 and
opined, “this was due to lifting, which he does at his place of employment.” (PX 3}.
Dr. Joy noted some radicular symptoms in the lumbar sacral area. Petitioner also
experienced pain in his lower back and sacral area during forward fiexion, and
turning to either side. Dr.Joy noted some improvement with physical therapy, but
did not believe that Petitioner was ready for full duty work. {PX 3). Dr. Joy released

Petitiorier to light duty; gave him Toradol in the office; and recommendeda TENS
unit for home treatment. {PX 3)..

Petitioner presented the restrictions to Manpower and worked light duty
employment for one week before he was taken off work again by Dr. Joy on
3/16/15.(T. 18, 39, PX 3). As of 3/16/15, Petitioner underwent 8 physical therapy
visits, but his back continued to bother him. (PX 3). He rated his painasa 7/10 and
had decreased range of motion. He also complained of tenderness to palpation in his
lumbar area extending into the right buttock. (PX 3}.

Petitioner was referred to Dr. Kovalsky and came under his care on 4/29/15. (PX 4).
Dr. Kovalsky noted an onset about two months prior. (PX4). Petitioner
complained of pain in his back with numbness down his rightleg. He had a normal
straight leg test, but an abnormal SI joint exam. (PX 3). Dr. Kovalsky noted
abnormal SI joint findings in four separate tests: Fortin finger pointing test,
Patrick’s/Fabre’s test, thigh thrust test and pelvic distraction test. (PX 4}. Dr.
Kovalsky’s record from that day states, “He was injured on February 4%, He was
lifting and carrying and twisting, felt immediate pain in his back with radiation into
right buttock and thigh. He denies ever having back pain or leg problems similar to
this.” (PX 4). Based on the exam findings and lack of findings on x-ray and MRI, Dr.
Kovalsky diagnosed Mr. Fleming with right SI dysfunction. (PX 4). Dr. Kovalsky
noted that the symptoms had only been present for about two months. He
prescribed oral steroids and physical therapy with a therapist who was experienced
in SI joint manipulation and kept Mr. Fleming off work until the next visit. (PX 4).

On 5/19/15 Petitioner returned to Dr. Kovalsky. Mr. Fleming reported that the
prednisone provided some relief in the first week or so, while he was on the higher
doses of the steroid, but the symptoms returned as the doses tapered down. (PX 4).
Petitioner was using Tramadol to control his pain. (PX 4). Dr. Kovalsky believed a
diagnostic steroid injection was warranted. He stated, “I feel bad that he has this
problem and can’t work.” (PX 4). Dr. Kovalsky noted that it would be best for Mr.
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Fleming to see one of two therapists who are adept at treating SI joint dysfunctions,
but because Mr. Fleming’s workers’ compensation insurance was not picking up the
claim, he only had IDPA for medical insurance and those therapists would not accept
IDPA. (PX 4). He was taken off work until two weeks after the injection. (PX 4).

Mr. Fleming had the injection just two days prior to the hearing. (T. 16). Itisthe
only treatment that has provided significant relief from the pain. (T. 16).

The Arbitrator Concludes:

Issue (C): Did an Accident Occur that Arose out of and in the Course of
Petitioner’s Employment

Regarding the issue of accident, the Arbitrator finds that Petitioner suffered an
accidental injury on February 4%, 2015. The Respondent contends that this may be
a repetitive trauma case, but the testimony of Petitioner is straight forward and

credible Theredare no records of back pain prior to-February 4%,-2015: Further; -~
Petitioner filled out an accident report less than 48 hours following the injury.

Issue (F): Is Petitioner’s Current Condition of Il1-Being Causally Related to the
. injury on 2/04/15 ‘
Regarding the issue of causation, the Arbitrator finds that Petitioner’s current
condition of ill-being is caused by the accident on 2/04/15. There are no records of
any treatment for his back or complaints of back pain prior to the injury on
2/04/15. Petitioner testified that in the days, weeks, and months preceding the
injury on 2/04/15, he had not been referred for x-rays, MRIs, or been referred to a
specialist for back pain. (T. 12). Within two months of the injury, he had an x-ray,
MRI and a referral to an orthopedic specialist. Petitioner did not miss work for any
reason including back complaints prior to 2/05/15. (T. 9-10). Petitioner also
testified that prior to 2/04/15, he never experienced the kind of pain he
experienced since that day. (T.42). He has sought continuous care since the
accident. (T. 16). He has had constant pain since the accident. (T. 19). Dr. oy
opined on 3/06/15 that Mr. Fleming’s pain was from “lifting” which “he does at
work.” (PX 3). Further, Dr. Kovalsky opined that Petitioner “was injured on
February 4th. He was lifting and carrying and twisting, felt immediate pain in his
back with radiation into his right buttock and thigh.” {PX 4).

Issue (L): Is Petitioner entitled to TTD benefits

Regarding the issue of TTD, the Arbitrator finds that Petitioner is entitled to TTD.
benefits from 2/05/15 through the date of the hearing, except for one week when
Petitioner worked light duty. Petitioner had work slips accounting for everyday
since the injury. Therefore Petitioner is entitled to 21 weeks of TTD. The parties
have stipulated to an AWW of $418.95, resulting in $279.44 in weekly TTD benefits.
The Respondent is order to pay $5,868.24 representing $279.44 per week for 21
weeks.
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Issue (M): Should Penalties or Fees be Imposed Upon Respondent

Regarding penalties, the Arbitrator finds that Petitioner was entitled to TTD benefits
beginning on 2/05/15. The Respondent was aware of the accident on 2/06/15
based on the First Report of Injury filled out by Petitioner that day. The Respondent
sent a letter to Petitioner’s attorney on June 22, 2015, discussing their nonpayment
of TTD benefits. However, by that time, the Respondent already had Dr. Joy’s
records of 3/06/15 wherein he opined that Petitioner’s condition of ill-being was
job-related. Petitioner sent those records to Respondent on June 3, 2015. (PX 8).
Respondent’s correspondence dated June 22, 2015, does not acknowledge Dr. Joy's
causation opinion, which the Respondent had for at least 2.5 weeks. Instead, the
Respondent contended that a lack of a narrative from Dr. Kovalsky warranted a
denial of ail TTD benefits, even during those periods Petitioner was kept off work by
Dr. Joy, two months before Petitioner saw Dr. Kovalsky. Finally, Petitioner sent said
narrative from Dr. Kovalsky the next day, June 23, 2015, and still the Respondent

“Tfailed to pay any benefits (PX 8). Petitiohnieris entitled to 21 weeks of TTD, 7 777

beginning on 2/05/15. Respondent has failed to pay any TTD whatsoever to
Petitioner. Section 19! penalties are in essence a late fee. Consequently, Section 191
penalties are owed in the amount of $4,410 reflecting the statutory penalty of
$30.00 per day beginning 2/12/15 through the date of the hearing, 7/10/15, a
period of 147 days. Further, the Arbitrator finds that Petitioner is entitled to Section
19k penalties in the amount of 50% of the outstanding TTD or $2,934.12,

Regarding fees pursuant to Section 16, for all of the reasons supporting the award of
penalties above, the Arbitrator finds that the respondent shall pay attorney fees in
the amount of 20% of the outstanding TTD, or $1,173.65.
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Page 1
STATE OF ILLINOIS ) Affirm and adopt (no changes) I:] Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
) SS. D Affirm with changes |:| Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF WILL ) D Reverse I:I Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
[ ] PTD/Fatal denied
D Modify g None of the above
BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
Robert Rich,
Petitioner,
Vs. , NO: 11WC 39406

Hi-LQ ]iliii;lfdl‘:ftsatoratiom 1 6 I w C C 0 3 6 6

IS : DECISION.AND OPINION ON.REVIEW. . e

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by the Petitioner herein and notice given to
all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of accident, causal connection, medical,
temporary total disability, permanent partial disability and being advised of the facts and law,
affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and made a part

hereof.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the

Arbitrator filed May 4, 2015, is hereby affirmed and adopted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Respondent pay to

Petitioner interest under §19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Respondent shall have
credit for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of the Petitioner on account of said accidental

injury.

The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court shall file with the

Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in ?i)c it Cgurt.

DATED: JUN 1 - 2315 /‘

bt

0052516 Charles IYDeVfiendt

.CID/jrc .

Joshua D. Luskin

Wk &/ okt

Ruth W. White
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ILLINOIS WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
NOTICE OF ARBITRATOR DECISION

RICH. ROBERT Case# 11WC039406

Employee/Petitioner

HI-L O BUILDING RESTORATION 1 6 I w C C 0 3 6 6

Employer/Respondent

On 5/4/2015, an ar]ls:itratic)n decisibn on{‘l;is case was filed with the Illinois Workers' Compensation
Commission in Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed.

If the Commission reviews this award, interest of 0.09% shall accrue from the date listed above to the day
before the date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this
award, interest shall not accrue.

A copy of this decision is mailed to the following parffés:

0008 ANESI OZMON RODIN NCVAK KOHEN
JEFFREY ALTER

161 N CLARK 8T 21STFL

CHICAGO, IL 60601

0507 RUSIN & MACIOROWSKI LTD
THEODORE J POWERS

10 § RIVERSIDE PLZ SUITE 1530
CHICAGO, [L 60606
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) [ njured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
)SS. [ ] rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF WILL ) [] second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
None of the above

ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
c - 1 ¢ -ARBITRATION DECISION

ROBERT RICH | Case # 11 WC 39406

_ Employee/Petitioner

3 Consolidated cases:

HI-LO BUILDING RESTORATION ' :
Employer/Respondent T 1 6 I w C C 0 3 6 6
An dpplication for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Gerald Granada, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of

New Lenox, on April 9, 2015. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes
findings on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.

Y.

DISPUTED ISSUES

A. D Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Ilinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act? '

‘ D Was there an employee-employer relationship?
E Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?
. |:| What was the date of the accident?
|:| Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?
E Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?
. D What were Petitioner's earnings?
. I___I What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?
|:] ‘What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?
EI Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?
K. What temporary benefits are in dispute?
1TPD ["] Maintenance TTD

L. What is the nature and extent of the injury?

M. D Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?

N. D Is Respondent due any credit?

0. ] other

o 0w

=rmQ e

ICArbDec 2710 100 W, Randolph Street #8-200 Chicago, IL 60601 312/814-6611  Toll-free 866/352-3033 Web site: www.iwcc.il.gov
Downstate offices: Collinsville 618/346-3450 Peoria 309/671-3019  Rockford 815/987-7292 Springfield 217/785-7084
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On 91 1 5I 1 1 Respondent was operatmg under and subject to the provisions of the Act.

On thlS date an employee—employer relatlonshlp did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.

On this date, Petitioner did nrof sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.
Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is nof causally related to the accident.

In the year ;Sreceding the injury, the average weekly wage was $1228.00.

On the date of accident, Petitioner was 39 years of age, married with 0 dependent children.

Petitioner has received all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent Aas paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

__Respondent is entitled to a credit of $0 under Section 8(j) of the Act.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $0 for TTD, $0 for TPD, $0 for maintenance, and $0 for other benefits,
for a total credit of $0.

ORDER

Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof on the issues of accident and causation. Accordingly, the claim for
benefits is denied.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this
decision, and perfects a review in accor_dance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the
decision of the Commission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Nofice

of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however,
if an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

WJN‘ wsorts

Signature of Arbitrator Date

Robert Rich v. Hi-Lo Building Restoration, 11 WC 39406 - ICArbDec p. 2

MAY 4 - 2015
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Robert Rich v. Hi-Lo Building Restoration, 11 WC 39406
Attachment to Arbitratior Decision

Page 1 0f5 16IWCC03686

FINDINGS OF FACT

The Petitioner has brought this claim alleging that he sustained injuries to his right shoulder as a result of a
specific injury he sustained on September 15,2011 while employed by Respondent. The principal or threshold
issues presented at trial are whether the Petitioner sustained an accident arising out of and in the course of his
employment and whether his right shoulder condition of ill-being was related to the alleged accident on
September 15, 2011. -

At the time of the alleged accident, the Petitioner was 39 years old. He had been employed by Respondent for
several months. He was hired in June, 2011as a union laborer by the Respondent through Petitioner’s union.
Although medical records reflected Petitioner said he was laid off for approximately two years (see Rx4),
Petitioner testified that prior to his employment for Respondent, he was employed on a highway construction
job. Nevertheless, Petitioner did not have personal medical insurance prior to or after the alleged accident on
September 15, 2011 as he had not secured enough time to be eligible for insurance under his union plan.

On September 15, 2011 the Respondent was performing masonry work on a two-story National Guard building
T in Kankakee, 1llinois. Scaffolding was used for perforining the work. Petitioner’s job-as a'laborer was to—
provide the materials to the bricklayers and to move the scaffolding. The scaffolding would be moved up and
down the building through a pulley-rope system. Petitioner claims that as he and a bricklayer were pulling the
ropes to move the scaffolding on the pulley system, he injured his right shoulder. The alleged accident occurred
towards the end of Petitioner’s work shift. Petitioner did not say anything to anyone regarding the injury on
September 15th. Petitioner testified that the symptoms in his right shoulder increased the evening of September
15th. He reported the accident to Respondent the following day.

Prior Medical History

It is undisputed that Petitioner had symptoms and received medical treatment for his right shoulder prior to the
alleged accident (Rx1-Rx7). Petitioner testified that he was involved in two incidents in 2010, which resulted in
an injury to his right shoulder.

Petitioner initially testified that he injured his right shoulder as a result of a motor vehicle accident in2010. He
later testified that he also was involved in an altercation which resulted in an injury to his right shoulder as well.
Petitioner said that the altercation occurred prior to the motor vehicle accident in 2010.

Although the Petitioner described the altercation as a “scuffle”, the medical evidence reflects the Petitioner
sought treatment for his injuries at St. James Hospital on June 25, 2010 (Rx1). Contrary to Petitioner’s labeling
of the altercation as a “scuffle”, he gave a history at St. James being hit in the head three times which resulted in
a loss of consciousness with the third hit (Rx1). Petitioner did admit that he was hit in the head with a lead

pipe.

The medica) records from St. James reflect Petitioner needing to be evaluated for a potential head injury. This
included undergoing a CT scan of the head and brain as well as an MRI of the brain (Rx1). Although the
Petitioner did not have any specific complaints involving his shoulder, these medical records from St. James
Hospital reflect complaints and injury involving his right hand (Rx1).

On May 31, 2011, Petitioner first sought treatment for his right shoulder condition. Petitioner sought treatment
from his family doctor at OSFMG Cullom (Rx2). Petitioner gave a history of injury to his right shoulder
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Robert Rich v. Hi-Lo Building Restoration, 11 WC 39406
_Attachment to Arbitration Decision 6 :
Nt Ao b 16IWCC0366

stemming from a motor vehicle accident the year prior. Petitioner complained that the pain was worsening. He
also complained of numbness. Petitioner also complained that he works as a carpenter and was experiencing
numbness in his arm at the end of the day (Rx2).

On June 16, 2011, Petitioner subsequently underwent an MRI of the right shoulder. Petitioner again gave a
history at the time of the MRI of having right shoulder pain as a result of a motor vehicle accident the year prior
(Rx3). The results of the MR1I revealed evidence of a partial thickness tear of the infraspinatus and
supraspinatus tendons superimposed on chronic tendinosis. There was also evidence of AC athrosis (Rx3).

On June 16, 2011, Petitioner also received treatment from Dr. Daniels at OSFMG Orthopedics (Rx3). Dr.
Daniels noted that the MRI revealed evidence of a partial thickness tear of the infraspinatus tendon and a high
grade partial thickness tear of the supraspinatus along with the evidence of chronic tendinosis. Dr. Daniels
diagnosed the Petitioner with right shoulder pain, right shoulder AC arthrosis and right shoulder chronic
tendinosis with impingement (Rx3). Dr. Daniels provided the Petitioner with a cortisone injection of the right
shoulder (Rx3). ‘

" "On June 27, 2011, Petitioner received follow up treatment for his shoulder complaints af OSFMG Orthicpedics
(Rx4). Petitioner now gave a history of injury to his right shoulder a year prior during an altercation. Petitioner
gave a history that during the altercation his arm and shoulder was in a twisted position. Petitioner complained
that the pain was progressively getting worse. He further complained of having difficulties sleeping, as well as
pain into his hand. Petitioner also described his “hand is on fire.” He further complained of his hand going
numb. Petitioner described his pain level regarding his shoulder as 7/10 on a good day (Rx4).

On June 30, 2011, Petitioner was then treated by Dr. Sipe at OSFMG Orthopedics for his shoulder pain (Rx4).
Petitioner gave Dr. Sipe a history of having pain since an injury one year prior due to an altercation. Petitioner
stated that he had his arm twisted behind him during the altercation. He complained of pain at night along with
pain with overhead use (Rx4). Petitioner complained of night pain and pain with activity (Rx4). Contrary to
Petitioner’s testimony regarding his employment at a highway construction job, Petitioner told Dr. Sipe he has
been laid off from labor type jobs over the past two years (Rx4). Dr. Sipe provided a cortisone injection (Rx4).
Petitioner then returned to OSFMG Orthopedics for a re-check of his shoulder on July 25, 2011 (Rx5).
Petitioner stated that the injection did not provide any relief in pain. Petitioner stated that his pain level was
9/10. Petitioner again related his shoulder condition to an injury after getting into a fight (Rx5).

On July 26, 2011, Petitioner again received treatment at OSFMG Orthopedics for his chronic right shoulder pain
(Rx6). Petitioner stated that thqugh he had some improvement with the cortisone inj ection by Dr. Sipe, the pain
was recurring (Rx6). Petitioner discussed his employment in construction. Petitioner stated that due to the
current job market he did not want to stop his job at this time. Petitioner stated that he was hopeful of having a
surgical procedure sometime this winter, but would like to keep working if possible. Petitioner asked whether
he could have one additional cortisteroid injection (Rx6). Petitioner was given another cortisteroid injection.

He was told to return in six to eight weeks if his symptoms persisted (Rx6).

On September 12, 2011, three days prior to the alleged accident, Petitioner received treatment from his family
physician (Rx7). Although Petitioner was treated for a cough and ear pain, the record reflects that the
Petitioner’s active problem list included impingement syndrome, shoulder pain, AC arthritis and bursitis of the
right shoulder (Rx7).
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Medical Treatment post accident date of September 15, 2011

Petitioner returned to Dr. Sipe for treatment on September 23, 2011(Px2). Petitioner stated that at the time of
the alleged accident of September 15, 2011, he felt a pull and pop to his left shoulder. Petitioner believed that
the pain was much different. He was having difficulty with activities of daily living and could not sleep on his
affected side. Petitioner also said he had a new complaint of numbness and tingling shooting down his entire
arm which started since his alleged accident (Px 2). X-rays of the shoulder on September 23rd did not reveal
any acute fractures. The x-ray did reveal the AC joint arthrosis (Px2). An EMG, as well as a repeat MRI was
ordered on September 23rd (Px2).

Electrical studies were performed on October 27, 2011. Results were negative (Px2).

Petitioner also underwent the repeat MRI on October 24, 2011. The MRI was compared with the prior MRI of
June 16,2011 (Rx8, Rx3, Px 2). The MRI on October 24, 2011 did not reveal any changes as it involved the
partial thickness tears of the infraspinatus and supraspinatus tendons or associated tendinosis. It was the
radiologist’s impression that there was no new injury (Rx8, Px2).

Petitioner then returned to Dr. Sipe’s office on November 11, 2011(Rx9, Px2). Results of the electrical studies
and the repeat MRI were noted. Petitioner’s diagnosis on November 11, 2011 did not change from his diagnosis
prior to the alleged accident on September 15, 2011. Petitioner was scheduled for arthroscopic surgery of the
right shoulder. (Rx9, PX2).

Dr. Sipe performed arthroscopic shoulder surgery on December 6, 2011 (Px1). Dr. Sipes’s pre-operative
diagnosis was of right shoulder pain, right shoulder partial rotator cuff tear, right shoulder impingement
syndrome and right shoulder acromial clavicular degenerative joint disease (Px1). During the surgery, Dr. Sipe
also found evidence of a SLAP tear. Dr. Sipe noted that the MRI did not show evidence of a2 new injury from
the prior MRI (Px1). Dr. Sipe further noted that as Petitioner did not improve with conservative therapy, he
wished to proceed with arthroscopic evaluation and management (Px1). During the surgery, Dr. Sipe noted that
there was degenerative fraying of the labrum, which was debrided along with the rotator cuff. Dr. Sipe also
noted degenerative changes throughout the shoulder compartmenis (Px1).

Post-operatively, Petitioner received follow up treatment from Dr. Sipe. On December 19, 2011. Petitioner
was referred for occupational therapy (Px2). Petitioner then received therapy in the rehab department at St.
James Medical Center (see, Px3). '

Petitioner was released from treatment by Dr. Sipe on January 17, 2012. At that time, Petitioner complained of
some stiffness, although the pain was improving. He denied any numbness or tingling. Petitioner was released
to regular duty work at that time (Px2).

Medical Expert Testimony

Medical expert testimony was provided as part of this litigation. Petitioner’s treating physician, Dr. Sipe, did
not provide expert testimony. Petitioner’s attorney sent the Petitioner for an independent medical evaluation
with Dr. Coe, an occupational medicine specialist.
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Petitioner was evaluated by Dr. Coe on April 3, 2012 (Px4, Px5). Dr. Coe opined that Petitioner sustained an
injury at work on September 15, 2011 (Px4). He claimed that the Petitioner had sustained a glenoid labral tear,

as well as an aggravation of his pre-existing rotator cuff tears and acromial clavicular degenerative joint disease
(Px4).

Dr. Coe testified on cross-examination that the MRIs prior and subsequent to the Petitioner’s alleged accident
on September 15, 2011 did not reveal any evidence of new injury (Px5, p.60). Dr. Coe went on to opine that the
significant change was an avulsion tear of the glenoid labrum (Px35, p.60).

Dr. Coe did not obtain a history of the Petitioner being in an altercation at the time of his evaluation (Px4, Px35,

. p.65). Dr. Coe did admit that it is possible that Petitioner could have sustained a labral tear as he had got his
arm twisted during the altercation (Px5, p.67). Dr. Coe also agreed that even though the Petitioner was not
diagnosed with a labral tear prior to the surgery, it is not unusual for a 1abral tear not to be visible on MRI (Px35,
p.67). Dr. Coe further admitted that there is no clinical testing that is entirely reliable to diagnosc a labral tear.
He agreed the tear was not discovered until the time of his surgery (Px5, p.68).

Respondent had the Petitioner evaluated by Dr. Lieber, a board certified orthopedist, on January 24,2012~
(Rx10, Rx11). Based upon his examination of the medical records and the radiological information, Dr. Lieber
was of the opinion that there was not a causal relationship between Petitioner’s alleged work injury on
September 15, 2011 and his shoulder condition (Rx 10). Dr. Lieber opined that there was not any abnormality
within the Petitioner’s right shoulder due to the work injury (Rx10). Dr. Lieber further opined that the SLAP
tear of the labrum was degenerative in nature and not associated with the alleged work injury on September 15,
2011 (Px10). Dr. Lieber was further of the opinion that the alleged work injury on September 15, 2011 did not
aggravate the Petitioner’s pre-existing shoulder condition (Px10). Dr. Lieber testified consistent with the
opinions expressed in his medical report (Rx11, p.20-22). In regards to the labral tear, Dr. Lieber opined that
the tear was degenerative. He also opined that based upon the MRI, Petitioner had a degenerative shoulder and
the labral tear was part of the problem (Rx11, p.18-19).

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. With regard to the issues of accident and causation, the Arbitrator finds that the Petitioner has failed to meet
his burden of proof. In support of this finding, the Arbitrator relies heavily on the medical evidence, which
clearly shows the Petitioner was suffering from a pre-existing, degenerative condition. In 2010, the Petitioner
was in an altercation which, according to his history to medical providers, resulted in an injury to his shoulder.
Petitioner specifically noted that he injured his shoulder when his arm was twisted behind his back. To
compound this injury in the altercation, Petitioner was also involved in a motor vehicle accident in 2010 causing
further damage to his shoulder. The facts further show the Petitioner complained of a progressive worsening in
his pain symptoms 3 days prior to his alleged accident date. The medical evidence also shows Petitioner’s pain
complaints progressed between treatment in May, 2011 and July, 2011. Specifically, Petitioner described his
pain level as 7/10 on a good day on June 27, 2011. By July 25, 2011, Petitioner’s pain level was 9/10. This was
after the Petitioner had undergone a cortisone injection. The medical evidence also shows the Petitioner having
difficulty with various activities prior to the alleged accident on September 15, 2011. He complained of night
pain along with difficuity sleeping. He further has symptoms of pain with overhead use and any activity
including the shoulder. The medical evidence is also undisputed that Petitioner’s MRI on June 16, 2011 and
prior to the accident, as well Petitioner’s clinical examinations revealed evidence of rotator cuff tears and
shoulder pathology. The MRI revealed evidence of partial thickness tears of the tendons super imposed on
chronic tendinosis. There was also evidence of AC joint arthrosis observed on the MRI. The evidence indicates



Robert Rich v. Hi-Lo Building Restoration, 11 WC 39406
Attachment to Arbitration Decision. . - 6 ' ’
Page Sof 5 B S 1 Iw000366

discussions regarding future surgery during treatment on July 26, 2011. Itis clear that the injection performed
by Dr. Sipe had not relieved or improved his symptoms and the Petitioner knew he was going to need surgery.
However, Petitioner advised Dr. Sipe that he did not wish to stop working due to the job market, if possible, and
would hopefully have surgery in winter. In the meantime, the Petitioner asked for an additional injection to
continue working,

The medical evidence also fails to demonstrate Petitioner suffered any additional injury to his right shoulder due
to the alleged accident on September 15, 2011. Despite Petitioner’s testimony as to what he experienced at the
time of the alleged accident, the medical evidence fails to demonstrate any additional injury. This is observed
through the repeat MRI which shows no change in Petitioner’s shoulder pathology when compared with the
prior MRI and the notation by the radiologist that there was “no new injury.” Petitioner’s claim that he bad
developed a new complaint of numbness and tingling into his arm after the alleged accident is refuted by the
medical evidence reflecting the same complaints prior to September 15th.

Finally, Petitioner’s diagnosis did not change after the alleged accident on September 15, 2011. Further, while
it is true that Dr. Sipe found evidence of a labral tear during shoulder surgery, the medical evidence, as well as
“the medical 8xpert testimony and Thedical opinions disprove any ‘acute trauma: Specifically; Dr. Sipe’s -
operative report reflects that the labral tear was degenerative. Dr. Lieber confirmed that the labral tear was
degenerative. Moreover, Dr. Coe, Petitioner’s medical expert agreed that a labral tear may not be visible on
MRIL Dr. Coe further agreed that there is no reliable clinical testing to diagnose a labral tear. Dr. Coe further
agreed that the mechanism of injury to Petitioner’s shoulder during thqﬁgltercation-eould have caused a labral
tear.

This medical evidence, along with issues involving Petitioner’s credibility regarding the accident, requires the
denial of this claim. The medical evidence does not support Petitioner’s testimony as to the change in his
shoulder condition after this accident. Petitioner’s credibility is also suspect as the evidence clearly shows he
needed further treatment for his shoulder prior to the alleged accident, but did not have personal medical
insurance to utilize for treatment. Petitioner also was not eligible for medical insurance despite his employment
for Respondent due to his union’s eligibility requirements.

Based on all the above, the Arbitrator concludes that the Petitioner failed to prove that he sustained an accident
on September 15, 2011 or that his condition of ill-being is related to the alleged accident from that date.

2. Based upon the findings above, all other issues are rendered moot.
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) Affirm and adopt (no changes) D Injured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d))
. ) SS. |:| Affirm with changes l:‘ Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF COOK ) |:| Reverse D Second Injury Fund (§8(¢)18)
l:‘ PTD/Fatal denied
|:| Modify None of the above
BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
Ralph Burns,
Petitioner,
Vs. NO: 13WC 27012
Legendary Baking, 1 6 I w C C 0 3 6 7
Respondent, '

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by the Respondent herein and notice given
to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of nature and extent and being
advised of the facts and law, affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached
hereto and made a part hereof.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the
Arbitrator filed March 16, 20135, is hereby affirmed and adopted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Respondent pay to
Petitioner interest under §19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT 1S FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Respondent shall have
credit for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of the Petitioner on account of said accidental
injury.

Bond for removal of this cause to the Circuit Court by Respondent is hereby fixed at the
sum of $67,000.00. The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court shall

file with the Commission a Notice of Intent to File for /Re ie 71% }/
DATED: ;

0052516 JUN 1 - 2016 Charles ¥"DeVriendt

CID/jrc

Joshua D. Luskin

'Ruth W. White
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BURNS, RALPH Case# 13WC027012

Employee/Petitioner

LEGENDARY BAKING : 1 6 I w CC 0 3 6 7

Employer/Respondent

On 3/16/2015, an arbitration decision on this case was filed with the Illinois Workers' Compensatlon
Commission in Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed.

If the Commission reviews this award, interest of 0.09% shall accrue from the date listed above to the day
before the date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this
award interest shall not accrue.

A copy of this decision is mailed to the following parties:

1067 ANKIN LAW OFFICE LLC
SCOTT GOLDSTEIN

162 W GRAND AVE

CHICAGO, IL 60854

2542 BRYCE DOWNEY & LENKOV
RICH LENKOV

200 N LASALLE ST SUITE 2700
CHICAGO, IL 60601
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) [ 1njured Workers* Benefit Fund (§4(d)
)SS. D Rate Adjustment Fund (§3(g))
COUNTY OF Cook ) : [ ] second Injury Fund (§8(c)18)
- - T e R None of the above
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ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

ARBITRATION DECISION
Ralph Burns Case# 13 WC 27012
Employee/Petitioner
V. ' Consolidated cases: N/A
Legendary Baking '
Employer/Respondent

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each

~——party:~The matter was-heard-by the-Honorable-Stephen-Friedman;-Arbitrator-of-the Commission, in-the-city.
of Chicago, on March 6, 2015. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes
findings on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.

DISPUTED ISSUES

Al D Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Illinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act?

D Was there an employee-employer relationship? .

[ ] Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?
D What was the date of the accident?

D Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?

|___| What were Petitioner's earnings?

D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

D What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?

[] Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?

K. I:I What temporary benefits are in dispute?
] TPD [ ] Maintenance ] TTD
L. EZ] What is the nature and extent of the injury?
M. [ ] Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?
N. D Is Respondent due any credit?

0. D Other

TCArbDec 2710 100 W. Randolph Street #8-200 Chicago, IL 60601 312/314-6611  Toll-fres 866/352-3033  Web site: www.iwcc.il.gov
Downstate offices; Collinsville 618/346-3450 Peoria 309/671-3019  Rockford 815/987-7292 Springfield 217/785-7084
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FINDINGS

On July 31, 2013, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act.

On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.

On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment
Tlmely notice of this accident was gwen to Respondent -

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is causally related to the accident.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $44,720.00; the average weekly wage was $860.00.
On the date of accident, Petitioner was 56 years of age, married with 0 dependent children.

Petitioner has received all reasonable end necessary medical services.

_.Respondent has paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

...—Respondent shall be_given a credit of $4,779.31_for TTD, $0.00 for TPD, $0.00 for maintenance, and $0 00

for other benefits, for a total credit of $4,779.31.
Respondent is entitled fo a credit of $0.00 under Section 8(j) of the Act.

ORDER

Respondent shall pay Petitioner temporary total disability benefits of $573.33/week for 7 6/7 weeks,
commencing July 31, 2013 through September 23, 2013, as provided in Section 8(b) of the Act.
Respondent shall be given a credit of $4,779.31 for TTD.

Respondent shall pay Petitioner permanent partial disability benefits of $516.00/week for 130 weeks, because
the injuries sustained caused the disfigurement of the left leg, both hands and arms and the face, as
provided in Section 8(c) of the Act.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this

decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the
decision of the Commission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice
of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however,
if an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

i March 16, 2015
Signature of‘%@rﬂr Date
ICArbDec p. 2 . MAR 1 E 215

Page 2 of 4
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f Raiph Burmns v. Legendary Blaking ] ' | 16 I,w C C 0 3 6 7 13 WC 27012
Statement of Facts

At the close of proofs, on motion of the Petitioner and without objection from Respondent, the Application for
Adjustment of Claim was amended to change the date of accident from July 30, 2013 to July 31, 2013.

Petitioner Ralph Burns was employed by Respondent Legendary Baking as maintenance mechanic. Petitioner
testified that on July 31, 2013 he started the oven and it blew up. He was wearing work pants and a long
sleeved work shirt. He was wearing a hair net with an elastic headband. Petitioner testified that he suffered
burns to his face, ears, lips, both hands, left arm and left leg. |

Petitioner testified that he was taken by ambulance to South Suburban Hospital. He testified he was treated
and released. The ambulance report records second degree burns to both hands and third dégree burns to

hands and his face as well as his legs (Px 2).The record finds burns to the nose, eyebrows and eye lashes are
gone, and second and third degree bumns to the fingers and palms. The left hand was worse and will req'uife
debridement. Burns were 13.5-14% of surface area (Px 2, pg 28-29).

Petitioner testified that he was sent for follow up at the University Of Chicago Hospital. He was admitted and
was treated for his burns through a discharge date of August 9, 2013. The University of Chicago records were
admitted as Petitioner’s Exhibit 3. The records contain photographic evidence of the areas of burning (Px 3, pg
100). Petitioner was treated with biobrane, a wrapping infused with ointment, ongoing debridements and
wound care. He also had hydrotherapy and occupational therapy to maintain range of motion in his wrists due
to concerns that the burn scarring would resuit in contractures (Px 3, pg 104, 112). Petitipner was discharged
with a further prescription for silvadene (Px 3, Pg 1).

Petitioner testified that following his discharge from the hospital he has had follow up visits. He used silvadene -
cream for about two weeks. Petitioner returned to work for the Respondent. He is doing the same job and
eaming the same pay. He last saw the dogtor on June 20, 2014 and is to see him for follow up in a year. He is
no longer using any cream for his burns. He is not taking any prescription medication.

The Arbitrator observed the Petitioner's scarring. On Petitioner’s left lower leg he has several round darkened
areas with some roughening and dryness of the skin. Petitioner's right hand is noticeably darkened to the wrist
with some mottling coloration. There are round areas of darkened scarring on the right forearm. Petitioner's
left hand is also noticeable darkened with mottled coloration. In addition, Petitioner has areas of loss of
pigmentation on the little, ring and middle fingers of the left hand. The Petitioner has several round darkened

Page 3 of 4
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areas uf scarring on the left forearm. Petitioner also has a darkened band across his forehead caused by the
elastic band of the hairnet he was wearing.

" Conclusions of Law

" I support of the Arbitrator’s decision with respect to (F) Causal Connection, the Arbitrator- -
finds as follows:

Petitioner's unrebutted testimony was that on July 31, 2013 he was injured when the oven exploded. The
.ambulance report and med[cal records substantzate his test:mony The medlcal records also corroborate
Petitioner’s testlmony as to the extent and location of the burns he recewed in the accident. Based upon “
Petitioner’ s credibie testlmony and the medical records admitted, the Arbitrator finds that, as a resuit of the

) _accudental lnjunes sustamed on Juiy 31, 2013, Pet|t|oner suffered burns to hlS !eft Ieg, both hands and arms
and h!S face which caused the burn scarrmd that the Arbitrator observed ' "

In support'of the .A'rbitrator’s decision with respect to (L) Nature and Extent, the Arbitrator
finds as follows: - '

Petitioner did niot testify to any ongoing disability as a resuilt of the accidental injuries sustained on July 31,
2013, nor do the medical records submitted support a finding of specific loss of use. The Arbitrator did
personally observe the Petitioner's areas of burn scarring and observed serious and permanent disfigurement
to the left lower leg, both hands and forearms and to Petitioner's face.

Based upon the Petitioner's testimony, the medical records reviewed and the Arbitrator's observation of the

Petitioner's condition, the Arbitrator finds that Petitioner is entitled to 130 weeks of compensation for the
serious and permanent disfigurement to the left lower leg, both hands and arms and the face.

Paged of 4
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) @ Affirm and adopt (no changes) El Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
) SS. D Affirm with changes D Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF COOK ) D Reverse |:| Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
I:_I PTD/Fatal denied
D Modity None of the above
BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
Teresa White,
Petitioner,
VS. NO: 14WC 30981
CTA, 6 0 3 6 8
Respondent, 1 I w C C

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by the Respondent and Petitioner herein
and notice given to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of accident,
penalties, fees and being advised of the facts and law, affirms and adopts the Decision of the
Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and made a part hereof.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the
Arbitrator filed April 27, 2015, is hereby affirmed and adopted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Respondent pay to
Petitioner interest under §19(n} of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Respondent shall have
credit for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of the Petitioner on account of said accidental
injury.

The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court shall file with the
Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in C1rcu1t Court.

DATED: JUN § - 2016 // / M

0052516 Charlesa/De)(l iendt
CID/jre

" Gkl Zor

Joshua D Luskin

f(’uth W. White
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WHITE, TERESA Case# 14WC030981

Employee/Petitioner

cTA - 16IWCC0368

Employer/Respondent

On 4/27/2015, an arbitration decision on this case was filed with the Illinois Workers' Compensation
Commission in Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed.

If the Commission reviews this award, interest of 0.09% shall accrue from the date listed above to the day .
before the date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this
award, interest shall not accrue,

A copy of this decision is mailed to the folIS;\dng partie‘s“:w

0154 KROL BONGIORNC & GIVEN LTD
MIKE BRANDENBERG

120 N LASALLE ST SUITE 1150
CHICAGO, |k 60602

0515 CTA

ANDRA ZECHMAN

567 W LAKE ST6TH FL
CHICAGO, IL 60661



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) D Injured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d))
7 )S8. ' Dﬂf{ate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF Cook ) l:] Second Injury Fund (§8(e}18)
None of the above

' ILLINOIS'WO-RKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

ARBITRATION DECISION
Teresa White Case # 14 WC 30981
Employee/Petitioner
V. Consolidated cases: n/a
CTA
EmployerlRespondent

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Deborah L. Simpson, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the

.DISPUTED ISSUES ... ... ..

city of Chicago, on February 25, 2015, After reviewing all of the eviderice presented, the Arbitrator hereby
makes findings on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.

A. D Was Respondent operating under and silbjec;t to the Illinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act?

B. l_l Was there an emplovee-emplover relationshipn?

. Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?
D l:l What was the date of the accident? -

E. El Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?
F. @ Is Petitioner’s current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?
G. D What were Petitioner's earnings?

H. D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

D What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the acc1dent‘?
J . Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent

paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services? -
K. [X] What temporary benefits are in dispute?

171PD - [ ] Maintenance - X TTD
L. El What is the nature and extent of the injliry?
M. |Z] Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?
N. |_] Is Respondent due any credit? S
0. [:I Other

{CArbDec 2/10 100 W. Randolph Street #8-200 Chicago, IL 60601 312/814-6611 Toll-free 866/352-3033  Web site: www.iwee.il.gov
Downstate offices: Collinsville 618/346-3450 Peoria 309/671-3019 Rockford 815/987-7292  Springfield 217/785-7084
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FINDINGS

On September 5, 2014, Respohdem' was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act.
On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.

On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.
Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is causally related to the accident,

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $48,407.12; the average weekly wage was $932.06.
On the @a._f_ce of aéqidc’;if_it, Pétitionépgiafa'é 5é-ye§’1‘s of age, single with 0 dependent children.

Petitioner has received all reasonable and necge-ssary medical services.

Respondent Aas not paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

ORDER

Respondent shall pay Petitioner temporary total disébilify b'e‘nefité of $621.37/week for 5 and 2/7 weeks,
commencing September 6, 2014 through October 12, 2014, as provided in Section 8(b) of the Act..

Respondent shall pay to Petitioner reasonable and necessary medical services of $4,089.00 under Sections 8(a)
and 8.2 of the Act for the following unpaid medical bills: City of Chicago EMS - $1,034.00, St. Anthony
Emergency Services - $250.00, St. Anthony Hospital - $1,811.00, Midwest Imaging Professionals - $§114.00,
and Peoples Medical Center - $880.00 pursuant to the fee schedule or prior agreement whichever is less,
pursuant to the Act.

Respondent shall pay Petitioner permanent partial disability benefits of $559.24/week for 10 weeks, because the
injuries sustained caused the Petitioner 2% loss of the man as a whole, as provided in Section 8(e) of the Act.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this decision,
and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the decision of
the Commission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice of

Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however, if
an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

(koo Ko slerrprin Gyert 2, 21

Signature of Arbitrator Date

[CA1bDec p. 2 P\?R 2' \-Z ?-B‘afb



BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Teresa White, )
Petitioner, ;
. ; No. 14 WC 30981
CTA, | 3
Respondent. i i6 1l W CCO 3 68

FINDINGS OF FACTS AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW -

The parties agree that on September 5, 2014, the Petitioner and the Respondent were
operating under the Illinois Worker’s Compensation or Occupational Diseases Act and that their
relationship was one of employee and employer.. They.agree that the Petitioner gave the - . .
Respondent notice of the accident which is the subject matter of this dispute within the time
limits stated in the Act. They further agree that in the year preceding the injury the Petitioner’s
earnings were $48,407.12, and her average weekly wage, calculated pursuant to Section 10 of the

Act, was $932.06.

At issue in this hearing is as follows: (1) Did Petitioner sustain an accidental injury on
that date, that arose out of and in the course of the employment; (2} Is the Petitioner’s current
condition of ill-being causally connected to this injury or exposure; (3) Is the Respondent liable
for the unpaid medical bills listed in the Medical Bills statement attached to Arbitrator’s Exhibit

#1; (4) Is the Petitioner entitled to TTD from September 6, 2014 through October 12, 2014; )]

What is the nature and extent of the injury; and (6) Is the Petitioner entitled to attorney’s fees and
penalties.

- STATEMENT OF FACTS

On September 5, 2014 the Petitioner was a 52 year old bus operator employed by the

T mcram e At i AT~ e 14 1000 Qlan sttt lanand dranatonnand A # ol

L P N pRpey g Py B aime cpeen oe es
" L\UD}JULL\LULLI— SINCC INGVTINGST LUy L 770, ONc lb LlsllL iaiia GOIiTiilanc. .l'l Lic LU.JJ.LJ U1 ab\.«luc:ut,, RIS

weighed about 319 pounds.

- On September 5, 2014, Petitioner went to work as a'bus operator in the early morning.
She went to get a bus and began to perform her routine pre-pullout check, which included pulling
the-mirrors out on-thebus. Adjusting the right-side mirror-involved standing-on-the-platform in
the front doorway of the bus and pulling the mirror out with her right arm. The mirrors had to be
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pulled out because they were pushed in overnight in order to clean the bus. Petitioner testified

that she always performs a pre-pullout check before operating the bus and that she always checks
the mirrors the same way.

Petitioner testified that, as she was pulling on the right mirror with her right hand on the
morning of September 5, 2014, she lost her grip and lost her balance. She made an attempt to
catch herself, but she fell from the approximately one-and-a-half-foot-tall platform floor of the

bus to the concrete ground. She landed on her right side, including her right buttock, hip, elbow,
and shoulder.

There was a camera on the bus which recorded the incident and Respondent submitted a
video recording of the accident from the morning of September 5, 2014, which was numbered
Respondent’s Exhibit #1. The video depicts the Petitioner, standing inside the bus, going down
the stairs out of the bus around the front, then returning inside the bus. After pulling her hair into -
a pony tail the Petitioner walks to the door entrance of the bus, grabs on to the rail with her left
hand and leans outside the door using her right arm to adjust the mirror. While she is pulling on
the mirror she either lets go of the rail or loses her grip falling to the side, out of the bus. Her

~hand-appearstortryto-grab-the-door as-she-is falling out-of the-bus-but she is-not able to stop the—---

fall. The Petitioner landed on her right side on the floor. (RX 1) Petitioner stayed lying on the
floor on her right side. Occasionally she waives her left arm like she is pushing someone away.

Petitioner testified that she immediately felt sharp, excruciating pain in her neck,
extending down to her right shoulder and elbow. Another bus operator nearby saw Petitioner on
the ground and notified a manager employed by Respondent, who then called an ambulance.
After her initial impact with the ground, Petitioner stated that she stayed lying down in a half-
fetal position for 25-30 minutes.

On the day of the accident, Petitioner was taken by ambulance to St. Anthony Hospital
and treated by Dr. Kaleem Malik. Petitioner reported slipping and falling onto her right side
while trying to adjust the side mirror on the Respondent’s bus. Upon examination, Petitioner’s
right shoulder showed no signs of swelling, hematoma, erythema, ecchymosis, warmth, or
muscle atrophy. Her right scapula, acromioclavicular joint, and humerus were tender to
palpation. She had pain with active and passive range of motion testing. X-rays showed no
fracture in the right humerus or shoulder. There was minimal fragmentation in the right acromion
region that may have been related to chronic injury or spurring. The diagnosis was moderate
right shoulder strain, exacerbated by movement. Petitioner was discharged with a prescription
for Tramadol and instructed to follow up with an orthopedist if the pain did not improve. (PX1)

Later that day, Petitioner was examined by Dr. Boris Kusnetzow at People’s Medical
Center. She reported injuring her right neck and shoulder after falling onto concrete from the bus
platform while adjusting the right mirror. He diagnosed Petitioner with a cervical spine and
humbar spine sprain, a right shoulder contusion with a sprain, and a right elbow contusion with
an abrasion. He instructed Petitioner to remain off of work completely. (PX2)

On September 12, 2014, Petitioner followed up with Dr. Kusnetzow. She reported that
the pain and stiffness in her neck was worse. Upon examination, Petitioner had stiffness in her
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neck and spasms in her right shoulder, as well as bruising on the right hip. Dr. Kusnetzow
recommended that Petitioner remain off of work and begin physical therapy. (PX 2)

Petitioner saw Dr. Kusnetzow again on September 22, 2014, She reported that the strains
in her cervical spine and lumbar spine were worse. She was kept off of work. (PX 2)

On October 6, 2014, Dr. Kusnetzow again examined Petitioner, noting spasms in her
neck. Petitioner was still unable to sit or bend or steer. Dr. Kusneizow continued to recommend
physical therapy. (PX 2)

Petitioner last treated with Dr. Kusnetzow on October 9, 2014. Upoﬁ examination,
Petitioner was still experiencing frozen right shoulder and elbow, tenderness and spasms along
the cervical and lumbar spine, and bruising on the right hip. The diagnoses were right shoulder
sprain, right elbow sprain, cervical spine and lumbar spine sprains, and tight hip contusion. Dr.
Kusnetzow released Petitioner to return to work full duty as of October 13, 2014 and prescribed
her a muscle relaxant and pain medication. (PX 2)

At"th‘e“tiiné“o‘f ‘hearing, Petitioner testified that'she was stlll in pain on Octobér 9; 2014 T
but she asked to be released back to work because she needed income. She did retumn to work at
full duty on October 13, 2014.

- Petitioner testlﬁed that, prior to September 5 2014 she was not: havmg any problems
with her neck, right shoulder, or right elbow. She currently gets stiffness and pain when she tries
to perform any heavy hftmg She lwes on the third ﬂoor of a bulldmg and has her son carry up

Pet1t10ner used to perfonn these tasks on her own. Petltzoner testified that her sleep is sometlmes
“interrupted when she feels stiffness and pain in her neck. The pain gets worse when the weather 77 7~
gets colder. Petitioner takes over-the-counter medication for relief.

Petitioner testified that she gets sharp pain after driving a bus for Respondent, particularly
when steering with her right arm. She is no longer able to pull out the mirrors on 60-foot CTA
- buses, and she-asks for help at times with pulling out the mirrors on the 40-foot buses. When she- - - -~
tries too hard to puil on the mirror, she feels pain in her neck and right shoulder all day long,

Petitioner testified that she was off of work completely from September 6, 2014 through Oetober
12,2014. o

'CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

The burden is upon the party seeking an award to prove by a preponderance of the
credible evidence the elements of his claim. Peoria Cozmty Nursing Home v. Industrial
- Comm'n,-115 111.2d 524, 505 N.E.2d 1026 (1987). -

In determining the level of permanent partial disability, for i mJunes that occur on or after
September 1, 2011, the Commission shall base its determination on the following factors: (i) the
reported level of impairment pursuant to subsection (a); (i) the occupation of the injured
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employee; (iii) the age of the employee at the time of the injury; (iv) the employee’s future
earning capacity; (v) evidence of disability corroborated by the treating medical records. No
single enumerated factor shall be the sole determinant of disability. In determining the level of
disability, the relevance and weight of any factors used in addition to the level of impairment as
reported by the physician must be explained in a written order. (820 ILCS 305/8.1b)

An injury is accidental within the meaning of the Worker’s Compensation Act when it is
traceable to a definite time, place and cause and occurs in the course of the employment
unexpectedly and without affirmative act or design of the employee. Matthiessen & Hegeler
Zinc Co. v Industrial Board, 284 111. 378, 120 N.E. 2d 249, 251 (1918)

To be compensable under the Act, the injury complained of must be one “arising out of
and in the course of the employment”. 820 ILCS 305/2(West 1998). An injury “arises out of”
one’s employment if it originates from a risk connected with; or incidental to, the employment,
involving a causal connection between the employment and the accidental injury. Parro v.
_Industrial Comm’n, (1995) 167 Ill. 2d 385,393, 212 Ill. Dec. 537, 657 N.E. 2d 882.

with the Petitioner who must show this entitlement by a preponderance of the evidence. J.M.
Jones Co. v. Industrial Commission, 71 111.2d 368, 375 N.E.2d 1306 (1978)

In support of the Arbitrator’s decision with respect to whether the Petitioner
sustained an accidental injury that arose out of and in the course of the employment, the
Arbitrator makes the following findings and conclusions of law:

Petitioner testificd that she was required to check the mirrors on the bus during her pre-
pullout check before she operated the bus every single time. She explained that the mirrors
needed to be pulled out and adjusted because they were put in for cleaning every night. She lost
her balance and feli as a result of pulling on the right mirror with her right hand. Petitioner was
significantly overweight at the time of accident—approximately 319 pounds. She was unable to
catch herself once she began to fall down.

The video submitted as Respondent’s Exhibit 1 supports Petitioner’s testimony, showing
the Petitioner adjusting the right mirror, losing her balance, and then falling to the ground.
Petitioner has worked as a bus operator with Respondent for about 17 years. Petitioner testified
that she knew there were video cameras capturing footage of the bus at the time of her accident.
At the time of hearing, no testimony was elicited on rebuttal to indicate that Petitioner’s account
of the accident is not credible.

The Arbitrator has reviewed the evidence and the testimony of the witness. The
Arbitrator finds that Petitioner’s accident did arise out of and in the course of her employment
with Respondent.

Page 4 of 7
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In support of the Ar ‘bitrator’s decision with respect to whether Petitioner's current
condition of ill-being is causally related to the injury, the Arbitrator makes the fo}lowmg
findings and conclusions of law:

Petitioner testified that, prior to the accident on September 5, 2014, she was not having
any problems with her neck, right shoulder, or right elbow. Immediately after she feli from the
approximately one-and-a-half-foot-tall bus platform onto the concrete floor, Petitioner felt sharp
pain in her neck, and right shoulder, and elbow. She was diagnosed that day with a cervical spine
and lumbar spine sprain, a right shoulder contusion with a sprain, and a right elbow contusion
with an abrasion. All of the medical records are consistent with this history.

The Arbitrator has had the opportunity to review the medical evidence and the testimony
of the witness. The Arbitrator finds a causal connection between the work accident of September
5,2014 and Petltloner s present condition of ill-being in the neck, right shoulder, and right
erow

In support of the Arbitrator’s decision with respect to whether the Respondent is
liable for the unpaid medical bills listed in the Medical Bills statement attached to
Arbitrator’s Exhibit #1, the Arbifrator makes the following findings and conclusions of
iaw: '

- The medical records reflect that Petitioner was taken via ambulance to the emergency
room at Saint- Anthony Hospital on the day of the accident, September 5, 2014. X-rays were
taken of Petitioner’s neck and shoulder. That same day, Petitioner treated with Dr. Boris
Kusnetzow. She continued to follow up with him due to continued pam through her release to

as result of the fall from the bus to the concrete were 1101: unreasonable

The Arb1trat0r ﬁnds all of the medlcal treatment to be reasmlable and necessary.

Petitioner presented unpaid medical bills as part of its Exhibit 3, a copy of which is
attached to Arbitrator’s Exhibit 1. Based on the Arbitrator’s findings above, the bills are
awarded as follows

City of Chicago EMS — DOS 9/5/14, $1,034.00.

St. Anthony Emergency Services — DOS 9/5/14, $ 250.00.
St. Anthony Hospital—DOS 9/5/14, §1,811.00.

Midwest Imaging Professionals—DOS 9/5/14, $114.00.
Peoples Medical Center—DOS 8/14/14,-$880.00.

o
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~ entitled to TTD from S ptem b 6 2014 threuOh October 12 2014, the Arbitrator makes
the following findings and cenclusions of law:

rle ndls 4L
13

The Petitioner claims that she is entitled to TTD benefits for the period between
September 6, 2014 and October 12, 2014, a period representing 5 and 2/7 weeks. Respondent
claims that it doés not oweé any TTD bénefits. The Aibitrator notes that Petitioner retufhed to
work full duty on October 13, 2014. Petitioner was taken off of work the day of the accident by

Page 50f 7



g n 16IWCC0368

her doctor after examining her, prior to that date, no doctor had released Petitioner to return to
work with respect to her neck, right shoulder, and right elbow.

The Arbitrator has reviewed the evidence and finds Petitioner is entitled to TTD benefits
for 5 and 2/7 weeks, representing the period between September 6, 2014 and October 12, 2014.

In support of the Arbitrator’s decision with respect to whether What is the nature .
and extent of the injury, the Arbitrator makes the following findings and conclusions of
law:

The Arbitrator adopts by reference all prior findings and conclusions into this Section
without restating them herein. This claim arose after September 1, 2011, therefore the 5
factors for determining Permanent Partial Disability shall be applied here. The Arbitrator
notes the five factors to determine Permanent Partial Disability are: 1) AMA Impairment
Rating; 2) Occupation of the injured employee; 3) Age of the employee at the time of the
injury; 4) Employee’s future earning capacity; and 5) Evidence of disability corroborated by
the treating medical records. No one factor shall be controlling but a written explanation is

required if an award is greater than the AMA Impairment Rating. 820 ILCS 305/8.1b(b).

It is the claimant’s burden to prové all aspects of his claim for benefits. This includes
eniitlement to Permanent Partial Disability.

1.- AMA Impairment Rating: Neither Petitioner nor Respondent presented an AMA
Impairment Rating. Based on the failure to submit an AMA Impairment Rating the Arbitrator
cannot consider this factor.

2. Occupation of the injured employee: Petitioner was employed by Respondent as a
bus driver. Petitioner was able to return to work, in her same job within 5 weeks and 2 days of
her accident. Petitioner testified that he continues to work for Respondent in that capacity.
Significant weight is given to this factor.

3. Age of the employee at the time of the injury: Petitioner was 52 years old at the time
of her accident. There is no evidence that Petitioner's age impacted her injury or created any
permanent disability. The Arbitrator gives some weight to this factor. '

4. Employee’s future earning capacity: Petitioner testified that she continues to work
for the Respondent in her pre injury job. Petitioner did not testify to any diminution of her
earnings since this accident or any affect on her ability to earn a living. There is no evidence of
disability due to this factor, significant weight is given to this factor as well.

5. Evidence of disability corroborated by the treating medical records: The Petitioner
sustained a cervical spine and lumbar spine sprain, a right shoulder contusion with a sprain, and a
right elbow contusion with an abrasion.

Petitioner testified that she currently gets stiffness and pain when she tries to perform any
heavy lifting. Her sleep is sometimes interrupted when she feels stiffness and pain in her neck,
and the pain gets worse when the weather gets colder. Petitioner feels pain after driving a bus
particularly when steering with her right arm. She is no longer able to pull out the mirrors on 60-
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foot CTA buses, and she asks for help at times with pulling out the mirrors on the 40-foot buses.
When she tries too hard to pull on the mirror, she feels pain in her neck and right shoulder.

The determination of PPD is not simply a calculation, but an evaluation of all five factors
as stated in the Act. In making this evaluation of PPD, consideration is not given to any single
enumerated factor as the sole determinant. Therefore, after applying Section 8.1b of the Act, 820
ILCS 305/8.1b and considering the relevance and weight of all these factors, the Arbitrator
concludes that Petitioner has sustained a 2% permanent loss of the person as a whole, or 10
weeks of PPD benefits.

In support of the Arbitrator’s decision with respect to whether Is Petitioner entitled
to attorney’s fees and penalties, the Arbitrator makes the following findings and
conclusions of law:

' Given the facts presented in this case, and after considering the parties’ motion and
response the Arbitrator finds that Respondent had a reasonable dispute as to whether Petitioner’s
injuries subsequent to September 5, 2014, arose out of her employment as alleged. Petitioner fell

‘from the step of the bus, less than two feet, She did not lose consciousness, did not break any
bones had minor brulsmg and was able to move after the Tall;

Respondent had video footage of the accident occurring while Petitioner was acting out of
-and in the course of her employment with Respondent. -Respondent believed that Petitioner did -
not fall by accident, that her actions were voluntary. They disagreed with Petitioner’s claim that
she lost her balance and fell. They had what they believed was a legitimate defense to the
Petitioner’s claim. Respondent’s conduct was not unreasonable, vexatious and/or in bad faith.
denied.

ORDER OF THE ARBITRATOR

~ Respondent shall pay Petitioner temporary total disability benefits of $621. 37/week for 5
and 2/7 weeks, commenerng September 6 2014 through October 12 2014 as prov1ded in
- -+ -~ Section 8(b) of the Act: ; e

Respondent shall pay to Petitioner reasonable and necessary medical services of
- $4,089:00 under Sections 8(a) and 8:2 of the Act for the following unpaid medical bills: City of
Chicago EMS - $1,034.00, St. Anthony Emergency Services - $250.00, St. Anthony Hospital -
. $1,811.00, Midwest Imaging Professionals - $114.00, and Peoples Medical Center - $880.00
pursuant to the fee schedule or prior agreement whichever is less, pursuant to the Act.

Respondent shall pay Petitioner permanent partial disability benefits of $559 24/week for

[

" 10 weeks, because the injuries sustained caused the Petitioner 2% loss of the man as -4 whole, as
provided in Section 8(e) of the Act.

e

Slgnature of Arbltrator Date
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-~ 14 WC 42463

Page 1
STATE OF ILLINOIS ) D Affirm and adopt (no changes) D Injured Workers” Benefit Fund (§4(d))

) ) SS. D Affirm with changes EI Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF ) L__| Reverse [:l Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)

CHAMPAIGN [ ] PTD/Fatal denied

Modify [up) DX None of the above
BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS® COMPENSATION COMMISSION
DAVID FOY,
Petitioner,
Vs, NO: 14 WC 42463

NORTH AMERICAN LIGHTING, 1 6 IW C C 0 3 6 9

Respondent.

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by the Respondent herein and notice given
to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issue of nature and extent and being advised
of the facts and law, modifies the Decision of the Arbitrator as stated below and otherwise
affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and made a part

hereof.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

The Commission finds:

1. At Hearing Respondent noted that it had paid $1,751.93 in Temporary Total

Disability benefits to Petitioner.

2. Also at Hearing Respondent noted that it had made 10 advanced permanent partial

~ disability payments of $394.18, totaling $3,941.80.

3! Petitioner was employed as a Material Handler for Respondent.

4. On March 9, 2014 he was moving products to the assembly line in order to assemble
lamps. While moving a stack of totes, he turned and heard a pop in his left knee. He

felt immediate pain.

5. After x-rays and an MRI Petitioner was diagnosed with a meniscus tear. Surgery was

performed.
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6. On July 24, 2014 Dr. Madsen opined that Petitioner had reached maximum medical
improvement with relation to his left knee. He opined that Petitioner had a 7% deficit
of his left lower extremity at the knee.

7. Petitioner then went to rehabilitation, and was eventually returned to light duty, then
full duty. Soon he stated that he felt fine at work. However, he did testify to having
difficulty walking the longer he walks. He also has difficulty kneeling, walking up
stairs and climbing ladders at work.

The Commission awards Petitioner Temporary total disability in the amount of $1,751.93
per the parties’ stipulation.

The Commission awards Respondent credit for the temporary total disability payments it
has made in the amount of $1,751.93.

The Commission also awards Respondent credit for ten permanent partial disability
payments made in the amount of $394.18 each, for a total credit of $3,941.80.

The Commission strikes the Arbitrator’s statement giving no weight to the impairment
rating as set forth in §8.1b of the Act. After factoring the imipairment rating provided in
evidence, the Commission finds that the 15% loss of use of Petitioner’s left leg as awarded by
the Arbitrator is appropriate.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to
Petitioner the sum of $394.18 per week for a period of 32.25 weeks, as provided in §8(e) of the
Act, for the reason that the injuries sustained caused Petitioner a 15% loss of use of his left leg.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under §19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.

Bond for the removal of this cause to the Circuit Court by Respondent is hereby fixed at the sum
of $12,800.00. The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court shall file
with the Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Revigfi

DATED: JUN 3 - 2016
O 4/7/16 avid . Gore

DLG/wde

45 W
Mario urt
«%z 4

Stephen Mathis




ILLINOIS WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
y ~ + NOTICE OF ARBITRATOR DECISION

FOY, DAVID Case# 14WC042463

Emp[oyee/Petitioner 14WC042464

H AMERICA :
Srr?p::;r!Respondent MLISHEES : 1 6 I ‘v C C O 3 6 9

On 9/29/2015, an arbitration decision on this case was filed with the Illinois Workers' Compensation
Commission in Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed.

If the Comimission reviews this award, interest of 0.10% shall accrue from the date listed above to the day
before the date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this

award, interest shall not accrue.

A copy of this decision is mailed to the following parties:

- 0157 ASHER & SMITH

DREW P GRIFFIN

1119 N MAIN ST PO BOX 34¢
PARIS, IL 61944

0445 RODDY LAWLTD
STEPHEN A CARTER

303 W MADISON ST SUITE 1900
CHICAGO, I 60606
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) D Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
)SS. [ I Rate Adjustment Fund (§3(g))
COUNTY OF CHAMPAIGN ) Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
& None of the above

]LLINOIS WORIG'L‘RS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

ARBITRATION DECISION
David Foy Case # 14 WC 42463
Employee/Petitioner
v. ' ' Consolidated cases: 14 WC 42464
North American Lighting

Employer/Respondent

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each

party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Douglas McCarthy, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city

- of Urbana; on August 14, 2015. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes
findings on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.

DISPUTED ISSUES

A. D Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Ilinois Workers' Compensation or Qccupational
Diseases Act?

D Was there an employee-employer relationship?
D Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?

1_| ‘What was Ui date of the accident?

|:| Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

[:] Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?

D What were Petitioner's carnings?

D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

D What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?

Were the medical services-that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent-
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?
What temporary benefits are in dispute?
C1td  ° [Maintenance =~ []JTID =~~~

L. . (| What is the nature and extent of the injury?

""M. [_] Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?

N. P . <} Is Respondent.due. any credit?

0. [_] Other '

%'H_E_C'DTFJ,C’OPU

ﬁ o

{CArbDec 2/10 100 W. Randalph Streer #3-200 Chicago, IL 60601 312/814-6611  Toll-free 866/352-3033  Web site: www.iwec.ilgoy

Duwnslvie offices: Cullinsvilie 5168/346-3450  Peoria 309!0/1' -3019  Rockford 813/987-7292 Springfield 217/785-7084
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On March 9, 2014, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act.

FINDINGS

On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.

On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.
Timely notice of ﬁxis accident was given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is causally related to the accident.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $34,162.44; the average weekly wage was $656.97.
On the date of accident, Petitioner was 47 years of age, single with 0 dependent children.

Petitioner kas received all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent kas paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent sﬁall be given a credit of $1751.93 for TTD, $ for TPD, $ for maintenance, and
$3941.80 for PPD advance, for a total credit of $5693.73 ‘
Respondent is entitled to a.credit of $0 under Section 8(j) of the Act.

ORDER

Respondent shall pay Petitioner permanent partial disability benefits of $394.18 Aweek for 32.25 weeks because
the injury sustained caused 15% loss of use of left leg, as provided in Section 8(e)(12) of the Act.

Respondent is not entitled to any credit under Sectlon 8(e) 17 for the Petmoner s pnor settlement in the State
of Florida.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this
decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this dec1s1on shall be entered as the
decision of the Commission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice
of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however,
if an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

9@@7& QJ@ | | é‘;ﬁL"h‘ dots”
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FINDINGS OF FACT:

The parties in this matter stipulated to the following: that on March 9, 2014, Petitioner and
Respondent were operating under the Illinois Workers’ Compensation Act and that their
relationship was one of employee and employer; that on March 9, 2014, the Petitioner sustained
accidental injuries that arose out of and in the course of his employment; that the Petitioner gave
the Respondent notice of the accident within the time limits stated in the Act; and that the
Petitioner’s current condition of ill-being is causally connected to the injury Petitioner sustained.
The parties further agreed that they believe medical bills related to this injury have been paid;
however, Petitioner was unsure whether he was aware of all cutstanding medical bills. As such,
the parties agreed that Respondent would pay any unpaid medical bills for treatment of this
injury that may surface promptly upon presentation to the Respondent. This case was tried by
consolidation with 14 WC 42464. As the Arbitrator stated at trial, the Petitioner’s exhibits would
be and have been renumbered to reflect the fact that one set of exhibits were used for both
claims. The contested issues in this claim are nature and extent and whether the Respondent is
entitled to any credit for a prior settlement receivedly the Petitioner in the State of Florida.

The Petitioner, David Foy (hereinafter “Petitioner”), testified that he had been an employee of
Respondent since approximately November 2013. On March 9, 2014, Petitioner was an
employee of the Respondent. His job description was that of “material handler.” Respondent’s
company primarily produces lights, including headlights for automobiles. Petitioner testified
that his job as material handler required him to transport various types of product necessary to
the manufacturing process to various parts of Respondent’s facility. Petitioner testified that he
would transport this product with the aid of what he referred to as “rollers.” From Petitioner’s
testimony, it seems that a roller is akin to some form of handcart: a sort of platform on wheels
upen which product could be loaded and then pushed by an employee. Petitioner testified that he
did not operate a forklift to move the product—he actually had-to load the product onto the roller
and then use his own physical capabilities to move the product. Petitioner currently is still an
employee of Respondent, and he continues to work as a material handler. '

Penfioner testified that on March 9, 2014, as he was bending down and twisting to pick up more
product to load onto the roller, he felt something pop and pull in his left leg, specifically his left
knee. Petitioner explained that this sensation was equivalent to what he imagined it would be
like to be hit in the knee with a sledgehammer. Petitioner testified that the pain was immediate
and severe. Afier compieting an ‘accident report; Petitionér wént 16 the emergericy toom at Terre
Haute Regional Hospital in Terre Haute, Indiana, to be treated for the injury.

Afer his trip to the emergency room, on March 13, 2014, Petitioner had his first appointment
with Dr. Kurt R. E. Madsen. (PX 7):According to his report; Dr, Madsen examined the CT scan
that had previously been performed, which he indicated showed a posterior cruciate ligament
tear. (PX 7) Dr. Madsen gave Petitioner a script for an MRIL. (PX 7) Dr. Madsen did allow the
Petitioner to return to work, but restricted him to clerical duty only. (PX 7) o :

_The MRI, done on March 26, 2014, showed osteoarthritic disease of the knee joint, articular.
cariilage degeneration, tears of both the medial and lateral menisci and a strain or tear of the -
anterior cruciate ligament. (PX 9) :

COn March 27, 2014, Petitioner had his second appointment with Dr, Madsen. (PX 6) At this
appointment, Dr. Madsen’s report states that Petitioner complained of constant pain, which had
increased in intensity since his previous visit. (PX 6) Dr. Madsen reviewed the MRI that he had
preseribed and noted that it showed a medial tear as well as loose body post-traumatic. (PX 6)
Dr. Madsen indicated that Petitioner needed to be anthorized for a left knee arthroscopy. (PX 6)
Dr. Madsen allowed Petitioner to return to work, but he continued to restrict Petitioner to clerical -
duty work only. (PX 6) :
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Dr. Kurt Madsen performed the left knee arthroscopy on April 21, 2014. (PX 8) Dr. Madsen’s
postoperative diagnosis of the Petitioner was as follows: a left knee medial meniscus tear, left
knee chondromalacia patella and medial femoral condyle; left knee pathologic plica, and left

knee degenerative lateral meniscus tear. (PX 8) As of the date of surgery, Petitioner was ordered
off work until released by a physician.

After the operation, Petitioner followed up with Dr. Madsen on May 1, 2014. (PX 5) At this
follow-up, Dr. Madsen’s report indicates that Petitioner told Dr. Madsen that he had constant
pain in the knee. (PX 5) In addition to the pain, Petitioner explained to the doctor that he had
some numbness in his toes when his leg was not elevated. (PX 5) Dr. Madsen ordered that the
Petitioner was to begin physical therapy and that he was to continue to be off duty until
subsequently cleared by a physician. (PX 5)

On May 15, 2014, Petitioner again saw Dr. Madsen. (PX 4) According to Dr. Madsen’s report,
Petitioner continued to complain to him of intermittent pain, and he also stated that he had been
performing his physical therapy, icing, and elevating his knee. (PX 4) Petitioner explained to
Dr. Madsen that he was still having some swelling and would hear a clicking sound when he
would bend his knee. (PX 4) Dr. Madsen noted mild swelling on the knee, ordered him to

continue physical therapy, and continued to restrict him from returning to work until cleared by a
physician. (PX 4)

At Petitioner’s appointment with Dr. Madsen on May 29, 2014, Petjtioner complained to Dr.
Madsen of constant sore pain in his left knee, and Dr. Madsen’s report shows that Petitioner
indicated that this pain is elevated during the night. (PX 3) In his report, Dr. Madsen noted
swelling in Petitioner’s left knee, and the knee was aspirated and injected. (PX 3) Dr. Madsen
extended the order for physical therapy, and he aliowed the patient to continue light duty at
work, which he had commenced previously on May 22, 2014. (PX 3)

When Petitioner followed-up with Dr. Madsen on June 26, 2014, Petitioner continued to
complain of intermittent pain to Dr. Madsen, which he maintained was worse at night. (PX 2)
Dr. Madsen noted in his report that Petitioner was still experiencing mild swelling in his left
knee. (PX 2) However, Dr. Madsen decreased Petitioner’s work resirictions and allowed him to
return to work, eight-hour days with 10-minute breaks as needed to ice his knee. (PX 2)

The last time Petitioner saw Dr. Madsen for this injury was on July 25, 2014, (PX 1) At this Jast
meeting, Petitioner explained to Dr. Madsen that he walks a significant amount of miles as a part
of his job responsibilities. (PX 1) Petitioner also complained to Dr. Madsen of intermitent,
achy, popping pain in his left knee that would vary in severity. (PX 1) Petitioner said that he
still had some swelling that he would treat with ice when needed. (PX 1) The doctor’s
examination showed minimal effusion and normal flexion and extension. He was continued on
full duty work, and declared to be at maximum medical improvement. Dr. Madsen reported the
Petitioner had a 7 % disability to the knee pursuant to the AMA Guides, 6™ Edition, but provided
no basis for his conclusions. At that time the Petitioner complained of increasing pain in the right
knee, and requested treatment. (Id)

After his last appointment with Dr. Madsen, Petitioner returned to work and continued in his
full-duty capacity. At the hearing, Petitioner testified that it took him awhile to get back to full
strength, but that now his left knee felt fine. He went on to say that it “wore out” and was painful
when he walked. He said stairs and ladders were problematic, and that he had to move the knee
around when he was sitting. Finally, he said the knee did hurt him every day.

Prior to the accident, the Petitioner testified that he had injured the left knee in the State of
Florida. He said he had surgery, but that his knee returned to normal and he felt good.
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Medical records from the Florida injury were admitted into evidence. They show treatment by
Dr. Boneberger for both knees between February 18, 2010 and November 12 of the same year.
(RX 7) Surgery was apparently performed on June 14, 2010, but the operative report was not
offered into evidence. Dr. Boneberger’s first post op note of June 18, 2010 states that he
performed an arthroscopic surgery with a partial medial menisectomy. He said the surgery was
uneventful. Following physical therapy, the list pliysician note of Novembér 12 showed the
Petitioner complaining of mild residual pain. His exam showed a normal range of motion of 0-
135 degrees in both knees. In addition to the medial tear, the doctor noted Grade 4
chondromalacia of the medial femoral condyle. The Petitioner was not given any work
restrietions. The doctor assigned him an impairment rating of 3 % of the left knee without any
reference as to how that percentage was calculated. :

Respondent offered additional records from Florida, which were admitted. The records were
offered in connection with a claimed credit, and they are summarized in the conclusions of law.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW:

Beyond disputing the nature and extent of the injury, Respondent also argues that it is entitled to-
a credit against whatever award the Arbitrator may order in this matter. This argument is based _
on-the allegation that Petitioner has previously had-a permanent partial loss to the same member
that Petitioner has injured in this matter and that Petitioner was compensated for this ileged loss
in an out-of-state workers’ compensation action in the state of Florida. In support of its
argument, Respondent introduced into evidence some of Petitioner’s medical records from the
state of Florida from around 2010 (RX 7) and documentation related to a settlement Petitioner

received in Florida that same year. (RX 16) Further, Respondent introduced into evidence the
case of Keil v. Industrial Comm’n, 331 IlL.App.3d 478 (3d Dist. 2002) in support of its position.
R®RX 17) : < 1 ‘ :

The liiinois " Workers™ Cormpénsation Act states 2§ follows:

“In computing the compensation to be paid to any employee who, before the accident for
which he claims compensation, had before that time sustained an injury resulting in the

R L

 loss by amputation or partial loss by amputation of any member; including hand, arm,
thumb or fingers, leg, foot or any toes, such loss or partial loss-of any-such member shall
be deducted from any award made for the subsequent injury. For the permanent loss of
use or the permanent partial loss of use of any such member or the partial loss of siglit of
an eye, for which compensation has been paid, then suchi loss shall be taken into

. consideration and dediicted from any award for the subsequent injury.” =

820 ILCS 305/8 (e)(17).

- At trial; Petitioner testified that he had previously had a workers® compensation ¢laim in Florida.
Petitioner testified that his prior Florida workers’ compensation matter concluded when a
settlement had been reached. Petitioner testified that the net payment he received from o
~ settlement was approximately $30,000.00. However, Petitioner testified that hehadno
knowledge of what the settlement was based on, as well as the fact that he had no knowledge of
exactly what he was being compensated for.. . e
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Respondent entered into evidence several documents, all with substantially the same heading:
“State of Florida, Division of Administrative Hearings, Office of the Judges of Compensation
Claims, Daytona Beach District Office.” (RX 16) The Arbitrator believes that the total amount
of Petitioner’s prior out-of-state settlement can be ascertained from the document entitled,
“Motion for Approval of Attorney’s Fee and Allocation of Child Support Arrearage for
Settlements under Section 440.20(11)(c),(d) and (e) Florida Statutes.” That Motion recites a
settlement amount of $35,000.00. (RX 16)

The Arbitrator finds this Motion extremely vague with regards to how it relates to Petitioner’s
Florida workers’ compensation case and the partial permanent loss for which Respondent wants
a credit. It makes no reference to any specific work-related injury; it does not discuss any
injured body part(s) or the extent of any injury thereto; it does not indicate how the settlement
amount is compensation for any loss experienced by Petitioner. In short, this Motion contains
none of the type of information that a settlement contract or decision from this State fora
workers’ compensation claim would contain. What’s more, this document is styled as a motion,
and it appears only to seek court approval of an attorney’s fee and some amount of funds related
to “child support arrearage allocation.” (RX 16)

The only Florida document presented by the Respondent that is an order, “Order Under Section
440.201(11)(c),(d),(e). Florida Statues. (2003)” appears to simply approve the attorney’s fee and.
“child support arrearage allocation” requested in the aforementioned Motion. (RX 16) The
Order does not actually approve any settlement. It does not discuss any injury to the any part of
the Petitioner’s body and the subsequent loss Petitioner suffered. It does not explain what link
there may be between the settlement that the parties had entered into independently (that
apparently is not subject to court approval in Florida) and any loss that may have been sustained
by the Petitioner as aresult of his work injury. -

The Arbitrator finds that none of these court documents from Florida indicate the type of
permanent partial loss sustained by the Petitioner or the extent of whatever that loss might be. In
addition, these documents do not explain if or how the compensation provided to Petitioner
under this Florida settlement was compensation for any partial loss of any member of the
Petitioner’s body that was a result of an injury compensable under the workers’ compensation
laws in the state of Florida. '

The respondent points to the case of Keil v. Industrial Comm’n, 331 IlL.App.3d 478 (3d Dist.
2002). In Keil, the issue presented was whether the Commission had the authority under
8(e)(17) of the Illinois Workers’ Compensation Act to grant a credit to an employer for a prior
out-of-state award based on a loss for which the employee had previously been compensated.
Keil, 331 lil.App.3d at 479. The employee in that case, Gary Keil, prior to seeking benefits
under the Illinois Workers’ Compensation Act, had been awarded a 17-1/2 percent loss of use of

his right leg in an Towa workers’ compensation case that resulted in him receiving $21,000.00 in
compensation. 1d.

Ultimately, the Keil court held that, “the Commission may grant credit for out-of-state awards
pursuant to section 8(e)(17).” Id. at 481 (emphasis added). However, the court stated that, “the
manner in which the amount of credit is determined is a factual matter for the Commission.” Id.
The court reasoned that this would allow for the requisite amount of flexibility for the
Commission to address issues of whether to grant credit for out-of-state awards on a case-by-
case basis, thereby helping to achieve the purpose of the Act. Id.

It is well settled that the party claiming the credit, in this case the Respondent, has the burden of
proving entitlement to said credit. In the instant matter, there has been no evidence presented that
indicated the nature and extent of any alleged prior permanent partial loss to a member of the
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Petitioner, nor was there any evidence presented as to how whatever this alleged loss might have
been was compensated.

Respondent wants the Arbitrator to look at the amount of the Florida settlement, examine a few
select medical records, and then determine that, based on the dollar amount of settlement,
Petitioner was compensated for some significant level of prior permanent partial loss for which
Respondent should receive a credit. The Arbitrator cannot do this.

The Florida documents make no mention of any type of loss to Petitioner’s member(s). Not only
are the documents silent as to loss, but also the Arbitrator recognizes that there are many other
factors that could have influenced the negotiation between the parties that allowed them to arrive
at that settlement figure they did. For example, based on the fact that Petitioner ceased work for
the employer as soon as the settlement . was.paid, the Arbitrator easily could presume thata
significant portion of the settlement was not compensation for the loss Petitioner actually
sustained, but rather for Petitioner ceasing his employment with that employer. Another
example would be that a large portion of the compensation could be for medical expenses or
what our state would call TTD. Again, this is all just speculation, but it underscores the -
Arbitrator’s point: there is no way to ascertain based on the evidence whether the Petitioner had
sustained a prior loss for which he was actually compensated.

Moreover, Petitioner testified that after being treated in Florida, his knees felt just fine.
Petitioner stated that he was not experiencing any type of notable pain when he left Florida, and
he furthér testified that his kihee was free of any notable pain or disability when he commenced
work for Respondent.

There is fio way to knoWw, baséd on the evidefice, whéther Petitioner suffered a prior permanent
partial loss in Florida for which he was compensated, and, if so, what the extent of that loss or
compensation for that loss was. Therefore, the arbitrator finds that, after appropriate
consideration, no credit will be awarded to Respondent as it had requested in this matter.

With respect to the nature and extent of disability, the Arbitrator must consider the five factors
set forth in Section 8.1b of the Act. :

The only evidence offered by either party concerning the AMA 6™ edition are the conclusory
comments of Dr. Madsen in his note of July 25, 2014. As they are not accompanied by any
explanation as to how the doctor arrived at the number, they are not given any weight by the
Arbitrator.

The Petitioner was 47 years old when he was injured; he worked as a material handler, a job
which required him to be on his feet moving materials around the plant with climbing and
bending as needed and he was released to full duty work. The Arbitrator finds the age is rather
neutral; the occupation favors the Petitioner’s claim of disability ahd thete was no showing of a
future wage loss.

The Petitioner’s condition, which the Respondent agr'e'ed was caﬁsally related to his acéident',"'“ S
was described by Dr. Madsen in his note of July 25, 2014, described above.

the Arbitrator awards the Petitioner 15.% loss of use of the.
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) l:l Affirm and adopt (no changes) D Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
) S8. D Affirm with changes D Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF COOK. ) Reverse _ [ ] second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
X Remand regarding PPD D PTD/Fatal denied
[ | Modity None of the above
BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
Cortney Jones,
Petitioner,
VS. - NO: 13 WC 23829
USF Holland, Inc., 1 6 I w CC 0 3 7 0 '
Respondent.

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review under §19(b) having been filed by the Petitioner herein and
notice given to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of accident, causal
connection, temporary total disability, medical expenses, prospective medical care, and
permanent partial disability and being advised of the facts and law, modifies the Decision of the
Arbitrator as stated below and otherwise affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator, which
is attached hereto and made a part hereof. The Commission further remands this case to the
Arbitrator for further proceedings for a determination of a further amount of temporary total
compensation or of compensation for permanent disability, if any, pursuant to Thomas v.
Industrial Commission, 78 I11.2d 327, 399 N.E.2d 1322, 35 Ill.Dec. 794 (1980).

FINDINGS OF FACTS AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

» Petitioner was a 33 year old employee of Respondent, who described his job as a truck
mechanic. Petitioner believed he started working for Respondent (in McCook) in May
2013. Petitioner was hired as a full time mechanic making $26.00 per hour (Respondent
is a union shop). Petitioner started working for Respondent on the 6:00am to 2:30pm shift
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Eventually Petitioner stated that he was put on 12:00 to 8:30am shift. Petitioner testified
that ‘If I am not mistaken’ he was on that shift about a month. Prior to Respondent,
Petitioner worked for UPS for 12 years as a mechanic. His profession has been as a union
truck mechanic. Petitioner testified that he was working in that capacity onithe day of the
accident, working on diesel trucks. Petitioner stated that he worked with different hand
tools; air hammers, air chisels, impact guns, tire impact guns. In his job he lifts, pushes
and pulls. He indicated the heaviest weight he had to move around was about 100 pounds
at most. Petitioner testified that he needed his hands and arms to perform his job. On the
date of accident, July 12, 2013, Petitioner testified that he was installing a brake chamber
and as he was tightening up a lock nut on it, his wrench slipped off and Petitioner hit his
left elbow/(arm) against the tractor. Petitioner testified that at the time it occurred he
noticed his left elbow; the nerve got irritated in his ring finger and little finger and got
numb. Petitioner testified the event occurred at about 1:00am. Petitioner testified that he
continued to work until between 6:00 and 6:30am and to that time he testified that his left

.elbow.was. getting. worse.and worse.as-he. was working. Petitioner testified-during that - - -

time his ring and little fingers were numb and he was starting to get swelling behind his
left elbow. Petitioner viewed PX 5 and he identified it as a copy of the note he left letting
Respondent know about the injury; he noted the date July 12, 2013. Petitioner read the
note that indicated “This is Cortney’ and indicated tractor number 34 and Petitioner’s
employee number 34690. He noted it showed that he was installing brake chambers on
tractor 19154 and his wrench slipped off the lock nut and he hit his left elbow on the
frame. He noted he needed to talk to the supervisor about it. Petitioner noted that it was
Friday and sometimes the supervisor was not there. Petitioner noted it read it occurred
about 1:00am and Petitioner requested he be called if the supervisor (Mike) was not there
when Petitioner left. Petitioner left his phone number and signed and printed his name on
it. It was noted some changes, scribbles, marks on the copy and Petitioner stated he did
that. Petitioner testified when he finished writing the note he left it on his boss’ desk
(Mike Little) between 1:00 and 1:30am. Petitioner testified when he left work that day he
was advised by Mike Little that he had been terminated. Petitioner testified he left
Respondent that day at about 6:30 or 7:00am, Petitioner testified over the next 1-2 hours

after his left hand/arm started to get worse and worse and swelling and numbness in the
left little and ring fingers.

Petitioner testified he sought medical care that moring July 12, 2013 at TCA Health; his
primary care doctor; he went as a walk in. Petitioner testified that he gave the doctor a
history of what occurred and why he was there. Petitioner testified he told the doctor he
had been hurt about 1:00am and the doctor examined Petitioner and they asked Petitioner
to treat with an orthopedic specialist. Petitioner returned there July 22, 2013 and he was
again examined and it was suggested that Petitioner see an orthopedic specialist.
Petitioner called and made an appointment with Dr. Blair Rhode at Orland Park
Orthopedics, as Petitioner had treated there before when he was recommended an ortho.
Petitioner testified that he believed that the first visit with Dr. Rhode was August 12,
2013. Petitioner indicated at that time his hand and arm were still bothering him.
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Petitioner testified that at that point, as he had been terminated from Respondent, he was
looking for another job. Petitioner testified that he went to work for CBLS Transportation
as a mechanic doing the same type of work. Petitioner testified he worked there for about
a week, He stated at that time he had the same numbness to the fingers and same swelling
in the back of his left elbow. Petitioner testified that while he was working at CBLS he
whacked his right hand and had received some medical care at TCA Health on August
10, 2013. He did then sece Dr. Rhode August 12, 2013 and gave a history of what
happened and the doctor examined Petitioner and recommended some diagnostics and
took Petitioner off of work. Petitioner testified since that time in 2013 through present he
had returned to Dr. Rhode periodically. Petitioner testified that during that time Dr.
Rhode never returned him to work. The doctor prescribed an EMG in mid-September
2013 and Petitioner returned October 16, 2013 and again reported to the doctor the
problems and how he was doing. While waiting for authorization for the EMG, the doctor
kept him off work. Petitioner stated that he saw the doctor in November and December

_...and again reported his problems.. The doctor.continued to recommend the nerve.test-and . - -

they were still waiting for the authorization from the carrier. During 2014 Petitioner
periodically saw the doctor on a monthly basis. Petitioner saw the doctor January 27,
February 24, and March 24, 2014 and the doctor continued Petitioner off work and his
recommendation of an EMG at each visit. At some point the carrier did authorize the
EMG and that was performed at Neurology Consultants on April 22, 2014, Petitioner
testified that he had complied with what the doctors said. Petitioner testified that he saw
Dr. Rhode on April 28, 2014 to discuss the test results. At that point Dr. Rhode

recommended medications, gave Petitioner a pad and splint and continued Petitioner off
work.

 Petitioner went for a §12 examination with Dr. Neal May 12, 2014 at Respondent
carrier’s request. Petitioner testified that at the examination, he talked to the doctor and
answered his questions the best he could and was examined by the doctor. Petitioner
stated the discussion with the doctor was 45 minutes to an hour and the exam was not
even 10 minutes. The doctor did not treat Petitioner or provide any recommendations for
treatment. Petitioner returned to see Dr. Rhode May 19, 2014 and again he reported how
he was doing and he testified that the doctor put some needles in his left arm to draw
some fluid, and again the doctor kept him off work. Petitioner again returned to Dr.
Rhode June 2, 2014 and Petitioner gave additional history of how he was doing and they
discussed the report of Dr, Neal, the IME doctor. Dr. Rhode continued to recommend
additional care and for Petitioner to be off work. Dr. Rhode then suggested surgery to the
left elbow. Petitioner again saw Dr. Rhode June 27, 2014 and they again discussed the
problems and the exam with Dr. Neal. Dr. Rhode kept him off work and recommended
surgery for which he was awaiting authorization. Petitioner testified that he saw Dr.
Rhode on August 1 and 14 and again August 29, 2014 with the same recommendations
and off work pending surgical authorization. Petitioner continued with conservative care
follow ups October 6, 2014, November 12, 2014, mid-January 2015 and then February
16, 2015 with the same recommendations. Petitioner testified that they were still awaiting
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surgical authorization and he has still been authorized off work. Petitioner stated that he
was to see Dr. Rhode again April 1 or 2, 2015 (the §19(b) hearing was held March 25,
2015). As to the surgical procedure, Petitioner testified that he did not have the money to
pay the doctor and hospital bills. He agreed Dr. Rhode has been recommending the
surgery for quite some time and he would like to have it done. Petitioner testified that he
has been off work since August 12, 2013 and during that time he has not received any

temporary total disability (TTD) benefits; he has received an advance of $5,000.00 from
the carrier.

¢ Petitioner reviewed PX 1, the compilation of the medical bills, and indicated they had not
been paid by Respondent carrier. Petitioner testified that prior to July 2013 he had never
hurt his left arm or hand and since he had not sustained any other injuries to his left arm
or hand. Petitioner agreed he had previously treated with Dr. Rhode in September 2007
for a right knee surgery, July 2008 for treatment to his right shoulder, July 2009 for some

oo JOW_bACK problems, and in September. 2010.regarding his right elbow. He agreed some of . ... -

that treatment had involved WC related injuries and all those matters had been settled.

» Petitioner testified that currently he still has problems with his left hand with repeated
lifting; it irritates the nerve in his elbow into his fingers. He stated that he had pain and
swelling behind his left elbow and when the weather changes it really causes him
problems, the nerve in his left elbow jumps, throbs. Petitioner testified that driving is a
problem his left becomes a problem; he stated that is the same with repetitive lifting.
Petitioner stated that he must sleep in a certain position; if he lays on his left side his left
arm elbow up to his little and ring fingers gets numb and sometimes wakes him in the
middle of the night. Petitioner stated that with his kids, or any types of activities around
the house, any vibratory activities like grass cutting or things like that, irritates the nerve.
He indicated he can lift a gallon of milk but after lifting a while his grip goes numb.
Petitioner testified that he never had those problems before July 2013.

The Commission finds Petitioner’s testimony is unrebutted as to accident and a condition of ill-
being, which is supported in the records of Dr. Rhode, but as the Arbitrator noted that there are
some issues of credibility. Petitioner’s testimony of the mechanism of injury is consistent in the
medical records. There is some question with the sudden appearance of the ‘note’ Petitioner left
for Mr. Little that was not found in his office (locked when he is not around) until sometime later
and also Petitioner was terminated the day of the accident and did not verbally tell Mr. Little of
the accident at the time of termination. Also Petitioner testified that only he and Mr. Little were
present at time of termination. Although Petitioner was on probation at the time, Mr. Little
testified that the shop union representative, Greg Crespo, was also present at the time of
termination which would be consistent with a union shop even though Petitioner could get
terminated during the probationary period with no union recourse. Mr. Little testified of
Petitioner being terminated due to poor attendance and job performance; therefore, it is more

_ than likely that a union representative would have been present. Petitioner’s testimony is rebutted
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that only he and Mr. Little were present at the time of Petitioner’s termination. Also, it seems
unlikely that the incident occurred and Petitioner had the relatively severe complaints and
symptoms he said he had that Petitioner would not have advised Mr. Little even prior to being
told he was being terminated, or even telling Mr. Little he left a note (albeit in a locked office;
more to question credibility). The Arbitrator questioned Petitioner’s credibility as did
Respondent’s examiner, Dr. Neal, even though he diagnosed the cubital tunnel condition, though
not causally related. Also, several times throughout testimony, before answering a question,
Petitioner would say if I am not mistaken’, which prefaces many answers and again raises
credibility issues, as appearing evasive or contradictory as noted by the Arbitrator. The
Arbitrator noted Petitioner’s demeanor at hearing was ‘one of evasion and contradiction’, and
again his prefacing of answers bears that out. The Commission further notes that the opinions of
Dr. Rhode appear to be made on inaccurate assumptions in that he did not know that Petitioner
had worked elsewhere since (even for a short time) and had yet another injury. The evidence and
testimony in this record finds clear discrepancies and credibility issues with Petitioner. With the
~.totality of the evidence. and.testimony,-the Commission finds that Petitioner-met-the burden of- --
proving accident that arose in and out of the course of employment and meet the burden of
proving some causal relationship, but, not to his current condition of iil-being. The Commission
finds the decision of the Arbitrator as not contrary to the weight of the evidence. The
Commission, herein, affirms and adopts the Arbitrator’s finding of accident, and further affirms

and adopts the Arbitrator’s finding as to some causal connection (however limited—not to his
current condition of ill-being).

The Commission, with the above finding of accident and some causal connection (not to his
current condition of ill-being), finds the decision of the Arbitrator as not contrary to the weight
of the evidence, and, herein, affirms and adopts the Arbitrator’s finding as to denial of further
total temporary disability beyond that awarded.

The Commission, with the above finding of accident and some causal connection-(not to his
current condition of ill-being), finds the decision of the Arbitrator as not contrary to the weight
of the evidence, and, herein, affirms and adopts the Arbitrator’s finding as to denial of further
medical expenses/prospective medical beyond that already awarded.

The Commission finds that as this matter was heard under §19(b) of the Act, the parties did not
stipulate to the issue of permanency, therefore, the permanent partial disability award was
premature, as Petitioner was not given opportunity to present evidence in that regard. Under the
facts and circumstances set forth in this record, the Commission finds the decision of the
Arbitrator as contrary to the weight of the evidence, and, herein vacates the Arbitrator’s finding

regarding Permanent partial disability and remands the matter for evidence and the determination
of PPD.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall pay to
the Petitioner the sum of $693.33 per week for a period of 3-6/7 weeks, that being the period of
temporary total incapacity for work under §8(b), and that as provided in §19(b) of the Act, this
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award in no instance shall be a bar to a further hearing and determination of a further amount of
temporary total compensation or of compensation for permanent disability, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
the sums for medical expenses under §3(a) of the Act; Respondent shall pay the reasonable and
necessary charges for medical services provides to Petitioner by TCA Health July 12, 2013, July
22, 2013, and per the fee schedule.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that this case be remanded to the
Arbitrator for further proceedings consistent with this Decision, but only after the latter of
expiration of the time for filing a written request for Summons to the Circuit Court has expired
without the filing of such a written request, or after the time of completion of any judicial

~proceedings;if such a-written request-has been-filed:---— - -

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under §19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.

Bond for the removal of this cause to the Circuit Court by Respondent is hereby fixed at

the sum of $100.00. The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court shall
file with the Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit Court.

JUN 3 - 2015

DATED: F AT 4
0-4/14/16 David Gore

DLG/jsf
Dl Tt

Mario Basurto
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JONES, CORTNEY ’ Case# 13WC023829
Employee/Petitioner
USF HOLLAND INC 7 0
Employer/Respondent

On 8/20/2015, an arbitration decision on this case was filed with the Illinois Workers' Compensation
Commission in Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed.

If the Commission reviews this award, interest of 0.24% shall accrue from the date listed above to the day

before the date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this
award, interest shall not accrue.

A copy of this decision is mailed to the following parties:

0230 FITZ& TALLONLLC
PATRICK A TALLON

PO BOX 6040
WOODRIDGE, IL 60517

0766 HENNESSY & ROACH PC
. CHRISTOPHER JARCHOW

140 S DEARBORN ST SUITE 700

CHICAGO, IL 60603
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STATE OF ILLINOIS Y D Injured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d))
©)S8. || Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTYOFCOOK ) = [_] Second Injury Fuad (§5(e)18)
IS S L M AR None ofthe above

ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
ARBITRATION DECISION

Cortney Jones | Case # 13 WC 23829

Employee/Petitioner

V.
USF Holland, Inc.
Employer/Respondent

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Nofice of Hearing was mailed to each |
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Steven Fruth, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city-of -

~ Chicago, on March 25, 2015, After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes

 findings on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.

DISPUTED ISSUES

A |:| Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Illinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act?

B. l___l Was there an employee-employer relationship?

C. [ZI Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?
D. D What was the date of the accident?

E. D Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

F. Is Petitioner’s current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?
G. D What were Petitioner's earnings?

H. D What was Petitioner’s age at the time of the accident?

L [:I What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?

T, Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?

K. What temporary benefits are in dispute?
[ 1 TPD [ 1 Maintenance TTD

L. What is the nature and extent of the injury?
M. D Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?
N. D Is Respondent due any credit?

0. [ ] other

{CArbDecl9b) 2/10 100 W. Randolph Street #8-200 Chicago, IL 60601 312/814-6611 Toll-free 866/352-3033  Wzb site: www. iwee.il.gov
Downstate offices: Collinsville 618/346-3450 Peoria 309/671-3019 Rockford 815/987-7292  Springfield 217/785-7084
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1«
FINDINGS A

P 'R:;t\'?

On the date of accident, 7/12/2013, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act.
On this date, an employee-employer retationship did exist betwecn Petitioner and Respondent,

On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.

Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is not causally related to the accident.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner eamed $4,609.44; the average weekly wage was $1,040.00.

On the date of accident, Petitioner was 33 years of age, single with one dependent child.

Respondent kas ot paid all reasonable and necessary charges for all reasonable and necessary medical
services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $5,000.00 for TTD, $0.00 for TPD, $0.00 for maintenance, and $0.00
for other benefits, for a total credit of $5,000.00.

- Respondent is entitled to a credit of $0.00 under Section 8(j) of the Act.

ORDER ,
Respondent shall pay reasonable and necessary charges for medical services provide to Petitioner by TCA

Health for the dates of July 12 and July 22, 2013, adjusted in accord with the fee schedule as provided by
§ 8(a) and § 8.2 of the Act.

" Respondent shall pay total temporary disability benefits from July 12, 2013 through August 8, 2013, 3 & 6/7
weeks, at a rate of $693.33/week.

Respondent shall Petitioner permanent partial disability benefits of $624.00/week for 5.06 weeks, due to the
injury causing 2% loss of use of an arm.

Respondent shall be given credit for $5,000.00 of previously paid benefits.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this
decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the

demsmn of the Commission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, inferest at the rate set forth on the Notice
of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment;

however, if an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, inferest shall not
accrue.

) August 19, 2015
Signatuy? of Arbitrator Date

ICAsbDec19(b) MNIG2 O 2018
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INTRODUCTION

. This matter proceeded to hearing before Arbitrator Steven Fruth on March 25,
2015. Disputed issues were: C: Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course
of Petitioner’s employment by Respondent?; F: Is Petitioner’s current condition of ill-
being causally related to the injury?; J: Were the medical services that were provided to
Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent paid all appropriate charges for
all reasonable and necessary medical services? K: What temporary benefits are in
dispute? TTD?; L: What is the nature and extent of the injury? :

Petitioner and Mr. Mike Little testified at hearing. Petitioner offered documents
in evidence. Respondent objected to Petitioner’s Exhibit #1 and the Arbitrator reserved
ruling on its admissibility. Respondent offered documents in evidence also. Petitioner’s
objection to Respondent’s Exhibit #1 was sustained. All other offered exhibits were
admitted without objection.

FINDINGS OF FACT

Petitioner was employed as a truck mechanic by Respondent since May 2013. He
was hired as a full time union mechanic at an hourly rate of $26.00 per hour. Petitioner
worked out of Respondent’s shop in McCook, Illinois. Initially, he worked from 6:00
a.m. until 2:30 p.m. His work shift changed to the midnight shift, from midnight to
8:30 a.m.

Petitioner testified on July 12, 2013 his daily work activities of a truck mechanic
included working on diesel trucks with various hand tools, air tools, hammers, chisels,
and impact guns. His job would require him to lift and carry parts and materials
weighing up to approximately 100 pounds. In order to perform his job Petitioner
needed to use both hands and both arms. Petitioner is right-handed.

Petitioner testified that at about 1:00 a.m. on July 12, 2013 he was installing a
brake chamber. While tightening a lock nut, his wrench slipped off and his left elbow
struck the tractor. He had immediate pain and numbness in the small and ring fingers.
He also had swelling in his left elbow. On cross-examination he testified his immediate
pain was 10/10. Despite worsening pain on direct examination Petitioner testified he
continued to work until 6:00 a.m. or 6:30 a.m. When the actual event occurred, there
were no other coworkers orsupervisors who witnessed the event.

Petitioner left a note for his supervisor to inform him of the accident and his
injury (PX #5), since his supervisor was not present when the accident happened.

Petitioner also left his telephone number for his supervisor. Petitioner placed that note
on the desk of his boss, Mike Little.
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Petitioner testified that he was called into Mr. Little’s office between 6:00 and
6:30 a.m. at which time he reported his injury. No one else was present during that
conversation. Petitioner testified that Mr. Little’s only response was that Petitioner had
not satisfactorily completed his probationary period and that Petitioner was being
terminated. Petitioner testified that even though he informed Mr. Little of the injury,
Mr. Little made no comments regarding the injury nor did he ask Petitioner to complete
an accident report.

Petitioner sought medical care the day of the injury at TCA Health (TCA), his
primary care physician. (PX #2) Petitioner had treated at TCA for many years for colds,
flu, and episodes of vertigo. He had also been treated for work-related injuries that did
not involve the left hand or arm. The TCA records from July 12, 2013 note Petitioner’s
complaint of left elbow pain at 8/10, as well as numbness and tingling in his fourth and
fifth fingers. There was no swelling or bruising yet. The doctor’s initial diagnosis was
elbow injury, deteriorated ulnar nerve contusion “effecting” (sic) the fourth and fifth
digits. There was no note regarding Petitioner’s capability to return to work.

Petitioner retirned to TCA on July 22 for a recheck. He reported that his pain

. .._varied from 8/10.t0.0/10. Petitioner-noted that there had-been swelling-but the doctor - -

documented there was no joint enlargement or tenderness. The treating physician
assessed an ulnar nerve injury and recommended an orthopedic consultation.

Petitioner testified that he began working for a new employer, CBSL Trans-
portation (CBSL), as a truck mechanic in August, 2013, abouit 3 weeks after the July 12,
2013 accident. Petitioner testified that his job duties were similar to those he had with
Respondent. Petitioner testified he used the same type of tools as he did for
Respondent. Petitioner testified he was required to use both hands in his job with
CBSL. .

Petitioner testified that he worked for CBSL for one week. Petitioner sustained a
hand injury while working for CBSL on August 9, 2013. He was terminated from his
employment with CBSL on August 9. Petitioner testified that he also filed a subsequent
Workers’ Compensation claim against CBSL alleging an injury to his right hand as a
result of his August 9 accident at work, the same day he was terminated from CBSL.
Petitioner testified that claim was settled for a “nominal amount.”

Petitioner was seen at TCA again on August 10, 2013 for a right hand injury.
There were no notes of comaplints about his left etbow mjury from July.

Petitioner elected to treat with Dr. Blair Rhode of Orland Park Orthopedies (PX
#3), who had treated him for 8 prior workers’ compensation claims. None of the prior
injuries or care was to the same part of the body claimed from the J uly 12, 2013
accident: the left hand, left arm, and left elbow. Petitioner did have right knee surgery
in September 2007, right shoulder surgery in July 2008, low back treatment in July
2009, and treatment to the right elbow in September 2010. These prior work related

injuries were all settled and approved by the Illinois Workers' Compensation
Commission.
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On August 12, 2013 Petitioner presented at Orland Park Orthopedics (Orland)
and again provided a history of the work injury of July 12. There was no gross edema or
evidence of acute injury. On exam Petitioner had full range of motion in his left elbow
but pain at the medial and lateral epicondyle. Further examination revealed positive
tennis elbow test, positive Tinel, positive cubital tunnel sign producing paresthesia over
ulnar distribution, and negative Spurling’s sign. Dr. Rhode diagnosed cubital tunnel
syndrome and lateral epicondylitis. Dr. Rhode noted that Petitioner sustained a
traumatic injury to the “right left” elbow secondary to a direct impact on July 12, 2013.
Dr. Rhode prescribed Norco, Mobic, ands Prilosec. He also recommended an EMG
study.

In addition, Dr. Rhode recommended that Petitioner be off work. Petitioner has
not returned to work through the date of hearing, March 25, 2015, a total of 84 & 1/7
weeks. No weekly TTD benefits have been paid to the Petitioner for his lost time.
Petitioner did receive an advance payment of $5,000.00 prior to the hearing.

Petitioner returned for follow up at Orland on November 11, 2013 continuing
with the same clinieal presentation. Dr. Rhode’s diagnoses and recommendations were

““the'same also. A visif at Orland on Décember 16, 2013 was the same. Nothinghad

changed on January 27, 2014 or February 24, 2014.

On March 24, 2014, Petitioner returned to Orland and was advised that the EMG
had been approved. The approved diagnostic was scheduled by the staff at Orland and
the doctor continued with his recommendation that Petitioner stay off work.

The EMG/NCYV of the left arm was conducted at Neurology Consultants (PX #4)
on April 22, 2014. The study was normal but for a finding of a mild ulnar neuropathy at
the left elbow.

On April 28, 2014, Petitioner returned to Orland and discussed the diagnostic
study findings with his P.A. Mark Bordick. Petitioner was instructed in stretching
exercises and advised to use a night splint. P.A. Bordick noted for the chart the ODG
indications for surgery, provided medications and an elbow pad for night splinting.
Petitioner was to remain off work per instructions.

On May 19, 2014 Dr. Rhode injected Petitioner’s left elbow with a corticosteroid.
The medical indication for the injection was not documented. Petitioner returned to Dr.
Rhode on June 2, 2014 with continuing complaints. Petitioner reported temporary
relief from the injection. Petitioner was status post IME with Dr. Neal but the report of
the IME had not been released to Dr. Rhode.

Petitioner was examined by orthopedic surgeon Dr. Bryan Neal pursuant to § 12
of the Act on May 12, 2014. Dr. Neal testified at his evidence deposition on January 30,

- 2015. In testimony he refreshed his recollection by referring to his report to

Respondent’s counsel dated May 27, 2014. Dr. Neal reviewed various records in addition
to the clinical examination to come to his opinions.

Dr. Neal reviewed a copy of Petitioner’s note to Mike Little dated 7/12/13 (PX
#5), clinical and other records of Dr. Rhode, and the EMG/NCV notes of Dr. Scott

3
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Lipson. Petitioner gave a history of 2 prior IMEs relating to other injuries. Petitioner
reported that he last worked for USF Holland. Petitioner did not report that he was
reemployed with CBSL Transportation within a few weeks of the July 12, 2013 reported
injury or that he had been injured on that latter job. Petitioner reported that he had 3
prior workers’ compensation claims against UPS. Dr. Rhode had performed surgery for
some of those prior injuries.

Petitioner stated that he did not know why he had been referred to Dr. Neal for
evaluation. Petitioner reported that he had been diagnosed with cubital tunnel
syndrome and lateral epicondylitis. Petitioner described his accident as he did on his
testimony at hearing. On exam Petitioner complained of left elbow pain on the
“outside” and numbness from the medial aspect of the left elbow down the forearm into
the ring and small fingers. Dr. Neal conducted a thorough clinical examination.

Dr. Neal found that Petitioner’s presentation was consistent with cubital tunnel
syndrome. He did not find conclusive evidence of lateral epicondylitis. Dr. Neal opined
that the mechanism of injury as described by Petitioner would not cause epicondylitis.
He found that Dr. Rhode did not document clinical findings that would support a
... diagnosis of epicondylitis.

Dr. Neal acknowledged that the described mechamsm was competent to cause
traumatic cubital tunnel syndrome. However, Dr. Neal had questions about Petitioner’s
credibility and reliability as a historian. Dr. Neal would have liked to see Petitioner’s
medical records from Dr. Neal to get a better picture of Petitioner’s history. In the end,
Dr. Neal opined that he could find a causal relationship between either the possible
lateral epicondylitis or the cubital tunnel condition and the reported accident on July 12,
2013.

Petitioner returned to Dr. Rhode on June 27, 2014. Dr. Rhode had reviewed the
IMR report of Dr. Neal. He noted, “I agree with Dr. Neal that there is no causation for
lateral epicondylitis. I have never diagnosed the patient with epicondylitis.” He noted
that Dr. Neal did not believe Petitioner’s description of the mechanism of injury but that
if the description was accurate causal connection is possible. Dr. Rhode believed
Petitioner’s description of the injury was accurate. Dr. Rhode signed another off work
status note. His assessment of Petitioner’s condition included elbow pain, cubital
tunnel syndrome, and lateral epicondylitis.

On August 1, 2014, Petitioner returned to Dr. Rhode with an unchanged
presentation. He continued to wait for cubital tunnel treatment authorization and noted
that Petitioner should not work. Dr. Rhode dropped epicondylitis from his assessment
list on this visit.

On August 29, 2014, Petitioner again returned to Dr. Rhode with continued
complaints and an assessment of elbow pain and cubital tunnel syndrome. Nothing else
had changed.

On September 14, 2014 Dr. Rhode wrote a narrative summary of Petitioner’s case
to that point. The narrative was of the nature of a report made for the purposes of

4
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litigation rather than for therapeutic care. Dr. Rhode reiterated his diagnosis of left
cubital syndrome which was caused by the reported work accident on July 12, 2013. He
was recommending operative intervention in the form of release surgery. Dr. Rhode’s
review of Dr. Neal’s IME report led Dr. Rhode to reconsider his prior diagnosis of lateral
epicondylitis. In his September 14 narrative report Dr. Rhode abandoned his diagnosis
of epicondylitis and its relation to the work accident.

Dr. Rhode went on to discuss Dr. Neal's expressed skepticism of Petitioner’s
credibility. diagnostic revealed cubital tunnel syndrome. Dr. Rhode accepted
Petitioner’s description of the mechanism of injury and therefore stood by his previous
opinion that the cubital tunnel syndrome was causally related to the accident. He
continued in his recommendation of surgery.

On October 6, November 12, and December 17, 2014, January 19 and February
16, 2105 Pefitioner repeatedly returns for follow-up at Orland Park Orthopedics. His
clinical presentation and the doctor’s diagnoses and recommendations remained the
same.

Dr. Rhode gave his evidence deposition on January 12, 2015. He too testified

~from recollection from his clinical records; Dr; Rhode described Petitioner’s clinical =~ -

course under his care. He reiterated his diagnosis of left cubital tunnel syndrome and
that it was caused by the reported accident on July 12, 2013. He testified that the lateral
epicondylitis was not work related. He explained the recurrent entries in his chart notes
were from a report template that repeated previous chart entries. He continued in his
opinion that Petitioner, because of his injuries, was in capable of working as a truck
mechanic. On cross-examination he conceded that he might change that opinion if he
knew that Petitioner had returned to work after the July 12, 2013 accident he reported.

Petitioner identified Petitioner’s Exhibit 1 (PX #1), a compilation of medical bills
for care rendered by his attending physicians associated with the work injury of July
2013. In argument over admissibility Petitioner’s counsel stated that the bills
comprising PX #1 had been gleaned from the records of the healthcare providers’
subpoenaed records.

At the present time Petitioner has complaints including but not limited to
difficulty lifting which irritates the nerve in his elbow and fingers; numbness in the ring
and small fingers; swelling behind the left elbow; weather changes cause a throbbing
sensation in his elbow; driving with his left hand causes difficulty; at night he is
awakened when he makes certain movements or with the positioning of his hand and
arm which causes significant numbness in the ring and small finger; activities around
the house using vibrating tools such as a lawnmower irritate the nerve in his arm; he can
comfortably only lift a gallon of milk; grip is weakened and there is numbness in the left

hand. Petitioner did not have these symptoms or complaints prior to the work injury of
July 2013.
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Petitioner was questioned about the histories given his treating physicians and
indicated they were true and accurate to the best of his recollection.

Respondent called Michael Little, Petitioner's supervisor at work, as a witness.
Mr. Little testified at length regarding Pettioner’s notice of injury, an issue not in
dispute.

Mr. Little testified that al] employees are advised at new employee orientation to
report injuries of any magnitude. He confirmed Mr. Jones was a regular full time
employee of Respondent in July of 2013 and that he was working within a 60 day
probationary period.

Mr. Little recalled a conversation with Petitioner about 6:30 in the morning on
July 12, 2013 which included Petitioner, Mr. Little and union steward Greg Crespo. The
meeting was to inform Mr. Jones he was being terminated because of poor performance
and attendance. Mr. Little denied that Petitioner had ever personally informed him of
the injury that he had on July 12, 2013 at work. Mr. Little recalled another conversation
with Petitioner on or about July 16, 2013 at which time Mr. Jones wanted to set up a
time to pick up his toolbox and no other issues were discussed in that conversation.

e M, Little testified that on or about July 22, 2014 he did, in.fact, find a note from

Petltloner on his desk (PX #5). He testified that he found the note underneath his desk
calendar. He looks under the calendar every Monday to do payroll and that is when the
found the note. He admitted that it was signed by Petitioner.

Mr. Little testified that his office was locked and that he checked under his
calendar daily between July 12 and July 22, 2013 but he did not find this note until July
22, 2013. Respondent offered Respondent Exhibit #1 and asked Mr. Little to identify it.
Mr. Little indicated it was a photocopy of the note he found under his desk calendar. He
testified that it was a true and accurate copy of that note.

On cross-examination, Mr. Little testified that probationary employees and union
members are not treated differently in terms of policy and procedure. The provisions of
the union contract apply to both equally. Mr. Little testified that termination policies
would not be applicable to probationary employees, only regular union employees.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

C: Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Pelilioner’s emplovment
by Respondent?

The Arbitrator observed the testimony of all witnesses and reviewed all other
evidence. Based on all of the evidence the Arbitrator finds that Petitioner is not a
credible witness. His demeanor at hearing was one of evasion and contradiction.

Petitioner testified that there was no one else at his conversation with his
supervisor Mike Little on July 12, 2013. This conversation was for the purpose of
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terminating Petitioner during the probationary period of his employment with
Respondent. Mike Little testified that the union steward Greg Crespo was also present
at that conversation. It is unlikely that a union steward would not be present during a

~ termination conference in a union shop. Itis also possible that an employee who was
just fired might not mention bumping his elbow earlier in the work shift. The Arbitrator
finds that Mike Little is more credible in his account of the July 12 conversation.

In addition, Petitioner went to work as a truck mechanic within weeks of his
reported injury at Respondent’s shop. This is not consistent with his testimony
regarding the nature and extent of his injuries or the degree of pain complained of. In

fact, Petitioner claimed he was injured in that new job, a fact he did not disclose to his
treating physician, Dr. Rhode. In fact, Petitioner told Dr. Rhode that he had not worked
since his July 12 accident.

When Petitioner sought care at TCA Health for his right hand injury with CBSL
there was not mention in the record of the left elbow injury or complaints of left elbow
or arm pain or numbness. Petitioner complained of disabling injuries as a result of a
July 12, 2013 accident at work. He did not inform Dr. Rhode that he had been workmg

e —-ag-g-mechanic-after July-12: - oo e e

Despite the foregomg, the Arbltrator ﬁnds that an accident did oceur that arose
out of and in the course of Petitioner’s employment by Respondent. Despite his
problems with credibility Petitioner testified that he struck his left elbow while working
on one of Respondent’s trucks. He sought medical care on the same day and presented
with signs and symptoms of a contusion and possible ulnar nerve contusion.

Therefore, the Arbitrator concludes that Petitioner sustained an accident arising

out of and in the course of his employment with Respondent on July 12, 2013,

F: Is Petitioner’s current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?

The Arbitrator finds that Petitioner failed to prove that his current claimed state
of ill-being is causally related to the accident.

The Arbitrator previously found Petitioner was not a credible witness, He
withheld information from his treating physician, Dr. Rhode, about his new job with
CBSL Transportation. This belies the claims Petitioner made about the extent of his
injuries and his disability from those injuries. Likewise, Petitioner did not tell Dr.
Rhode about his new job-as a mechanic and his subsequent work accident. Petitioner
apparently did not complain about his claimed accident injuries when he sought care at
TCA Health for the later right hand injury.

Dr. Rhode conceded that he might have changed his opinions regarding
Petitioner’s ability to work had he known Petitioner returned to work as a mechanic
after the July 12 accident. The Arbitrator also takes note that Dr. Rhode’s deposition
testimony contradicted his own chart notes. In addition, Dr. Rhode did not document
the medical indication for the corticosteroid inject he administered. In light of these

7
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mgmﬁcant chscrepanc:les the Arbitrator cannot find Dr. Rhode’s opinions persuaswe
Dr. Neal, who conducted a thorough review and examination, was more persuasive in

his opinions and, therefore, the Arbitrator accepts Dr. Neal’s opinions that proof of
causation was lacking.

J: Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and

necessary? Has Respondent paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and
necessary medical services?

Taking into account the foregoing findings the Arbitrator finds that Petitioner
proved that the only reasonable and necessary medical he received for his claimed work-
related injuries was at TCA Health on July 12 and July 22, 2013. Petitioner had started
working at CBSL Transportation in August 2013, indicating he was at MMI. The actual
start day is uncertain. What is certain is that Petitioner claimed a new work injury on
August g, 2013.

Therefore, the Arbitrator finds that Petitioner had achieved MMI by August 8,

2013 and that any medical care for injuries claimed as a result of an accident on July 12,

2013 after August 8 were not reasonably necessary to alieve or cure any injuries
sustained in the course of employment by Respondent. ,

Respondent shall pay charges for medical services provided by TCA Health on
July 12 and July 22, 2013, adjusted in accord with the fee schedule.

K: What temporary benefits are in dispute? TTD

In consideration of previous findings the Arbitrator concludes that
petitioner is entitled to TTD benefits from July 12, 2013 through August 8, 2013, a total
of 3 & 6/7 weeks of temporary total disability, at a rate of $693.33 per week.

L: What is the nature and extent of the injury?

The Arbitrator evaluated Pettioner’s claim for PPD in accord with § 8.1b of the
Act.

(i) No level of impairment according to application of AMA “Guidelines to the
Evaluation of Permanent Impairment” was submitted in evidence. The
Arbitrator cannot give any weight to this factor.

(ii)  Petitioner was a truck mechanic at the time of his claimed injury. He had
a statistical worklife expectancy of 26 years. The Arbitrator gives
moderate weight to this factor. '

(iii) Petitioner was 33 years old at the time of the accident. Petitioner had a
statistical life expectancy of 44 years. The Arbitrator gives this factor
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(iv) Petitioner testified that due to his injuries on July 12, 2013 he has been to
work as a truck mechanic. There was proof that Petitioner began working
as a mechanic within weeks of his claimed injury. The Arbitrator gives
great weight to this factor.

(v)  The Arbitrator reviewed Petitioner’s medical records as well as the
deposition of his treating physician and Respondent’s expert’s deposition.
The Arbitrator gives great weight to this factor.

In light of all factors the Arbitrator finds that Petitioner sustained a 2% loss of use
of his left arm as a result of injuries suffered in his work-related accident on July 12,
2013.

August 19, 2015
Steven J. Fruth, Arbitrator :
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) I:I Affirm and adopt (no changes) D Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
) S8S. D Affirm with changes I___’ Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF sancamoN ) [ IReverse [ ] second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
[ ] PTD/Fatal denied
Modify None of the above
BEFORE THE ILLINOCIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
Cynthia Cantwell,
Petitioner,
Vs, NO: 12 WC 27153

State of Illinois/University of Illinois-Springfield,

Respondent 16IWCC0371

‘ DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW
Timely Petition for Review having been filed by the Respondent herein and notice given
to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of compliance with vocational
rehabilitation and nature and extent, modifies the Decision of the Arbitrator as stated below and
otherwise affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and made a
part hereof. :

In ABBC-E v. Industrial Commission, 316 Ill. App. 3d 745, 750 (2000), the court
explained that a claimant can demonstrate permanent and total disability in three ways:

“IBly a preponderance of the medical evidence, by showing a
diligent but unsuccessful job search, or by demonstrating that
because of their age, fraining, education, experience, and
condition, no jobs are available to a person in their circumstances.”

Regarding the first prong, the medical evidence, the Commission notes that the record
clearly establishes that none of Petitioner’s treating doctors or the Respondent’s Section 12
examiner opined that Petitioner is totally disabled. Dr. Idusuyi, Petitioner’s treating physician,
opined that Petitioner can work at the medium demand level, per the Functional Capacity
Examination (hereinafter “FCE”). (PX4) The Commission notes that the FCE determined that
Petitioner functioned at a medium demand level (21-50 1bs) with material handling tasks of waist
to floor lifting, waist to crown lifting and front carrying, and ambulation based activities
(carrying, stair ambulation, ladder climbing) are limited to occasional basis. (PX6) Dr. Idusuyi
placed the following permanent restrictions on Petitioner: full time work (8 hours a day/5 days a
week), no lifting/carrying greater than 40 lbs, pushing/pulling up to 70 lbs, carry items on a
frequent basis, limited stair climbing, ladder climbing not recommended, limited crouching or
squatting for any prolonged amount of time, walking limited to 50% or less of her 8 hour shift,
standing limited to 75% or less of her 8 hour shift, and capable of working on even or uneven
surfaces. (PX4) Therefore, the Commission finds that the medical evidence clearly establishes
that Petitioner is not permanently and totally disabled.



12 WC 27153

Page 2 )
Regarding the second prong of ABBC-E’s analysis, P&isir-[ﬁdw @"G%@ ﬁ -‘- o
ed that the questi

unsuccessful job search. As noted by the court in ABBC-E, “[i]t is well settl

of whether a claimant is permanently and totally disabled is a question of fact for the
Commission.” ABBC-E, 316 Il. App. 3d at 750. Similarly, it is within the province of the
Commission to determine the sufficiency of the Petitioner’s vocational rehabilitation efforts.

Petitioner underwent a vocational rehabilitation evaluation by James Ragains, a
vocational rehabilitation counselor, at her attorney’s request. (PX9) Mr. Ragains opined that
Petitioner’s self-directed job search had been one of the “most diligent and well documented and
comprehensive job searches I have ever witnessed.” (PX9) After reviewing Petitioner’s job
search records, the Commission finds that while Petitioner’s job search was wide in scope, the
effectiveness of her method, via “cold” contacts, not to mention her application for jobs for
which she could not perform due to her restrictions, is of questionable value.

The Commission notes that among the jobs Petitioner applied for were hostess, waitress,
store/office manager, collections manager, account manager, property manager, assistant
manager, cashier, loan consultant, financial service representative, administrative/office
assistant, receptionist, event planner/event coordinator, barista, jewelry/cosmetic/baby registry
consultant, beauty advisor, data collection associate, cafeteria manager, food administrator, food
server, cook/prep cook, bartender, shift supervisor, concierge, janitorial supervisor, bakery/deli
worker, grocery checker, public health inspector, photographer, catering staff/catering manager,
call center manager, rehabilitation support staff, driver/shuttle, and medical records scanner.
(PX8) The Commission notes that most of those positions either require standing more than 75%
of the day or education and/or training that Petitioner does not have. Petitioner’s decision to
apply for many of these jobs was unreasonable, and doomed her to failure, since she clearly did
not qualify for them and/or lacked the physical ability to perform them. Though she may have
been well intentioned, Petitioner’s actions did not constitute a diligent job search.

The Commission also notes that the Respondent hired Ms. Amanda Ortman, a Vocational
Counselor, to assist the Petitioner in her job search activities. Ms. Ortman indicated that while
the Petitioner seemed to be quite active in her efforts, there were some discrepancies in
Petitioner’s job search.

Ms. Ortman set up a job search e-mail account for the Petitioner. By this account,
Petitioner was to access all job leads given by Ms. Ortman and apply for any job within her
restrictions. Ms. Ortman testified that there were 100 job lead e-mails in the Petitioner’s account
that were never opened. Additionally, Ms. Ortman alleged that the Petitioner gave inappropriate
information to potential employers by applications and during interviews, thus sabotaging the
interviews.

Ms. Ortman noted that Petitioner’s counsel sent her a letter regarding his “concern about
a TRIUNE HG [Ms. Ortman’s employer] developed job lead at UIS [University of Illinois-
Springfield] for a Food Service position, however; [Petitioner] has applied to UIS on her own
behalf for this same position. It is this writer’s opinion that if [Petitioner] feels the position is
suitable enough for her to apply on her own behalf; it is suitable for TRUINE HG to provide
similar leads.” (RX1)

The Commission finds the claim of Petitioner’s attorney indicative of the chasm that
exists between Ms. Ortman and the Petitioner. Ms. Ortman suggested that the Petitioner apply
for jobs that were theoretically beyond Petitioner’s restrictions and in the same breath suggested
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similar jobs, in her self-directed search. The Commission finds that the self-directed search,
though well intentioned, did not constitute a diligent effort. Additionally, the Commission finds
that the Petitioner’s lack of diligence was contributed to in whole or in part by Ms. Ortman’s
flawed assistance.

Finally, regarding the third prong in ABBC-E, the Commission finds that Petitioner failed
to establish that because of her age, training, education, experience and condition, no jobs are
available to her. The Commission notes that at the time of her accident she was 48 years old,
had eamed an Applied Associate’s Degree in Food Service Management in 1988 and has
considerable experience in the food services industry. Furthermore, Petitioner has basic
computer skills after undergoing a computer training course on Office Suites which was
provided by her long-term disability benefits provider. (T.40) The Commission further notes
that Petitioner does a three to four hour radio show on Monday mornings, for which she prepares
by downloading music from CD’s and converting them into computer files, to play during her
show. (T.53-54) While Petitioner’s radio job does not pay, the Commission finds that it does
indicate a basic understanding and use of computers by Petitioner.

In Westin v. Industrial Commission, 372 Ill. App. 3d 527, 545 (2007), the court noted that
“most recent cases making an odd lot determination on the basis that there is no stable job
market for a.person of the claimant’s age, skills, training, and work history have required
evidence from a rehabilitation services provider or a vocational counselor.” Mr. Ragains
determined that Petitioner “clearly cannot return to the work she performed at the date of injury”
and while she could arguably “function in a food service management capacity,” that would be
unlikely due to her “limitations for standing and walking during the course of an 8-hour day.”
(PX9) However, Mr. Ragains opined that Petitioner could be “vocationally rehabilitated and
returned to gainful employment if she were afforded an opportunity to undergo further skills
training at Lincoln Land College in Springfield, IL for work that would be more Sedentary.”
(T.78) Mr. Ragains further explained that an “Office Professional Associate in Applied Science
Degree program offered at Lincoln Land College which would prepare [Petitioner] for secretarial
and administrative assistant work™ would provide the adequate retraining needed to make
Petitioner gainfully employable. Considering Mr. Ragains testimony that the unemployment rate
in Central lllinois and Springfield is between six and 7 percent and that the labor market was
becoming more constrained and competitive (T.78), the Commission finds such a
recommendation is, in light of the evidence submitted and Ms. Ortman’s failure to provide a
vocational rehabilitation evaluation of Petitioner, reasonable and persuasive.

Therefore, based on the totality of the evidence, the Commission finds that Petitioner has
failed to establish that she falls under the odd lot theory for permanent total disability benefits as
laid out in ABBC-E. The Commission hereby reverses and vacates the Arbitrator’s finding and
award of permanent and total disability and finds that Petitioner is entitled to vocational
rehabilitation in the form of retraining for an Office Professional Associate in Applied Science
Degree program offered at Lincoln Land College as recommended by Mr. Ragains. The
Commission also awards maintenance benefits during Petitioner’s retraining pursuant to Section
8(a) of the Act. The Office Professional Associate in Applied Science Degree program requires
the completion of 61 credits and should be completed within two years/four semesters.

So that the record is clear, and there is no mistake as to the intentions or actions of this
Commission, we have considered the record in its entirety. We have reviewed the facts of the
matter, both from a legal and a medical / legal perspective. Furthermore, we have considered all
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of the testimony, exhibits, pleadings and arguments submitted by the Petitioner and the
Respondent. Finally, one should not and cannot presume that we have failed to review any of the
record made below. Though our view of the record may or may not be different than the
arbitrator’s, it should not be presumed that we have failed to consider any evidence taken below.
Our review of this material is statutorily mandated and we assert that this has been completed.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the
Arbitrator filed on October 20, 2015 is modified as stated above, and otherwise affirmed and
adopted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
the sum of $407.28 per week for a period of 160-4/7 weeks, from July 24, 2012 through August
21, 2015, that being the period of temporary total incapacity for work under §8(b) of the Act.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent authorize and
pay for vocational rehabilitation benefits in the form of retraining for an Office Professional
Associate Degree in the Applied Science Degree program offered at Lincoln Land College as
recommended by vocational rehabilitation counselor James Ragains.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay
maintenance benefits to Petitioner during vocational rehabilitation.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under Section 19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioneyon account of said accidental i 1nJury

DATED:  JUN 6 - 2016

MJB/ell ‘ Mich ]U Brennan
0-05/16/16 //f’
52 / Y7

Thomas J. Tyrre’%: ( /

Kevin W. Lambhrn
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UNIVERSITY OF ILLINOIS-SPRINGFIELD
Employer/Respondent

'On 10/20/2015, an arbitration decision on this case was filed with the Illinois Workers' Compensation
Commission in Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed.

If the Commission reviews this award, interest of 0.11% shall accerue from the date listed above to the day
before the date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this
award, interest shall not accrue.

A copy of this decision is mailed to the following parties:

!

2934 BOSHARDY LAW OFFICE PC 0498 STATE OF ILLINOIS
JOHN V BOSHARDY ATTORNEY GENERAL

1610 S 6TH ST 100 W RANDOLPH ST 13TH FL
SPRINGFIELD, It 62703 CHICAGO, L. 60601-3227
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URBANA, IL 61803-0129
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STATE OF ILLINOIS )
)SS.
COUNTY OF SANGAMON )

[ ] njured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d))
[X] Rate Adjustment Fund (§8())

[ ] Second Ijury Fund (§8(¢)18)
[:I None of the above
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ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

ARBITRATION DECISION
Cynthia Cantwell Case # 12 WC 27153
Emplpyeechtitioner
V. Consolidated cases: p/a
University of llinois - Springfield
Employer/Respondent

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was ﬁled in this matter, a.nd a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each

of-Spnnoﬁeld*on"August"Q 12015 —Afterrevi ewmg"all-of'ﬂle ev1dence-presented*ﬂle"A:rbm'ator 1161 eby-makes
findings on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.

DISPUTED ISSUES

A, D Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Illinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act?

[ ] Was there an employee-employer relationship?

D Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?

D ‘What was the date of the accident?

I:] Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

[ ]1s Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?

D What were Petitioner's earnings?

D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

|:] What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident? '

D Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?
What temporary benefits are in dispute?
] TPD [ ] Maintenance [ 1D

What is the nature and extent of the injury?

. D Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?
D Is Respondent due any credit?

. D Other __

ICArbDec 2/10 100 W. Randolph Street #8-200 Chicago, IL 60001 312/814-6611 Toll-free 866/352-3033  Web site: www.iwee fl.gov
Downstate offices: Collinsville 618/346-3450 Peoria 309/671-3019  Rockford 815/987-7292  Springfleld 217/785-7084
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On February 17, 2012, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act.

On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.

On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.
Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is causally related to the accident.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $31,767.84; the average weekly wage was $610.92.
On the date of accident, Petitioner was 48 years of age, single with 0 dependent child(ren).

Petitioner has received all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Réspondent has paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $61,773.37 for TTD, $0 .00 for TPD, $0.00 for maintenance, and $O 00 for

——other-benefitsyfora-total-credit-of-$617773:39
Respondent is entitled to a credit of $0.00 under Section 8(j) of the Act.

. ORDER

Respondent shall pay Petitioner temporary total disability benefits of $407.28 per week for 160 4/7 weeks
commencing July 24, 2012, through August 21, 2015, as provided in Section 8(b) of the Act.

Respondent shall pay Petitioner permanent total disability benefits of $483.36 commencing August 22, 2015,

for life as provided in Section 8(f) of the Act. Commencing on the second July 15 ™ after entry of this award,
Petitioner may become eligible for cost-of-living adjustments, paid by the Rate Adjustment Fund, as provided in
Section 8(g) of the Act.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this
decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the
decision of the Comumission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Nofice
of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however,
if an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

// C@W —— ~—October 13,2015

William R. Gallagher Arbitrator Date

ICArbDec p. 2
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Evidentiary Rulings

At trial, Respondent's counsel objected to those portions of Petitioner's Exhibits 8 and 9 that
contained statements made by third parties who did not testify at trial regarding Petitioner's
inability to meet the physical demands of various jobs (TR; pp 9-10).

Petitioner's Exhibit 8 is her job search documentation and is rather voluminous. The exhibit
consists primarily of a log of prospective employers contacted by Petitioner, the job sought by
her, whether an application was tendered, etc. To the extent that Petitioner's Exhibit 8 contains
inadmissible hearsay, the objection is sustained and those portions of Petitioner's Exhibit 8 are
stricken.

Petitioner's Exhibit 9 is reports of James Ragains, the vocational expert retained by Petitioner's
counsel. As is noted herein, Ragains testified when this case was tried. The Arbitrator has
reviewed Petitioner's Exhibit 9 and the only portion of it that Respondent's counsel's objection
seems to be directed to are statements made by Crystal Rutherford, the Manager of Romantix
Boutique, where Petitioner had applied for a job (Ragains supplemental report dated August 11,

Wffﬁ?p- 161wCC0371

2015;p-3)~Respondent! s—hearsay~0bject10n~1S*sustamed~as~'to~that-*port10n-of -Petitioner's-Exhibit-9
and it is stricken.

Petitioner's counsel objected to that portion of Respondent's Exhibit 1 which contained
statements of a prospective employer who did not testify at trial (TR; p 10). The Arbitrator has
reviewed Respondent's Exhibit 1 and notes that the objectionable statements were made by
someone named "Ali." (Vocational progress report dated July 7, 2015; p 5). Petitioner's hearsay
objection is sustained as to that portion of Respondent's Exhibit 1 and it is stricken.

Findings of Fact

Petitioner filed an Application for Adjustment of Claim which alleged she sustained an
accidental injury arising out of and in the course of her employment for Respondent on February
17, 2012. According to the Application, Petitioner was hit by a utilify cart and sustained an
injury to her right lower extremity. An Amended Application was also filed, but the only
difference between it and the original Application that was filed was the average weekly wage
that was alleged (Petitioner's Exhibit 1).

At trial, the parties stipulated that Petitioner was temporarily totally disabled from July 24, 2012,
through August 21, 2015 (the date of trial), a period of 160 4/7 weeks. The primary disputed
issue in this case was the nature and extent of disability. Petitioner alleged that she was an odd-
lot permanent and total disability. Respondent's position was that Petitioner was ot permanently

and totally disabled and further, that Petitioner was not cooperative with their vocational expert
(Arbitrator's Exhibit 1).

Petitioner worked for Respondent as a Building Service Worker 1. This was a full-time position

and Petitioner worked 37.5 hours per week. In addition to this job, Petitioner also worked part-
time as a waitress/hostess at Fritz's Wagon Wheel.

- Fwar
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Petitioner testified that on February 17, 2012, she was push1 cart and one of its wheels
turned striking her right foot/ankle. At that time, Petitioner expenenced a sharp pain in her right
foot/ankle but continued to work even though the symptoms gradually increased.

Petitioner initially sought medical treatment on February 28, 2012, at Koke Mill Medical
Associates were she was seen by Melanie Reynolds, a Nurse Practitioner. Reynolds examined
Petitioner and opined that Petitioner had sustained a foot/ankle injury. She recommended
Petitioner wear an Ace wrap and stay off the foot as much as possible (Petitioner's Exhibit 14).

Petitioner continued to work but her right foot/ankle symptoms worsened. Petitioner was again
seen by NP Reynolds on May 14, 2012. Reynolds opined that Petitioner had sustained a foot
injury and referred her to Dr. Robert Parker, a podiatrist.

Dr. Parker evaluated Petitioner on May 15, 2012, and opined that she had possible tibial
tendinitis. He ordered an MRI scan which was performed on June 20, 2012. The MRI revealed a
partial tear of the posterior tibialis tendon and tenosynovitis of the flexor tendon group. On July-
24, 2012, Dr. Parker saw Petitioner and reviewed the MRI results with her. He noted that

—Petitioner's-condition-had-not-improved-with-eonservative-treatment-and-authorized-her-to-be-off—
work. He also referred Petitioner to Dr. Osaretin Idusuyi, an orthopedic surgeon (Petitioner's
Exhibit 3). :

Dr. Idusuyi initially saw Petitioner on July 28, 2012. At that time, Petitioner informed Dr.
Idusuyi of the accident and that she continued to have significant right foot/ankle pain. Dr.
Idusuyi subsequently diagnosed Petitioner with tarsal tunnel syndrome and tenosynovitis of the
flexor hallucis longus tendon. Dr. Idusuyi recommended that Petitioner undergo surgery
consisting of a tarsal tunnel release and tenosynovectomy (Petitioner's Exhibit 4).

Dr. Idusuyi performed surgery on January 10, 2013, and the procedure consisted of a tarsal
tunnel release, synovectomy of the flexor hallucis longus and tenosynovitis debridement of the
tibial tendon (Petitioner's Exhibit 5). Following the surgery, Petitioner continued to be treated by
Dr. Idusuyi. When seen by him on March 6, 2013, he noted that she had developed some
protuberance from the deep stitches along the medial aspect of the foot. At that time, Dr. Idusuyi
performed a debridement and removal of those internal stitches (Petitioner's Exhibit 4).

Dr. Idusuyi ordered physical therapy and work hardening which Petitioner received from January
31, through July 1, 2013 (Petitioner's Exhibit 10). When Dr. Idusuyi saw Petitioner on July 1,
2013, she informed him that her symptoms were worse after the work hardening. Dr. Idusuyi
discontinued work hardening and ordered an EMG. The EMG was performed on July 26, 2013,
and it revealed slight improvement but a clear ongoing neurological deficit related to right tibial
neuropathy and tarsal tunnel syndrome (Petitioner's Exhibit 4). Subsequent to the EMG, Dr.
Idusuyi saw Petitioner on July 29, 2013, and he recommended that she undergo a functional
capacity evaluation (FCE) (Petitioner's Exhibit 4).

The FCE was performed on August 13 and 14, 2013. At that time, Petitioner advised the
examiner that her job for Respondent required prolonged standing/walking, lifting over 50
pounds, pushing/pulling, bending, twisting, turning, moving furniture, chmbmg staus/ladders

e
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and operating various machines such as wet vacs and carpet extractors. The FCE report stated
that Petitioner gave maximal efforts and that Petitioner could function in the "mediom" demand
level, meaning she could lift 21 pounds frequently and up to 50 pounds occasionally. Ambulation
activities such as walking, ladder/stair climbing, etc. were limited to being performed on an
"occasional” basis (Petitioner's Exhibit 6). '

Dr. Idusuyi saw Petitioner subsequent to the FCE and, on October 16, 2013, he opined that
Petitioner was at MMI and that the work restrictions stated in the FCE were permanent. Dr.
Idusuyi again saw Petitioner on December 17, 2013, and opined again that Petitioner was at
MMI. In regard to Petitioner's work restrictions, Dr. Idusuyi gave a specific list of the
restrictions, specifically, no lifting/carrying greater than 40 pounds; able to push/pull up to 70
pounds; able to carry on a frequent basis; limited stair climbing; ladder climbing not
recommended; limited crouching/squatting for any prolonged amount of time; walking limited to
50% or less of an eight hour shift; standing limited to 75% or less of an eight hour shift; capable
of working on even or uneven surfaces; and, that Petitioner could work eight hours a day, five
days a week (Petitioner's Exhibit 4).

—At-trial;Petitionertestified regarding herpermanent-work-restrictions:-Furtheryshe-stated-that-she-———
wears a “foot boot” that was prescribed by Dr. Idusuyi virtually all of the time including when

she sleeps. She confirmed that Respondent did not offer her a job that conformed to her work
restrictions.

In October, 2013, Petitioner began a self-directed job search. The records of Petitioner's job
search were received into evidence at frial and they were extensive (Petitioner's Exhibit 8).
Further, Petitioner testified that she had several job interviews but received no job offers.

At the request of Petitioner's counsel, Petitioner was evaluated by James Ragains, a vocational
consultant, on July 29, 2014, and he had further discussions with her by telephone on August 26,
2014. As part of his vocational evaluation of Petitioner, Ragains reviewed Petitioner's education
and work history, medical records, FCE and Petitioner's permanent work restrictions. Ragains'
initial report was dated September 12, 2014 (Petitioner's Exhibit 9).

In his report, Ragains noted that he performed a {ransferability of skills analysis using the
Occupational Access System (OASYS). In considering Petitioner's past work experience,
Ragains only considered the preceding 15 years because skills acquired before 15 years ago may
no longer be viable and lose significance over time. Ragains noted Petitioner's work restrictions,
the walking restrictions, in particular, neutralized her transferable skills for employment in food
services such as serving/preparing food or hostessing. He further opined that Petitioner could not
return to work to the job that she had at the time of the accident (Petitioner's Exhibit 9).

Ragains reviewed the documentation regarding Petitioner's self-directed job search. In his report,
_ Ragains stated "] must say that Ms. Cantwell has been and continues to be engaged in perhaps

the most diligent and well documented and comprehensive job searches I have ever witnessed
dating to October 24, 2013. I have reviewed close to probably two reams of paper consisting of
her well documented job search activity." (Petitioner's Exhibit 9).

C)i’ﬁhla Cantwell v. University of Illinois — Springfield
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restrictions and unsuccessful job search. However, Ragains also opined that Petitioner could be
vocationally rehabilitated and gainfully employed if she were given the opportunity to undergo
skills training at a local community college. Specifically, he recommended Petitioner be enrolled
in a program for an Office Professional Assistant, a 61 hour program that would lead to an
Associate degree. Given the fact that Petitioner was 54 years of age at the time of Ragains’
evaluation, he recommended that any retraining program be short (Petitioner's Exhibit 9).

Respondent declined to authorize or pay for the rehabilitation program recommended by
Ragains. Instead, Respondent had Petitioner evaluated by Amanda Ortman, a vocational expert,
on November 19, 2014. In connection with her evaluation of Petitioner, Oriman reviewed
medical records/reports, the FCE and Ragains' vocational report dated September 12, 2013. In
addition to her employment history, Petitioner also advised Ortman that she volunteered as a
radio announcer on Monday momings.

In Ortman's initial report dated November 19, 2014, she stated that she performed a
transferability skills analysis using the OASYS and listed eight jobs in the food service industry

would initiate job placement services for Petitioner; however, in her supplemental reports dated
January 6, and February 9, 2015, she noted that job placement services had not been authorized
(Respondent's Exhibit 1).

At the request of Petitioner's counsel, Ragains reviewed Ortman's report of November 19, 2014.
In a supplemental report dated November 28, 2014, Ragains disagreed with Ortman's
conclusions . and recommendations. Initially, he noted that Petitioner had conducted a
comprehensive and diligent job search for work that was included in the list of jobs
recommended by Ortman as well as other employment. He also noted that Ortman's statement
that all 10 positions were listed in the "Dictionary of Occupational Titles" (DOT) was not
accurate in that three of the 10 positions were not, in fact, listed in the DOT.

Ragains also noted that for Petitioner to work as a kitchen supervisor (one of the 10 jobs in
Ortman's list) Petitioner would have to perform tasks contrary to the work restrictions imposed
by Dr. Idusuyi (Petitioner's Exhibit 9). In regard to the receptionist position listed in Ortman's
list, Ragains opined that for Petitioner to qualify for this position, she would require the
additional training that he recommended. Ultimately, Ragains opined that Ortman did not
accurately assess Petitioner's employability (Petitioner's Exhibit 9).

At trial, Petitioner testified that she met with Ortman several times and applied for all of the
positions that Ortman recommended. The singular exception to this was a job as a bus driver.
Petitioner stated that she did not apply for that job because it would have required extensive use
of her feet when driving the bus. Further, Pet1t1oner applied for other jobs in addition to those

- provided to her by Ortman.

When Petitioner met with Ortman on March 15, 2015, she advised that she had applied for the
position of Food Service Administrator I with Respondent, and this was a position she had
previously held for eight and one-half years. Petitioner was interviewed for this position.

Cyn@a Cantwell v. University of Illinois — Springfield 12WC 27153
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Geoffrey Evans, Respondenf‘s Dlrector of Food and Dining- Services testified af trial. Evans
interviewed Petitioner for the Food Service Administrator I job in April, 2015. Evans knew
Petitioner because he was her supervisor when she managed Respondent's coffee shop sometime
ago. Evans stated he did not ask Petitioner any questions about her physwal restrictions and that
they would have been assessed at a later time. Evans said Petitioner informed him of her foot
condition and her work restrictions even though he had not asked her any questions regarding
same.

On cross-examination, Evans agreed that the Food Service Administrator I position required
standing for long periods of time, carrying of food items, food preparation, lifting of heavy boxes
of food, etc. Evans did not make a recommendation that Petitioner be hired and the job was not
offered to her.

Petitioner also testified that she hosted a radio show on Monday mormnings at a local station.
Petitioner is on the air approximately three to four hours on Monday mornings and this is
apparently some sort of talk show. This is a volunteer position and Petitioner receives no income
from it.

Ragains testified at the trial. His testimony was consistent with his reports and he reaffirmed the
opinions contained thercin. In regard to Petitioner informing a potential employer of her work
restrictions, he stated that this was appropriate for Petitioner do so once she determined that the
job for which she had applied would require accommodations. He also opined that many of the
jobs recommended by Ortman were not appropriate for Petitioner because of her restrictions,
skills or a combination of both.

Regains testified that Petitioner could not work in the food service industry because these jobs
required Petitioner to be on her feet for most of a workday and many of the positions required
lifting in excess of Petitioner's restrictions. He also stated Petitioner had put forth a diligent and
good faith effort to find suitable employment.

Ortman testified at trial and her testimony was consistent with her reports and she reaffirmed the
opinions contained therein. Ortman opined that Petitioner was employable in a sedentary/light
duty position in an office type environment; however, she could not identify any current
positions which would be appropriate for Petitioner nor did she prepare a labor market survey
which indicated that such positions were readily available.

Ortman also questioned the diligence of Petitioner's attempts to secure employment and opined
that she was not going to interviews with the proper attitude. She specifically referenced
Petitioner's interview with Respondent for the Food Service Administrator I position. She also
stated that, as part of her job placement services, she had set up an e-mail address for Petitioner
to use for communication with potential employers. She stated that when she checked on
Petitioner's use of e-mails, there were approximately 100 e-mails that Petitioner did not open.

This was for a period of approximately two weeks and was towards the end of her providing job
placement services to Petitioner.

ek
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In regard to disputed issue (L) the Arbitrator makes the following conclusion of law:

The Arbitrator concludes that Petltloner is permanently and totally disabled as result of the injury
she sustained.

In support of this conclusion the Arbitrator notes the following:

It was undisputed that Petitioner sustained a serious injury to her right foot/ankle on February 17,
2012. Significant permanent work/activity restrictions were imposed by Petitioner's treating
physician, Dr. Idusuyi.

The fact that Petitioner was unable to return to work to the job she had at the time of the accident
because of her permanent work/activity restrictions was not disputed by Respondent.

Petitioner began her own self-directed job g_e}g;c_:h n Og:’go_be;_r_,_ 2_013, apd_ft}@g__rg_c_o:ggi_g_p@ ‘her jg_b_______
—search~were-tendered-into-evidence-at-trial—The-Arbitrator-reviewed-the-records-and-noted-that-——
they were very extensive.

Counsel for both Petitioner and Respondent retained vocational experts, James Ragains and
Amanda Ortman, respectively. Both of these vocational experts testified at trial.

Ragains opined that, because of Petitioner's work/activity restrictions, she could not retwrn to
work at the job that she had at the time of the accident nor could she return to work to jobs in the
food service industry. He also opined that Petitioner lacked transferability of skills.

Ragains reviewed Petitioner's documentation regarding her job search and opined that it was the
most diligent, well documented and comprehensive job search that he had ever seen. He opined
that Petitioner could be vocationally rehabilitated and gainfully employed if she received skills
training at a local community college. However, Respondent declined to offer this training to
Petitioner and referred her to their expert, Amanda Ortman.

Ortman recommended Petitioner seek employment for a number of jobs which were not
consistent with Petitioner's work/activity restrictions, including several food service positions
and driving a bus. This was specifically noted by Ragains.

While Ortman opined that Petitioner could return to work in a sedentary/light duty office type
position, she could not identify if any such positions were actually available nor did she prepare
a labor market survey.

In regard to Pefitioner's alleged noncompliance with vocational experts, the Arbitrator does not
find Petitioner's advising Geoffrey Evans of her work/activity restrictions during the interview
process to be a deliberate act on her part to not obtain employment. As was noted by Ragains,
this disclosure was appropriate for Petitioner to make during the interview process because of the
physical demands of that job in the food service industry.

R i
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Giverl Petitioner's diligent-and comprehensive job search, the Arbitrator does not find Petitioner's
not opening e-mails daridg ‘the last two weeks of Ortman's job placement services to be of any
particular significance.

Petitioner's unpaid volunteer position at a local radio station is not evidence of her ability to
obtain employment in a reasonably stable labor market and is likewise of no particular

significance.

The Arbitrator finds the opinions of Ragains to be more persuasive than those of Ortman.

A@@?%Z%£i

William R. Gallagher, Arbitrator

12WC27153 .
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) El Affirm and adopt (no changes) |:| Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
) SS. l:l Affirm with changes D Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF WILL ) @ Reverse |:| Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
|:| PTD/Fatal denied
D Modify IZ None of the above
BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
EDDIE HUCKELBERRY,
Petitioner,
Vs, NO: 10 WC 18892
MONTEREY MUSHROOMS, 1 6 I w C C 0 3 72
Respondent. '

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

‘Timely Petition for Review having been filed by the Petitioner herein and notice given to
all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of accident, notice, medical, causal
connection, temporary total disability (TTD), permanent partial disability (PPD), and “choice of
physicians,” and being advised of the facts and applicable law, reverses the Decision of the
Arbitrator and finds that Eddic Huckelberry established that he sustained a work-related accident
arising out of and in the course of his employment on May 19, 2009.

As the result of the accident, Huckelberry is entitled to TTD benefits from June 3, 2009
through July 16, 2009 and October 20, 2010 through December 5, 2010, representing 13-5/7
weeks. The Petitioner is entitled to reasonable and necessary medical expenses totaling
$44,083.21. Monterey Mushrooms (Respondent) is entitled to a credit of $23,572.36 representing
$21,192.36 in medical expenses and $2,380.00 in short term disability, both pursuant to Section
8(j) of the Act. The Commission finds Huckelberry sustained twenty percent loss of use of the
man-as-a-whole pursuant to Section 8(d)(2) of the Act.

So that the record is clear, and there is no mistake as to the intentions or actions of the
Commission, we have considered the record in its entirety. We have reviewed the facts of the
matter, both from a legal and a medical/legal perspective. The Commission has considered all of
the testimony, exhibits, pleadings and arguments submitted by the parties.
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FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

The Commission makes the following findings:

1.

Per the Application for Adjustment of Claim filed May 17, 2010, Eddie Huckelberry was
a 54 year old, single male with no dependants under the age of 18. Huckelberry alleged
injury to his person-as-a-whole while performing his job duties on May 19, 2009.

Huckelberry began working for Respondent as a truck driver in the winter of 2008. T.12.
He last worked for the Respondent on January 8, 2014. T.13.

Huckelberry testified that he had a prior back issue but it did not keep him from working.
T.14. He would occasionally see Dr. Martin, a chiropractor, and treated at Farrell
Chiropractor. He also sustained an injury to his low back in a car accident in the middle
1970s. T.15.

Pursuant to respondent’s exhibit 1, petitioner was seen on October 27, 2007 for low back
pain, neck pain and stiffness and pain between the shoulders, and pain or numbness in the
hips. He also had pain in his stomach. RX.1.

On September 22, 2008, it was noted that petitioner fell on steps in the winter in 2006, He
fell straight back and landed on the backside of an edge of a step. He had pain in the low
back mostly over the PSIS. The pain traveled into the right leg. RX.2.

On May 19, 2009, Huckelberry had an issue with the trailer tarp on his work truck. He
climbed onto the back of the trailer and lost his balance causing him to slip around
backwards. He hit the middle of his lower back against a metal motor bracket that
controlled the tarp. T.17. He hit between 5 to 6 inches above the belt line and experienced
immediate pain. T.18. Petitioner testified that he felt like he did something “real good this
time.” Id He sat there for an hour and talked to Kevin, who was the person at the
racetrack that was loading the trailer. T.19. The following day he informed the company
dispatcher, Louis Delgato of his injury. T.20. Petitioner thought he could work off his
issues. T.21.

Mr. Terry Johnson is the distribution manager for respondent and supervised
Huckelberry. T.46. He stated that Huckelberry never reported back pain to him, but he
was aware that Huckelberry was off work due to an injury. T.47. On cross-examination,
Johnson testified that he had no reason to dispute that Huckelberry reported the accident
to Louis Delgato. T.51. However, Mr. Delgato never mentioned petitioner’s condition to
him. T.51. Johnson testified that an incident report was completed, but it was handled by
Mr. Delgato.
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8.

10.

11.

12.

13.

14,

15.

Petitioner presented to Dr. Martin on May 22, 2009 and reported that he seemed to
aggravate his right lower back and had severe pain. Then on May 27, 2009, Dr. Martin
noted petitioner had continued right lower back pain and tightness. RX.1.

Huckelberry presented to Perry Memorial Hospital on June 2, 2009 for radicular pain.
The onset was listed as two years ago. It was further noted that Huckelberry’s pain
worsened 3 weeks ago. He had similar symptoms for 2 years, but he had not recently
treated with a doctor. He had right flank pain. He was in no acute distress. The review of
systems indicated back pain, and CVA tenderness had a line drawn through it. The
impression was right groin pain. PX.1.

Petitioner underwent a CT scan of the abdomen without contrast on June 2, 2009 for right
flank pain radiating into the right groin. No abnormality was noted. PX.1.

Petitioner presented to Perry Memorial on June 5, 2009 for left sided groin pain. He had
pain in his right testicle. Back pain was circled in the review of system. He had inguinal
tenderness. His back inspection was normal. PX.1.

Huckelberry was seen by Dr. Manuel Ascano on June 8, 2009 for right sided back pain
radiating down the leg. It was noted that he was pulling a tarp on a trailer and started to
feel pain. He had a history of a fall two years earlier. He had back, right groin, and right
leg pain. The assessment was lumbar radiculopathy and abdomen pain. PX.2.

Huckelberry underwent an MRI of the lumbar spine without contrast on June 8, 2009 at
Perry Memorial Hospital. The impression was mild dextroscoliosis of the lumbar spine
with degenerative changes. There was a mild right lateral protrusion of the 12-L3
intervertebral disc extending into the right intervertebral foramen. There was mild
retrolisthesis at L4 and L5 with evidence of degenerative disc disease and bone marrow
edema of the endplates at L3-L4. There was a left lateral protrusion of the L3-L4
intervertebral disc extending into the intervertebral foramen. There was a mild bulging
disc at L4-L5 and a diffuse bulge at L5-SI extending into the right intervertebral foramen
producing right side neural foraminal stenosis. PX.1.

Petitioner underwent an MRI of the lumbar spine with gadolinium on June 11, 2009 at
Perry Hospital. The MRI revealed a mild lateral protrusion at L2-L3 extending into the
right L2-L.3 foramen. There was mild retrolisthesis at 1.3-L4 with left lateral protrusion of
the L3-L4 intervertebral disc into the foramen and a diffuse bulging disc at L4-L5 and
L5-SI. At L5-8I level, the disc extended into the right intervertebral foramen producing
right sided neural foraminal stenosis. PX.1.

Petitioner presented to Perry Memorial on June 12, 2009 for severe right groin pain.
Petitioner underwent a CT scan of the abdomen that revealed mild sigmoid diverticulosis.
The abdomen and pelvis was otherwise unremarkable. PX.1.
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Dr. Deofil Orteza authored a report to Dr. Ascano on June 12, 2009. Dr. Orteza noted
petitioner was seen for right low back pain, right groin pain, and right testicular pain.
Petitioner reported an 11 day history of severe right low back pain with significant
radiation down to his right groin and right testicular area. His pain was constant and 10
out of 10. Dr. Orteza noted that the most significant factor that may correlate to
petitioner’s symptoms was the L2-L3 right lateral protrusion of the intervertebral disc.
The impression was right low back pain with significant radicular pain into the projection
of the right groin and right testicular arcas that was secondary to his intervertebral disc
protrusion at L2-L3. Dr. Orteza recommended an epidural injection. Dr. Orteza noted that
if the injection provided relief, it would then indicate that the cause of petitioner’s pain
was related to his degenerative disc disease at L2-L3. If there is no improvement
following the injection, then other causes of his pain would need to be investigated. PX.2,

Petitioner was seen by Dr. Ascano on June 17, 2009, He had an epidural with no relief.
He had severe pain in the right testicle, PX.2.

Dr. Mark Williams authored a letter to Dr. Manuel Ascano on June 22, 2009. Dr.
Williams noted that petitioner was examined for a right inguinal hernia with severe pain
and a feeling that his whole right side locked up. Dr. Williams noted that the hernia was
likely not the cause of petitioner’s primary complaints. Dr. Williams recommended an
evaluation for sciatica. PX.2.

Huckelberry was seen by Dr. Gerald Levisay of Illinois Urologic Health Surgeons on
June 22, 2009. Dr. Levisay noted that the CT scan was unremarkable. The MRI of the
back revealed a bulging disc. Petitioner reported that his pain was excruciating in the
right lower quadrant, right groin, and right testicle. There was evidence of an inguinal
hernia. The impression was right groin strain/pain secondary to a herniated disc. His pain
was of “other” etiology. The injection did not alleviate his pain. PX.2.

Petitioner was seen by Dr. Jeffrey Dickhut for physical therapy on August 3, 2009. It was
noted petitioner rode almost 170 miles on his motorcycle over the weekend, which was
the first time in a long time. PX.5. Petitioner underwent physical therapy for several
months.

. Petitioner underwent an MRI of the lumbar spine without contrast at Open MRI of

McLean County on February 10, 2010. There was a broad based subligamentous
protrusion involving L5-SI. A broad based bilobed disc protrusion involving L3-L4 with
left foraminal encroachment without evidence of neural compression. There was a broad
based non-compressive bulging disc at L4-L5 with underlying discogenic spondylosis
and degenerative facet arthropathy. There was also a right posterolatearal disc protrusion
that involved the L.2-L3 that resulted in abutment of the right L2 exiting nerve root. PX.5.
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22.

23.

24.

25.

26.

27.

28.

Petitioner presented to Perry Memorial on March 30, 2010 for back pain. The duration
was listed as 9 days ago, and it was not a recent injury. His back pain was sharp. His past
history included back pain that was chronic and he had an L3-L5 compression fracture in
2009. He also had muscle spasms and decreased range of motion. His straight leg raise
was negative. The impression was a lumbosacral strain. PX.1.

Huckelberry underwent an EMG on April 21, 2010. It was reported that petitioner had an
onset of symptoms while working in April 2009 when he slipped and twisted his back.
He had initial swelling in the back and groin, and there was a question of a hernia but the
symptoms had progressed to involve the back and legs. He reported pain in the right back
that traveled down the leg to the anterior shin with some associated numbness and
tingling. The straight leg raise increased his pain. Internal rotation of the right hip caused
some pain, but he had full range of motion. The EMG revealed mild right L4
radiculopathy. PX.2.

Petitioner underwent a medical examination for commercial driver fitness determination
on May 4, 2010. It was noted that Dr. Ascano diagnosed petitioner with low back pain on
June 2, 2009. Petitioner had no deformities, limitation of motion, tenderness, or
weakness. He was certified for 2 more years. PX.8.

Huckelberry was seen by Dr. Min Kyung Kim on May 27, 2010 for lower right sided
back pain with numbness, tingling and heaviness in the right leg and hip with sporadic
muscle spasms. He has been receiving spinal decompressions 4 times per week with Dr.
Dickhut. Petitioner reported that he fell on his lower back while hauling stable bedding
and has had lower back pain since the accident. PX.11.

On May 28, 2010, Dr. Kim noted that Huckelberry reported that he was at work when he
lost his balance and held onto a bar and swung backwards toward the right. He hit the
right side of his back on a portion of metal but didn’t lose grip on the bar and did not fall
onto the ground. It was noted that this was not a workers’ compensation case. Petitioner
did not receive relief from the epidural injections. The diagnoses were lower back pain,
lumbar radiculopathy and lumbar spinal stenosis, PX.11.

Petitioner underwent an MRI of the lumbar spine on August 24, 2010 at Illinois Valley
Community Hospital. When compared to the June 8, 2009 MRI, there had been slight
progressive degenerative disc space narrowing at the L2-L3 disc space with associated
retrolisthesis which remained stable. There was new bone marrow edema within the
endplates adjacent to the L2-L3 disc space. There was no other significant interval
change with the exiting right L4 nerve root being compressed by lateral disc
material/osteophytosis within the right L4-L5 neural foramen. PX.2.

Huckelberry was seen by Dr. Andrew Ta of Midwest Neurology on October 13, 2010.
Petitioner reported injuring himself in May 2009 after falling off a trailer which caused
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29.

30.

31.

32.

33.
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him to hit his lower back. He began to experience right leg pain following the epidural
injection. He still had right sided back pain. The impression was severe lumbar
spondylitic disease and disc herniation at L5-S1, and lumbar radiculopathy with
intractable back pain. PX.12,

Huckelberry was seen by Dr. John Mazur of the Spine Surgery Specialist on October 14,
2010 on referral from Dr. Andrew Ta. Petitioner reported developing low back pain 5
years ago and saw Dr. Jeff Martin in Princeton. He received x-rays and adjustments
followed by relief. Then on May 15, 2009, he fell backwards into a motor bracket while
at work while adjusting a tarp. Dr. Mazur reviewed the August 24, 2010 MRI which
revealed a lot of abnormalities. Most significantly, petitioner had a small right L5-S1 disc
herniation that was impinging upon an unusual complex of nerves. The abnormality was
congenital but the disc herniation brought on the symptoms. The plan was to decompress
the right L5 and right S1 area and map out the adherent nerve roots and remove
decompressions, which would probably involve removal of the herniated disc material on
the right side at L5-SI. PX.2.

Dr. Mazur performed a right L5 and right SI micro hemilaminectomy, partial
facetectomy, foraminotomy and microdissection, and right L5-SI discectomy on October
20,2010. PX.2.

Petitioner was seen by Dr. Mazur on December 2, 2010. The back incision was well
healed and he had good strength in his lower extremities. Petitioner reported that he had
“worms” coming out of his skin. He had a return of low back pain and right hip pain two
weeks after the surgery. Petitioner did not have physical therapy due to his skin problems
and cramps in the right thigh and calf. Dr. Mazur noted that petitioner would not have
good surgical results if he did not soon get active. Petitioner was returned to work
without restrictions on December 6, 2010. PX.2.

Dr. Mazur was deposed on August 8, 2014. Dr. Mazur is board certified in nuerological
and spine surgery. He diagnosed petitioner with a disc herniation on the right side at L5-
S1 which was compressing the right SI nerve root and/or the right L5 nerve root. There
were probable adherent nerve roots, congenital variations and a degenerated right L5-SI
facet joint. PX.17. pg.12. Dr. Mazur concluded that the disc herniation was precipitated
by the work injury and was the cause of petitioner’s symptoms. Id. He stated that the
surgery was reasonable.

Dr. Mazur performed the surgery on October 20, 2010 and noted there was scar tissue,
which could have been caused by the disc herniation and the epidural injections. There
was an indentation from the disc herniation which point posteriorly. PX.17. pg.16. Dr.
Mazur stated that it was more likely than not that the disc herniation impinged the L5
nerve root and caused his symptoms. The surgical findings were consistent with the MRI
findings and consistent with the history petitioner provided.
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34.

35.

36.

Huckelberry was seen by Dr. Robert Eilers on August 16, 2011. Dr. Eilers diagnosed
petitioner with an L5-S1 right herniated nucleus pulposus secondary to work injury on
5/19/209 causing and/or aggravating the disc herniation resulting in symptoms. He had
myofascial pain syndrome involving the lumbosacral paraspinal and the tensor fascia lata,
right greater than left, secondary to strain-sprain injury component occurring on May 19,
2009. There was an aggravation of the underlying degenerative arthritis and facet arthritis
in his right lumbosacral spine and the lumbosacral paraspinals. There was also significant
aggravation of the disk bulges and L.5-S1 disc herniation. The chronic pain was related to
his right lumbar disc herniation. Dr. Eilers noted that the lumbar disc surgery at 1L.5-S1
was the direct and proximate cause of his work injury, which either caused or
significantly aggravated the disc herniation. It resulted in nerve root impingement on the
right. The treatment had been reasonable and appropriate. Petitioner was able to function
adequately prior to the accident but was now limited to light sedentary work. PX.18.

Dr. Eilers was deposed on November 12, 2012. PX.18. Dr. Eilers is board certified in
physical medicine rehabilitation. He diagnosed petitioner with an L5-SI right sided
herniated nucleus pulposus that arose out of his May 19, 2009 injury, which caused or
aggravated the disk herniation. The injury caused the symptoms for which petitioner was
treated. Huckelberry had myofacial pain as a result of the injury. The tenor fascia lata of
the right was more involved than the left, which also arose out of his injury. Petitioner
also had an aggravation of underlying degenerative arthritis and disc herniation. He had
some continued chronic pain related to the disc herniation. He had a loss of his functional
abilities within his job.

Respondent obtained a Section 12 examination from Dr. Andrew Zelby of Neurological
Surgery & Spine Surgery on January 23, 2012. Huckelberry reported that he fell
backwards and to the right striking the right side of his lower back on a motor bracket.
Dr. Zelby diagnosed petitioner with lumbosacral spondylosis and a herniated lumbar disc.
Dr. Zelby noted that when petitioner first sought treatment for his complaints, he
indicated that the symptoms had been present for two years with worsening of symptoms
three weeks earlier. He did not describe any work incident as the cause for his worsening
of symptoms. He reported symptoms and groin pain that began after pulling of the trailer
tarp. Dr. Zelby noted that the symptoms may have been referable to the right L1-L2 disc
protrusion, but had nothing to do with any disc abnormality at L5-S1. There were also
symptoms petitioner reported that he been present since a fall two years earlier. Dr. Zelby
opined that Petitioner’s condition was not caused or even symptomatic as a result of his
subsequent report of a work injury. The symptoms had been present long before
petitioner began his job. The symptoms were completely unrelated to the I.5-S1
dermatome. The discectomy was not a consequence of the surgery. All of petitioner’s
treatment after August 2009 was not a consequence of any work event. He could continue
to work full-duty. RX.3.
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37. Dr. Zelby was deposed on January 16, 2013. Dr. Zelby is board certified in neurosurgery.
He noted that petitioner reported that his symptoms of pain had been present since a fall
two years earlier but had gotten worse over the preceding three weeks. RX.3. pg.13. He
reviewed the MRI from August 24, 2010 and diagnosed petitioner with lumbosacral
spondylosis and a herniated lumbar disc. RX.3. pg.17. Petitioner did not describe any
twisting just that he slipped as he was pulling a tarp. RX.3. p.gl18. Dr. Zelby noted that
the first medical record following the alleged accident made no mention of a work
accident and that he had pain for two years, which was not consistent with what petitioner
stated. Id. Dr. Zelby testified that petitioner was capable of working full duty. He found
no relation between the reported injury and the surgery. The symptoms of the L5-SI
herniated disc had no resemblance to any of the symptoms reported. Dr. Zelby found it
hard to say petitioner sustained any injury as petitioner indicated that the symptoms had
been present for two years. Petitioner’s symptoms had been present long before he began
his job. RX.3. pg.21. However, Petitioner did not report any prior episodes or similar
symptoms. The chiropractic treatment and surgery was not related to the accident.

38. On cross-examination, Dr. Zelby noted there was no duration mentioned as to the onset
of back pain. RX.3. pg.28. He stated that the ER record from June 2, 2009 indicated that
petitioner had no CVA tenderness. He noted that petitioner did report an accident on June
8, 2009 to Dr. Ascano. He stated that petitioner’s symptoms had nothing to do with the
L5-S81 level. RX.3. pg.44. It was anatomically obvious they were unrelated.

39. Huckelberry testified that he worked from December 2010 through January 2014 as a
truck driver. He continued to experience his regular issues with his leg and back. T.38. In
January 2014, he stopped working as he could no longer perform his duties. T.39. He was
losing his reflexes. Petitioner stated that he cannot work due to his reflexes and muscles
on his right side. He has pain and discomfort, and everything is tight. T.42. He performs
therapy at home. He tries not to take pain medication. T.43. His pain is the same today as
it was at the time of the accident. T.44.

The Commission is not bound by the Arbitrator's findings, and may properly determine
the credibility of witnesses, weigh their testimony and assess the weight to be given to the
evidence. R. 4. Cullinan & Sons v. Industrial Comm'n, 216 1ll. App. 3d 1048, 1054, 575 N.E.2d
1240, 159 111, Dec. 180 (1991). It is the province of the Commission to weigh the evidence and
draw reasonable inferences therefrom. Niles Police Department v. Indusirial Comm'n, 83 111, 2d
528, 533-34, 416 N.E.2d 243, 245, 48 1. Dec. 212 (1981). Interpretation of medical testimony is
particularly within the province of the Commission. 4. O. Smith Corp. v. Industrial Comm'n, 51
I11. 2d 533, 536-37, 283 N.E.2d 875, 877 (1972).

For an accidental injury to be compensable under the Act, a Petitioner must show such
injuries arose out of and in the course of his employment. Eagle Discount Supermarket, 82 111. 2d
at 337-38, 412 N.E.2d at 496; Nabisco Brands, Inc. v. Industrial Comm’n, 266 1ll. App. 3d 1103,
1106, 641 N.E.2d 578, 581, 204 IIl. Dec. 354 (1994)."Arising out of" refers to the requisite
~ causal connection between the employment and the injury. In other words, the injury must have
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had its origins in some risk incidental to the employment. See Eagle Discount Supermarket, 82
IIL. 2d at 338, 412 N.E.2d at 496; William G. Ceas & Co., 261 Ill. App. 3d at 636, 633 N.E.2d at
998. "In the course of" refers to the time, place, and circumstances under which the accident
occurred. See William G. Ceas & Co., 261 Ill. App. 3d at 636, 633 N.E.2d at 998. Whether the
claimant suffered from a compensable accident is a question of fact to be determined by
the Commission. National Freight Industries v. Illinois Workers' Compensation Comm'n,
2013 IL App (5th) 120043WC, § 26, 993 N.E.2d 473.

The Commission finds that Huckelberry sustained an accident arising out of and in the
course of his employment, and that his condition is causally related to the work accident.

In support of its finding, the Commission notes that the Arbitrator’s denial of the claim
was based, in part, upon his finding that Huckelberry was not credible. The Commission,
however, finds that the evidence does not support the arbitrator’s finding. The arbitrator noted
that “the first records from Perry Memorial Hospital on June 2, 2009 also fail to mention any
work accidents, despite a rather clear description of petitioner’s .groin pain,” The Commission,
however, notes that this emergency room record is mainly a pre-printed form with boxes that
were checked off. The Commission notes that the record indicated that petitioner’s pain had been
worse for the past three weeks and that petitioner has not been seen by a doctor recently. While
there is no mention of a work injury, there is indication of back pain and the three week duration
of pain is consistent with the timing of his accident.

Further, when petitioner was seen by Dr. Ascano on June 8, 2009, Ascano noted that
petitioner’s back pain began while pulling a tarp. Petitioner then went to the ER a few days later,
The Commission finds this record consistent with petitioner’s testimony regarding his accident.
Also, the vast majority of medical records provide a consistent history of accident and onset of

symptoms.

Furthermore, the arbitrator noted that Dr. Kim indicated in his May 2010 record that this
was not a workers® compensation case. However, this same record provided a very detailed
history of a work-related accident. Dr. Kim’s record from the day prior noted that petitioner had
a work accident in May 2009 and has had pain ever since. There is no evidence in any of Dr.
Kim’s records that petitioner’s symptoms are related to anything but the work injury.

Additionally, the arbitrator noted that Dr. Mazur related the condition to a traumatic
event on May 15, 2009 while Dr. Eilers related it to a May 19, 2009 incident. The arbitrator
noted that based upon the inconsistent medical evidence, “this was too great to ignore.” After
reviewing all of the medical records, the Commission does not find this discrepancy significant
in light of the totality of the evidence.

The Commission also finds Mr. Johnson’s testimony supportive on the issue of accident.
Mr. Johnson was aware that petitioner completed an incident report and was off work due to an
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injury. The incident report, however, was handled by Mr. Delgato. Mr. Delgato was not called as
a witness and the incident report was not offered into evidence.

The Commission is not persuaded by Dr. Zelby’s opinion. Dr. Zelby essentially ignored
the fact that the history of accident was referenced in the June 8, 2009 accident and that
petitioner had no documented symptoms prior to the accident. Rather, Dr. Zelby’s opinion was
premised upon the belief that petitioner had symptoms for two years prior to the accident. His
opinion is directly contradicted by the evidence. The records indicate that petitioner’s pain had
worsened within the past three weeks, which is in conformance with the timing of the accident.
His opinion also ignores petitioner’s un-rebutted testimony that he was able to work full-duty
and without restriction up until the May 19, 2009 accident. Consequently, the Commission finds
the opinion of Dr. Mazur more persuasive. Dr. Mazur concluded that the disc herniation was the
cause of petitioner’s symptoms, which was caused by the work accident.

Accordingly, the Commission finds that, based upon petitioner’s testimony together with
the medical records, Huckelberry established that he sustained a work-related accident arising
out of and in the course of his employment on May 19, 2009 and that his current condition of ill-
being is causally related to said accident.

Consequently, Petitioner is entitled to TTD benefits for 13-5/7 weeks from June 3, 2009
through July 16, 2009 and October 20, 2010 through December 5, 2010. He is also entitied to
medical expenses totaling $44,083.21. Respondent is entitled to a credit of $23,572.36, which
represents $21,192.36 in medical expenses and $2,380.00 in short term disability, both pursuant
to Section 8(j) of the Act.

The Commission finds Huckelberry is entitled to 20% loss of use of the man-as-a-whole.
Petitioner underwent a right L5-S1 micro hemilaminectomy and right L5-S1 discectomy.
Huckelberry was able to perform his work duties until January 2014 at which time he voluntarily
left his job due to his alleged ongoing pain. He testified that he has some residual pain which
impacts his daily activities. The Commission is not convinced that Petitioner’s current inability
to work 1s the result of this accident.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that that the Decision of the
Arbitrator, filed on May 12, 2015, is hereby reversed as stated above. ‘

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
the sum of $645.37 per week for a period of 13-5/7 weeks (June 3, 2009 through July 16, 2009
and October 20, 2010 through December 5, 2010), that being the period of temporary total
incapacity for work under §8(b) of the Act.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
the sum of $580.83 per week for a period of 100 weeks, as provided in Section 8(d)2 of the Act,
for the reason that the injuries sustained caused the 20% loss of use of the person-as-a-whole.
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IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay all
medical expenses pursuant to Sections 8(a) & 8.2 of the Act. Respondent shall have credit for
amounts paid under Section 8(j) of the Act.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under Section 19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.

Bond for the removal of this cause to the Circuit Court by Respondent is hereby fixed at
the sum of $75,000.00. The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court
shall file with the Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit Court.

DATED: JUN 6 - 2016

Michael

7
MIB/tdm

L; Brennan W
D: 5/16/16 F/

052 Thomas J. Tyrrell /

o W ok

Kevin W. Lamboth




B . - ILLINOIS WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
NOTICE OF ARBITRATOR DECISION

HUCKELBERRY, EDDIE E Case# 10WC018892

Employee/Petitioner

MONTEREY MUSHROOMS
Employer/Respondent

161WCC0372

On 5/12/2015, an érbitration decision onthis case was filed with the Illinois Workers' Compensation
Commission in Chicago, & copy of which is enclosed.

If the Commission reviews this award, interest of 0.08% shall accrue from the date listed above to the day
before the date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this
award, interest shall not accrue.

A copy of this decision is mailed to the following parties:

0400 DAVID W OLIVERQ
1615 4TH ST
PERU, IL 61354

1120 BRADY CONNOLLY & MASUDA PC
SURABJI SARASWAT

10 S LASALLE ST SUITE €00

CHICAGO, 1L 60602




STATE OF ILLINOIS . ) [ ] mjured Workers® Benefit Fund (34(d))
)SS. [ ] Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF WILL ) [ ] second Ijury Fund (§8(e)18)
' None of the above

ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

ARBITRATION DECISION
EDDIE E HUCKELBERRY o Case # 10 WC 18892
_ Employee/Petitioner .* | ¢ . +F . 2
V. I Setting: New Lenox

poTERn ooy 161WCCO372

An dpplication for Aajmstment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Nofice of Hearing was mailed to each
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Gerald Granada, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of
New Lenox, on April 10, 2015. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes
findings on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.

" DISPUTED ISSUES

D Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Iinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act?

D Was there an employee-employer relationship?

Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?
@ What was the date of the accident?

. Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

. Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the mJury‘?

D What were Petitioner's earnings?

':I What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

|:| What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?

Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?

What temporary benefits are in dispute?
[ 1TPD [] Maintenance TID
L. E[ What is the nature and extent of the injury?
M. D Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?
N. Is Respondent due any credit?
0. Other Has petitioner exceeded his choice of doctors.

HHEQmWCOW >

3

ICArbDec 2/10 100 W. Randolph Street #8-200 Chicago, IL 60601 312/814-6611  Toll-free 8366/352-3033  Web site: www.iwcc.il.gov
Downstate affices: Collinsville 618/346-3450 Peoria 309/671-3019  Rockford 815/987-7292  Springfield 217/785-7084
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FINB'thGS |
On 51 SIQQ, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of A@ I w C C 0 3 7 2

Oﬂrthi’s da?ieg, 511'eﬁlpldjée—ér-npl,{oyél{.r'elfationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.

On this date, Petitioner did not sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.
Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being #s nof causally related to the accident.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $18,538.10; the average weekly wage was $968.05.
On the date of accident, Petitioner was 54 years of age, single with 0 dependent children.

Petitioner has received all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent kas paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $0 for TTD, $0 for TPD, $0 for maintenance, and $0 for other benefits,
for a total credit of $0.

__Respondent is entitled to a credit of $0 under Section 8(j) of the Act.

ORDER
Petitioner has failed to meet his burden of proof on the issue of accident. Therefore, the claim is denied.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this
decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the
decision of the Commission. '

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice

of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however,
if an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

W/M 5M11115

Signature of Arbitrator Date

Eddie Huckelberry v. Moaterey Mushrooms, 10 WC 18892 - ICArbDec p.2 NA‘( 1 2 2315
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FINDINGS OF FACT

Petitioner is alleging an injury arising out of his employment on May 19, 2009. Respondent is disputing the
following issues: 1) accident, 2) notice, 3) causation, 4) medical expenses, 5) TTD, 6) permanency and 7)
whether the Petitioner exceeded his two choices of doctors.

Petitioner began working for the Respondent in 2008 as a truck driver. He would haul sable bedding, straw
waste to be used for compost at the farm. Prior to his employment with Monterey Mushrooms, Petitioner sold
motorcycles for a Harley Davidson shop. He testified that he has treated with chiropractors Dr. Martin and Dr.
Farrell in the past for back pain. He further testified that he was involved in a car accident sometime in the
1970's and injured his low back.

At trial, Petitioner testified that on May 19, 2009, he was driving a truck when the tarp on the trailer came Ioose.
He manually pulled the tarp, losing his balance, spinning around and hitting the middle of his back on the motor
bracket. He testified that his low back hit the electric motor approximately 3 to 6 inches above his belt line.
Petitioner was able to continiie working the remainder of the day The next day, he reported the mc1dent of his
“Spianing around on the tractor o the dispatcher, Lﬁi”s"Delgado T T

Three days after the incident, Petitioner was seen by his regular chiropractor, Dr. Martin. Petitioner testified at
trial that he told Dr. Martin what caused his injury. Dr. Martin’s May 22, 2009 and May 27, 2009 records have
- no history of a trauma, work-related or otherwise, and indicate petitioner simply complained of right low back
tightness and spams during both his visits. (RX 1) Petitioner testified that the chiropractic treatment did not
help but he was still capable of working full duty.

On June 2, 2009, Petitioner reported to Perry Memorial Hospital. (PX 1) Petitioner reported testicular, right
flank and back pain with an onset of two years ago. Petitioner returned to Perry Memorial Hospital on June 5,
2009, June 8, 2009 and June 12, 2009 for groin and back pain. There is no mention of any history of work
injury in records from this provider.

On June 8, 2009, Petitioner saw his primary care physician, Dr. Ascano. (PX 2) Dr.Ascano’s records from that
day, include a history of the Petitioner pulling a tarp on top of a trailer when he started to feel pain in the right
groin. Dr. Ascano prescribed vicodin for the Petitioner’s back pain. On June 11, 2009, Dr. Ascano diagnosed
Petitioner with degenerative disc disease, lumbar radiculopathy and referred Petitioner to Dr. Orteza. On June
12, 2009, Dr. Orteza reviewed Petitioner’s lumbar MRI and noted that the most significant findings that may
correlate to the patient’s symptoms would be the 1.2-3 right lateral protrusion of the intervertebral disc
extending into right intervertebral foramen. (PX 3) He gave Petitioner two epidural injections: on June 12,
2009 at the 1.1-2 level; and June 26, 2009 at the T12-L1 level. Dr. Orteza noted that clinically the pain had
improved even though petitioner continued to complain of his testicles retracting into his groin area with paln
There is no mention of any work injury in Dr. Orteza’s records.

On July 2, 2009, Petitioner saw chiropractor Jeffrey Dickhut, DC. The initial records from this medical

. provider include a history of Petitioner straining his groin area when he had to get on a trailer 5 weeks ago, -
wherein Petitioner’s “right testicle sucked up inside his body.” (PX 5) On August 28, 2009, Dr. Dickhut
provided a work status note indicating that Petitioner had light duty restrictions of no lifting more than 40
pounds from the floor, no pushing or pulling more than 50 pounds and only working 5 hours a day with mobility
every 30 to 40 minutes. Dr. Dickhut related these restrictions to a flare-up of lumbar degenerative disc disease.
On September 24, 2009, B Dickhut released Petitioner back to work without resfrictions. Petitioner was later

o |
g
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given work restrictions by Dr. chkhut on February 11, 2010. Petitioner continued treating with Dr. Dickhut
through September, 2009 for low back and leg pain. However the records from this provider do not mention
any work related accident history. Dr. Dickhut referred petitioner to a neurologist Dr. Carmichael of McLean
County Orthopedics.

On April 21, 2010, Petitioner saw Dr. Carmichael for an evaluation of right back and leg symptoms. (PX 7) Dr.
Carmichael’s records from that date include a history in which the Petitioner reports an onset of symptoms when
he was working in April, 2009. According to the Petitioner’s history, he “was helping to obtain some bedding
material from a race track, when he slipped and twisted his back. Initially, he had swelling in his back and groin-
and there was a question of a hernia, but The symptoms have progressed to involve the back and leg.”

On May 19, 2010, Petitioner was seen by Dr. Leonard Cerullo on referral from Dr. Ascano. (PX 10) He

. reported that a year ago while driving a tractor trailer with stable bedding he lifted a tarp, slipped and fell
backward, striking his low back and developed severe pain in the low back, right lower quadrant, and abdomen.
Over the next days he experienced right leg stiffoess and finally went to the emergency room on June 2, 2009.
_ Dr. Cerullo felt that petitioner had failed conservative treatment and was a surgical candidate.

On May 28, 2010, Petitioner saw Dr. Kim for pain management related to Petitioner’s complaints of low back
pain first noted in May, 2009. Petitioner testified at trial at he was referred to Dr. Kim by Dr. Ascano.
However, Dr. Kim’s initial records indicate a referral referral from Dr. Dixon. Dr. Kim’s records from May 28,
2010 indicate: “This is not a work comp case and patient states he had been going to his PCP for

treatment. .. His chiropractor sent him to see Dr. Cerullo. Dr. Cerullo referred him to Dr. Dixon who
recommended surgery.” Di. Kim ultimately provided Petitioner with epidural steroid injections. Dr. Kim’s
records also include a progress note from Dr. Dixon dated September 23, 2010. In that progress note, Dr. Dixon
notes that the Petitioner relieved his right back and leg pain by “rubbmg” the skin and “releasing” the tightness
of the muscles. Further in that progress note, Dr. Dixon indicates in his assessment that the Petitioner “is
engaging in compulsive behavior that is not consistent with the imaging or EMG findings and that a surgical
intervention is not advisable at this point.”

On October 13, 2010, Petitioner saw Dr. Ta of Midwest Neurology. Dr. Ta’s record from that date include a
history of the Petitioner injuring himself on the job around May, 2009, when he fell off a trailer, hitting his
lower back. Dr. Ta notes Petitioner’s complaints of pain radiating down into his right foot. Dr. Ta’s impression
was spondylitic disease and disc herniation at L5 and S1 with lumbar radiculopathy and intractable back pain.
Dr. Ta prescribed Petitioner Elavil and referred him to Dr. Mazur.

Petitioner was first seen by Dr. Mazur on October 14, 2010 for right sided low back pain with radiation into

right hip, anterior thigh anterior medial lower leg. (PX 17) Dr. Mazur notes in Petitioner’s history that on May -
15, 2009, Petitioner fell backwards into a bracket motor on his trailer while adjusting a tarp, Dr. Mazur
ultimately performed surgery on Petitioner involving a right L5-S1 micro-hemilaminectomy, partial

facetectomy, foraminotomy and microdissection and right L5-S1 discectomy and C-arm fluoroscopy
manipulation on October 20, 2010. Dr. Mazur also placed petitioner off of work as of October 14, 2010 for
approximately 8 weeks.-Dr.-Mazur released petitioner back to work without-restrietions-on December 2, 2010,
Dr. Mazur testified via evidence deposition on August 8, 2015. (PX 17) Dr. Mazur testified that the

Petitioner’s surgery was successful and that he had no work restrictions following the surgery. Dr. Mazur

opined that the Petitioner’s back condition was related to the May 15, 2009 incident when Petitioner fell

AR
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backwards into a bracket motor.

Petitioner testified that he returned to work following the December 2, 2010 release by Dr. Mazur in his
capacity as a truck driver. He also testified that January 2014, he became frustrated again and chose to stop
working. Petitioner indicated that no doctor had placed him off of work and he could not specifically indicate
what functions of his job he was unable to perform. Petitioner testified that he last worked for Respondent on
January 8, 2014 and has not worked anywhere since leaving his employment with Monterey Mushrooms. He
was not seeing any doctor or chiropractor at the time of trial. Petitioner received short term disability benefits
for the time period that he was off of work. Petitioner testified that he is unable to work due to his reflexes and
the muscles on his right side of the body. Petitioner is self-treating with a retired doctor who taught him how to
treat himself with pressure points. He is not cwrrently taking any pain medication and is not working in any
capacity. Throughout his normal day, he testified that he mostly gets frustrated, tries to do what he can but he is
limited in what he can do without providing any specifications as to what activities or hobbies he was unable to
do. - Petitioner testified that he is currently on social security disability.

Terry Johnson testified on behalf of the Respondent. Mr. Johnson testified that he was employed as a

T distiibution manager with Résporidént sifice 20067 He was Petitionier’s supervisor throughout Petitioner’s ™
employment with Respondent. Mzr. Johnson testified that Petitioner did not report any back pain to him between
January of 2011 and January of 2014. Further, Petitioner never reported that he had any difficulty performing
any of his job duties. On cross-examination, Mr. Johnson confirmed that he became aware of Petitioner’s back

pain after Petitioner submitted an incident report to his manager, Mr. Delgato.

Dr. Zelby testified via evidence deposition on January 16, 2013. (RX 3) Dr. Zelby conducted an IME at the
request of Respondent on January 23, 2012. Dr. Zelby opined that he did not believe Petitioner’s back condition
was related to the incident he described from May, 2009. Dr. Zelby supports his opinion with reference to the
initial medical records that indicate Petitioner had similar physical complaints pre-dating the accident date and
that there is no mention of any work accident in the Petitioner’s initial medical histories. Dr. Zelby further
opined that there was no competent reason for the Petitioner to have undergone the surgery performed by Dr.
Mazur.

Dr. Eilers, testified via evidence deposition on November 12, 2012 that he performed an independent medical
evaluation at Petitioner’s request. (PX 18) Dr. Eilers testified that Petitioner had a 1.5-S1 right sided herniated
nucleus, which was either caused or aggravated by the Petitioner’s accident on May 19, 2009. He believed that
the Petitioner’s mnjury on May 19, 2009 involved him twisting his back. He also testified that Petitioner was
limited to sedentary activities and would not be able to climb on rigs, clean out trailers, and climb ladders.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. With regard to the issue of accident, the Arbitrator finds that the Petitioner has failed to meet his burden of

proof. This finding is based primarily on the Petitioner’s lack of credibility. In support of this finding, the

Arbitrator relies on the Petitioner’s testimony and the conflicting histories of the various medical providers. At
___trial —owver 6 years since the alleged accident date - Petitioner was able to clearly describe what transpiredon_

May 19, 2009, when he lost his balance while on a trailer and fell onto the motor, striking his lower back above

his belt line. The history provided by Petitioner at trial is markedly absent from his visit to Dr. Martin for back

treatment on May 22, 2009. The first records from Perry Memorial Hospital on June 2, 2009 also fail to

mention any work accident, despite a rather clear description of Petitioner’s groin pain. There is an even more

graphic description of Petitioner’s groin pain in Dr. Orteza*srecords, but there is no mention of a work injury in
i e
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his June, 2009 records. When Petitioner sees Dr. Dickhut in July, 2009, there is some mention of getting on a
trailer at work 5 weeks ago and there is a painfully vivid description of Petitioner’s retracting groin pain, but
there is no clear description of what happened at work. By the time Petitioner gets to Dr. Carmichael in April,
2010, the history of the accident begins to sound like what the Petitioner described a trial, but it indicates the
accident occurred sometime in April, 2009. To confuse matters more, Dr. Kim indicates in his May, 2010
records that “this is not a work comp case.” Petitioner’s own surgeon, Dr. Mazur testified that he relates
Petitioner’s condition to what appears to be 2 traumatic incident occurring on May 15, 2009, as compared to the
Petitioner’s IME, Dr. Eilers who relates everything to a twisting accident on May 19, 2009. While the
Arbitrator acknowledges that the purpose of a hearing is not to test a witness’ memory, the inconsistencies in the
medical evidence alone are too great to ignore. As such, the Arbitrator finds persuasive the opinions of Dr.
Zelby, who appears to have a complete picture of the Petitioner’s inconsistent medical history throughout this
case. Given the inconsistencies in the medical evidence and Petitioner’s testimony, the Arbitrator concludes
that the Petitioner failed to prove that he sustained an accident on May 19, 2009,

2. Based on the Arbitrator’s findings with regard to the issue of accident, all other issues are rendered moot.
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) Affirm and adopt (no changes)
) SS. I___l Affirm with changes
COUNTY OF COOK ) [ ] Reverse

[ ] Modify

|| mijured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4¢d))
[ Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(2))

[ ] Second Tnjury Fund (§8(e)18)

[ ] PTD/Fatal denied

None of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Aaron Collier,

Petitioner, 16IWCCO37Y 3

V8. NO: 14WC454

United Parcel Service,

Respondent.

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review under §19(b) having been filed by the Respondent herein
and notice given to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of accident, medical
expenses, temporary disability and being advised of the facts and law, affirms and adopts the
Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and made a part hereof. The Commission
further remands this case to the Arbitrator for further proceedings for a determination of a further
amount of temporary total compensation or of compensation for permanent disability, if any,
pursuant to Thomas v. Industrial Commission, 78 I11.2d 327, 399 N.E.2d 1322, 35 Ill.Dec. 794

(1980). -

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the

Arbitrator filed June 25, 2015, is hereby affirmed and adopted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that this case be remanded to the
Arbitrator for further proceedings consistent with this Decision, but only after the latter of
expiration of the time for filing a written request for Summons to the Circuit Court has expired
without the filing of such a written request, or after the time of completion of any judicial

proceedings, if such a written request has been filed.
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under §19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.

Bond for the removal of this cause to the Circuit Court by Respondent is hereby fixed at

the sum of $20,200.00. The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court
shall file with the Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit Court.

DATED:  JUN 6. - Zmﬁ Zw" 4 m—

05/25/16 R}B-l W. White /
RWW/rm : d

046
Charles J. DeVriendt

shua D. Luskin



nglelwccosvs

COLLIER, AARON Case# 14WC000454

Employee/Petitioner

UNITED PARCEL SERV[CE
Employer/Respondent

On 6/25/2015, an arbitration decision on this case was filed with the Illinois Workers' Compensation Commission in
Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed.

If the Commission reviews this award, interest of 0.08% shall accrue from the date listed above to the day before the
date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall
not accrue.

.. A copy.of this decision is.mailed to the. followmgpartles,m S S

1747 SEIDMAN MARGULIS & FAIRMAN LLP
RYAN A MARGULIS

20 S CLARK ST SUITE 700

CHICAGO, IL 60803

2461 NYHAN BAMBRICK KINZIE & LOWRY
FRANKLIN B SMITH

20 N CLARK ST SUITE 1000

CHICAGO, IL 80602
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STATE OF ILLINOIS D Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))

I:l Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF Cook ) |:| Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
S o o , K‘ None of the above

ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

ARBITRATION DECISION
19(b)
Aaron Collier Case # 14 WC 00454
Employee/Petitioner
v. . Consolidated cases: N/A
United Parcel Service
Employer/Respondent

An Application for Adjusiment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to cach
—party-—The matter-was-heard by the-Honorable-Edward-Lee;-Arbitrator-of the: Commission; in- the-city-of = -~
Chicago, on 5/02/2015. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes findings
on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.,

DISPUTED ISSUES

A. D Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Illinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act? -

B. D Was there an employee-employer relationship?

C. [E Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?
D. ‘What was the date of the accident?

E. D Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

F. Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?
G. D What were Petitioner's earnings? .

H. D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

L D What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?

J. ] Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?

K. Is Petitioner entitled to any prospective medical care?

L. @ What temporary benefits are in dispute?
[]TPD [] Maintenance TTD

M. |:| Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?
N. D Is Respondent due any credit?
0. [ 1 Other

ICArbDeci9b) 2/10 100 W. Randoiph Street #8-200 Chicago, IL 60601 312/814-6611  Toll-free 866/352-3033  Web site: www.iwce.il.gov
Downstate offices: Collinsville 618/346-3450  Peoria 309/671-3019  Rockford 815/987-7292  Springfield 217/785-7084



FINDINGS

0 3 7 2}
On the date of accident, 10!211201 3, Respondent was operating under and subj ectrto the provisions of the Act.
On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.
-~ -On this date, Petitioner did sustain-an-aceident that arose-out-of and in the course-ofemployment—————- -—— - ——
Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.
Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is causally related to the accident.
In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $13,939.64; the average weekly wage was $268.07.
On the date of accident, Petitioner was 35 years of age, single with 1 dependent children.
Issue of medical bills was reserved by agreement for this 19(b) hearing.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $0.00 for TTD, $0.00 for TPD, $0.00 for maintenance, and $0.00 for
other benefits, for a total credit of $0.00.

Respondent is entitled to a credit of § under Section 8(j) of the Act.

ORDER

Respondent shall pay Petitioner temporary total disability benefits of $253.00 (statutory minimum)/week for
79-21T weeks, commencing 10/24/2013 through 5/01/2015, as provided in Section 8(b) of the Act.

Respondent shall authorize and pay for the left shoulder diagnostic arthroscopy pursuant to the Medical Fee
Schedule as such treatment is reasonable, necessary and causally related to the subject accident as provided in
Section 8(a) of the Act.

In no instance shall this award be a bar to subsequent hearing and determination of an additional amount of
medical benefits or compensation for a temporary or permanent disability, if any.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this
decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the
decision of the Commission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice

of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however,
if an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

é»/( C)LS\ Q_W/JS‘

Signature of Arbitrator Date

ICArbDect9(b)

JUN2 52015
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Findings of Fact E@I E%i@ @ @ 3 i‘? 8 -

The Peti';it;iler; Aaron Cr_(r)llier, had been employed by trfAlegRésrprc:n‘dént,' United P;':lrcél
Service, as a package handler since approximately May 2008 or May 2009. The Petitioner
testified that his shifts were typically 10:00 p.m. until 3:00 a.m., and consisted of one 10-111inuteb
break. The job duties entailed frequent lifting up to 10 pounds, occasional lifting up to 70
pounds, carrying frequently up to 10 pounds, occasionally up to 70 pounds , and pushing/pulling
frequently up to 50 pounds, occasionally 100 pounds or more. When unloading packages, he

————would-do-so-at the-rate-0f-700-to-1300-packages: per hour; and-500to-1200-packages per hour—-- -
when loading a truck. This information was corroborated by the job description provided to
Respondent’s Section 12 examiner (R x 1).

The Petitioner testified that he injured his ribs on August 21, 2013 when walking into a
pole. He further injured himself on September 23, 2013, when he fell, sustaining injuries to his
back. These incidents were noted in the medical records from St. James Hospital — Chicago
Heights (R x 5). The Petitioner testified that neither incident involved his left shoulder, and that
prior to the subject occurrence, the Petitioner had never had any injuries or medical {reatment to
his left shoulder.

The Petitioner testified that he presented to work on October 21, 2013 and worked his
normal shift until 3:00 a.m. on October 22, 2013. Thereafter, he immediately went home to
sleep, and left his house to take a bus at approximately 10:00 a.m. that would arrive in time for
school which started at 12:00 p.m. The Petitioner was a computer science major at Chicago
State University. His class would end at approximately 2:00 p.m., and then he would take the

bus and arrive home around 4:00 p.m.



10-15 pounds. When putting the back pack on, he would first siide his right arm through and

then his left arm. After arriving home, he took off his backpack and felt pain in his left shoulder

The Petitioner testified that he Wotﬁ‘d'have a backpack with him weighing approxmlatelym"’ -

when removing his jacket. This was the first time the Petitioner felt pain in his left shoulder. He
testified that he did not perform any activities after leaving work at 3:00 a.m. on October 22,
2013 other than sleeping and going to class.

The Respondent presented the testimony of three of its employees ~ Joseph Olséwka,
Sylverster Selvie, Jr. and Judith Knabe. Other than Ms. Knabe testifying that the Petitioner told

her his backpack was heavy, all three of Respondent’s witnesses reiterated in various fashion the

1dentlcal testimony that Petmoner relayed Namely, the Petmoner d1d h.lS normal repetltwe
heavy duty job from 10:00 p.m. on October 21, 2013 through 3:00 a.m. on October 22, 2013, and
did not feel pain in his shoulder until returning home from school.

The testimony of the Petitioner and Mr. Olsowka further corroborated on the Petitioner
not presenting to work for his shift that started the evenings of October 22, 2013 and October 23,
2013. When presenting to work on the evening of October 24, 2013, the Petitioner presented the
doctor’s note concerning his left shoulder and inability to work.

The medical records reveal that the Petitioner first presented to the Emergency
Department at St. James Hospital — Chicago Heights on October 24, 2013 (P x 7, R x 5). The
history was that of intermittent sharp pains in the left shoulder for the prior 48 hours. It was
noted that the Petitioner does a great deal of lifting at work and “may have fallen”. When asked
about this entry, the Petitioner testified that he told the doctors about the prior incident involving
injuring his back when he fell, but did not tell the doctor about falling and injuring his left

shoulder.



v'fﬁnreafter the Petitioner sought treatment on the same (TI'“'Ei""f= of October 24,2013 with Dr.
R.R. Veerapeneni, his primary care physician (P x 1). Dr. Veerapeneni notes a consistent history
of accident with pain in the left shoulder with stiffness starting on October 22, 2013, ftwas._
noted that the Petitioner had been lifting heavy boxes at work on October 21, 2013. A cortisone
injection was given. After a few follow-up visits and a suspected bursitis, Dr. Veerapeneni
referred the Petitioner to Dr. Venkat Seshadri, an orthopedic specialist.

Dr. Seshadri evaluated the Petitioner on December 10, 2013 noting that the left shoulder
“just started to hurt™. In a later visit, Dr. Seshadri elaborated by stating that the Petitioner injured

his shoulder at work in October 2013. He underwent a second cortisone injection and continued

therapy (P x 2) MRI evaluatron of November 0, 2013 revealed a normal rotator cuff w1th mrld

subacromial/subdeltoid bursitis (P x 5).

The Petitioner testified that due to the lack of payment, he had to seek out a second
choice of doctor, choosing Dr. Yazen Joudeh. He first saw Dr. Joudeh on April 22, 2014 (P x 3).
Dr. Joudeh’s records indicated that he referred the Petitioner to orthopedics and for physical
therapy (P x 3). The Petitioner testified that the referral was to Associated Medical Centers of
Mlinois (AMCI) where he began another course of physicai therapy along with the prescription of
non-steroidal anti-inflammatory medications (P x 4).

After seeing Dr. Hooton and Dr. Foreman at AMCI, he was referred to that provider’s
orthopedic specialist, Dr. Thomas Bilko. After the Petitioner failed to improve with physical
therapy, Dr. Bilko prescribed a left shoulder diagnostic arthroscopy. That prescription was
reiterated through the most recent visit of December 12, 2014 wherein the physical therapy was
terminated due to a lack of progress. Dr. Bilko continued the “off work™ prescription until such

time that the diagnostic arthroscopy could be performed (P x 4).
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“=The Petitioner testified to having continued pain in the f"?ﬁ shoulder w1ﬂ1 actmty
takes pain medications and anti-inflammatory medications twice per day, As of the date of the

- 19(b) hearing, the Petitioner was awaiting authorization of the diagnostic arthroscopy as physical

therapy, medications and cortisone injections failed to relieve his symptoms.

At the request of the Respondent, the Petitioner was seen for a Section 12 examination by
Dr. Nikhil Verma on October 6, 2014 (R x 1). Dr. Verma opined that the Petitioner suffered
from left shoulder impingement with subacromial bursitis, and further opined that condition was
causally related to the work activities based on the nature of the work performed and review of

the Petitioner’s job description. He further agreed with the recommended surgery (R X 1)

In an addendum letter of November 5 2014 Dr Verma changed hlS opinions on
causation, but not his opinions on diagnosis and recommendation for surgery (R x 2). The basis
for the changes was Dr. Verma documenting that the Petitioner did not work on October 22,
2013 and a history of onset of pain coming from the removal of a book bag (R x 2).

Conclusions of Law

IN SUPPORT OF THE ARBITRATOR’S DECISION ON ISSUES (C), (D) & (F),
WHETHER AN ACCIDENT OCCURRED THAT AROSE OUT OF AND IN THE
COURSE OF PETITIONER’S EMPLOYMENT BY RESPONDENT, THE DATE OF
ACCIDENT AND WHETHER PETITIONER’S CONDITION OF ILL-BEING IS
CAUSALLY RELATED TO THE ACCIDENT, THE ARBITRATOR FINDS THE
FOLLOWING:

The Petitioner and all Respondent’s witnesses agree to the repetitive heavy physical
nature of the Petitioner’s occupation as a package handler. This was reiterated in the job
description contained within Respondent’s Section 12 examiner’s report. There is no question
that the Petitioner’s job activities expose him to a risk greater than that of the general public.

There is also no dispute that the Petitioner performed these activities beginning at 10:00 p.m. on

October 21, 2013 through 3:00 a.m. on October 22, 2013. There is further no dispute that the



Petitioner did not perform éﬁﬁiﬁsical activity from the time he left work until the onset of

symptoms other than putting a backpack on his shoulders to go to class and putting on and taking

—off'ajacket. Further, all evidence corroborates that the Petitioner did not first experience — - -

symptoms until removing his jacket and/or book bag at approximately 4:00 p.m. on October 22,
2013.

In this case, the issues of accident and causal connection are intertwined and based on the
medical records and testimony. As the Petitioner did not have the requisite medical foundation
to render an opinion on causation, the Arbitrator is not persuaded by the allegations that the
Petitioner did not believe the injuries were work-related.

The Petitioner’s tre-e;ing oftﬁopc;dic sllrgeoxil,wlSr.rBﬂk;, prov1ded test;mony onthls i-sé;lle
(P x 6). Dr. Bilko testified that the work described is the type of repetitive activity that would
either cause a tear of the labrum or rotator cuff, the suspected pathology (P x 6, p.17). When
asked about whether the delay in symptoms changed his opinions, Dr. Bilko explained that it did
not. He elaborated by testifying that it is not uncommon for patients to have an injury, and if
they remain active, the ligaments, tendons, muscles and cartilage stay relatively warm and do not
bother the patients (P x 6, p.18). After a period of inactivity when the tissues cool and stiffen,
the patients then notice the pain when they start activity again (P x 6, p.18).

The chronology presented in this case is consistent with that which Dr. Bilko described.
NameLly, the Petitioner ﬁnishéd his heavy repetitive work and then went home to sleep, thus the
period of inactivity. He then took a bus to class and sat in class. However, when he reached his
arm overhead upon returning home to remove the bag and jacket, he felt pain in his left shoulder.

In concluding that the Petitioner sustained accidental injuries on October 21, 2013, the

start of the Petitioner’s last shift before the symptoms, the Arbitrator is persuaded by the credible



__Innocuous taking on and off of a jacket and/or backpack.

the Petitioner’s work activity is the more likely cause of his symptoms as opposed to the

In reaching this conclusion, the Arbitrator is not persuaded by the addendum report
authored by Dr. Verma which reversed his previous opinions. Namely, the facts by which Dr.
Verma relies upon in his second report are inaccurate. Dr. Verma notes that the Petitioner did
not work on October 22, 2013. However, all witnesses agree that the Petitioner continued
working until 3:00 a.m. on October 22, 2013.

Further, Dr. Verma testified that the Petitioner carried a backpack for a “full day” On
the contrary, the Petmoner had a backipgcg vﬁth ét;;:lps over both shoulders fo; a perlod of time
while waiting for the bus, walking from the bus to class and back from class to the bus. It is
presumed that the Petitioner did not have his backpack on during the four hours he spent on the
bus nor the two hours he was in class. Therefore, contrary to Dr. Verma’s assertions, the
Petitioner actually spent most of the day after leaving work without his backpack on his
shoulders.

Lastly, Dr. Verma states that there is a “significant discrepancy” in the history of injury
he was originally provided versus what he was provided for his addendum report. This is also
incorrect, At no point in the history section of Dr. Verma’s October 6, 2014 report does it state
that the Petitioner experienced pain while working. The Petitioner, as he has consistently relayed
to all practitioners, told Dr. Verma that the onset of pain was on October 22, 2013. Dr. Verma
also reviewed the records of AMCI from July 2, 2014, Those records clearly document that the

Petitioner performed repetitive loading of boxes throughout his shift and then felt pain in his left

shoulder the “next day” which worsened over the next two days. Accordingly, Dr, Verma had



:%

the accurate hlstmy all along and apparently only cﬁg ged his opinions after further

communication from Respondent.

The. Arbitrator finds it reasonable that the heavy repetitive nature_of the Petitioner’s work -. -

activities caused the underlying pathology and resultant symptoms. Dr. Bilko’s description of
why the sympton‘as did not present themselves until after a period of inactivity (ie. sleep) and
upon later use is certainly reasonable. Based on the foregoing, the Arbitrator finds that the
Petitioner sustained injuries on October 21, 2013 which arose out of and occurred in the course
of his employment by the Respondent.

IN SUPPORT OF THE ARBITRATOR’S DECISION ON ISSUE (K), VVHETHER
PETITIONER IS ENTITLED TO PROSPECTIVE MEDICAL CARE, THE
ARBITRATOR FINDS THE FOLLOWING:

Both Dr. Bilko and Dr. Verma agree that the Petitioner is in need of a diagnostic
arthroscopy after having failed physical therapy, cortisone injections and anti-inflammatory
medications. The only dispute was as to liability. Based on the Arbitrator’s findings pertaining
to accident and causation, the Arbitrator orders the Respondent to authorize and pay for the
prescribed left shoulder diagnostic arthroscopy as such treatment is reasonable, necessary and

causally related to the subject accident.

IN SGPPORT OF THE ARBITRATOR’S DECISION ON ISSUE (L), THE PERIOD OF
TEMPORARY TOTAL DISABILITY BENEFITS, THE ARBITRATOR FINDS THE
FOLLOWING:

The Petitioner claims a period of temporary total disability from October 24, 2013
through the day of the 19(b) hearing, May 1, 2013, a period spanning 79-2/7 weeks. This period

of disability was corroborated by the medical records and Petitioner’s testimony wherein he was



authorized off of work completely or pﬁﬁlded work restrictions pending additional medical cale
that Respondent was unable to accommodate. The Respondent did not dispute this fact. The

___only dispute as to temporary total disability benefits was as it relates to accident and causation.

Based on the Arbitrator’s foregoing findings on accident and causation, the Arbitrator finds that
the Petitioner was temporarily and totally disabled from October 24, 2013, the date of his first

medical care, through May 1, 2015, the date of the 19(b) hearing.
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STATE OF ILLINOIS

COUNTY OF COOK

)

) SS.

)

I:‘ Affirm and adopt (no changes)
D Affirm with changes
Reverse | Causal connection|

D Modify:

| ] injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
D Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))

[ ] second Ijury Fund (§8(e)18)
PTD/Fatal denied

|:| Mone of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

MARY ANNE HIGGINS,

Petitioner,

V8.

16IWCC0374

NO: 11 WC 31456

MATTESON ELEMNTARY SCHOOL DISTRICT 159,

Respondent.

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by the Petitioner herein and notice given to
all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of causal connection, temporary total
disability, medical expenses both current and prospective, and the nature and extent of
Petitioner’s permanent disability, and being advised of the facts and law, reverses the Decision of
the Arbitrator, finds that Petitioner did sustain her burden of proving the work accident caused
her current condition of ill being of both her left knee and lumbar spine, and awards benefits

accordingly.

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law

1. Petitioner testified on February 16, 2011 she worked for Respondent as a special
education resource teacher and had additional responsibilities. On that date she slipped
on ice in the parking lot, fell and hurt her left knee. She tried to get up and slipped a
second time and fell on her tailbone. She was taken to an emergency department by
ambulance where x-rays of her knee and back were taken and medication prescribed.
She was not admitted and sent home. Prior to that date she had no injuries to her back or
knees. The parties stipulated that Petitioner sustained a compensable accident.
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Petitioner went to her general practitioner at Well Partners Group and was referred to
specialists. She saw Dr. Mehl for her knee as soon as she was able. He performed
surgery on her knee on August 12, 2011. He then administered several injections. She
then began treating with Dr. Hurley for her back. He performed fusion surgery in
October of 2012. The surgery did not resolve her back pain. He performed a second
back surgery in May 2014.

Petitioner testified that she went to the only Section 12 medical examination Respondent
requested. She saw Dr. Suchy for a total of about 15 minutes. He checked her knee but
not her back. Respondent did not send her to any examination for her back.

Petitioner returned to work for three months beginning on August 18, 2013. She was
again taken off work on November 16, 2013 and remained off work since because of her
work injury.

Petitioner testified she continues to experience knee and back pain and has since the
accident. She currently has 8/10 pain every day; “it’s excruciating.” She goes to the
grocery store when she needs to and has to lean on the cart when she does. She has to
constantly change her position from sitting, standing, and lying down. She can only do
other things when on pain medication. Prior to the injury she danced and socialized. She
can no longer engage in such activities, but wished she could. Her doctors have indicated
she needed prospective treatment for both her knee and back. Dr. Mehl indicated
eventually she will need a knee arthoplasty and Dr. Hurley suggested a pain clinic.

On cross examination, Petitioner testified she began working for Respondent in August
of 1995. She fell once at work on a field trip and injured her wrist. She filled out an
accident report. She also slipped on ice on a previous occasion and filled out a report, but
did not sustain any injuries.

After the instant accident, Petitioner continued to work through the school year because
she “had no idea™ what she “had done.” She was in physical therapy at the time. She
testified she continues to treat with Dr. Mehl for her knee, but there are no scheduled
appointments and he released her to full duty regarding her knee. Her current restrictions
only relate to her back.

Petitioner stated that she does have a future scheduled appointment with Dr. Hurley. She
is unable to work because it involves walking between classrooms, bending over to teach

children at their desks, and it would not be appropriate to take pain medication while at
school.

Petitioner also testified she did not recall having any previous cervical issues. She did
not remember treating at Well Group Partners for low back pain in September of 2006 or
that at that time she reported low back pain for nine months. Petitioner was referring to
her back when she testified to 8/10 pain. She currently had about 6/10 knee pain. Dr.
Meht has not scheduled knee replacement because he would not bill her group insurance.
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Petitioner stated she uses a cane because of both her knee and back. Besides restricting
Petitioner from work activities, Dr. Hurley has restricted Petitioner from babysitting her
grandson. Petitioner has not had a functional capacity evaluation. No treating doctor has
indicated she could return to work in any job. She has not conducted any job search.
Petitioner worked as a teacher since 1970.

On redirect examination, Petitioner testified she never missed any time from work for any
previous injuries to her neck, low back, or knee.

The medical records include treatment notes from prior to the instant injury. On
December 10, 2004, Petitioner complained of neck and back pain, which was
characterized as musculoskeletal. She was referred to physical therapy. On September 7,
2006, Petitioner presented for normal follow for thyroid condition and complained of
recurrent left-sided low back pain which radiated down the left leg for nine months. The
diagnosis was recurrent sciatica in the left leg. On July 25, 2007, a cervical x-ray showed
spondylitic changes at multiple levels and bilateral foraminal stenosis at C3-4. On
August 7, 2007, a cervical MRI showed a broad-based left paracentral disc protrusion at
C6-7 causing mild central canal stenosis and mild degenerative disc disease with
posterior osteophytes and multiple levels causing mild central canal stenosis at C7-T1,
On December 21, 2009, Dr. Hurley recommended cervical spine surgery at C5-6 and C6-
7, but apparently no cervical surgery was performed.

Regarding the instant injury, on February 16, 2011 Petitioner appeared at an emergency
department by ambulance complaining of left knee and back pain after failing on ice.
She was able to walk after the event. X-rays were ordered. X-rays of the knee appeared
normal except for degenerative changes in the patellofemoral joint with no effusion.

Similarly, x-rays of the lumbar spine appeared normal except for multilevel degenerative
disc disease from 1.4-S1.

On March 23, 2011, Petitioner presented to Dr. Mehl on referral from her general
practitioner for evaluation of her left knee. She continued to have pain and problems
since she fell at work on February 16, 2011. After examination, Dr. Mehl diagnosed mild
degenerative joint disease with acute work related injury with probable medial meniscus
tear. Dr. Mehl ordered an MRI and allowed Petitioner to continue working with a brace.

After six physical therapy sessions Petitioner complained of increased pain with
weightbearing. At rest she got some relief and has only 3/10 pain. The therapist noted
that Petitioner was progressing well but further testing may be appropriate to rule out
meniscus involvement. Dr. Mehl ordered an MRI.

On June 20, 2011, Dr. Mehl noted that an MRI showed a high grade chondromalacia of
the patellofemoral joint but showed no meniscal tears. On August 12, 2011, Dr. Mehl
performed left knee arthroscopy, partial medical meniscectomy, and diffuse

chondroplasty for persistent left knee chondromalacia and pain with medical meniscus
tear.

. “‘i’
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On September 12, 2011, Dr. Mehl noted that ;'tltloner reportg llmltgrecovery after
surgery where a lot of chondroplasty was performed. She also had a work injury to her
back, which in combination with her knee injury made it impossible for her to continue
working as a teacher. About two months later, Dr. Mehl administered a cortisone
injection for persistent pain.

On December 12, 2011, Dr. Mehl indicated that the cortisone injection “helped a lot™ but
she still had some popping and cracking. She was off work as a teacher due to her back.
He declared her at maximum medical improvement after the arthroscopy, refilled

Vicodin, and released her to work as a teacher with regard to the knee injury and from
{reatment.

On January 30, 2012, Petitioner returned to Dr. Mehl and he administered a Synvisc
injection. Two months later, Dr. Mehl noted the Synvisc injection provided 60% relief.
He also indicated the surgery in which she had “grade I1I and grade IV chondromalacia in
the patellofernoral joint a significant amount of which was post-traumatic in nature.” He
thought she would need additional injection treatment in the future.

On December 31, 2012, Dr. Mehl indicated Petitioner was due for another Synvisc
injection in August, but it was denied. Petitioner reported constant pain which was
currently 4/10 with burning and feeling of giving out. Dr. Mehl diagnosed “status post
left knee arthroscopy — work injury” and “work related severe posttraumatic
chondromalacia pain.” He administered another Synvisc injection and then another on
July 17, 2013, under Petitioner’s group health insurance.

On February 26, 2014, Dr. Mehl noted that Pefitioner continued to have further
degeneration of her cartilage as a result of her work injury. She also had five degree
varus deformity and crepitus. The previous injection provided relief for two to three
months. Dr. Mehl opined that Petitioner would most likely need a knee replacement, He
attributed that need to an exacerbation of her preexisting condition by her traumatic work

injury. He administered another Synvisc injection and administered another on August
29, 2014.

Regarding Petitioner’s back condition, she presented to Dr. Hurley on April 21, 2011 for
evaluation of low and mid back pain after she slipped on ice and fell in February 2011,
The pain had been gradually worsening. He prescribed Hydrocodone and an MRI. The
MRI showed diffuse disc bulge at L1-2 with superimposed spinal cord stenosis, grade I
spondylolisthesis at L4-5 combining with facet arthropathy and ligamentum flavum
thickening causing some spinal cord stenosis, and narrowing of the neural foramen and
lateral recesses bilaterally with encroachment on the exiting 1.4 nerve root.

In June of 2012, two [umbar epidural steroid injections were administered.

A CT taken on August 26, 2011 was compared to the April 2011 MRI. It showed overall
stability with grade I spondylolisthesis secondary to facet degeneration and mild stenosis.
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On October 11, 2012, Dr. Hurley noted that Petitioner had suffered a fall on ice in
February of 2011 which aggravated her preexisting degenerative disc disease. An MRI
showed degenerative disc disease at L4-5 and L5-S1 with grade I spondylotic changes
with neuroforaminal stenosis. Petitioner failed conservative treatment and presented for
surgery. Dr. Hurley performed L4-5 posterior interbody fusion with instrumentation and
autograft and bilateral [.4-5 screw fixation and bone arthrodesis.

Petitioner did not progress well after surgery, On August 9, 2013, she reported to Dr.
Hurley that she fell the previous day when her knee buckled and was complaining of low
back pain radiating into her legs bilaterally. Dr. Hurley noted that she appeared “very

uncomfortable.” He did not think she could return to work due to persistent back and
knee issues.

On October 9, 2013, Petitioner returned to Dr. Hurley and indicated she was told to return
to work by her lawyer after a Section 12 examination, However, she had to call off work
because her low back pain got worse. She now also complained of pain in the right leg as

well as left leg pain. Dr. Hurley did not agree with her returning to work and indicated
she needed a new MRI.

On December 30, 2013, Petitioner reported her condition worsened when she had
returned to work. Dr. Hurley indicated the MRI showed new 1.3-4 lateral recess stenosis
and what he thought was slightly worse stenosis at L5-S1, though the radiologist
interpreted the MRI to be similar to the previous study. Dr. Hurley believed Petitioner
fulfilled the criteria for failed back surgery syndrome, but he did not believe additional
surgery would likely alleviate the problem. Her worsening condition might all be due to

her being forced to return to work for three months. They discussed going back to the
pain clinic.

On March 28, 2014, Dr. Hurley noted Petitioner was still not doing well. Her right leg
pain was now actually worse than her chronic left leg pain. She went to another pain
clinic and was taking Lyrica, which was not effective and stopped the previous day.
They were considering a trial of injections. Petitioner also informed him that she was
“told that due to her fall her knee has deteriorated” and she will need a knee replacement.
Dr. Hurley concerned that her new right leg pain likely showed L5 nerve involvement.
He recommended surgery and Petitioner agreed.

On May 12, 2014, Dr. Hurley performed L3-4 posterior interbody fusion with
instrumentation and autograft, 15-S1 laminectomy and complete facetectomy and
foraminotomy, and bilateral 13-4 screw fixation and bone arthrodesis for adjacent
degeneration L3-4 and L5-S1 with L3-4 herniated disc, facet arthropathy, spinal stenosis,
and L5-S1 facet arthropathy and neural foraminal stenosis.

On June 27, 2014, Dr. Hurley noted that Petitioner was doing better with reduced back
and right leg pain. However, the left leg pain persisted. X-rays showed good alignment
and fusion. Dr. Hurley thought she could start physical therapy.
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On September 25, 2014, Petitioner returned to Dr. Hurley and reported that she still had
low back and left leg pain. She had not made much progress in physical therapy. Dr.
Hurley was disappointed that the surgery did not help Petitioner’s left leg pain. They
again discussed going to a pain clinic. He noted that the FDA had changed the rules
about prescribing Norco and she would have to pick up written prescriptions. He
encouraged her to “use it less and less.”

Dr. Suchy was deposed by Respondent on June 25, 2013. He testified he is a board
certified orthopedic surgeon and independent medical examiner. He examined Petitioner
on May 27, 2011 and reviewed medical records at Respondent’s request. That was the
only time he examined her. On his examination he noted no atrophy or effusion in her
leg. His examination of her back appears to have been normal except for pain with
hyperextension and subjective complaints of pain generally.

An MRI of the knee showed high-grade chondromalacia of the patellofemoral joint with
mild to moderate arthritic changes. An MRI of the lumbar spine showed diffuse disc
bulging at multiple levels with spinal stenosis and spondylolisthesis of L4 on L5 with
facet arthroplasty but no acute abnormality.

Dr. Suchy diagnosed left knee contusion with exacerbation of pre-existing
chondromalacia patella, and lumbar strain with exacerbation of pre-existing degenerative
disc disease and spondylolisthesis. Dr. Suchy concluded the chondromalacia was pre-
existing because the knee MRI showed an advanced condition and there was no effusion.
Similarly the lumbar MRI showed a long-standing degenerative process of the facet joints

and bulging discs and spondylolisthesis would be acute only from a severe trauma.

In his Section 12 medical examination report, Dr. Suchy recommended arthroscopic
evaluation of the knee with chondroplasty of the patella. She should be able to return to

work as a special education teacher in two to three weeks and would be at maximum .

medical improvement in three to four months. He only recommended six to eight weeks
of physical therapy for Petitioner’s lumbar condition at which time she should have
returned to her pre-exacerbation condition. He did not believe that back surgery was
indicated at that time because he found no neurological deficits. If surgery was
eventually needed it would not be the result of her February 16, 2011 injury.

Dr. Suchy testified that subsequent to his initial report, he received additional medical
records and on November 5, 2011 he reached the conclusion that Petitioner had reached
maximum medical improvement with regard to the February 16, 2011 aggravation of the

pre-existing condition of her back. At that time he offered no opinion regarding
Petitioner’s knee condition.

On cross examination, Dr. Suchy testified he found no atrophy in Petitioner’s left leg. He
reiterated that he initially found a causal relationship between the work accident and an
exacerbation of Petitioner’s pre-existing knee and lumbar conditions. A simple slip and
fall on buttocks can aggravate anterolisthesis but cannot cause it. He had no
documentation indicating that the condition was present prior to the accident.



IL ¥¥Y\or L= 0

Page 7

39.

40.

41.

42

43,

44,

45

46.

16IWCC0374

On redirect, Dr. Suchy testified that after reviewing Dr. Hurley’s records, his opinion did
not change that any need for fusion surgery was caused by the natural progression of
Petitioner’s degenerative disc disease and not the February 16, 2011 injury.

Dr. Hurley was deposed by Petitioner on November 1, 2013. He testified that he is board
certified in neurological surgery. He first saw Petitioner on October 9, 2007 when he saw
her for a cervical herniated disc for which he treated conservatively. He last saw
Petitioner regarding her cervical spine in December of 2009. At that time she had never
complained of low back pain.

Dr. Hurley saw Petitioner again on April 21, 2011, at which time she reported slipping
and falling on ice in February and had back and left knee pain since. He ordered an MRI
for her back. It showed several degenerated discs and evidence of grade I

spondylolisthesis at 1.4-5 with moderate neuroforaminal stenosis. That condition is a
common cause for low back pain.

. Dr. Hurley opined that “certainly with her history” “the fall somehow caused the onset of

back pain.” He disagreed with the opinion of Dr. Suchy that the only way such a
condition could be aggravated was from a fall from about 20°. He thought Dr. Suchy
might have been referring to traumatic spondylolisthesis from a fracture. Low impact
injuries can aggravate spondylolisthesis from facet disease.

Dr. Hurley also testified that he agreed that about 85% of back pain is related to muscle - *
injury. However, he disagreed with the assessment of Dr. Suchy that Petitioner’s
condition was temporary in nature because her symptoms lasted longer than a simple
exacerbation and “more importantly, she had a structural issue to her spine.”

Initially, Dr. Hurley prescribed physical therapy and epidural steroid injections.

However, that treatment did not help and Petitioner continued to have back pain radiating - -

into her buttocks and legs. Therefore, he performed L4-5 interbody fusion surgery. He
kept her off work from September of 2011 “until very recently when she was required to
return to work.”

. Dr. Hurley had her off work exclusively due to her back injury. He opined that Petitioner
was off work from September 2011 to the beginning of the 2013 school year “because of . .

her persistent and chronic pain” caused by her February 16, 2011 injury. Petitioner was
not at maximum medical improvement. He normally follows up with fusion patients for
two years to ensure that the bone graph was in proper place and solidifies. Because she
still had pain a year past surgery he anticipated referral to a pain specialist.

On cross examination, Dr. Hurley testified the first time Petitioner complained to him

about low back pain was on April 21, 2011. He did not see any records of her treating .

with another doctor for her back but he thought she had a general practitioner. He agreed
that Petitioner’s spondylolisthesis existed prior to her accident but the accident
aggravated the condition.
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Dr. Hurley also testified that Petitioner reported no previous back pain prior to the
accident. Dr. Hurley did not formally take Petitioner off work until September of 2011
because that was when she asked him. He was under the impression that she was off
work due to her knee condition. The CT was taken on August 26, 2011 to rule out a
fracture. It showed the spondylolisthesis but did not show acute changes. He agreed that
spondylolisthesis changes occur over time.

Dr. Mehl was deposed by Petitioner on June 2, 2014. He testified he is board certified in
orthopedic surgery. He practices general orthopedics and does “a ot of surgery on knees,
hips and shoulders.” He does minor surgery on extremities but does not treat the spine.

Dr. Mehl first saw Petitioner on March 23, 2011. X-rays taken on the date of the accident
showed only mild degenerative changes. She continued to work but continued to have
knee pain. On examination, Dr. Mehl found reduced range of motion, tenderness, and
crepitus. She had a positive “McMurray’s stressing the medical meniscus, but no knee
instability.” Petitioner did not indicate she had any problem with her left knee prior to
her accident. He diagnosed pre-existing mild degenerative joint disease and a medial
meniscus tear from the fall at work. He provided a knee brace, told her to continue the
Vicodin as needed, and ordered an MRI. The MRI was denied; “they wanted physical
therapy before anything else.” In his practice Dr. Mehl would want an MRI before
prescribing PT to avoid risk of additional injury to a possible torn cartilage.

Petitioner had physical therapy but reported “absolutely no improvement in her pain.”
She also indicated that the therapist thought she had a meniscus tear, which was Dr.
Mehl’s initial impression as well. Thereafter, an MRI was approved.

The MRI was interpreted as showing a high grade chondromalacia of the patellofemoral
joint with no definite meniscal tear. He performed arthroscopic surgery on August 12,
2011, in which he found there was indeed a torn meniscus, which he repaired, as well as
performing a diffuse chondroplasty. The meniscal surgery was “substantial” and he had
to remove “a moderate amount of the torn medial meniscus.”

Petitioner progressed slowly after surgery. She continued to have pain, reduced range of
motion, and weakness. He administered cortisone injections. The cortisone injections
helped with the pain but did not appear to improve her strength. Dr. Mehl kept her off
work until he released her to full duty with regard to her knee on December 12, 2011.

Dr. Mehl had absoiutely no opinion on whether Petitioner could resume working with

regard to her back condition. Petitioner mentioned back pain to him but he never © -~

examined her back. He administered a Synvisc injection in January of 2012 after the

cortisone injection was wearing off. He wanted authorization for another Synvisc
injection all further injections were denied. X-rays showed a progression of her

degenerative joint disease so he administered another Synvisc injection under her group
health insurance.

. -it?“: B
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54. Dr. Mehl opined that Petitioner had pre-existing degenerative joint disease which was
exacerbated by the injury. In addition, the injury caused a medial meniscus tear and
traumatic injury to anterior cartilage. All the treatment that he provided was necessitated
by the work injury. He last saw Petitioner on February 26, 2014. At that time she had
“severe degenerative disease which had significantly progressed since the first x-ray
comparison taken at the time of her injury.” That degeneration was posttraumatic and her
ongoing problem was related to her injury of February 16, 2011.

55. On cross examination, Dr. Mehl testified chondromalacia can be either degenerative or
traumatic in nature or a combination of both. He thought Petitioner had moderate pre-
existing chondromalacia in all compartments prior to the accident. He disagreed with Dr.
Suchy’s assessment that Petitioner suffered a left knee contusion with an exacerbation of
chondromalacia patella; she had traumatic damage to the articular cartilage and medial
meniscal tear. Her back condition affected her functionality but did not contribute to her
knee pain itself.

56. Dr. Mehl placed her at maximum medical improvement on December 12, 2011, except
for occasional injections, and released to full-duty work. He did not impose any
restrictions because of her knee since and would not currently place any now. The five
degree varus deformity he noted on February 26, 2014 progressed too quickly to be

degenerative. At his last visit he recommended another Synvisc injection but not
additional surgery.

57.0n redirect examination, Dr. Mehl testified he did not recommend total knee
replacement, but if the Synvisc injection did not relief her arthritic pain such surgery may

be indicated. If the surgery was performed she would be off work for about three
months.

58. Dr. Suchy issued an addendum Section 12 medical report on May 5, 2014, after his _
deposition testimony. He had reviewed additional medical records and answered - - -
interrogatories. He opined that treatment rendered to Petitioner for her back after - '
November 5, 2011 was not related to her February 26, 2011 work injury. The October
11, 2012 fusion surgery was medically indicated but the need for such surgery was not
related to her work injury. Similarly, treatment of the left knee since November 5, 2011
was medically indicated but not related to the work accident. He agreed that she needed
permanent restrictions after the diagnosis of failed back syndrome, which would include
no lifting over 10-15 lbs with no excessive standing, walking, bending, or squatting.
However, those restrictions were necessitated by her underlying condition and not her
work injuries.

In finding Petitioner had not proved causation of her current conditions of ill-being of her
knee and lumbar spine, the Arbitrator noted that Petitioner was able to work the rest of the school
year and there was no knee effusion found in the emergency department. She also stressed that
the tests taken within temporal proximity of the accident all appeared to be normal, her initial
injuries were relatively benign, and that it was “undisputed that Petitioner had significant pre-
existing degenerative issues in both her left knee and back.”
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The Commission reverses the Decision of the Arbitrator and finds that Petitioner did
sustain her burden of proving the stipulated work-related injury of February 16, 2011 caused the
conditions of ill being of both her left knee and lumbar spine, respectively. The Arbitrator is
correct that Petitioner did have pre-existing conditions of ill being of both her left knee and
lumbar spine, according to both her current treating doctors, Dr. Hurley and Dr. Mehl, as well as
Respondent’s Section 12 medical examiner, Dr. Suchy. However, there is no indication that
these conditions were symptomatic prior to the accident. There is absolutely no evidence of any
previous complaints or treatment of her knee whatsoever. While there are mentions of low back
complaints twice, once in 2004 and once in 2006, there is no indication that she received any
treatment for her lumbar spine at that time, or any other time, prior to the current accident.

In addition, the Commission finds the opinions of Petitioner’s treating doctors more
persuasive than that of Respondent’s Section 12 medical examiner. Dr. Mehl and Dr. Hurley
were able to monitor condition through the years of treatment and to note the persistence of her
symptoms. On the other hand, Dr. Suchy only examined Petitioner once, within three and a half
months of the accident, and therefore was not able to observe the extent and persistence of her
symptoms. Regarding Petitioner’s knee condition, Respondent’s Section 12 medical examiner,
Dr. Suchy, actually recommended arthroscopic evaluation of the knee with chondroplasty of the
patella. Then when Dr. Mehl actually performed the arthroscopic evaluation, he noted that
through surgery he realized that the meniscal surgery was “substantial” which was more
pathology than originally anticipated and more pathology than seen in the MRI. Therefore, he
had to remove “a moderate amount of the torn medial meniscus.”

The Commission also finds the causation opinion of Dr. Mehl more persuasive that that
of Dr. Suchy. Dr. Mehl opined that although Petitioner had moderate pre-existing
chondromalacia in all compartments prior to the accident, she also she had traumatic damage to
the articular cartilage and medijal meniscal tear. He also testified that it was the aggravation from
the accident which necessitated all of his treatment of her knee. Dr. Suchy’s opinion that she
suffered only a contusion is not persuasive because Dr. Mehl did not explain why such a simple
contusion, causing only a temporary exacerbation, would result in persistent and ongoing
symptoms for more than five months leading up to surgery.

Similarly, the Commission finds the causation opinion of Dr. Hurley more persuasive
than that of Dr. Suchy. Dr. Hurley’s opinion that the work injury caused an aggravation of
Petitioner’s pre-existing back condition necessitating treatment is supported by the medical
records which are completely devoid of any previous treatment for her lumbar spine. On the
other hand, once again Dr. Suchy did not adequately explain how a temporary exacerbation of
Petitioner’s pre-existing lumbar condition would result in many months of continuous symptoms
without her ever returning to her pre-exacerbation status. Therefore, based on the sequence of
events evidenced by the onset of symptoms after the work-related accident, the lack of evidence -
that Petitioner had any treatment for her knee or back prior to the work injury, the credible
testimony of Petitioner, and the persuasive opinions of her treating doctors, Dr. Hurley and Dr.
Mehl, the Commission concludes that Petitioner sustained her burden of proving the conditions

of ill being of her left knee and lumbar spine were caused by the work accident of February 16,
2011. '
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The Arbitrator awarded Petitioner temporary total disability benefits of 17&4/7 weeks
from August 12, 2011 through December 12, 2011, terminating temporary total disability on the
date that Dr. Mehl initially found her at maximum medical improvement and released her to full
duty relating to her knee condition. Because the Commission finds that Petitioner’s work-related

conditions of ill being extended beyond December 12, 2011, we modify the award of temporary
total disability benefits.

The Commission awards temporary total disability benefits from August 12, 2011, the
date Dr. Mehl performed knee surgery and took her off work, to August 13, 2013, when she
returned to work on the advice of her lawyer after Dr. Suchy’s Section 12 medical examination
report. Thereafter, the Commission reinstates temporary total disability benefits commencing on
November 15, 2013, the date on which she testified she could no longer work. That inability

was corroborated by Dr. Hurley’s opinion that she should not have been returned to work in
August.

The Commission finds that an appropriate date to terminate temporary total disability
benefits to be September 25, 2014. That was the last treatment note in the record representing
the last time Petitioner was seen by Dr. Hurley. The Commission concludes that Petitioner’s
conditions largely stabilized as of September 25, 2014. Accordingly, the Commission awards
temporary total disability benefits of 149&2/7 weeks.

The Commission finds all the medical treatment provided to Petitioner to date were
reasonable and necessary to treat her conditions of ill being of her left knee and lumbar spine.
Therefore, the Commission awards all the medical expenses Petitioner submitted into evidence,
including direct reimbursement to Petitioner for all out-of-pocket expenses.

Regarding the issue of prospective medical treatment, the Commission notes that while
Petitioner preserved the issue of prospective treatment in her Petition for Review, she does not
request any specific prospective treatment in her brief. It is certainly possible that Petitioner may
seek treatment in the future, which could include Synvisc injections or arthroplasty for her knee,
per Dr. Mehl, and/or pain management for her back, per Dr. Hurley. If Petitioner does elect to
have such treatment she could return to the Commission through a petition under Section 8(a) of
the Act to seek an award of these and associated expenses.

Although the Arbitrator found Petitioner did not prove that her current conditions of ill |
being of her left knee and lumbar spine were not caused by her work-related accident, she
nevertheless awarded her a total of 91.25 weeks of permanent partial disability benefits

representing the loss of 25% of the left leg and 7.5% loss of the person as a whole for her lumbar
condition, respectively.

Petitioner seeks a finding by the Commission that she is permanently and totally disabled.
The Commission does not find that Petitioner is permanently and totally disabled. No doctor has
opined that Petitioner is permanently and totally disabled from employment, Petitioner did not

have a functional capability evaluation, she did not conduct a job search, and she did not request
vocational rehabilitation.
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In looking at the entire record before us, the Commission concludes that an appropriate
permanent partial disability award is loss of 30% of the left leg, due to her knee condition, and
loss of 40% of the person as a whole for her lumbar condition. In arriving at this award, the
Commission notes that Petitioner was 61 years of age at the time of the accident and turned 67
years of age on April 16, 2016, Therefore, Petitioner has not proven a substantial loss of future
earning potential. In addition, as noted above regarding prospective medical expenses, Petitioner
may return to the Commission and seek additional benefits in a petition under Sections 8(a)and
19(h) of the Act if she suffers a change in her condition or needs additional medical care.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the
Arbitrator issued May 5, 2015 is reversed.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
the sum of $1,129.41 per week for a period of 149&2/7 weeks, that being the period of
temporary total incapacity for work under §8(b) of the Act.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner

the sum of $669.64 per week for a period of 264.5 weeks, as provided in §8(d)2 of the Act, for .

the reason that the injuries sustained caused the loss of the use of 40% of the person as a whole
and loss of 30% of her left leg, respectively.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay medical
expenses submitted into evidence, including direct reimbursement for out-of-pocket expenses
under §8(a) of the Act pursuant to the applicable medical fee schedule. Respondent is entitled to
credit for any payments it paid on the awarded bills either directly under the Workers’
Compensation Act or through a group policy that qualifies under Section 8(j) of the Act

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under §19(n) of the Act, if any.

[T IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.

The party commencing the proceeding for review in the Circuit Court shall file ‘with the
Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in the Circuit Court.

DATED:  JUN 6.~ 2016 . W
' Ruth, W. White

RWW/dw
0-5/25/16
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) |E Affirm and adopt (no changes) |:| Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
)SS. | [ ] Affirm with changes [ ] Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))

COUNTY OF COOK ) [ Reverse [ ] Second Ijury Fund (§8(c}18)

PTD/Fatal denied

|:] Modify |E None of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Mamta M. Dixit,
Petitioner,

Vs, NO: 12 WC 12483

16IWCC0375

TCF National Bank, TCF Financial Corporation,
Respondent.

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review under §19(b) having been filed by the Petitioner herein
and notice given to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of casual connection,
temporary total disability, medical expenses, prospective medical expenses and being advised of
the facts and law, affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and
made a part hereof. The Commission further remands this case to the Arbitrator for further
proceedings for a determination of a further amount of temporary total compensation or of
compensation for permanent disability, if any, pursuant to Thomas v. Industrial Commission, 78

I1.2d 327, 399 N.E.2d 1322, 35 Ill.Dec. 794 (1980).

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the
Arbitrator filed June 30, 2015, is hereby affirmed and adopted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that this case be remanded to the
Arbitrator for further proceedings consistent with this Decision, but only after the latter of
expiration of the time for filing a written request for Summons to the Circuit Court has expired
without the filing of such a written request, or after the time of completion of any judicial
proceedings, if such a written request has been filed.
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under §19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.

Bond for the removal of this cause to the Circuit Court by Respondent is hereby fixed at
the sum 0f $100.00. The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court shall
file with the Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit Court.

DATED:
JUN-7 - 2016 Qrvé L™

#oshua D. Luskin

0-05/25/16

e o 4. k-

Ruth W. White =¥,

vy / Aot

Charles J. Vnendt
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< ) NQTICE OF 19(h) ARBITRATOR DECISION

DIXIT, MAMTA M Case# 12WC012483

Employees/Petitioner

TCF NATIONAL BANK TCF FINANCIAL
CORPORATION

Employer/Respondent - | E. 6 1 W ﬁ @ @ 8 ;75

On 6/30/2015, an arbitration decision on this case was filed with the Illinois Workers' Compensation Commission in
Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed. '

If the Commission reviews this award, interest of 0.11% shall accrue from the date listed above to the day before the
date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall

not accrue.

A copy of this decision is mailed to the following parties:
‘ | :
1876 PAUL W GRAUER & ASSOC
CZAPLA, EDWARD A

1300 E WOODFIELD RD SUITE 203
SCHAUMBURG, IL 60173

1108 GAROFALO SCHREIBER HART ETAL
DAVID HANSON )

55 W WACKER DR 10TH FL

CHICAGO, IL 60601



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) [ | mjured Workers' Benefit Fund (§4(d)
)SS. : [ ] Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(2))
COUNTY OF Cook ) ' [ ] Second Injury Fund (§8¢e)18)
' None of the above

ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

ARBITRATICN DECISION
19(b)
‘Mamta M. Dixit - T e e Case‘#QWC12483 -
Employee/Petitioner ' . _ .
V. ' Consolidated cases: nfa

grg)iyt{gsgiﬂfank -TCF Financial Corporat:on - 3. 6 I w C C @ 3 ? 5

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each .
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Deborah L. Simpson, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the
city of Chicago, on April 30, 2015. After reviewing all of the. evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby
makes findings on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.

] DISPUTEDISSUES T U B T Iy — -

A D Was Respondent operatmg under and subject to the Mlinois Workers 'Compensation or Occupa‘nonal
Diseases Act?

B |_| Was there an emplovee-employer relationship?

-G D Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of PetltIOD.GI' S employment by Respondent‘?
D. |:| What was the date of the accident?

E. D ‘Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

F. [X| Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?
.G D What were Petitioner's earnings?
H. D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the acc1der1t‘?

. |Z Were the medical services that were prov1ded to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical setvices? :

K. . Is Petitioner entitled fo any prospective medical care?
. What temporary beneﬁts are in d1spute‘?
m TPD™ l__l Maintenance "~ ] TID
M. D Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?

"~ N. [I Is Respondent due any credit?
0. D Cther

ICArbDeciOb) 2/10 1 UD W Randoiph Street #8-200 Chicago, IL 60601 312/814-6611  Toll-free 866/332-3033  Web site; www.iwcc.ilgov
Downstate offices: Collinsville 618/346-3450  Peoria 309/671-3019  Rockford 813/987-7292  Springfield 217/785-7084




< 1BIVWCCO39s

FINDINGS

On the date of accident, December 29, 2011, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions
of the Act. ' ' :

On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.
On this date, Petitioner did sustein an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.
_Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.
Pennoner s current condition of ill-being is not causally related to the accident.
In the year preceding the i m]ury, Petitioner earned $60,684.00; the average weekly wage was $1,167.00.
On the date of accident, Petitioner was 47 years of age, single with 1 dependent children.
Respondent has pa1d all reasonable and necessary charges for all reasonable and necessary medlcal services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $13,950.64 for TTD, $0 for TPD, $0 for maintenance, and $33,172. 12
for other beneﬁts for a total credit of $47,122.76. :

- ORDER

Medical benefits ' :
‘ Respondent shall pay reasonable and necessary medical services. mcurredthrough 6/5/2013, as prov1ded :
in Sectlons 8(a) and 8.2 of the Act.

Temporary Partial Dis ablhty
- Respondent shall pay Petitioner temporary partlal disability benefits of $778.00/week for 5.52 weeks,
commencing 12/29/ 1L through 2/5/12, as provided in Section 8(a) of the Act... e

Respondent shall pay Petitioner temporary partial disability benefits of $3 216.40 for the penod
commencmg Eebruary 6, 2012 through March 25, 2012 as prov1ded by Section S(a) of the Act.

Credlts

Respondent shall be given credlt for $ 29,343.38 for medical benefits paid under Section 8(a) of the
Act,

Respondent shall be given a credit of $13,950.64 for TTD benefits paid under Section 8 of the Act.

In no instance shall this award be a bar to subsequent hearing and determination of an additional amount of
medical benefits or compensation for a temporary or permanent disability, if any.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this decision,
and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the decision of
the Commission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice of
Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however, if
an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.
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Signature of Arbitrator i

ICArhDec19(h)
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BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

MAMTA M. DIXIT,
Petitioner,

V5. No. 12 WC 12483
TCF NATIONAL BANK,

TCF FINANCIAL CORPORATION,
AND THE HARTFORD FINANCIAL
SERVICES GROUP, INC.,

18IWCCO37s5

Respondent.

L L A

FINDINGS OF FACTS AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

The parties agree that on December 29, 2011, the Petitioner and the Respondent were .
operating under the Mlinois Worker’s Compensation or Occupational Diseases Act and that their
relationship was one of employee and employer. They agree that on that date the Petitioner
sustained accidental injuries that arouse out of and in the course of the employment and that the
Petitioner gave the Respondent notice of the accident which is the subject matter of the dispute
within the time limits stated in the Act. They further agree that in the year preceding the injuries,
the Petitioner earned $60,684.00, and that her average weekly wage wis $1,167.00. o

At issue in this hearing is as follows: (1) Is the Petitioner’s current condition of ill-being
causally connected to this injury or exposure; (2} Is the Respondent liable for the unpaid medical
bills contained in Petitioner’s Exhibits numbered 14 through 33; (3) Is Petitioner entitled to TTD
from December 30, 2011 through February 5, 2012, and April 17, 2014, through April 30, 2015;
and (4) Is the Petitioner entitled to prospective medical treatment.

Prior to the start of the hearing, it was determined that notice had not been provided to
The Hartford Financial Services Group, Incorporated, and a named Respondent. The Petitioner
made an oral motion to strike the Hartford Financial Services Group, Incorporated as a
Respondent, the motion was granted. There was also a discussion regarding the question of short
term and long term disability benefits. Both parties agreed that Ms. Dixit had received payment
but neither party knew how much money was paid in short term or long term disability benefits.
The parties agreed to find out how much was paid and to address the amount in their proposed
decisions.

After reviewing the records of payment of short and long term disability, the parties have
stipulated that the respondent paid $13,960.64 in TTD benefits, §33,172.12 in short and long
term disability benefits and $29,343.38 in medical bills.

Page 10f 10
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STATEMENT OF FACTS

Petitioner was employed by the Respondent as an assistant Vice-President for loans. She
worked for Respondent for 19 years; more than ten of those years were spent in the loan
department. (Tr. 21). For the past two years, Petitioner was in the job of collections, which
required her to travel to the homes of customers to collect money on the mortgages that they had
defaulted on. (Tr. 22) On the evening of December 29, 2011, Petitioner was traveling to a

" customer’s house to collect on a defaulted loan when she was involved in an automobile
collision. (Tr. 21-22).

Petitioner had left the Palatine office and was driving to a customer’s house when she
was struck head on by a hit and run motorist traveling 30 miles per hour. (Tr.22-24). Petitioner
testified that she “was hit very hard” and lost consciousness “for a few minutes”. (Tr. 25).
Petitioner’s head, neck, left shoulder, left leg and back struck the inside of her vehicle. (Tr. 25).
Petitioner testified that the person who struck her vehicle was travelling at 30 miles per hour. (Tr.
24) : '

Petitioner was taken from the scene by ambulance and transported to the emergency
room at Northwest Community Hospital. (Tr. 26). Petitioner initially complained of neck pain
and headaches, low back pain and left leg pain, (Px. 1). CT scan of the brain, neck, chest and
abdomen/pelvis were unremarkable. (Px. 1). Petitioner was diagnosed wrth a head injury,
cervical and lumbar sprain and prescnbed Norco (Px. 1)

Petitioner followed up with her primary care physmlan, Dr. Jetfrey Eye, on January 3,
2012 compla.mmg of head neck, left shoulder and back pam (Px 2) Petltloner reported chest

d1agnostlc study (Px 2)

i:S

Petitioner eern_plamed of headaches, neck and back nain, chest pain and bﬂater;ﬂ leg
{Px. 2). CT of the head, neck and chest were negative. (Px. 2). Petitioner was prescribed
Valium, Toradol, Dilaudid and Zofran and instructed to follow up with Dr, Eye.

Petitioner returned to Dr. Eye on January 10, 2012 complaining of headaches, neck and
back pain and left shoulder pain. (PX. 3). Dr. Eye prescribed physical therapy treatment for the
neck, low back and left shoulder and referred Petitioner to Dr. Kuhlman, a neurologist, for

___._further medjcal treatment. (Px. 3).

On January 16, 2012 Petitioner saw Dr. Kuhiman and reported ongoing headaches, neck
and back pain and left shoulder pain. Petitioner further reported that over the last two weeks she
developed “chronic left hemi cranial headaches involving pressure-like sensation behind her left
eye, as well as shooting pain from the base of her skull into her left ear, chronic neck pain at

times. rqdmhﬂcr down her left arm.and into her left. shounlder and low barclk nmn at timeg agenciated

A el LTI

with numbness and paresthesia involving her left thigh”. (Px. 4)

Neurological examination revealed slightly diminished range of motion and cervical and
lumbar paraspinal tendemness. (Px. 4). Dr. Kuhlman’s initial diagnosis was: Multi focal pain;
Headaches; Cervical sprain; Lumbar sprain; and Post traumatic left occipital neuralgia. (Px. 4)

Page 2 of 10
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MRI of the brain and cervical spine were ordered along with a course of physical therapy.
(Px. 4). Petitioner was prescribed Lyrica and Zanaflex and referred to Suburban Assoc1ates in
Ophthalmology for further consultation. (Px. 4).

MRI of the brain completed on January 17, 2012 revealed: 5mm focal area of increased
T2 signal in the right, periventricular frontal white matter. (Px. 4)

MRI of the cervical spine performed on January 17, 2012 revealed: C4-C5 mild posterior
d1sc spur complexes; and C5-C6 mild posterior disc spur complexes. (Px. 4)

Dr. Eye referred Petitioner to Dr. Mary Morrell, an orthopedic surgeon, who examined
Petitioner on January 17, 2012. Petitioner reported neck and shoulder pain as well as lower back
pain with an occasional burning and numbness down the left leg to the foot. (Px. 5). '
Examination of the cervical spine revealed tenderness over the paraspinal musculature with
decreased range of motion. (Px. 5). The left shoulder also revealed minimal tenderness to
palpitation and a mild positive impingement test. (Px.5) Examination of the lumbar spine
revealed tenderness to palpation and tenderness with range of motion especially with flexion, -
extension, and rotation. (Px. 5).

Dr. Morrell diagnosed Petitioner with a cervical strain, left shoulder strain and left
lumbar radiculopathy and prescnbed physmal therapy for the neck, left shoulder and back. (Px.
3).

Petitioner was examined for increased pressure in the left eye at Suburban Assoc1ates in
Ophthaliology ori January 24; 2012. (Px. 6).

Petitioner completed a course of physical therapy treatment for the neck, left shoulder
and low back at Accelerated Rehab1l1tat10n between January 26, 2012 and May 16, 2012, (Px. 7).

Petitioner retumed to Dr. Kuhlmau onlJ anuary 30, 2012 complaining of headaches, neck
and back pain-and aching discomfort in her legs with burming paresthesia in her thighs. (Px. 4).
Dr. Kuhlman noted the MRI of the brain demonstrated a few small subcortical increased
intensity spots. Dr. Kuhlman increased Petitioner’s Lyrica to 50mg 3 times/day, ordered
Gabapentin 50mg 3 times/day, and ordered an MRI of the thoracic and lumbar spine along with
an EMG/NCYV of the lower extremities.

MRI of the thoracic spine performed on January 31, 2012 was unrematkable. However,
the MRI of the lumbar spine completed at that time revealed: L2-L3 moderate central and right
paracentral disc extrusion with cranial migration along dorsal aspect of L2 by 6mm; L4-L5 mild
to moderate diffuse disc bulge with a superimposed small right lateral dise protrusmn Moderate
ligamentum flavum hypertrophy and mild to moderate disc bulge at L4- L5 causing mild bilateral
neuroforaminal stenosis and mild spinal canal stenosis. (Px. 4).

EMG of the lower extremities completed on February 3, 2012 was normal. (Px. 4). Dr.
Kuhlman examined Petitioner on March 1, 2012 and increased her Gabapentin to 600mg 3
times/day. Petitioner was referred to Dr. Broderick for neurosurgical assessment and to Dr.
Lipov for pain management. (Px. 4). A functional capacity evaluation was also recommended.
(Px. 4).

On March 9, 2012, Petitioner was examined by Dr. Richard Broderick at Surgical
Neurology Associates. Petitioner reported pain in her neck, left shoulder, low back and both hips
with numbness in her left leg. (Px. 4). Dr. Broderick’s diagnosis was cervicalgia secondary to
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whiplash type injury from a motor vehicle accident and a herniated disc at L2-L3 without
convincing evidence of lumbar radiculopathy. (Px. 4). Dr. Broderick did not recommend surgery
for the cervical spine but recommended physical therapy and epidural steroid injections for the
lumbar spine. (Px. 4).

Petitioner completed the functional capacity evaluation on March 15, 2012 which
- revealed she was capable of working at a “sedentary” demand level. (Px. 7). Thereafter, Dr.
Kublman released Petitioner to return to sedentary work on March 26, 2012. (Px. 4).

On Apnl 3, 2012 Petitioner returned to Dr. Kuhlman complaining of left shoulder and
low back pain. Dr. Kuhlman recommended a trial of Skelaxin 800mg 3 times/day and réferred
Petitioner to Dr. Morrell for her left shoulder and Dr. Lipov for possible injections. (Px. 4).

Dr. Lipov examined Petitioner on May 21, 2102 and noted “lower back-aching and
shooting that is constant with radiation down left lower extremity; intermittent
numbness/tingling shoulder — pins and needles sensation.” (Px. 8), Neurological examination
was positive for left hand paresthesia and intermittent numbness/tingling left lower extremlty
(Px. 8). Dr. Lipov diagnosed Petitioner with lumbar radiculitis and left shoulder arthralgia.

Petitioner received a left lumbar epldural steroid injection and an MRI of the left shoulder was
ordered (Px. 8).

Petitioner returned to Dr. Kuhlman on June 7, 2012 complaining of an increase in
headaches, neck, back and left shoulder pain. (Px. 4). Dr. Kuhlman ordered a repeat MRI of the
brain and restarted Petitioner on Zanaﬂex (Px 4). Petitioner was again referred to Dr.. Morrell -
for her shoulder pain.

Petitioner received medical treatment at Alexian Brothers Medical Center on June 13,
2012 reporting headaches on the leﬁ 81de of her head Ieft hand weakness and Ieﬁ: and right leg

the out“ﬂow of the left ﬁ'ontal sinus con51stent w1th the prior study but was otherw15e normal (Px
4). CT-scan of the neck confirmed the osteoma in the left frontal sinus.

MRI of the left shoulder completed on June 26, 2012 revealed signal hyper intensity in

the anterior distal supraspinatus tendon in a pattern consistent with tendinosis or a focal tendon
strain. (Px. 8).

On July 19, 2012 Petitioner received a second L4-L5 lumbar epidural,steroid injection,
from Dr. Lipov which provided 50% improvement in her low back pain. (Px. 8).

Petitioner retumed to Dr Kuhlman on August 7,2012 reporting improvement in her low

“occurring only about once a week.” (Px. 4). Dr. Kuhlman continued the Gabapentin for
Petitioner’s back pain and ordered a repeat MRI of the brain which was unchanged from the
original MRI of January 17, 2012. (Px. 4).

Petitioner testified that between August 8, 2012 and April 26, 2013, she did not receive any
medical treatment. (I.47). On April 26, 2013 Dr. Kuhlman ordered additional physical therapy treatment for
Petitioner’s ongoing neck, back and left shoulder pain. (Px. 4). Petitioner completed a course of physical therapy
at Accelerated Rehabilitation between April 29, 2013 and June 5, 2013 (Px. 7).

Petitioner did not receive or request any medical treatment between June 5, 2013 and November
18, 2013. Then, on November 18, 2013 the Petitioner returned to Dr. Morrell complaining of “pain into

Page 4 of 10



. AB1WCC03%s

the left side of her neck which radiates down the arm from the shoulder into the fingers.” (Px. 5).
Petitioner also reported “increasing left buttock pain which radiates into the posterior thigh and will
occasionally go down the whole leg”. The record for treatment on that date notes that she had increased
symptoms over the last month. (Px. 5). Petitioner was diagnosed with left cervical radiculopathy and
left lumbar radicnlopathy. Dr. Morrell ordered additional physical therapy treatment which Petitioner
completed at the Centers for Physical Therapy bet"ween November 26, 2013 and April 17, 2014. (Px.
10). :

-Petitioner continued to experience neck and back pain along with left shoulder pain
radiating down the left arm for which she saw Dr. Morrell. (Px. 5). Examination revealed
positive impingement sign in the left shoulder for which Petitioner received a cortisone injection
on February 27, 2014. (Px. 5). In March 2014, Dr. Morrell ordered an H-wave home
electrotherapy system for Petitioner’s ongoing neck, back and left shoulder pain. (Px. 5).
Petitioner used the electronic stimulation machine daily for 30 minutes at a tlme for her left
shoulder and low back. (Tr. 50).

Petitioner returned to Dr. Morrell on April 17, 2014 reporting 1 week of relief in her left
shoulder from the cortisone injection. (Px. 5). Petitioner continued to complain of burning pain
radiating from her neck down the left arm along with low back pain radiating into both legs. (Px.
5). Dr. Morrell ordered an MRI of the left shoulder and back and referred Petitioner back to Dr.
Lipov for cervical and lumbar epidural steroid injections. (Px. 5). Dr. Morrell also prescnbed
physmal therapy and took the Petitioner off of work. (Px.5).

On Apnl 22 2014 Dr LlpOV prescnbed a Medrol Dosepak for the rad:latlng neek and
back pain going down both legs. (Px. 8).

_ MRI of the left shoulder performed on June 1 1 2014 revealed Mild inferior
hypertrophic spurring in the acromioclavicular joint, 2-3mm, slightly indenting the supraspinatus
tendon with some narrowing of the subacromial space; and mild inflammatory fluid surrounding -
the distal sipraspinatus tendon with fluid in the subacromial/subdeltoid bursa, representing
tendinitis and/or bursitis. (Px. 5)

MRI of the cervical spine performed at the same time revealed: C6-C7 2-3mm posterior
- disc bulge noted to indent the thecal sac, W1thout spinal stenosis or significant neuroforaminal
narrowing. (Px. 3)

On June 12, 2014 Dr. Morrell noted i increasing numbness and tmghng in the left arm into
the thumb and index finger and ordered an EMG/NCS of the left upper extremity.

The EMG/NCV performed on June 26, 2014 revealed: Bilateral median sensory
mononeuropathy across wrists; Subacute to chronic C5-C6 radiculopathy left; and Chronic C5-
C6 cervical radiculopathy right. (Px. 5) Petitioner retumned to Dr. Morrell complaining of low

. back pain traveling into the right leg with numbness to the foot and toes. (Px. 5). Petitioner
continued to experience pain in her neck and left shoulder: Dr. Momrell prescribed Duexis and
Flector patches along with physical therapy. Dr. Lipov continued to prescribe Lyrica for
Petitioner’s ongoing cervical and lumbar radiculopathy. (Px. 8).

Petitioner was examined by Dr. Avi Bernstein, a board certified orthopedic surgeon, at the
request of the Respondent on June 30, 2014, pursuant to Section 12 of the Act. Dr. Bernstein reviewed
medical records, took a history from the Petitioner and performed an evaluation. Dr. Bernstein provided
the opinion that the Petitioner suffered sprains and strains to her low and mid back as a result of the
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motor vehicle accident. He stated that the herniation found on the MRI scan did not coincide with the
patient’s symptoms of left lower extremity pain. He stated that the MRI failed to identify any pathology
that would explain left upper extremity complaints. He found that the Petitioner was at maximum
medical improvement six months after the accident. He stated that there was no reason why Petitioner
could not continue her work. (RX1).

MRI of the lumbar spine performed on July 25, 2014 revealed: L1-L2 4-5mm left sided
disc herniation with mildly extruded nucleus pulpous indenting the ventral and left side of the
 thecal sac; 1.2-L3 6-7mm right sided disc herniation with an extruded nucleus pulpous-indenting
the right side of the thecal sac; L4-L5 4-5mm right sided disc herniation with mildly extruded
nucleus pulpous mdentmg the i ght 51de of the thecal sac. (Px 5)

On July 28, 2014, Petitioner rece1ved a CS C6 cervical ep1dural stero1d inj ectlon which
provided 25% improvement of her left hand pain. (Px. 8). On August 18, 2014 Petitioner
received a 14-L5 lumbar epidural steroid injection which provided Petitioner 30% improvement -
in lumbar radicular pain. (PX 8). Petitioner was referred to Dr. Drake to discuss surgical options
along with a referral to a pain psychologist. (Px.8)

- Petitioner saw Dr. Brown, a pain psycholo glst -on September 9 2014 who recommended. -
increasing her Effexor. (Px 11). On September 15, 2014 Petitioner received a left L2-L3
retrograde limbar transforaminal ep1dura1 injection which prowded 70% improvement in her -
low back pain. (Px. 8).

. - On September 23, 2014 Petitioner saw Dr.. Gregory Drake reporting neck; left arm and -
low back pain with bilateral lower extremity radiation into the thighs and feet. (Px. 12). Dr..
_Drake did not believe Petitioner was a candidate for surgery and recommended additional
physical therapy. (Px. 12).

Petitioner returned to Dr. Morrell on October 21, 2014 Teporting 10w Dack pain ramatmg
into the groin . ‘and t}:ughs ‘along with neck pain radiating into the left arm-and- shoulder. (Px. 5).-- -
An EMG/NCV of the lower extremities was ordered which revealed “chronic mild right L4-L5
lumbar radiculopathy.” (Px. 5).

Dr. Lipov referred Petitioner to Dr. Russ Nockels who examined Petitioner on November 13,
2014 for her ongoing neck, left shoulder and low back pain radiating into her left groin and thigh. (Px.
13). The Petitioner reported an 8 month history of progressive pain fo these areas, Af that time
Petitioner’s medications included Flector patch, Lyrica and Effexor. Dr. Nockels ordered

cervical/lumbar dynamic x-rays and x-rays of the hips. (Px. 13). The x-rays revealed no abnormal

--movement-and-Petitioner-was referred-to-Dr-Troy-Buck-fora left- L1 -selective nerve block which-was —
performed on January 7, 2015. (Px. 13). The nerve root injection provided Petitioner with improvement
to her left sided groin pain but no improvement to the lumbar spine pain, (Px. 13).

Petitioner testified that she did not work between December 30, 2011 and February 5, 2012.
Petitioner testified that she received_ her npr_mal peych_eck during this_ time period. Petitioner testified
~ that shie work four hour Cld)’h between February 6, 2012 and d-March 25; 2012, She testified: that this- o
paycheck represented 20 hours of work per week, (T.37). Petitioner testified that she returned to work

full time on March 26, 2012. Petitioner testified that she had retumed to work both in a desk position
and calling on customers. (T.46). Petitioner testified that between August 8, 2012 and April 29, 2013,
she d1d not receive any med1ca1 treatment. (T 47) '
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CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

The burden is upon the party seeking an award to prove by a preponderance of the
credible evidence the elements of his claim. Peoria County Nursing Home v. Industrial
Comm'n, 115 111.2d 524, 505 N.E.2d 1026 (1987). This includes the nature and extent of the
petitioner’s injury.

Longstanding Illinois law mandates a claimant must show that the injury is due to a
cause connected to the employment to establish it arose out of employment. Elliot v.
Industrial Commission, 153 Ill. App. 3d 238, 242 (1987).

The burden of proof is on a claimant to establish the elements of his right to
compensation, and unless the evidence considered in its entirety supports a finding that the
injury resulted from a cause connected with the employment, there is no right to recover.
Board of Trustees v. Industrial Commission, 44 111. 2d 214 (1969).

The burden of proving disablement and the right to temporary total disability benefits lies
with the Petitioner who must show this entitlement by a preponderance of the evidence. J.M.
Jones Co. v. Indusirial Commission,71 11.2d 368, 375 N.E.2d 1306 (1978)

For treatment of an employee’s workplace injury to be compensable under workers’
compensation laws, Petitioner must establish the treatment is necessitated by the work
injury and not some-other.cause or condition. Hansel & Gretel Day Care Center-v- =
Industrial Commission, (1991) 215 Ill.App.3d 284, 574 N.E.2d 1244. '

In support of the Arbitrator’s decision with regard to whether Petitioner’s present

. condition of fll-being is causally related to the injury, the Arbitrator-makes.the following......, - - -

conclusions of law:

Petitioner was involved in a motor vehicle accident on December 29, 2011, The parties agree
that this was a work related accident as Petitioner was driving to a home to collect on a default loan.

After her accident, Petitioner treated at the Northwest Community Hospital. The records for
treatment at Northwest Community Hospital indicate that there was no deployment of the airbags at the
time of the crash and that Petitioner did not lose consciousness. The records indicate Petitioner had
complaints of neck and back pain with headaches. The records for treatment at the Northwest
Community Hospital indicate the Petitioner underwent a CT Scan of her head, chest and cervical spine.
These tests were all unremarkable. Petitioner also underwent x-rays of her chest, pelvis, thoracic and
lumbar spines. All the x-rays were unremarkable and revealed no significant abnormality as well.
(PX1). Petitioner testified that she was discharged home from the Northwest Community Hospital on
December 29, 2011. (T.27). <

Petitioner was seen by Dr. Broderick on March 9, 2012, Dr. Broderick assessed the Petitioner
with cervicalgia without structural injuries and a herniated disc at L2-3 without convincing evidence of
lumbar radiculopathy. (Px.4).

Petitioner underwent a Functional Capacity Evaluation at Accelerated on March 15,2012, This
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revealed that the Petitioner met 100% of the demands of her job as a lending manager. This revealed the
Petitioner could function at the sedentary level. (Px.4).

After the motor vehicle accident, Petitioner was off work between December 30, 2011 and
February 5, 2012. Petitioner returned to work on a restricted basis between February 6, 2012 and March
25, 2012. Petitioner returned to work full duty on March 26, 2012.

Petitioner treated through August 6, 2012. Petitioner testified that between August 8, 2012 and
April 29, 2013, she did not receive any medical treatment. (T.47). The medical records entered into
evidence support this testimony.

Petitioner testified that in April of 2013, she began treatment with Dr. Morrell and began to
receive physical therapy. Petitioner testified that between April 29, 2013 and June 5, 2013, she
underwent physical therapy. (T.47).

The Arbitrator notes that the Petitioner had significant gaps in medical treatment between August
8, 2012 and April 29, 2013, and again between June 5, 2013 and November 18, 2013. The Petitioner
was able to Work her full duty employment between March 26 2012 and Apnl 17 2014

The ﬁndmgs on the objective testing that Petitioner subrmtted to changed during the time penod
before the accident and Petitioner’s return to work and after she had been working, not obtaining
treatment and her return to treatment. Specifically, the Petitioner underwent an MRI of her cervical
spine on January 17,2012, The report from that MRI was read as revealing that the Petitioner had at
C4/5 and C5/6 mild posterior disc spur complexes without canal or foramina narrowing. No significant
protrusions were noted. There is no mention of any condition at the C6/7 level.(Px. 4). Conversely,
Petitioner underwent a cervical spine MRI at Open MRI on June 11, 2014. This revealed at 2 mm bulge
at the C6-7 level without spinal stenosis or significant neuroforaminal narrowing, (Px. 5). Petitioner

underwent an EMG/NCYV performed by Dr. Brusil on June 26, 2014. This revealed subacute to chronic
C5-6-cervical radiculopathy-onthe left and right sides. No generalized polyneuropathy-or other- - - - -~
mononeuropathies was noted. (PX. 5). These are new findings at a new level of the cervical spine.

Similarly, Petitioner underwent an MRI of her lumbar spine at Northwest Neurology on January

31, 2012. That was read as revealing a moderate central and right paraceniral disk extrusion at 1L.2-3 and
a moderate disk bulge at 1.4-5 causing mild to moderate neuroforaminal stenosis and mild spinal canal
stenosis. (Px.4). Dr. Broderick examined the Petitioner on March 9; 2012.- He assessed the Petitioner
with a herniated disc at L.2-3 without convincing evidence of lumibar radiculopathy. This is supported
by the EMG that was performed at Northwest Neurology on February 3, 2012, which revealed no

“electrodiagnostic evidence of entrapment neuropathy, polyneuropathy or radiculopathy affecting the
lower extremities. (Px. 4). Conversely, Petitioner underwent an MRI of her lumbar spine on July 25,
2014. This revealed a disk hemniation at L1-2, L2-3 and L4-5. An EMG/NCV was performed on
October 30, 2014 at Alexian Brothers. This revealed a chronic right sided, L4-3 radiculopathy. (Px. 5).
These are new findings found two years later.

The thoracic spine MRI completed on January 31, 2012 at Northwest Neurology was read as
being unremarkable, The Petitioner underwent an MRI of her left shoulder at Open Advanced MRI on
June 26, 2012. This revealed findings consistent with tendinitis or a strain. No evidence of a rotator
cuff tear or internal derangement of the glenohumeral joint was detected. There were minimal
degenerative changes in the AC Joint.
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Based on the findings in the medical records and the treatment history, the Arbifrator finds that
the Petitioner’s condition had reached MMI no later than June 5, 2013. The Arbitrator finds no causal
relationship between the Petitioner’s current condition and the motor vehicle accident on December 29,
2011.

In support of the Arbitrator’s decision with regard to whether the medical services
that were provided to Petitioner were reasonable and necessary and whether Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for reasonable and necessary medical treatment, the
Arbitrator makes the following conclusions of law:

The Arbitrator incorporates the above-referenced findings of fact and conclusions of law as if
fully restated herein. The Arbitrator finds that the Petitioner had reached a point of MMI as of June 5,
2013. The Arbitrator finds that treatment rendered up to June 4, 2013 was reasonable, necessary and
related to the Petitioner’s work accident. Respondent is responsible for the costs of said treatment.
Treatment after June 5, 2013 was not reasonable, necessary or related to Petitioner’s work accident on
December 29, 2011 and is not the responsibility of the Respondent.

In support of the Arbifrator’s decision with regard to the amount due for
temporary total dis ablhty, the Arbltrator makes the fo]lowmg conclusions of law:

The Arb1trator mcorporates the above—referenced findings of fact and conclusmns of law as if
fully restated herein. The medical records do not support the Petitioner being off work after she had been
returned to work following the FCE. The Petitioner underwent a Functional Capacity Evaluation at
Accelerated on March 15, 2012. This revealed that the Petitioner met 100% of the demands of her job
as a lending manager. (Px. 4). The Petitioner did work full duty between March 26, 2012 and-Aprit 17,

" 2014. The Pefifioner’s job duties aré sedentary in nature. The Petitioner was entitied fo TTD from =~~~
December 30, 2011 through February 5, 2012, when she returned to work part time per doctor’s
restrictions. Petitioner is entitled to TPD from February 6, 2012 through March 25, 2012, when she was
determined to be able to work full time with no restrictions, and did in fact return to work. The
Arbitrator does not award any additional TTD benefits.

Respondent is entitled to a credit of $13,950.64 which the parties agree the Respondent
has previously paid in TTD benefits. The parties have agreed that the Respondent paid
$33,172.12 in short and long term disability benefits and $29,343.38 in medical bills.

In support of the Arbitrator’s decision with regard to whether the Petitioner is
entitled to any prospective medical treatment, the Arbitrator makes the following
conclusions of law:

The Arbifrator incorporates the above-referenced findings of fact and conclusions of law as if
fully restated herein. The Petitioner has reached MMI as of June 5, 2012, therefore, no prospective
medical treatment is awarded.
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ORDER OF THE ARBITRATOR

Medical benefits

Respondent shall pay reasonable and necessary medical services incurred through June 5,
2013, as provided in Sections 8(a) and 8.2 of the Act.

Temporary Partial Disability

‘Respondent shall pay Petitioner temporary partial disability benefits of $778.00/week for
5.52 weeks, commencing December 29, 2011 through February 5, 2012, as provided in Section
8(a) of the Act.

Respondent shall pay Petitioner temporary partial disability benefits of $3,216.40 for the
period commencing February 6, 2012 through March 25, 2012 as provided by Section 8(a) of the
Act.

Credits -
~ Respondent shall be given credit for § 29,343.38 for medical benefits paid under
Section 8(a) of the Act.

Respondent shall be gwen a crcdlt of $13 950.64 for TTD benefits paid under Sectlon 8
of the Act.

ignahire of Arhitrator Date

W Lert 26, cZ@//S'
Si
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' 13 WC 15438

Page 1

STATE OF ILLINOIS ) D Affirm and adopt (no changes) I:I Injured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d))
) SS. Affirm with changes [_] Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(2))

COUNTY OF COOK ) D Reverse l:] Second Injury Fund (§8(¢)18)

[:I PTD/Fatal denied

l___' Modify None of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS®* COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Luz Hernandez,
Petitioner,

Vs. NO: 13 WC 15438

Romts St ot 16IWCC0376

DECISION AND OPINJON ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by the Petitioner herein and notice given to
all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of medical expenses, permanent partial
disability, permanent partial disability and being advised of the facts and law, affirms and adopts
the Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and made a part hereof.

The Commission does correct an error on page six of the Asbitrator’s Decision. The
Arbitrator, in awarding certain medical bills from the provider Rehab Dynamix, noted in the first
paragraph of that section that hability had been established “for dates of service including and
between September 3, 2013 and September 25, 2013.” However, in the fourth paragraph of the
section dedicated to Rehab Dynamix (PX9), the Arbitrator found liability “on the dates of
September 3, 2013 and September 25, 2013.” The word “on” in paragraph four is hereby
replaced with the word “between,” to prevent confusion and make the latter paragraph cohere
with the Arbitrator’s reasoning and intent as expressed by the earlier written finding in paragraph
one of that section and supported by the medical evidence referenced by the Arbitrator.
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IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the
Arbitrator filed April 1, 2015 is hereby affirmed and adopted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Respondent pay to
Petitioner interest under §19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Respondent shall have
credit for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of the Petitioner on account of said accidental
injury.

Bond for the removal of this cause to the Circuit Court by Respondent is hereby fixed at
the sum of $2,800.00. The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court
shall file with the Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit Court.

DATED:  JUN.7 - 2016 % sz

Aoshua D. Luskin

0052571 focth 4! itk

jdlwi
68 Ruth W. White

("l Attt

Charles J. DeVfiendt




ILLINOIS WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
NOTICE OF ARBITRATOR DECISION

CORRECTED
HERNANDEZ, L UZ Case# 13WC015438
Employee/Petitioner
RON'S STAFFING

Employer/Respondent 1 6 I W C C 0 3 7 6

On 4/1/2015, an arbitration decision on this case was filed with the Illinois Workers' Compensation
Commission in Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed.

If the Commission reviews this award, interest of 0.13% shall accrue from the date listed above to the day
before the date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this
award, interest shall not accrue.

A copy of this decision is mailed to the following parties:

4239 THE LAW OFFICE OF JOHN ELIASIK
BRIAN C HERCULE

180 N LASALLE ST SUITE 3700

CHICAGO, IL 60601

4944 KOREY RICHARDSON LLC
NICK TATRO

20 S CLARK ST SUITE 508
CHICAGO, 1L 60603



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) D Injured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d))
)SS. [ ] Rate Adjustment Fund (§3(g))
COUNTY OF COOK ) [ ] second Injury Fund (§8(¢)18)
% None of the above

ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
CORRECTED ARBITRATION DECISION

Luz Hernandez Case #13 WC 015438
Employee/Petitioner
v, Consolidated cases:

R 16IWCC0376

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Lynette Thompson-Smith, Arbitrator of the Commission, in
the city of Chicago, on January 28,2015. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator
hereby makes findings on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.

DISPUTED ISSUES

D Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Illinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act?

Was there an employee-employer relationship?

Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?
What was the date of the accident?

Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?

L
L]
L]
L]
|: What were Petitioner's carnings?
L]
L]
X

>

.

What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?
What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?

Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?

What temporary benefits are in dispute?
[]TPD [] Maintenance K TID
L. What is the nature and extent of the injury?
M. |:| Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?
N. D Is Respondent due any credit?
0. D Other

SFPEOEMEUOW

7

ICArbDec 2/10 100 W. Randolph Street #8-200 Chicago, IL 60601 312/814-6611  Toll-free 866/352-3033  Web site: www.iwee.ilgov
Downstate offices: Collinsville 618/346-3450 Peoria 309/671-3019  Rockford 815/987-7292  Springfield 217/785-7084
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FINDINGS _
On 10/10/12, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act.

On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.

On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.
Timely ﬁotice of this accidenf was given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ili-being is causally related to the accident.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $5,858.06; the average weekly wage was $234.32.
On the date of accident, Petitioner was 68 years of age; married with 0 dependgnt children.
Petitioner has received all reasonable and necessary rﬁédical services. - S

Respondent Aas paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $0 for TTD, $0 for TPD, $0 for maintenance, and $0 for other benefits,
for a total credit of $0.

Respondent is entitled to a credit of $0 under Section 8(j) of the Act.

ORDER

Respondent shall pay to Petitioner reasonable and necessary medical services as invoiced by Illinois Orthopedic
Network, Suburban Orthopedics, Rehab Dynamix, Metro Milwaukee Anesthesia and Accredited Ambulatory
Care, as outline in the attached decision and as provided in Sections 8(a) and 8.2 of the Act.

Petitioner’s request for temporary total disability benefits is hereby denied.

Respondent shall pay Petitioner permanent partial disability benefits of $234.32/week for 11.4 weeks, because
the injuries sustained caused the 30% loss of the right middle finger, as provided in Section 8(e) of the Act.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS: Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this
decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the
decision of the Commission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE: If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Nofice
of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however,
if an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.
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Findings of Fact

The disputed issues in this matter are: 1) medical bills; 2} temporary total disability; and the nature
and extent of Petitioner’s injuries. See, AX1.

Ron’s Staffing Service, (“Respondent”) is a temporary staffing agency. Luz Hernandez (“Petitioner”)
worked for Respondent and was assigned to work at Affy Tapple, a client of Respondent. Petitioner’s
job duties consisted of placing wooden sticks into apples and putting product onto the apples. On
October 10, 2012, Petitioner was walking in the factory when she stepped on a piece of apple that was
on the ground and fell to the floor. As a result of this accident, Petitioner hurt her left knee and right
hand specifically, the middle finger.

Petitioner was taken to Advocate Occupational Health (“Advocate”) on October 10, 2012, complaining
of right hand and left knee pain. Petitioner also reported pain in the palm and dorsal digit of her right
hand with clicking upon extension of her right middle finger. Petitioner was diagnosed with a right
middle finger sprain and a splint was applied. According to the visit note, Petitioner noted moderate
pain, which was located in her right middle finger and left knee. Petitioner was released to return to
work that day with restrictions of no tight gripping or pinching with the right hand. Petitioner
returned to Advocate two more times, each time, Petitioner was given slightly less restrictive work
restrictions. There is no note of Petitioner complaining of pain in her wrist. PXx,

Petitioner was referred for to Accelerated Rehabilitation for physical therapy. Her first visit to
Accelerated was on October 31, 2012. Petitioner noted that she had pain in the palm and dorsal digit
and experienced a clicking in her right middle finger. On November 1, 2012, her second scheduled
therapy appointment, Petitioner missed the appointment without excuse. On December 14, 2012,
Petitioner was discharged by Accelerated after attending four appointments and missing three. At no
time, while treating at Accelerated, did Petitioner complain of pain in her wrist. On December 17,
2012, Respondent sent Petitioner a letter informing Petitioner that they were aware that she had been
missing her therapy appointments and that if her absence continued, then Respondent would close
her claim. Rx6 & Rx8.

On January 4, 2013, Petitioner saw Dr. Irvin Weisman of Illinois Orthopedic Network, who diagnosed
Petitioner as having stenosing tenosynovitis of the right middle finger. Dr. Weisman administered
and injection to the middle finger and scheduled her for a follow-up appointment. Dr. Weisman
placed Petitioner on light duty restrictions of no lifting over five (5) pounds with the right hand.

On February 1, 2013, Petitioner returned to Dr. Weisman with continued complaints of clicking in her
right middle finger. Dr. Weisman recommended Petitioner undergo a release of the A1 pulley muscle
of her right middle finger. According to her testimony, Petitioner chose not to go through with the
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surgery, out of fear that it would not work. At no time did Petitioner complain of pain in her wrist to
Dr. Weisman. RX1 and PX2; Tr. at 20.

Immediately following her accident, Petitioner worked light duty for Respondent, without missing a
week, from October 11, 2012 through January 2, 2013. She also worked February 4, 2013 through
February 15, 2013. It is recorded that she worked these periods, despite her testimony to the contrary.
Mr. Enrique Landeros, Respondent’s witness, testified that at all times, while Petitioner was released
to light duty until her full duty release in December of 2013, Respondent offered light duty work to
Petitioner, yet Petitioner on several occasions stopped working, without explanation. Respondent
sent Petitioner two certified letters informing her that work was available, within her restrictions.
RX7, RX9 & RX10; Tr. at pp. 15-16, 21-22; 54.

From February 2, 2013 through April 17, 2013, Petitioner did not present to anyone for treatment.
According to her testimony, Petitioner contacted Grupo Med Legal, who referred her to Rehab
Dynamix. On April 18, 2013, Petitioner presented to Dr. Lee De Las Casas, a chiropractor. According
to Dr. Casas’ report, Petitioner complained of middle finger pain and, for the first time since her work
accident, also complained of pain in her right wrist. According to the report, Petitioner alleged that
she experienced immediate pain and swelling in her wrist, following the accident. Dr. Casas
diagnosed Petitioner with right finger and wrist pain and right hand internal derangement. Dr. Casas
recommended that Petitioner undergo an MRI of her right wrist, which was performed on April 30,
2013. The MRI was read as normal. Dr. Casas further recommended an extended period of
chiropractic treatment. PX3, PX5.; Tr. at 25. '

On May 21, 2013, Petitioner saw Dr. Axel Vargas, an anesthesiologist at Chicago Pain and Orthopedic
Institute. According to Dr. Vargas, Petitioner was diagnosed by Dr. Weisman as having carpal tunnel
syndrome and had recommended that Petitioner undergo a carpal tunnel release. Dr. Vargas
recommended that Petitioner undergo an EMG/NCV, however the test was not conducted. PX4.

Deposttion of Dr. Michael Vender dated December 20, 2013

On July 8, 2013, at the request of Respondent, Petitioner saw Dr. Michael Vender of Hand Surgery
Associates. According to Dr. Vender, Petitioner complained of triggering in her right middle finger, as
well as diffuse pain in her palm. Dr. Vender diagnosed Petitioner as having flexor stenosing
tenosynovitis or, in layman’s terms, “trigger finger”. Dr. Vender explained that treatment for trigger
finger consists of performing a steroid injection and if the steroid injection fails, then surgery would
be recommended. In his deposition, Dr. Vender noted that physical therapy is not recommended for
such an injury, as such therapy is not beneficial for this particular condition. Following a surgery, Dr.
Vender noted that therapy of two times per week for four weeks, would be typical in treating a trigger
finger, but no more than three months of post-surgical therapy would be warranted. Dr. Vender
further stated that he would not recommend a patient treat with a pain management doctor or with a
chiropractor for treatment of a trigger finger. With respect to work restrictions, Dr. Vender noted that
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trigger finger does not typically require work restrictions, though he advised that it might be best to
avoid repeated, forceful gripping while treating for the condition. RX1.

Petitioner underwent an A1 pulley release of her right middle finger on August 14, 2013. The surgery
was performed by Dr. Howard Freedberg of Suburban Orthopaedics. Following the surgery,
Petitioner was ordered to begin physical therapy. According to Dr. Freedberg, Petitioner would to be
at maximum medical improvement (“MMI”) on October 7, 2013. Despite this, Chiropractor Casas
continued Petitioner’s therapy until December 6, 2013. PX3; PX6.

On November 13, 2013, the therapy done by Rehab Dynamix, following Petitioner’s surgery with Dr.
Freedberg was submitted to Utilization Review. According to Dr. Edward Rabin, a total of nine (9)
post-operative, physical therapy sessions, which took place between September 3, 2013 and
September 25, 2013, were deemed o be warranted and all other post-operative physical therapy was
deemed to be non-certified. Additionally, the therapy performed by Rehab Dynamix from July 22,
2013 and August 1, 2013 was also deemed to be non-certified. RX2.

Conclusions of Law

J. Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and
necessary and has Respondent paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and
necessary medical services?

The burden is on the Petitioner seeking an award to prove by a preponderance of credible evidence all
the elements of his or her claim, including the requirement that the injury complained of arose out of
and in the course of his or her employment. Martin vs. Industrial Commission, 91 Ill.2d 288, 63
Ill.Dec. 1, 437 N.E.2d 650 (1982). The mere existence of testimony does not require its acceptance.
Smith v Industrial Commission, 98 Ill.2d 20, 455 N.E.2d 86 (1983). To argue to the contrary would
require that an award be entered or affirmed whenever a claimant testified to an injury no matter how
much his or her testimony might be contradicted by the evidence, or how evident it might be that his
story is a fabricated afterthought. U.S. Steel v Industrial Commission, 8 1ll.2d 407, 134 N.E. 2d 307

(1956).

The Illinois Supreme Court has held that a claimant’s testimony standing alone may be accepted for
the purposes of determining whether an accident occurred. However, that testimony must be proved
credible. Caterpillar Tractor vs. Industrial Commission, 83 Ill.2d 213, 413 N.E.2d 740 (1980). In
addition, a claimant’s testimony must be considered with all the facts and circumstances that might
not justify an award. Neal vs. Industrial Commission, 141 Ill.App.3d 289, 490 N.E.2d 124 (1986).
Uncorroborated testimony will support an award for benefits only if consideration of all facts and
circumstances [emphasis added] support the decision. See generally, Gallentine v. Industrial
Commission, 147 Ill.Dec 353, 559 N.E.2d 526, 201 Ill.App.3d 880 (2nd Dist. 1990), see also Seiber v
Industrial Commission, 82 Ill.2d 87, 411 N.E.2d 249 (1980), Caterpillar v Industrial Commnission, 73
5
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Ill.2d 311, 383 N.E.2d 220 (1978). It is the function of the Commission to judge the credibility of the
witnesses and to resolve conflicts in the medical evidence, and assign weight to the witness’ testimony.
O'Dette v. Industrial Commission, 79 Ill.2d 249, 253, 403 N.E.2d 221, 223 (1980); Hosteny v
Workers' Compensation Commission, 397 Ill. App. 3d 665, 674 (20009).

Ilinois Orthopedic Network (Px8)

The Arbitrator finds that the medical bills of Illinois Orthopedic Network are in line with the
recommendations of Dr. Michael Vender and were reasonable and necessary to promote the recovery
of Petitioner for her right middle finger injury. Respondent is to pay such medical bills according to
the Section 8.2 of the Illinois Workers’ Compensation Act and the Medical Fee Schedule.

Rehab Dynamix (Px9)

The Arbitrator finds that the treatment provided by Rehab Dynamix between the dates of September
3, 2013, and September 25, 2013 was reasonable and necessary. All other treatment provided by
Rehab Dynamix was neither reasonable nor necessary. Therefore, the Arbitrator finds that
Respondent is liable for payment of Rehab Dynamix bills, per the medical fee schedule for dates of
service including and between September 3, 2013 and September 25, 2013.

During Petitioner’s course of treatment following her work accident of October 10, 2012, through her
release on December 6, 2013, Petitioner was seen by three different hand surgeons, i.e., Drs.
Weisman, Vender and Freedberg. According to all three, the proper way to treat Petitioner’s injury
was an A1 pulley release surgery. This course of treatment was recommended on February 1, 2013,
but Petitioner refused the surgery, as she testified that she was afraid. The surgery was finally
performed on August 14, 2013. Drs. Weisman and Vender were clear and unequivocal that should a
steroid injection fail to relieve Petitioner’s trigger finger symptoms, the only way to correct the
problem would be surgical intervention by way of A1 pulley release. Petitioner rejected this advice
and instead saw a chiropractor for her trigger finger. After roughly four months of unsuccessful
chiropractic intervention, Petitioner finally acquiesced to the A1 pulley release, which led to her
eventual recovery.

Following Petitioner’s surgery, the chiropractors at Rehab Dynamix began extensive treatment.
Petitioner saw the chiropractor twenty-eight (28) times between September 2013 and December 6,
2013, with no visits between October 2, 2013 and November 4, 2013. Petitioner was seeing the
chiropractor as many as five times a week during this period. At most, Dr. Vender recommended
treatment at an interval of two times a week for four weeks. Dr. Rabin, the utilization review doctor,
recommended certification of only six therapy sessions in the month of September 2013.

Based on the recommendations of Drs. Vender and Rabin, the Arbitrator finds that Respondent is
liable for Petitioner’s visits to Rehab Dynamix on the dates of September 3, 2013 and September 25,
2013. All other medical care Petitioner received at Rehab Dynamix is deemed unreasonable and
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unnecessary and Respondent is not liable for such medical treatment. Respondent will pay the
aforementioned compensable medical bills pursuant to Section 8.2 of the Illinois Workers’
Compensation Act and the Medical Fee Schedule.

Chicago Pain & Orthopedic Institute (Px10)
The Arbitrator finds that the treatment provided by Chicago Pain & Orthopedic Institute was neither

reasonable nor necessary. Therefore, compensation for Chicago Pain & Orthopedic Institutes’ medical
bills is hereby denied.

According to the report of Dr. Michael Vender, treatment by a pain management doctor for a trigger
finger was not warranted. Additionally, a review of the medical records submitted into evidence by
Petitioner shows that Petitioner mainly treated with Chicago Pain and Orthopedic Institute for carpal
tunnel syndrome. According to Dr. Axel Vargas, Petitioner was diagnosed as having carpal tunnel
syndrome by Dr. Weisman; and based on that diagnosis, Dr. Vargas recommended that Petitioner
undergo an EMG/NCV. Nowhere in Dr. Weisman’s records does it indicate that he diagnosed
Petitioner with carpal tunnel syndrome, nor does it note that Petitioner even mentioned pain in her
wrist. It is unclear where Dr. Vargas obtained his information with respect to Petitioner’s past
diagnoses and clearly, the care rendered by Dr. Vargas was neither reasonable nor necessary for, as
noted above, all surgeons who treated Petitioner agreed that Petitioner suffered from trigger finger,
not carpal tunnel syndrome.

It is for these reasons that the Arbitrator finds that the treatment provided by Chicago Pain &
Orthopedic Institute was neither reasonable nor necessary. Therefore, compensation for Chicago Pain
& Orthopedic Institutes’ medical bills is hereby denied.

Advantage Imaging (Px11)
The Arbitrator finds that the treatment provided by Advantage Imaging was neither reasonable nor
necessary. Therefore, compensation for Advantage Imaging’s medical bills is hereby denied.

On April 30, 2013, Petitioner underwent an MRI of her right wrist, which was read as normal. As
previously noted, the medical records do not support Petitioner suffering an injury to her wrist.
According to the medical records, Petitioner never complained of pain in her wrist until her first visit
with Rehab Dynamix, which took place over six months following her work accident. Prior to her first
visit with Rehab Dynamix, Petitioner had been seen by medical staff at Advocate Occupational Health,
Accelerated Rehabilitation; and by Dr. Weisman. She never told any of these medical professionals
that she was experiencing pain in her wrist. The Arbitrator concludes that Petitioner has not proven,
by a preponderance of the evidence, that she suffered an injury to her right wrist, as a result of her
work accident. It is for these reasons that the Arbitrator finds that the treatment provided by
Advantage Imaging was neither reasonable nor necessary and compensation for Advantage Imaging’s
medical bills is hereby denied.
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Suburban Orthopaedics, LLC (Px12)

The Arbitrator finds that the medical bills of Suburban Orthopadics, LLC are in line with the
recommendations of Dr. Michael Vender and were reasonable and necessary to promote the recovery
of Petitioner for her right middle finger injury. Respondent is to pay such medical bills according to
the Section 8.2 of the Illinois Workers’ Compensation Act and the Medical Fee Schedule.

Holy Cross Hospital (Px13)

The Arbitrator declines to award Petitioner payment of the medical bills from Holy Cross Hospital, as
Petitioner did not prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, that these bills were related to her work
accident. Petitioner did not submit any supporting medical records into evidence regarding these
bills. It is unclear what treatment Petitioner received at Holy Cross Hospital and why she received
this treatment. Nowhere in any other medical records submitted into evidence is the treatment at
Holy Cross Hospital discussed or even alluded to. The Arbitrator is unable to determine whether this
treatment was even recommended by any of Petitioner’s treating physicians or was calculated to
promote Petitioner’s recovery from her work accident of October 10, 2012. Having failed to carry her
burden with respect to the medical bills from Holy Cross Hospital, the Arbitrator concludes that
Respondent is not liable for payment of said bills.

Metro Milwaukee Anesthesia Associates (Px14)

The Arbitrator finds that the medical bills of Metro Milwaukee Anesthesia Associates are in line with
the recommendations of Dr. Michael Vender and were reasonable and necessary to promote the
recovery of Petitioner for her right middle finger injury. Respondent is to pay such medical bills
according to the Section 8.2 of the Illinois Workers’ Compensation Act and the Medical Fee Schedule.

Accredited Ambulatory Care, LLC (Px15)

The Arbitrator finds that the medical bills of Accredited Ambulatory Care, LLC. are in line with the
recommendations of Dr. Michael Vender and were reasonable and necessary to promote the recovery
of Petitioner for her right middle finger injury. Respondent is to pay such medical bills according to
the Section 8.2 of the Illinois Workers’ Compensation Act and the Medical Fee Schedule.

Prescription Partners, LLC (Px16)
The Arbitrator finds that the treatment provided by Prescription Partners, LLC was neither reasonable

nor necessary. Therefore, compensation for Prescription Partners, LLC's medical bills is hereby
denied.

According to the report of Dr. Michael Vender, treatment by a pain management doctor for a trigger
finger was not warranted. As noted above, the treatment rendered by Dr. Axel Vargas of Chicago Pain
and Orthopedic Institute was neither reasonable nor necessary. The prescriptions dispensed by
Prescription Partners, LLC on May 21, 2013 and July 25, 2103 were dispensed at the direction of Dr.
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Axel Vargas. Therefore, the medical bills pertaining to those dates of services are hereby found to be
neither reasonable nor necessary.

With respect to medications dispensed ostensibly at the request of Dr. Freedberg, on August 12, 2013,
the record does not contain medical records evidencing a visit to Dr. Freedberg by Petitioner on that
date. Therefore, Petitioner has failed to carry her burden of proof with respect to these bills.

It is for these reasons that the Arbitrator finds that the treatment provided by Prescription Partners,
LLC was neither reasonable nor necessary. Therefore, compensation for Prescription Partners, LLC’s
medical bills is hereby denied.

Cardiac Billing Services (Px17)

The Arbitrator declines to award to Petitioner payment of the medical bills from Cardiac Billing
Services, as Petitioner has not proven, by a preponderance of the evidence, that these bills are related
to her work accident. Petitioner did not submit any supporting medical records into evidence
whatsoever. It is unclear what treatment Petitioner received at Cardiac Billing Services and why she
received this treatment. Nowhere in any other medical records submitted into evidence is the
treatment with Cardiac Billing Services discussed or referenced. The Arbitrator is unable to
determine whether this treatment was even recommended by any of Petitioner’s treating physicians or
was calculated to promote Petitioner’s recovery from her work accident of October 10, 2012. Having
failed to carry her burden with respect to the medical bills from Cardiac Billing Services, the
Arbitrator concludes that Respondent is not liable for payment of said bills.

Community Pathology Associates, LLC (Px18)

The Arbitrator declines to award to Petitioner payment of the medical bills from Community
Pathology Associates, LLC as Petitioner has not proven, by a preponderance of the evidence, that
these bills are related to her work accident. Petitioner did not submit any supporting medical records
into evidence. It is unclear what treatment Petitioner received at Community Pathology Associates,
LLC and why she received this treatment. Nowhere in any other medical records submitted into
evidence is the treatment with Community Pathology Associates, LLC discussed or referenced. The
Arbitrator is unable to determine whether this treatment was even recommended by any of
Petitioner’s treating physicians or was calculated to promote Petitioner’s recovery from her work
accident of October 10, 2012. Having failed to carry her burden with respect to the medical bills from
Community Pathology, LLC, the Arbitrator concludes that Respondent is not liable for payment of
said bills.
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K. Is Petitioner entitled to TTD benefits?

The Arbitrator concludes that Petitioner has failed to carry her burden of proof with respect to
entitlement of temporary total disability benefits (“T'TD”). Therefore, the Arbitrator declines to award
any TTD benefits.

According to Petitioner’s testimony, Petitioner admits that following her accident she did indeed work
some periods of light duty work; however, Petitioner’s testimony with respect to the issue of
entitlement to TTD is varied and at times contradicting. During testimony the following exchange
occurred:

Q. Okay. You continued working until about November 12[, 2012]; is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. Why did you stop working on November 12th?

A. Because my hand was hurting a lot.

Q. You were able to work with those restrictions for a period of time, right?

A. Yes.

Q. In November, you stopped working, right?

A. In December, yes.
Tr. at 15-16.

This type of confusing testimony characterized Petitioner’s testimony, and it was clear that Petitioner
could not accurately recall what dates, if any, that she worked following her work accident. Petitioner
later testified that she worked three days in February of 2013 and went back to work on October 7,
2013. Id. at 21-22. According to Petitioner’s post-accident wage records, Petitioner worked without
interruption following her work accident through December of 2012, Petitioner then worked the first
and second weeks of February 2013 and the final week of March of 2013. Based on the
aforementioned wage records, Petitioner returned to work permanently beginning in early October of
2013.

According to the Request for Hearing form, submitted into evidence as Arbitrator’s Exhibit 1,
Petitioner claimed to be entitled to TTD for the periods of November 12, 2012 through December 16,
2012; December 30, 2012 through February 7, 2013 and February 15, 2013 through December 6,
2013. Based on Petitioner’s post-accident wage records, it is undisputed that Petitioner worked for
Respondent for the periods of November 12, 2012 through December 16, 2012 and October 6, 2013
through December 6, 2013; therefore, Petitioner’s request for TTD for those periods is summarily
denied. ' :

With respect to the period of December 30, 2012 through February 7, 2013, it is true that Petitioner
did not work for Respondent during that period. Despite not working, the record is devoid of any
doctor’s note that orders Petitioner to be off work for that time. Additionally, Dr. Vender stated that
Petitioner was capable of working, without restrictions, following her accident. According to the
testimony of Respondent’s representative, Enrique Landeros, Respondent was able to provide
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Petitioner with work, at all times, following Petitioner’s work accident. It is for these reasons that the
Arbitrator denies Petitioner’s request for TTD for the period of December 30, 2012 through February
7, 2013. ' :

With respect to the period of February 15, 2013 through October 6, 2013, it is also true that Petitioner
did not work for Respondent during that period. Again, according to Dr. Vender, Petitioner was
capable of working at near full capacity, following her work accident. Additionally, Respondent wrote
two separate letters notifying Petitioner that they had work available for her and that she should
return to work. Petitioner neither presented herself to work for Respondent nor provided Respondent
with medical status notes indicating that she could not work. Therefore, Petitioner’s request for TTD
for the period of February 15, 2013 through October 6, 2013, is denied. Having failed to prove
entitlement to TTD, the Arbitrator denies Petitioner’s request for TTD in its entirety.

L.  Whatis the nature and extent of the injury?

As a result of Petitioner’s work injury Petitioner suffered an injury to her right middle finger.
According to the diagnosis of her treating doctors, Petitioner suffered from flexor stenosing
tenosynovitis or, “trigger finger.” After Dr. Freedberg performed a release of the A1 pulley of
Petitioner’s middle finger and a short course of physical therapy, Petitioner achieved MMI and has
since returned to her pre-injury job.

In Rose Valdez v. Intercontinental Hotel, 01 IIC 0308, (Ind. Com’n 2001), Valdez suffered an injury
to her thumb, which resulted in a diagnosis of stenosing tenosynovitis, or trigger finger. Petitioner
was treated with a surgical release of her A1 pulley as well as a short course of physical therapy. Upon
the completion of treatment, Valdez was able to return to her pre-injury job. Following a hearing, the
Arbitrator awarded, and the Commission affirmed, 30% loss of use of Petitioner’s thumb.

Given the striking similarities bétween the case at hand and that of Valdez, the Arbitrator awards
Petitioner 30% loss of use of her right middle finger, or 11.4 weeks of permanent partial disability.

11
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STATE OF ILLINOIS )

|:| Affirm and adopt (no changes)
|E Affirm with changes

L mjured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(a))
[ Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(z))

COUNTY OF COOK ) l:] Reverse |:| Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)

[ ] PTD/Fatal denied

|:| Modify & None of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Kenneth W. Johnson,
Petitioner,

V8. NQO: 05 WC 17118

Evanston Township High School,

Respondon 16IWCCQO37Y

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review under §19(b) having been filed by the Petitioner herein and notice
given to all parties, the Commission, after considering Petitioner’s issues of casual connection, medical
expenses, prospective medical expenses, temporary total disability and credit applicable for same, and
admissibility of the evidence deposition of Dr. Avi Bernstein, and being advised of the facts and law,
affirms and adopts the facts and reasoning expressed in the Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached
hereto and made a part hereof.

In so affirming, the Commission does correct an internal inconsistency contained within the
Decision. Specifically, on the second page of the Decision cover sheet, under the “Findings” heading
the Arbitrator notes the Respondent shall be given a credit of $4,991.91 for TTD; however, in the
“Order” section later on that page, the Arbitrator notes the Respondent shall be given a credit of
$5,207.16 in TTD payments. This inconsistency is effectively reiterated on page 12 of the rider of the
Decision, with $4,991.91 being listed as a conclusion in the 8(j) analysis section and $5,207.16 being
expressed in the “Order of the Arbitrator” section.

The Commission has reviewed Respondent’s Exhibit 1 and the testimony of Shirley MeGill,
which support the $5,207.16 figure, and further notes that the $4,991.91 asserted by the claimant lacks
independent factual corroboration. The Commission finds that the proper amount of TTD benefits paid
by the Respondent for which the Respondent would be entitled to credit is $5,207.16. The Arbitrator
found the Respondent liable for 11 & 5/7 wecks of TTD, a total liability of $5,256.43, thereby leaving
present liability of $49.27 due and owing for TTD once the credit is applied.
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Beyond resolution of the above-referenced discrepancy, all other findings and orders are
affirmed.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that other than expressed above, the
Decision of the Arbitrator filed January 29, 2015, is hereby affirmed and adopted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit for all
amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.

The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court shall file with the
Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit Court.

DATED: JUN-7 - 2016 % 4\,/

hua D. Luskin

;)&3%25/16 M/f/ / ’% / M

68

Charles J. DeVriendt

/wa/m

Ruth W. Whlte s




R ILLINOIS WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
: NOTICE OF 19(b) ARBITRATOR DECISION

JOHNSON, KENNETH Case# 05WC017118

Employee/Petitioner

EVANSTON TOWNSHIP HIGH SCHOOL 18 E WCCO 3 7

Employer/Respondent

On 1/29/2015, an arbitration decision on this case was filed with the Illinois Workers' Compensation Commission in
Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed.

If the Commission reviews this award, interest of 0.07% shall accrue from the date listed above to the day before the
date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall
not dccrue. _ ‘ '

A copy of this decision is mailed to the following parties:

0728 THE LAW CFFICES OF THOMAS DUDA
330 W COLFAX ST ' '
PALATINE, IL 60057

1120 BRADY CONNOLLY & MASUDA PC
NICOLE RUSSQ WEISBRODT '
10 S LASALLE ST SUITE 900

CHICAGO, IL 60803



STATE OF ILLFNOIS ) I:I,Injnred Workers’ Benef-it Fund { 54(d))
)SS. |1 Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(2))
COUNTY OF Cook ) || Second Tnjury Fund (58(e)18)
’ ’ & None of the above

ILLINOIS WORKERS? COMPENM SA—TIOi‘J COMMISSICN

ARBITRATION DECISION
19(b)
Kenneth Johnson Case # 05 WC 17118
Employee/Petitioner -
.o L - Consolidated cases:

EEI:;gs;ggs';olz:iship High School 1 6 1 g{q C C @ 3 ?? ??

"An Applzcatzon Jor. Adjustment of Claim was filed in this Matter, and 2 Notice of Hearing was mailed to each .
- party. The matter was heard by the Honorabie Deborah L. Simpson, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city

.....

of Chicago, on December 12, 2012 and December 4, 2013. After reviewing all of the evidence presented the

* Arbitrator hereby makes findings on the disputed issues ‘checked below, and attaches those findings to this

do cument

DISPUTED ISSUES

A D Was. Respondent operatmg under and Sub_] ect to the Illinois Workers' Compensatlon or Occupatlonal
Diseases Act? - - : :

B. [:l ‘Was there an employee—employer relatlons]:up?

C. |:| Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?

"E."[] Was timely notice of the accident given fo Respondent?

D. I:l ‘What was the date of the accident?

F. Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causaily related to the injury?
G. D What were Petitioner's earnings?

H. D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

WJ . _WEI'E_’FIF—E medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent

l:] What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the, accndent’?

paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?

K. . Is Petitioner entitled to any prospective medical care? e

L. . What temporary benefits are in dispute? _
JTPD =~ [ Maintenance @ X TID

. upon Respondent?
N. . Is Respondent due any credit? '
0. D Other Admissibility of the evidence deposition of Avi Bernstein, MLD.
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On the date of accident, 1/23/05, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act.
On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.

On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.

Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is rot causally related to the accident.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner eamed $673.08; the average weekly wage was $35,000.00.

On the date of accident, Petitioner was 47 years of age, married with 0 dependent children.

Respondent Aas paid all reasonable and necessary charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $4,991.91 for TTD, $0.00 for TPD, $0.00 for maintenance, and $3.919.18
for other benefits, for a total credit of $8,911.09.

Respondent is entitled to a credit of $101,316.95 under Section 8(j) of the Act.
ORDER .
Credits

Respondent shall be given a credit of $5,207.16 for TTD, $0.60 for TPD, and $0.00 for maintenance benefits,
for a total credit of $$5.207.16.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $101,316.95 for medical beneﬁts that have been pa1d and Respondent
shall hold petitioner harmless from any claims by any providers of the services for which Respondent is
‘receiving this credit, as provided in Section 8(j) of the Act.

Respondent shall be given credit for $3.919.18 for medical benefits paid under Section 8(a) of the Act.

Temporary Total Disability

Respondent shall pay Petitioner temporary total disability benefits of $448.72/week for 11. and 5/7 weeks,
commencing 1/23/05 through 4/15/05, as provided in Section 8(b) of the Act.

Permanent Partial Disability: Person as a whole

Respondent shall pay Petitioner permanent partial disability benefits of $403.85/week for 20 weeks, because the
injuries sustained caused the 4% loss of the person as a whole, as provided in Section 8(d)2 of the Act.

In no instance shall this award be a bar to subsequent hearing and determination of an additional amount of
medical benefits or compensation for a temporary or permanent disability, if any.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this decision,
and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the decision of
the Commission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice of
Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however, if
an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

W 9@.4_ RE, 2075~
Signature of Arbitrator Date

ICArbDecl9(b)

SAN 2 9 72015



BEFORE THE ILLINOGIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Kenneth Johnson, )
Petitioner, 3
vs. ; No. 05 WC 17118

Evanston Township, ; '
Respondent. i 1 6 1 %ﬂ C C @ 3 7 7 '

FINDINGS OF FACTS AND CONCL.USIONS OF LAW

The parties agree that on January 23, 2005, the Petitioner and the Respondent were
operating under the Illinois Worker’s Compensation or Occupational Diseases Act and that their
relationship was one of employee and employer. They agree that on that date, the Petitioner
sustained accidental injuries that arose out of and in the course of the employment and that the
Petitioner gave the Respondent notice of the accident which is the subject matter of the dispute
within the time limits stated in the Act. They further agree that in the year preceding the injuries,
the Petitioner earned $35,000.00, and that his average weekly wage was $673.08.

Atissue in this hearing 1s as follows: (1) Is the Petitioner’s current condition of ill-being
causally connected to this injury or exposure; (2) Is the Respondent liable for the unpaid medical
bills; (3) Is Petitioner entitled to TTD from January 23, 2005 through the present; (4) What is the
amount of TTD that Respondent has paid Petitioner; (5) What is the nature and extent of the

injury; (6) Has Petitioner exceeded his choice of medical providers; (7) Is Respondent entitled to
credit pursuant to 8(j); and (9) Is the evidence deposition of Avi Bernstein, M.D. admissible.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The issue of the Admissibility of the Evidence Deposition of Avi Bernstein, M.D.

On December 12, 2012, prior to commencement of testimony the parties requested a
ruling regarding the issue of the evidence deposition of Avi Bemnstein, M.D. (Transcript of
Arhitration 5, hereinafter *T A 5). Preliminary arguments from attorneys for netitioner and .
respondent addressed the issue of a Dedimus Motion pertaining to the deposition of respondent’s
expert, Dr. Avi Bernstein. Petitioner’s attomney argued that in response to the Dedimus Motion,
it stated that Dr. Bernstein’s deposition was scheduled in advance for September 25, 2012, at
12:00 p.m. (T.A. 8). Petitioner’s attorney acknowledged that on the August 27, 2012, hearing

date for this case, that the Dedimus Order was granted by Arbitrator Falcioni and that petitioner’s
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attorney declined making a record of the granted Dedimus. (T.A. 8). Petitioner argued that prior
to securing the deposition date referenced in the Dedimus, that no one contacted him regarding
availability for that date. (T.A. 8). Petitioner’s attorney testified that when the start time of the
deposition on September 25, 2012, was later delayed by the doctor, that it conflicted with his
persomnal religious holiday, because he had to be “home to take care of my chores.” (T.A. 9).
Petitioner’s attorney stated that he appeared for Dr. Bernstein’s deposition on September 25,
2012, at 12:00 p.m., although he had already been informed the doctor was unable to proceed
with the deposition at that time. (T.A. 11).

Respondent’s attorney noted on the record that the Dedimus Motion presented on
August 27, 2012, referenced a pre-scheduled deposition date. (T.A. 19). That was in accordance
with the rules for preparing a Motion, which require identification of a deposition date. (T.A.
19). Respondent’s attorney explained that a deposition date was secured for the Motion so that it
could be presented as part of the Motion pursuant to the rules. (T.A. 20). Respondent’s attorney
also explained that the 12:00 p.m: start time for the deposition which was referenced in the
Dedimus Motion was the time provided by the doctor’s office. The doctor’s schedule
subsequently changed, beyond the control of the respondent or its attorney. (T.A. 20).
Respondent’s attorney noted that the Dedimus Order signed by Arbitrator Falcioni on August 27,
2012, granted the Motion for Dedimius on September 25, 2012, and did not specify a time that
the deposition was to be completed on that date. (T.A. 20). Respondent’s attorney reported that
the time change was a 2 hour difference, to accommodate a surgery at the doctor’s request.
(T.A. 20). After the September 25, 2012, deposition date had to be rescheduled because the
petitioner’s attorney could not attend the 2:00 p.m. time, respondent’s attorney did not consult
petitioner’s attorney regarding a new date. Respondent’s attorney noted on the record that the

~ alternative dates in February or March were provided by the doctor’s office, and not requested or
provided by the Respondent’s attorey’s office and these were offered to the petitioner’s
attorney. (T.A.21). Respondent’s attorney stated that she exhausted efforts to secure a sooner
date, which is how the new deposition date of November 28, 2012, was obtained. (T.A. 22).

Respondent contended that the Dedimus Order granted addresses whether the deposition
itself should be permitted, and is not intended to be a time specific Order. (T.A. 22).
Respondent’s attorney stated that when the new deposition date of November 28, 2012, was
secured from Dr. Bernstein’s office, it only became available due to a cancellation. (T.A. 22).
The date had to be reserved without consulting petitioner’s attomey, or it would have been lost.
(T.A. 22). Notice of the November 28, 2012, deposition date of Dr. Bernstein was sent to
petitioner’s attorney on October 9, 2012, more than 7 weeks in advance. (T.A. 22). Petitioner’s
attorney had more than 7 weeks before the deposition to voice any objection to the availability
for the November 28, 2012, deposition date. Respondent’s attorney argued that by the time the
petitioner finally raised an objection on November 14, 2012, Asbitrator Simpson’s (October) trial
cycle had ended, and there was no one available to hear an Emergency Amended Dedimus
Motion. (T.A. 22). The parties did not attempt to contact Arbitrator Simpson to see if they could
present the emergency motion. Respondent’s attorney also noted that regarding the November
28, 2012, deposition date that she inquired from petitioner’s attorney whether he had a conflict
with that date. He denied a scheduling conflict, and stated that he was objecting to the
deposition. (T.A. 23). Respondent’s attorney provided documentation confirming that she
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contacted petitioner’s attorney regarding the change in deposition time the same day that Dr.
Bemstein’s office notified respondent’s attorney of the modified time. (T.A. 27).

Petitioner’s attorney admitted that he did not advise respondent’s attorney of a conflict
with the November 28, 2012, deposition date, but he advised counsel that he was “standing on.
the Dedimus.” (T.A. 32).

Arbitrator Simpson requested that the parties brief the issue of whether or not to allow the
partial testimony from Dr. Bernstein into evidence with Briefs being due on January 4, 2013.
The parties elected to proceed with the testimony of the Petitioner on December 12, 2012. After
the testimony was completed the hearing was recessed until January 4, 2013, for submission of
briefs on the issue and to potentially close proofs.

After the briefs were submitted, Arbitrator Simpson ruled that the balance of the
deposition of Dr. Bernstein should go forward and that the deposition would be admissible in its
entirety. The proofs were kept open until the parties could secure a date for the completion of
the deposition of Dr. Bernstein. The parties agreed to a date of April 17, 2013, beginning with
cross-examination by Petitioner’s attorney since the Respondent had proceeded to take the
deposition of Dr. Bernstein on Nov. 28, 2012, the date it had been re-scheduled to and
petitioner’s counsel had declined to appear.

The accident of January 23, 2003

Petitioner testlﬁed that on the day of hlS accndent he was employed asa Custodlan for

Custod1an, he also had respon31b1ht1es for mamtammg the outsule grounds (T A. 48)

Petitioner testified that his outside duties included plowing snow, shoveling snow, and

" maintaining areas that needed to be salted. (T.A. 48). Petitioner testified that on January 23,
2005, the date of accident, he was plowing snow from the driveways and sidewalks at the school.
(T.A. 49). He stated that he was operating a tractor that was used for cutting grass and plowing
snow. (T.A.49). He described it as approximately 4 feet long with a V-plow on it. (T.A. 50).
He stated that the seat area was-enclosed with steel doors.and glass on both sides. (T.A.-50).. -

He testified that as he was plowing snow, going south, there was a place where concrete
-.--separated-from-the ground, which he struck with the plow. (T-A.-52). Petitionertestified-that—— ———

when he struck the concrete, it jerked him, and he struck the front of the glass, bounced back,
and hit the back of the glass. (T.A. 52). Petitioner testified that the vehicle stopped when the
accident occurred. (T.A. 55). Petitioner testified that after the incident he noticed that he
couldn’t raise his arms up, and that he had pain in his head and arms. (T.A. 57). He stated thata
co-worlcer assisted him from getting out of the snowplow and that he tried to take the machine
back to thi€ office whiere they are stored, (T.A.57). Petitioner testitied that he then went to the
security room, where he laid down on the couch for a minute, and then decided to call an
ambulance. (T.A. 58). Petitioner was then taken to the emergency room at Evanston Hospital.
(T.A. 58). Petitioner described subsequent pain in his lower back, pain in his shoulders, and a
headache. (T.A. 59). Petitioner testified that he did not return to work for the school district
after the alleged accident date. (T.A. 60).
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Petitioner testified that two days following his alleged accident, he began experiencing
more heart problems. (T.A. 61). He developed shortness of breathi, but continued attending
physical therapy through the beginning of April 2005. (T.A. 62). The petitioner testified that he
also treated with Dr. Pierre, a chiropractor, between January and April of 2005. (T.A. 62). The
petitioner testified that his wife was a patient of Dr. Pierre. (T.A. 63). However, petitioner
testified that the chiropractic treatments actually made his pain worse, and irritated his
symptoms. (T.A. 63).

Petitioner acknowledged that he did have some medical problems prior to the alleged
January 23, 2005, accident date. He admitted that he had been having heart failure and was
treating with Dr. Vemof. (T.A. 51). Petitioner testified that he was treating with Dr. Vemof for
his shortness of breath and heart problems, as well as his neck and back pain. (T.A. 64). The
petitioner testified that he was sent to Evanston Hospital by Dr. Vernof, and that he was admitted
on April 1, 2005, for his heart condition. (T.A. 64). Petitioner testified that he remained
hospitalized at Evanston Hospital for 3 to 4 weeks due to his heart condition. Petitioner testified
that eventually he was transferred to Northwestern Memorial Hospital for treatment of his heart

“condition for consideration for a heart transplant. (T.A. 65). He was then transferred to Loyola
Hospital, where he began treating with a cardiologist, Dr. Heroux. (T.A. 66). The petitioner was
hospitalized between August and October 2005 for preparation and completion of a heart
transplant. (T.A. 67). He was released to his home at the end of 2005. (T.A. 67). Petitioner
acknowledged that at some point, his sister was contacted by the school district, and that he
received written documentation to resign from his position at the school district while he was in
Northwestern Memorial Hospital. .(T.A. 68). The petitioner acknowledged that as the summer
of 2005, he voluntarily resigned from his employment with the school district. (T.A. 68). The
petitioner underwent a heart transplant on June 8, 2006. (T.A. 69). He was hospitalized
intermittently subsequent to the heart transplant surgery due to complications pertaining to the
transplant. (T.A. 69-70). The petitioner continued treatment throughout 2007 regarding his
heart condition. (T.A. 70).

At the request of his attorney, petitioner was examined by Dr. Gross in 2007. Petitioner
began treating with Dr. Nockels in 2008 for his alleged neck condition. This was more than
3 years following the alleged work incident. Petitioner underwent surgery performed by
Dr. Nockels on July 28, 2008. (T.A. 72). Petitioner described that currently he continues to
have pain in both sides of his neck, and has difficulty turning his neck to either s1de (T.A.76).
The petitioner also described difficuity carrying things.

Petitioner reviewed a written job description for the custodian position, and testified that
it was an accurate description of what his job duties for the respondent were. (T.A. 79). On
cross-examination, petitioner admitted that he had a previous injury to his neck and back in
2003, but he denied being able to recall prior treatment in 2003 at Loyola Hospital. (T.A. 80).

Records introduced into evidence by respondent document and upon further questioning,
petitioner admitted that he did sustain an injury to his neck and back when he fell off a ladder in
2003. (T.A. 80). Petitioner admitted that he treated at Evanston Northwestern for several
months following the injury in 2003. The records reflected as a result of his alleged injury in
2003, he had MRIs done of his neck and back. Petitioner acknowledged having undergone
physical therapy for his neck and back in 2003. (T.A. 81).
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On cross-examination, petitioner agreed that he had seen Dr. Alleva for treatment for the
injuries he sustained on January 23, 20053, regarding his neck and thought he recalled that he had
been released to full duty work in April 2005 regarding his neck. (T.A. 82). The records of
Dr. Pierre dated March 10, 2005, indicate that “my recommendation is full duty, no restrictions.”
(T.A. 82, P.X. 6). Petitioner denied returning to full duty work for the school district at that
time, but admitted that he had already been experiencing heart problems at the time he had been
released for his neck. (T.A. 83).

Petitioner admitted that he applied for disability benefits through the school district in
June of 2005. (T.A. 83). He acknowledged his signature on an Application for Disability
Benefits dated June 7, 2005. (T.A. 83-84). Petitioner testified that he was granted disability
benefits and took a leave from work subsequently. (T.A. 84). Petitioner could not testify to any
treatment for his injuries from the accident of January 23, 2005, between the period of his release
by Dr. Pierre in March of 2005, and his being sent to Dr. Gross by his attorney in July 2007.
(T.A. 86). The records entered into evidence on petitioner’s behalf fail to document any
treatment in the two year period between 2005 and 2008 as well.

- The petitioner agreed that once he resumeéd freating for his neck, the first doctor he saw
was Dr. Gross, who he was sent to by his attorney. He did not return to any of his prior treating
doctor’s.

Petitioner was also sent for an examination by Dr. Gary Skaletsky, at the request of his
attorney. .(T.A.77). Despite the fact that he did not examine the petitioner until more than four
and a half years after the alleged January 23, 2005 accident, Dr. Skaletsky rendered an opim'on
that petitioner was mcapable of worklng at all during the perlod between I:us alleged work mJury

with the full duty releases ﬁ:orn petitioner’s treating phy31c1ans, Dr. Alleva, and Dr. P1erre as
well as the Respondent’s-expert, Dr. Bernstein.

Dr. Skaletsky admitted during his deposition that the EMG study performed in 2003
would have been ordered to address preexisting radicular complaints, and also that the cervical
MRI studies from 2003 and 2005 were essentially unchanged. (PX. 19, p. 29). Dr. Skaletsky
also acknowledged that there was no evidence of any cervical spine treatment for the period
- between petitioner’s release from Dr. Pierre in March 2005, and the first consultation with Dr.
" Nockels in March 2008. (PX. 19, p. 32). Dr. Skaletsky also acknowledged that none of the

__doctors who treated petitioner’s alleged cervical injury prior_ta. 2008 had ever recommended . .~

surgery. (PX. 19, p. 33).

From the January 2005 date of accident to the first treatment with Dr. Nockels in 2008,
the treating medical records indicate that no prior doctor had recommended cervical surgery
regarding petitioner’s alleged work injury. The petitioner testified that at some point he applied

. 'Fﬁ‘l‘ C‘.nr‘m] QPF“I'II‘!‘I‘V n‘lthﬂlhr ‘;Inﬂ ﬂ"!n'l’ he had ]‘\ppﬁ mtrm-r]pr:l 1+ -:'-nr] Xxtao ranattrne 1+ nt tha fimes ~F
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trial. At the time of trial, petmoner stated that he had not received any treatment regarding his
neck for the past year. (T.A. 90).
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The Petitioner apparently related to Dr. Gross and Dr. Nockels that his pain began three

years ago with an injury at work. However the neurosurgery admission/consult notes read in
relevant part that:

IiI. HISTORY OF PRESENT ILLNESS

51 year old right handed male s/p heart transplant in 2006 with a three year
history of neck pain after injuring himself at work. While undergoing a heart biopsy a
few months ago the patient heard a “snap” in his neck and has had difficulty turning his
head to the left ever since. The patient describes his pain as starting in the left side of
his neck and radiating to the entire arm. The patient states he has pam in his left
shoulder. (PX 15)

Dr. Bernstein examined the petitioner at the request of the respondent on April 15, 2005,
and again on March 1, 2010. (RX 15, p. 33). Dr. Bernstein is a board certified orthopedic
surgeon specializing in treatment of the spine. (RX: 15, p. 12). He s also vice chairman of
orthopedic surgery at Lutheran General Hospital and the director of spine trauma at Lutheran
General Hogpital. (RX. 15, p. 12). Dr. Bernstein testified that he has performed approximately
2,000 cervical operations during his career. (RX. 15, p. 13). Dr. Bernstein testified that as part
of his practice, he regularly reviewed diagnostic studies such as CT scans, x-rays, and MRI
scans, (RX. 15,p. 13).

Dr. Bernstein testified that he first examined the petitioner on Aprll 15, 2005. Petitioner
gave a history, stating that in January of 2005, he struck the sidewall of a sewer causing him to
be knocked forward and backwards, snapping his head and neck and the subsequent medical
treatment for his injury. (RX 15, p. 16). Petitioner gave Dr. Bernstein a history of his non-
related heart condition, including a pacing abnormality as well. (RX. 15, p. 16)." Petitioner
complained of posterior neck pain, radiating into the left shoulder, (RX. 15, p. 17). Dr.
Bernstein conducted a physical examination of the petitioner on that date, and found the
petitioner had very good range of motion consistent with his age. No tenderness was noted, and
petitioner demonstrated a completely normal neurological evaluation. (RX. 15, p. 17).

Dr. Bernstein further testified that based upon his review of the petitioner’s history, his
subjective complaints, the clinical findings of Dr. Bemstein’s examination, and the medical
records reviewed, that he felt petitioner had some degeneration in his neck, and that he likely
suffered a cervical strain or temporary aggravation of the degenerative condition. (RX 15, p.
18). Dr. Bernstein felt that petitioner had a completely benign physical examination and that he
was capable of performing unrestricted activity once his heart condition resolved. (RX 15, p.
18).

Dr. Bernstein reviewed the medical examination report of petitioner’s first expert, Dr.
Michael Gross, who examined the petitioner on July 11, 2007. The record notes that Dr. Gross
testified that 90% of his independent medical examination work is performed on behalf of
petitioners, and that he is only board certified in Urgent Care Medicine, not orthopedics. Dr.
Bemstein felt this was relevant because he would not consider Dr. Gross an expert in cervical
spine conditions, cervical neuropathy, and the treatment of cervical conditions. (RX. 15, p. 21).
Dr. Bernstein also noted that it did not appear that Dr. Gross had reviewed any medical records
from other treating physicians. Dr. Bernstein felt that it was significant because Dr. Gross would
have been simply relying on the petitioner’s history alone, not getting complete assessment of

Page 6 0of 13



16IWCCO37% |

the timeline and positions of other doctors. (RX. 15, p. 22). Dr. Bemstein testified that, “...in
terms of causation, [ don’t feel any of those conditions were caused by his work incident or that
any of his care or treatment was in any way — and surgical treatment was in any way the result of
his work incident.” (RX. 15, p. 23).

Dr. Bemstein specified in his testimony regarding petitioner’s 2007 cervical fusion
performed by Dr. Nockels “that operation was not done for neck pain. It was done for the
condition of spinal stenosis and spinal cord compression, and those diagnoses are a result of a
chronic degenerative condition and were in no way caused by the work accident.” (RX. 15, p.
26). Rather, Dr. Bernstein testified that, “in March of 2008 when there was an acute
exacerbation and complaints of neck pain and symptoms related to the neck, and that’s what
really brought him to the attention of Dr. Nockels and the subsequent workup and surgery, so I
see that as a new symptomatic condition at that point in time unrefated to his work incident.”
(RX. 15, p.27).

Dr. Bernstein examined Petitioner again on March 1, 2010. (R.X. 15, p. 33). At the
second examination, Petitioner gave a history to Dr, Bernstein that the surgery actually made his
complaints worse. (RX: 15, p.34). Dr. Bernstein also testified that at his second exam, '
Petitioner had much more limited cervical range of motion, and muscle atrophy, as a result of the
cervical fusion. (RX. 15, p.35). Dr. Bernstein later had the opportunity to review diagnostic
studies and films from both before and after the alleged date of accident. Dr. Bernstein testified
that the MRI films showed no evidence of any acute herniation or tear. He testified that his
diagnosis was a temporary aggravation of a degenerative condition or cervical strain. (RX. 15, p.
43). He concluded that Petitioner’s cervical surgery “has nothing to do with the accident
whatsoever; and, furthermore, the surgery that was performed was performed for the intention of
relieving cord compression, and not for the purposes of relieving neck pain.” (RX. 15, p. 44).

Shirley McGill, from Sedgwick Claims Management, testified on behalf of Respondent
regarding TTD payments made to the Petitioner. She testified that Petitioner’s claim was
originally being administered by Gallagher Bassett at the time that TTD benefits were issued in
2005, but that the data regarding dates and amounts paid was transferred over to Cambridge on
August 26, 2006, when the Sedgwick assumed management of the previous administrator,
Cambridge Integrated Services Group. Ms. McGill testified that the payment screens were kept
in the normal course of Business, and document that 4 total of $5,207.16 in TTD benefits was
paid to the petitioner. (RX 1) She testified that at no time during the course of her handling of
the file, was a claim for underpayment of TTD made by petitioner or his attorney.

Ms. McGill was not able to provide any information as to how the document was
prepared, when payments were made or to whom payments were made. According to Ms.
McGill and the documents, only three checks were made payable to the Petitioner, Mr. Johnson, -
they were in the amount of $607.52 and were purportedly for two weeks of TTD benefits. The
parties stipulated that the Petitioner’s average weekly wage was $673.08, which would amount
to a TTD rate of $448.72 per week or $897.44 for a two week period.

The Petitioner stipulated that he had received TTD payments in the amount of $4,999,91
and that $3,919.18, was paid by respondent toward the medical bills. No clear svidence was
produced with respect to how petitioner arrived at those figures either. .
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CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

The burden is upon the party seeking an award to prove by a preponderance of the
credible evidence the elements of his claim. Peoria County Nursing Home v. Industrial
Comm’n, 115 111.2d 524, 505 N.E.2d 1026 (1987).

An injury arises out of one’s employment if it has its’ origin in a risk that is connected to
or incidental o the employment so that there is a causal connection between the employment and
the accidental injury. Technical Tape Corp. vs IndustrialCommission, 58 1ll. 2d 226,317 N.E.2d
515 (1974)

Longstandmg Ill1no1s law mandates a claimant must show that the injury is due to a
cause connected to the employment to establish it arose out of employment. Elliot v.
Industrial Commission, 153 Ill. App. 3d 238, 242 (1987).

. The burden of proof is on a claimant to establish the elements of his right to
compensation, and unless the evidence considered in its entirety supports a finding that the
injury resulted from a cause connected with the employment, there is no right to recover.
Board of Trustees v. Industrial Commission, 44 111. 2d 214 (1969).

The burden of proving disablement and the right to temporary total disability benefits lies
with the Petitioner who must show this entitlement by a preponderance of the evidence. J.M.
Jones Co. v. Industrial Commission,71 111.2d 368, 375 N.E.2d 1306 (1978)

On the issue of an intervening cause, the courts have consistently held that for ah
employer to be relieved of liability by virtue of an intervening cause, the intervening cause must
completely break the causal chain between the original work-related injury and the ensuing
condition. Boatman v. Industrial Commission, 256 TI1. App.3d 1070, 628 N.E.2d 829, 195 1L Dec.
365 (1st Dist. 1993).

In support of the Arbitrator’s decision with regard to whether Petitioner’s present
condition of ill-being is causally related to the injury, the Arbitrator makes the following
conclusions of law:

The arbltrator conchldes that petitioner’s present condition of ill-being is not causally
related to the petitioner’s alleged January 23, 2005, injury.

Petitioner failed to present medical evidence or opinion testimony sufficient to prove by a
preponderance of the evidence causally connecting his lower back symptoms to the work injury
of January 23, 2005. The treating medical records from both Dr. Pierre and Dr. Alleva release
petitioner to return to full duty work regarding his cervical spine it March 2005 and April 2005,
respectively. (P.X. 6, P.X. 7). Dr. Pierre’s office note dated March 10, 2005 states, “ROM is
restored...no restrictions, no inflammation, and no radicular symptoms. My recommendation is
full duty with no restrictions.” P.X. 6.

Following his examination on April 15, 2005, and his review of medical records, Dr.
Bernstein opined that the petitioner had reached maximum medical improvement for his work
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related cervical strain and temporary aggravation of his preexisting degenerative cervical spine.
(R.X. 6). Dr. Bemstein also noted that Petitioner had very good cervical range of motion
consistent with his age, no tenderness, and a “completely normal neurological evaluation.” (R.
X 15p.17.

The only physicians who gave causation opinions in support of petitioner’s position were
Dr. Gross and Dr. Skaletsky, neither of whom were treating physicians. Petitioner did not return
to his doctors that had treated him prior to the heart transplant when he was released, rather,
Petitioner was seen by both Dr. Gross and Dr. Skaletsky. At the time Dr. Gross examined
petitioner, he was not board certified in any areas of medicine, and he testified that he does not
perform any surgeries, apart from. minor surgeries in the emergency room. (P.X.14 p. 7,8, 28).
Dr. Gross also testified that he had not performed any spinal or cervical surgeries in over 20
years. (P.X. 14, p. 28). Dr. Gross only examined petitioner on one occasion, more than two and
a half years after the alleged accident date. (P.X. 14, p. 30).

Similarly, the petitioner’s second expert, Dr. Skaletsky testified that he has not performed
any surgeries since 2001, and that “the vast majority of patients who I see don’t require
- surgery..:” - (P-X: 19, p-'F:- Dr:. Skaletsky did not examine the petitioner-until more than four- -
and a half years after the alleged January 23, 2005 accident. Dr. Skaletsky admitted during his
deposition that the EMG study performed in 2003 would have been ordered to address
preexisting radicular complaints, and also that the cervical MRI studies from 2003 and 2005
were essentially unchanged. (P.X. 19, p. 29). He agreed that there was no evidence of any
cervical spine treatment for the penod between petitioner’s release from Dr. Pierre in March
20035, and the first consultation with Dr. Nockels in March 2008. (P.X. 19, p. 32). Dr. Skaletsky
acknowled ged that none of the doctors who treated petitioner’s cervical injury prior to 2008 had
ever recommended surgery. (P.X. 19, p. 33).

In support of the finding that Petitioner failed to establish that his current condition of ill-
being is causally related to the injury, the Arbitrator notes the significant gap in treatment and
time between the alleged January 23, 2005 date of accident, and the cervical fusion surgery that
was performed in July 2008. The Comumission has previously denied benefits based upon a lack
of causal connection when there is a significant delay in receiving treatment or a significant gap
in receiving treatment. Gonzalez v. J. F. Daley International, 99 IIC 3121. Similarly, in the case
at bar; petitioner treated with Dr. Vernof, Dr. Alleva, and Dr. Pierre for his cervical injury” -
between January and March, 2005, but none of those doctor recommended surgery, and he did

not receive any treatment to his cervical spine whatsoever between March 2005 and March 2008.

Petitioner was being treated for his unrelated heart issues, but there is no mention of any issues
with his neck, arms, low back or other cervical symptoms.

The arbitrator finds that upon review of Dr. Gross’s and Dr. Skaletsky’s reports, neither
opinion is sufficiently persuasive to establish causation. To the contrary, the Arbitrator relies on
the medical opinions of Dr. Pierre and Dr, Alleva as well as that of Dr. Bernstein that the
petitioner reached MMI back in Apnl 2005, and that his need for the cervical fusion pefformnd
in 2008 is not causally related to the alleged January 23, 2005 work injury. Dr. Bemsteinisa
board certified orthopedic surgeon specializing in treatment of the spine. (Rx. 15, p. 12).. Heis
also vice chairman of orthopedic surgery at Lutheran General Hospital and the director of spine
trauma at Lutheran General Hospital. (Rx. 15, p. 12). Dr. Bernstein testified that he has
performed approximately 2,000 cervical operations during his career. (Rx. 15, p. 13). Dr.
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Bernstein testified that as part of his practice, he regularly reviewed diagnostic studies such as
CT scans, x-rays, and MRI scans. (Rx. 15, p. 13). This is in contrast with Dr. Gross, who is not
board certified in any areas and practices occupational medicine, and Dr. Skaletsky, who has not
performed surgery since 2001.

Dr. Bemstein conducted a physical examination of the petitioner on April 15, 2005, less
than three months after the alleged accident date. He found the petitioner had very good range of
motion consistent with his age. No tenderness was noted, and petitioner demonstrated a
completely normal neurological evaluation. (Rx. 15, p. 17). Dr. Bernstein further testified that
based upon his review of the petitioner’s history, his subjective complaints, the clinical findings
of Dr. Bernstein’s examination, and the medical records reviewed, that he felt petitioner had
some degeneration in his neck, and that he likely suffered a cervical strain or temporary
aggravation of the degenerative condition. (Rx. 15, p. 18). Dr. Bemstein felt that petitioner had
a completely benign physical examination and that he was capable of performing unrestncted
activity once his heart condition was resolved. (Rx. 15, p. 18).

Dr. Bemstein later had the opportunity to review diagnostic studies and films from both
before and after the alleged date of accident. Dr. Bemstein testified that the MRI films showed
no evidengce of any acute herniation or tear. He testified that his diagnosis was a temporary
aggravation of a degenerative condition or cervical strain. (R.X. 15, p. 43). He concluded that
Petitioner’s cervical surgery “has nothing to do with the accident whatsoever; and, furthermore,
the surgery that was performed was performed for the intention of relieving cord compression,
and not for the purposes of relieving neck pain.” (R.X. 15, p. 44).

In addition to the petitioner having been determined to have reached MMI and being able
to return to work with respect to his January 23, 2005, injuries, full duty without restrictions once
his unrelated heart issues were resolved, there is evidence in the medical records that petitioner
may have suffered a new injury during the treatment for his heart condition. Petitioner advised
Dr. Noggels, while filling out the health history that:

while undergoing a heart biopsy a few months ago the patient heard a “snap” in his neck
and has had difficulty turning his head to the left ever since. The patient describes his
pain as starting in the left side of his neck and radiating to the entire arm. The patient
states he has pain in his left shoulder., (PX 15)

Based on the above, the arbitrator finds that the petitioner failed to prove that his alleged
current condition of ill-being was causally related to the January 23, 2005, accident.

T support of the Arbitrator’s decision with regard to whether the medical services
that were provided to Petitioner were reasonable and necessary and whether Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for reasonable and necessary medical treatment, the
Arbitrator makes the following conclusions of law:

Based on the arbitrator’s findings above, the Arbitrator finds that the medical services
provided after April 11, 2005, for treatment to the cervical spine, were not medically causally
related to the alleged January 23, 20035, accident. Based on the foregoing findings and
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conclusions, the issue concerning petitioner’s claim for medical benefits is moot. Because the
petitioner failed to prove a causal connection between the January 23, 2005 accident and his
current condition of ill-being, he was not and is not entitled to receive any medical benefits for
treatment after April 11, 2005 when he was determined to be at MML

The arbitrator further finds that in accordance with the Petitioner’s evidence that his
group medical carrier paid most of his medical bills, that the medical treatment was properly
billed to the group carrier, as it was not necessitated by the accepted work injury on
January 23, 2005.

In support of the Arbitrator’s decision with regard to the amount due for
temporary total disability, the Arbitrator makes the following conclusions of law:

For the reasons set forth above, the Arbitrator concludes that the petitioner is not entitled
to any additional compensation for temporary total disability benefits, beyond the period from
January 23, 2005, through April 15, 2005, a total of eleven and five sevenths weeks. Based .
upon the stipulations of the parties, the petitioner’s rate of TTD should have been $448.72 per
week. The petitioner should have received $5,256.43, in TTD payments. The petitioner
stipulated that he received $4,991.91, in TTD payments leaving abalance 0f $264.52 owed to
petitioner for underpayment of TTD.

Based on the foregoing findings and conclusions, the issue concerning petitioner’s claim
for temporary total disability benefits after April 15, 2005, is moot. The petitioner failed to
prove a ca,usal connec‘uon between hlS work 1 m_]ury and hls alleged period of temporary total

mJunes in March of 2005 and then found to be at MMI by Dr Bemstem on Apnl 15, 2005
through the present, and therefore, the issue of entitlement to TTD beyond April 15; 2005 is

mnnt
LLIVIAS e

Peﬁtioner testified that before he returned to work, he began experiencing heart problems
that eventually resulted in an unrelated heart transplant. Accordingly, additional temporary total
disability benefits pertaining to the January 23, 2005, date of injury are denied.

“In support of the Arbifrator’s decision with regard fo the nature and extent of
Petitioner’s injury, the Arbitrator makes the following conclusions of law:

The records from Dr. Pierre and Dr. Alleva indicate that the petitioner was released to
resume full duty work activities in March 2005, with respect to his work injuries from January
23, 2005. However petitioner was experiencing issues with his heart that were unrelated to the

injuries sustained on January 23, 2005. Petitioner testified that before he returned to work, he
began experiencing heart problems, which eventually resulted in a heart transplant.

Dr. Bernstein conducted a physical examination of the petitioner on April 15, 2005, and
found the petitioner had very good range of motion consistent with his age. No tenderness was
noted, and petitioner demonstrated a completely normal neurological evaluation. Dr. Bernstein,
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based upon his review of the petitioner’s history, his subjective complaints, the clinical findings
of his examination, and the medical records reviewed, felt that petitioner had some degeneratlon
in his neck, and that he likely suffered a cervical strain or temporary aggravation of the
degenerative condition. According to Dr. Bernstein the petitioner had a completely benign
physical examination and was capable of performing unrestrlcted activity once his heart
condltlon resolved.

" Based ipon the foregoing discussion, the Arbitrator finds that Petitioner suffered 4% loss
of use of a man as a whole as a result of the injury. Given the nature of the injury the Petitioner
suffered he is entitled to have and receive from the Respondent compensation for 4% loss of use
of the man as a whole, or 20 weeks at a weekly PPD rate of $403.85 / per week.

In support of the Arbitrator’s decision with respect to whether Respondent is |
entitled to credit pursuant to 8(j), the Arbitrator makes the following conclusions of law:

_ " The Arbitrator finds that the respondent is entitled to a credit for any and all outstanding
medical bills paid as a result of the January 23, 2005, date of accident. Petitioner testified that a
majority of his medical bills were paid through the group carrier, and evidence was presented
indicating that a total of $101,316.95 was paid in medical expenses on the petitioner’s behalf.
To the extent any of those payments were made for medical treatment between Janmary 23, 2005
and April 15, 2005, for treatment for petitioner’s cervical injuries resulting from, the January 23,
2005 accident, the resp‘ondent is entitled to a credit under Section 8(j) of the Act.

Respondent shall be given credit for $3,919.18 for medical benefits pa;ld under Section
S(a) of the Act. :

Respondent is entitled to credit for $4,991.91, in TTD payments as stipulated by the
- petitioner that he received. The testimony of Ms. McGill with respect to payments that were
made was not clear w1th respect to the company that handled the account before she became
involved with it.

The issue of whether or not petitioner has exceeded his choice of medical providers is
moot due te the finding of the arbitrator that the petitioner’s current condition of ill-being is not
related to his work injury of January 23, 2005,

ORDER OF THE ARBITRATOR

Petitioner is found to have suffered a permanent injury pursuant to Section 8(d)2 of the
Act. For the foregoing reasons, respondent shall pay petitioner permanent partial disability
benefits of $403.85/week for 20 weeks, because the injuries sustained caused the 4% loss of use
of man as a whole, as provided in Section 8(d)2 of the Act.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $5,207.16 for TTD, $0.00 for TPD, and $0.00 for
maintenance benefits, for a total credit of $35,207.16.
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Respondent shall be given a credit of $101.316.95 for medical benefits that have been
paid, and Respondent shall hold petitioner harmless from-any claims by any providers of the
services for which Respondent is receiving this credit, as provided in Section 8(j) of the Act.

Respondent shall be given credit for $3.919.18 for medical benefits paid under Section
8(a) of the Act. '

Respondent shall pay Petitioner temporary total disability benefits of $448.72/week for
11 and 5/7 weeks, commencing 1/23/05 through 4/15/05, as provided in Section 8(b) of the Act.
The respondent shall pay the petitioner $264.52 for outstanding TTD payments. The petitioner
should have received $5,256.43, in TTD payments. The petitioner stipulated that he received
$4,991.91, in TTD payments leaving a balance of $264.52 owed to petitioner for underpayment

of TTD.
W%W S gcw@?o’;azwr

Signature of Arbitrator . Date
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) D Affirm and adopt (no changes)
) SS. |:| Affirm with changes
COUNTY OF COOK ) [ ] Reverse

| ] Injured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d))
[ ] Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
[ ] Second Injury Fund (§8(c)18)

|:| PTD/Fatal denied

Modify down None of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Silvia Cordova,
Petitioner,

VS. NQO: 14 WC 35816

Elite Staffing,

Respondert, 16IWCC0378

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review under §19(b) having been filed by the Respondent herein

and notice given to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of temporary total
disability and incurred and prospective medical expenses and being advised of the facts and law,
modifies the Decision of the Arbitrator as stated below and otherwise affirms and adopts the
Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and made a part hereof. The Commission
further remands this case to the Arbitrator for further proceedings for a determination of a further
amount of temporary total compensation or of compensation for permanent disability, if any,
pursuant to Thomas v. Industrial Commission, 78 I11.2d 327, 399 N.E.2d 1322, 35 IlL.Dec. 794
(1980).

The Commission generally affirms and adopts the facts and conclusions determined by
the Arbitrator in her Decision. However, the Arbitrator awarded TTD benefits from October 6,
2014 through April 6, 2015. The Petitioner did admit that she returned to work on October 13,
2014 and worked through October 23, 2014, when she first saw Dr. Jain, and ceased working
thereafter (see transcript pp. 15, 19-20). Accordingly, TTD benefits for that period of time are
denied. All else is affirmed and adopted.
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Page 2

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall pay to
the Petitioner the sum of $252.73 per week for a period of 24-4/7 weeks, from October 6, 2014
through October 12, 2014, and from October 24, 2014 through Aprit 6, 2015, those being the
periods of temporary total incapacity for work under §8(b), and that as provided in §19(b) of the
Act, this award in no instance shall be a bar to a further hearing and determination of a further
amount of temporary total compensation or of compensation for permanent disability, if any.
The Respondent is granted credit for $2,307.36 for TTD payments made, as noted in the
Arbitrator’s Decision.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
the sum of $34,707.34 for medical expenses under §8(a) and within the confines of §8.2 of the
Act. The Respondent is granted credit for $8,604.04 for medical expenses paid, as noted in the
Arbitrator’s Decision.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall authorize
and pay for the right shoulder surgery recommended by Dr. Schafer as delineated in the
Arbitrator’s Decision, as it appears reasonably necessary to cure or relieve the effects of the
workplace injury as set forth in §8(a) of the Act.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that this case be remanded to the
Arbitrator for further proceedings consistent with this Decision, but only after the latter of
expiration of the time for filing a written request for Summons to the Circuit Court has expired
without the filing of such a written request, or after the time of completion of any judicial
proceedings, if such a written request has been filed.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
mnterest under §19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.

Bond for the removal of this cause to the Circuit Court by Respondent is hereby fixed at

the sum of $30,100.00. The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court
shall file with the Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit Court.

DATED:  JUN 7 - 2016 /Q’\L Zor
Joshua D. Luskin

0-04/27/16 W m__
Uit “

68 _ Ruth W. White

() Aot

Charles J."DeVendt




. ILLINOIS WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
) NOTICE OF 19(b) ARBITRATOR DECISION

CORDOVA, SILVIA ‘ Case#t 14WC035816

Employee/Pstitioner

.ELI'TESTAFFiNG - - 16 1 WCC @ 378

Employer/Respondent

On 6/2/2015, an arbitration decision on this case was filed with the Illinois Workers' Compensation Commission in
Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed. ' -

If the Commission reviews this award, interest of 0.07% shall accrue from the date listed above to the day before the
date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall
not accrue.

A copy of this decision is mailed to'the following parties: L

0815 LUIS A ACEVES & ASSOCIATES PC
MIGUEL K PERRETTA

1931 N MILWAUKEE AVE

CHICAGO, IL 60647

5552 ELITE STAFFING

MARC CAIRC

1400 W HUBBARD ST SUITE 200
CHICAGO, IL 60642



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) [ ] 1njured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d))
)SS. [ | Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))

COUNTY OF Cook ) [ second Injury Fund (§8(€)18)

None of the above

ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
ARBITRATION DECISION

19(b)

Silvia Cordova Case # 14 WC 35816
Employee/Petitioner

v. - 1 6 1 w C C @ 3 ? 8 Consolidated cases: _____

Elite Staffing

Empioyer/Respondent

- An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this-matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed-to each -
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Maria Bocanegra, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of
Chicago, on April 6, 2015. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes
findings on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.

DISPUTED ISSUES

A, D Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Illinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act?

[ ] Was there an employee-employer relationship?

|:| Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?
D What was the date of the accident?

D Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

o

<] Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?
D What were Petitioner's earnings? _

D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the acmdent”

|:| What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?

f—';l—'mg:)l'ﬂ.fﬂ

. Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?

Z] Is Petitioner entitled to any prospective medical care?

i

L. _ What temporary benefits are in dispute?
o @TPD - [[] Maintenance X TTD

M. |:] Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?
N. |:] Is Respondent due any credit?

0..[X] Other Prospective Medical

{CdrbDecl9(b) /10 100 W. Randoiph Street #8-200 Chicago, IL 60601 312/814-6611 Toll-free 866/352-3033  Web site: www.iwce.ilgov
Downstate offices: Collinsville 618/346-3450 Peoria 309/671-3019 Rockford 815/987-7292  Springfield 217/785-7084
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On the date of accident, 10/4/14, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act.

FINDINGS

On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.

On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.

Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ili-being is causally related to the accident.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $18,955.44; the average weekly wage was $379.11.

On the date of accident, Petitioner was 36 years of age, single with 0 dependent children.

Respondent has rot paid all reasonable and necessary charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $2,307.36 for TTD, $0.00 for TPD, $0.00 for maintenance, and
$8,604.04 for other benefits, for a total credit of $10,911.40.

Respondent is entitled to a credit of $0.00 under Section 8(j) of the. Act.

ORDER

Respondent shall pay reasonable and necessary medical services of $34,707.34, as provided in Section 8(a), 8.2

and 8.2(a-3) of the Act. Respondent shall be given a credit of $8,604.04 for medical benefits that have been
paid. :

Respondent shall authorize and pay for the treatment presctibed by Dr. Schaefer.

Respondent shall pay Petitioner temlibrary total disability benefits of $252.73/week for 26-1/7" weeks,
commencing 10/6/14 through 4/6/15, as provided in Section 8(b) of the Act. Respondent shall be given a credit
of $2,307.36 for temporary total disability benefits that have been paid. '

In no instance shall this award be a bar to subsequent hearing and determination of an additional amount of
medical benefits or compensation for a temporary or permanent disability, if any.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petifion for Review within 30 days after receipt of this
decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the
decision of the Commission.

. STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice
of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however,
if an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

- | A i
W of Abitrator / _ (ﬂﬁe& M! é/

ICArbDec19(b} JUN 2 - 20]5
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FINDINGS OF FACT

Silvia Cordova (“Petitioner”) testified via Spanish interpreter that on 10/4/14, she worked
for Elite Staffing (“Respondent”) and had been so employed for the past 4 years. She described
Respondent as a staffing agency that sends temporary workers to various locations. On 10/4/14
she worked for Respondent at the Ferrera candy company in shipping and receiving.

Her responsibilities included loading and unleading incoming and outgoing trucks,
making and placing labels onto shipments. Petitioner testified that on 10/4/14, she worked for
Respondent and was placing labels on a skid of pallets when another worker driving a forklift
accidentally drove a skid of pallets into her, causing Petitioner to become pinned between the
two stacks of pallets. She testified she felt an impact in the shoulder/arm, chest and neck and
that her arm got stuck with the pallets. Petitioner described the pallets as taller than she. She felt
pain all over especially in the right shoulder and arm. She said she reported to Fernando Navarro
and that he completed an accident report that she signed. The report identified chest pain.

On 10/4/14, she presented to Rush emergency. Diagnosis was painful respiration and
chest pain. Triage notes indicated that Petitioner was Spanish-speaking and that per her
coworker she became pinned between two wooden pallets by a forklift at work. Petitioner
reported pain with inspiration and expiration. Another emergency room note indicated that
Petitioner reported being crushed momentarily between two pallets and forklift while at work
and she complained of pain with deep breath. Dr. McCombs indicated that Petitioner had been
crushed between two wooden pallets for 20 seconds by forklift while at work that evening. The
accompanying translator indicated that Petitioner did not have her hands up at the time of the

incident. Doctors noted that Petitioner’s husband denied coughing up blood, numbness, tlnghng
or any other injuries. CT of the chest identified possible small lung contusion. Chest x-rays
were negative for fracture. Doctors diagnosed chest wall pain. Petitioner was directed to follow
up with her primary care physician. She was prescribed Hydrocodone and discharged.

On 10/6/14, Petitioner returned to Rush emergency. Doctors noted she complained of
chest and shoulder pain for the last 3 days. -Petitioner complained of pain with deep breathing,
pain all across her chest wall into both shoulders and arms. Doctors dlagnosed chest contusion.
Petitioner was released to refurn to work.

On 10/13/14, Petitioner presented to Occupational Health Centers of Illinois (OHCT)
where she was evaluated by Gia Eliason, physician assistant. Chief complaint was noted to be
chest pain following a 10/4 work injury where Petitioner was pushed and smashed against other
pallets. Petitioner’s height was noted to be 5'3". Petitioner described dull, constant thoracic pain
8 out of 10 in severity and dull, constant bilateral chest pain rated 5-6 out of 10. Petitioner
expraiied that paiin in both areas was-sxacerbated witlr lifting; pushing and pulling: Plhiysical
exam of the chest showed mild tendemess to palpation diffusely over bilateral anterior chest
wall. Thoracic exam showed moderate tenderness to palpation at T2 through T8 with full range
of motion. Pain with flexion, bilateral side bending and bilateral axial rotation were noted. The
physician assistant assessed chest wall contusion, chest wall strain, contusion of the thorax and
thoracic strain. Petitioner was prescribed therapy to address decreased range of motion,
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On that same date, Petitioner began physical therapy at OHCI. Initial evaluation noted
chief complaint of pain in the right anterior chest, right posterior lateral shoulder and upper to
mid back. Exacerbating factors included lifting the right arm, reaching and touching the
shoulder. Alleviating factors were none. Therapists noted no prior history or injuries or
impairments to the affected areas. Petitioner rated her pain 10 out of 10. Exam for active range
of motion of the right shoulders showed flexion at 150°, abduction at 100°, pain in the posterior
shoulder. Passive range of motion for the right shoulder showed flexion at 165°, abduction at
135°, both guarded. Palpation exam showed hypersensitive to touch on the right upper thoracic,
to the right posterior shoulder, the clavicle, pectorals and right greater than left thoracic spinal
paraspinals. Therapist assessed that Petitioner’s exam was consistent with the medical diagnoses
of shoulder/thoracic strain and chest wall contusiosn. '

medications, and light duty.

On 10/15/14, Petitioner attended therapy at OHCI. She continued reporting pain in the
back of the shoulder and upper back but felt slightly better. Reaching was noted to be painful,
shoulder abduction increased only slightly, and the pain was reported slightly less than prior
visits. On that same date, Petitioner followed up with Dr. Eliason physician assistant. Through a
translator, Petitioner reported that the pattern of symptoms was improving in both areas but
slightly. She rated her chest wall pain 5 to 6 out of 10 in severity exacerbated with pressure to
the area and with deep inspiration. Chest pain was alleviated with rest and shallow breathing.
Pain in the back was rated seven out of 10 exacerbated with lifting, pushing, polling and
alleviated with rest. Exam showed full range of motion bilaterally through the shoulders, normal
grip and grip strength. Tenderness to palpation was noted at this thoracic level but she had full
range of motion with flexion, extension, axial rotation and lateral flexion. Assessment was chest
wall strain, contusion of the thorax and thoracic strain. Petitioner was prescribed medications,
continued therapy and continued light duty.

On 10/20/14, Petitioner returned to therapy with OHCI. She reported slight improvement
but with continued pain in the upper back and right upper thoracic region. Pain was rated 6 out
of 10. Reaching was still noted to be painful, active range of motion in the shoulder was
moderately improving.

On that same date, Petitioner returned to OHCI and saw physician assistant Gia Eliason
for recheck thoracic and chest wall injury. Petitioner reported stabilizing symptoms but
continued shortness of breath, thoracic pain 6-7 out of 10, exacerbated with lifting, twisting,
pushing, pulling and alleviated with rest. Eliason performed a shoulder exam for range of
motion bilaterally. Medications, therapies and light duty were continued. Petitioner testified at
that time, she continued to experience right arm and shoulder pain and that she worked in pain.

On 10/23/14, Petitioner consulted with Dr. Neeraj Jain of Michigan Avenue Medical
Associates. He noted Petitioner was injured when another worker moving a pallet hit her in the
chest forcing her back into another pallet and had immediate chest, right shoulder and upper back
pain. Petitioner complained of continued neck pain right greater than left and in the scapular
area. She also reported radiating pain to the right anm, numbness and tingling to the right hand
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and pain with overhead motion. She denied prior problems. Physical exam showed pain along -
the anterior glenchumeral joint, decreased range of motion, decreased grip strength in the right
hand without motor or sensory deficits, Empty can, Neer’s and Hawkin’s tests were positive on
the right. Dr. Jain ordered therapy, MRIs of the cervical spine and right shoulder and removed
Petitioner from work. Diagnosis was right shoulder derangement, cervical facet syndrome,
cervical discogenic pain and cervical radiculopathy all directly related to the injury. He based

his opinions on the patient's history, her physical exam, imaging studies and medical records .
provided thus far.

On 10/23/14, Petitioner began her physical therapy with Premier Physical ‘Therapy. The
history noted was that Petitioner was working in the shipping department and was crushed
between pellets and a forklift, striking the right side of her neck and shoulder. Petitioner’s
primary complaint at that time was right-sided neck pain and right shoulder pain along with -
occasional numbness in the right upper extremity to the fingertips. Therapist noted that there
was increased pain with Petitioners current work. Pain was rated 7 out of 10 aggravated by
 standing, walking, using the right upper extremity and turning the neck. Therapy continued until
approximately January 2015.

On 10/27/14, MRI of the cervical spine showed multilevel mild spondylotic changes and
mild annular bulges. MRI of the right shoulder showed mild supraspinatus tendinosis with
suspected partial thickness tearing along the bursal surface of the interior insertional fibers and
trace fluid in the glenohumeral joint and subacromial subdeltoid bursa.

On 11/4/ 14 Petitioner complained to Dr. Jain of continued right-sided neck pain

Tadiating into the army, shoulder pain, decreased range oi motion, inability to do any overhead
motion and numbness and tingling in the right hand. Dr. Jain reviewed the MRIs and d1agnosed
right rotator cuff and cervical radiculopathy, cervical facet syndrome and cervical disco genic
pain. Petitioner was referred to Dr. David Shafer for the right rotator. cuff tear. Cervical epidural
steroid injection was recommended to cervical pain and radicular symptoms indicated in physical
exam. Petitioner remained off of work. :

On 11/19/14, Dr. David Shafer evaluated the right shoulder. The doctor Petitioner’s
accident whereby she was crushed between two pallets following a forklift pinning her and that
~ the shoulder was abducted and externally rotated when she was struck. Petitioner reported right

“shoulder pain 9 out of 10 points into the anterior and lateral aspect along with radiation up the
neck and down toward the elbow Iaterally She described it as constant and achy increasing at
night. She also complained of popping, clicking, numbness and tingling to the forearm and hand,
pain with overhead use and lifting. The doctor reviewed the MRI and diagnosed tendinosis of
the rotator cuff with possible small grade partial thickness tearing and could not rule out labrat
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tear. - Assessment was rotator cuff tendinitis with possible labral tear:- Dr:-Schafer-administered a

cortisone injection. He opined that because Petitioner’s right shoulder injury occurred while her
shoulder was in an abducted and externally rotated position when she was struck she may have
caused a labral injury in addition to the rotator cuff tendinitis. Light duty was ordered.
Petitioner testified she obtained temporary relief from the injection.
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On 11/26/14, Petitioner was evaluated at the request of the Respondent by Dr. Julie
Wehner. Petitioner related she was injured when a forklift pushed a pallet hitting her right
shoulder on the front on the pallet. Petitioner stated the pallet was 6 feet tall and she was
standing sideways when she hit the front of her chest in her right shoulder. On exam, Dr.
Wehner noted Petitioner was tender over the entire right arm with little tingling in the entire right
arm. The doctor noted she lacked abduction on the right side of 10 to 20° where left was normal.
Forward flexion was normal, abduction was normal and internal rotation was normal. Dr.
Wehner reviewed pictures of the pallets with Petitioner, the accident injury report, emergency
room records and recent treatment records. Dr. Wehner believed the right shoulder MRI findings
were mild in nature and not consistent with an acute injury. She concluded that the findings of
the cervical MRI were “within the realm of normal.”

Dr. Wehner noted Petitioner began therapy at OHCI where she had full range of motion
in her neck and shoulder but that when Petitioner began treatment with Dr. Jain “she then
developed decreased shoulder range of motion and neck pain." The doctor concluded that the
mechanism of injury was consistent with a chest contusion based on the mechanism of injury but
present diagnosis was right shoulder and arm pain, The doctor noted nonspecific pain syndrome
without a specific distribution and without any specific clinical findings as MRIs were normal.
In support of this Dr. Wehner noted that Petitioner's clinical examination by the "occupational
health physician was showing normal shoulder and neck range of motion" therefore it was
unclear why "she would develop limited shoulder range of motion at a later date," The doctor
stated that her present complaints about the shoulder and arm were not related or supported by
the injury. Regarding the chest contusion the doctor concluded it had resolved, that Petitioner
was not in need further treatment related to the injury, did not need restrictions and was
otherwise at maximum medical improvement.

On 12/2/14 Petitioner followed up with Dr, Jain. Evoked potential testing of the upper
extremities showed no delays. On 12/17/14, Petitioner followed up with Dr. Schafer and
reported mild improvement of symptoms but with essentially unchanged complaints, symptoms
and exam. He recommended continued conservative care to address right shoulder partial
thickness rotator cuff tear. He opined that "the patient sustained an acute injury to the right
shoulder secondary to this trauma. She has no history of pre-existing conditions to the right
shoulder." Dr. Schafer reviewed Dr. Wehner’s opinion that the MRI findings were not acute and
noted that fluid in the region of the tear is consistent with an acute injury as there is no evidence
of pre-existing pathology. He concluded the treatment was medically necessary to address her
right shoulder condition and in order to return her-back to work.

On 12/30/14, Dr. Jain discontinued Petitioner’s neck therapy based on her plateauing and
that most neck pain had subsided. He held any further recommendations for a cervical facet joint
injection. '

On 1/5/15, she testified she presented Respondent with Dr. Jain’s light duty restrictions
but that they were not accommodated. On 1/7/15, Dr. Wehner a second opinion report.
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She noted that emergency room records made no mention of any direct blow to the
shoulder, only that she was pinned between two crates for a few seconds and that Petitioner’s
hands were not up at the time of the impact. Dr. Wehner opined that the mechanism would not
cause a rotator cuff tear and that the MRI findings were commonly found in an asymptomatic
population not caused by this type of injury. She also concluded complaints of numbness and

tingling in her hand along with decreased grip strength were not supported by radiographic
findings.

On 1/14/15, Dr. Schafer noted unchanged symptoms, complaints and exam.
Impingement signs were severely positive. He noted Petitioner’s cuff tear failed to improve with
conservative care and recommended surgery as causally related and medically necessary. On

2/25/135, Petitioner saw Dr. Schafer, whose recommendations and opinions were unchanged. He
discharged her pending authorization.

On 3/25/15, Respondent’s utilization review non-certified all physical therapy requested

. .__by Dr. Jain beyond the 10 initially approved. Dr. Alan Brecher indicated that the medical =~
records available for his review or progress notes from Dr. Wehner and physical therapy notes
from Premier thru January 2015 and miscellaneous information that was undated. The doctor

based the non-certification on ODG guidelines allowing for a maximum of 10 therapy visits for
shoulder strain.

Petitioner testified that prior the work injury, she has not felt similar pains before and had
not been treating for the right shoulder. Prior to the work injury, she said she was able to work
without restrictions. She testified she wishes to proceed with the right shoulder surgery. Since

4175‘/T5_P—t—t—t—t—f'—e iTioner testified she has not refurned 10 Feirera or Elite Staffing for look for light duty
work.

Fernando Navarro testified on behalf of Respondent. Regarding accidents, he stated that
accidents involving workers they report to him. When one reports an injury, he determines
whether the worker needs medical attention and completes an incident report. He is familiar
with Petitioner and he was her supervisor. He said her job required heavy lifting sometimes by
for example 25-30 pounds lifting a box onto a pallet but no higher than above his head. He
recalied Petitioner suffered an accident but he did not witness it. He testified she told him she

~ was fine and refused medical attention. After mvesngqtl_n_g, Navarro testified he asked Petitioner

again and this time she looked like she was going to cry and stated she had chest pain with
breathing. .

Navarro was shown Rx1, which he identified as an accident/injury report in English. He
did not know whether Petitioner speaks, reads or write English He testified he completed the

T~ S I I
form usmg information gi 5:.vuu. tohimb Y Pctitioner. He stated that under uuuy pdu uJ.Juu:u, e

wrote “chest” because he recalled Petitioner stated she had pressure with breathing. He stated he
did not leave any body parts out that she told him about. He said she signed it after he filled it
out and after he explained the form to her. He recalled he took her to the emergency room and
helped translate. He could not recall whether she complained of shoulder pain. Navarro stated
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that Petitioner never presented any doctor note in January 2015 and February 2015. He could
not recall whether anyone may have received any doctor note.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
ISSUE (F)  Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?

The Arbitrator has carefully reviewed all medical evidence along with Petitioner's
testimony and concludes the Petitioner has proven by preponderance of the evidence that her
current conditions of ill-being as to the chest, right shoulder and cervical spine (neck) are all
causally related to the undisputed 10/4/14 injury. In support thereof, the Arbitrator adopts and
incorporates the findings of fact set forth herein as though fully set forth herein.

a. Chest

Petitioner credibly testified the work accident impacted her chest and chest contusion was
documented in initial treatment records at both Rush and the company clinic, OHCI. Petitioner
had no prior history of chest contusion and was otherwise in good health. Dr. Wehner believed
Petitioner suffered a chest contusion in the accident. Therefore, under a chain of events theory,
the Arbitrator concludes Petitioner’s chest contusion is causally related to her work accident.

b. Right Shoulder

Respondent’s doctor, Dr. Julie Wehner, concluded that Petitioner’s right shoulder
condition(s) were unrelated to her work injury because the mechanism of injury did not support
such a finding and because Petitioner’s medical records do not document any right shoulder
problems until she began treating with Dr. Jain. Dr. Wehner indicated that she reviewed pictures
of the pallets with Petitioner in describing her injuries. At no time did the doctor find or note
Petitioner’s description to be inconsistent with whatever photos were reviewed but concluded the
mechanism did not support such an injury. Incidentally, the Arbitrator notes that no photos were
ever submitted into evidence for review or consideration. Despite finding no discrepancies, the
doctor relied on what she perceived to be delays in symptom reporting per Petitioner’s treatment
records. '

However, the Arbitrator’s analysis of the medical record supports a different conclusion.
Petitioner testified the pallets were taller than her (she is 5 feet 3 inches) and that she became
pinned between two pallet stacks while she was putting a label on top of the skid of pallets. She
testified she was impacted in the chest, right shoulder/arm and neck areas. She testified she told
Rush of shoulder, chest and neck pain. Navarro could not recall. In the Arbitrator’s view, the
initial 10/4/14 Rush emergency room record, on which Dr. Wehner heavily relied on in support
of her opinion, contains conflicting statements that the Arbitrator declines to impute to the
Petitioner. For example, various notes refer to Mr. Navarro as husband, as a co-worker and then
later as simply a translator. In another example, it was documented Petitioner was pinned
“momentarily,” then for a “few seconds,” and then as long as “20 seconds.” In yet another
example, emergency room records oddly document that Petitioner's "translator” indicated that
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her arms or hands were not “up” at the time of the incident. Yet Petitioner’s testimony was that
she was putting labels on op of the skid of pallets. Evidence regarding her height, the height of
the pallets, what she was doing at the time of the impact suggests to the Arbitrator that her right
arm was elevated to some degree at the time of the accident. Further, Petitioner’s testimony that
she was putting labels on top is supported by and consistent with her report to Drs. Schafer and
Wehner. Dr. Schafer wrote that her arm was abducted at the time of impact. Dr. Wehner noted
she was putting labels on at the time of the impact. The fact that the position of her arms or
hands were documented at all in the initial emergency room record indicates to the Arbitrator
that Petitioner was truthful and credibie that she had complained of right arm or shoulder pain,
thereby eliciting questions in that regard and thereby documenting a response. Given the various
examples of errors in the initial emergency room record, the Arbitrator believes Petitioner did in
fact tell Rush of arm or shoulder pain and that it was incorrectly documented.

Less than 48 hours later, on 10/6/14, Petitioner returned to Rush complaining of chest
and shoulder pains for the past 3 days. She complained of pain “all across her chest wall into
. both shoulders and arms.” Physical exam of the chest, neck and shoulders were performed. In
the Arbitrator’s view, the notation indicates Petitioner had in fact complained of shoulder pain
from the outset. : -

Further in support of the Arbitrators conclusion that Petitioner’s right shoulder is causally
connected to her work injury, on 10/13/14, Petitioner presented to the company clinic, OHCL It
should be noted that Petitioner was never seen or evaluated by any medical doctor there. Rather
Petitioner was seen by Gia Eliason identified as a physician assistant. Dr. Wehner relies on the
opinions of Ms. Eliason in support of her conclusion that Petitioner’s right shoulder is unrelated.

Dr-Wehmer stated that Petitioner *developed decreased shoulder range of motion and neck pain”
only after treating with Dr. Jain. The doctor apparently based this conclusion on the fact that she
believed Petitioner had “full range of motjon of her neck and shoulder” at the initial consultation
with physician assistant Gia Eliason at OHCL

However a closer exam of the 10/13/14 OHCI record shows that Gia Eliason performed
physical exam of the cervical, thoracic and lumbar areas only, showing, in relevant part, full
range of motion. There is no indication that the right shoulder was examined by Gia Eliason as
Dr. Wehner suggests. The physician assistant went on to state that therapy was necessary “due

to limited range of motion.” From there, it is evident that therapy for the right shoulder was
~initiated per the physician assistant’s recommendations. The 10/13/14 physical therapy record
from the same facility, seemingly ignored by Dr. Wehner, clearly documented Petitioner's
complaints located in the right anterior chest and the right posterolateral shoulder: Therapists
also noted exacerbating factors of lifting the arm, reaching and touching the shoulder, 10 out of

10 shoulder pain and decreased active and passive range of motions at flexion and abduction.

In the Arbitrator’s opinion, Dr. Wehner’s understanding of this record is incorrect and her
reliance on the physician assistant’s assessment in misplaced. Therefore the Arbitrator declines
to adopt the conclusions of Dr. Wehner and the view that Petitioner failed to timely cornplain of
right shoulder symptoms as belied by Petitioner’s credible testimony, the emergency room
records and 10/13/14 OHCI records. The Arbitrator does not view less than 48 hours in
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documented right shoulder complaints as unreasonable or fatal to Petitioner’s claims especially
given Petitioner’s testimony that she did complam of shoulder pain at the initial €mergency room
visit. As for the accident report, testimony showed it was unknown whether Petitioner could
speak, read or write English and Navarro could not recall whether Petitioner complained of
shoulder pain. Navarro believed he did not leave anything out. In the Arbitrator’s view, the
accident report and any omissions thereto are outweighed by the other evidence, outlined above.

In addressing whether Petitioner actually has the presence of any significant pathology
about the right shoulder attributable to the accident in question, the Arbitrator relies on and
adopts the medical records and opinions of Drs. Jain and Schafer, both of whom interpreted the
right shoulder MRI findings as significant for right shoulder partial rotator cuff tear. Dr. Schafer
could not rule out a labral tear. Dr. Wehner’s conclusion that the MRI was normal and shows
pathology common in an asymptomatic population is not supported by the medical evidence. Dr.
Schafer noted that MRI findings were acute in nature. The Arbifrator resolves the conflicting
readings in favor of Petitioner. This conclusion is supported by Petitioner’s medical history and
her own testimony that prior to the undisputed accident, she had no problems, symptoms or
injuries to the right shoulder. Thus, even if the Arbitrator adopted Dr. Wehner’s conclusion that
Petitioner’s MRI findings are common in an asymptomatic population, the medical evidence
shows Petitioner became symptomatic following her work accident, which would make
Petitioner’s right shoulder condition causally related under an aggravation analysis. However,
the Arbitrator declines to adopt the opinions of Dr. Wehner and instead adopts the opin:ions of
Dr. Schafer, who opined a causal connection between Petitioner’s mechamsm of injury and the
right shoulder pathology.

Based on the foregoing, the Arbitrator concludes Petitioner’s right shoulder is causally
related to her work injury occurring 10/4/14,

¢. Cervical / Neck

Petitioner testified she felt pain in her neck immediately following her work accident,
Petitioner’s complaints about the neck are timely, consistent and supported by the emergency
room record, the initial record from OHCI, therapy notes from OHCI and the medical records
from Dr, Jain. Petitioner was initially diagnosed with cervical sprain/strain following the
accident. Petitioner presented to Dr. Jain with complaints of right-sided neck radiating to the
right arm and right hand numbness and tingling. She denied similar or past problems. Based on
clinical presentation, Dr. Jain diagnosed cervical discogenic pain, radiculopathy and facet
syndrome causally related to the work accident. For the same reasons set for above, the
Arbitrator declines to adopt Dr. Wehner’s opinion that Petitioner’s cervical sprain/strain is not
causally related to the work injury. However, the Arbitrator does note that Petitioner’s current
and available medical records are consistent with a cervical (neck) sprain/strain. Although Dr,
Jain believed Petitioner suffered from cervical radiculopathy, discogenic pain and facet
arthropathy, the medical records, including the MRI of the cervical spine showing minimal disc
bulging, most supports a causal relationship between a cervical sprain/strain and the work
accident, In addition, Dr. Jain noted that Petitioner’s neck pain appeared to have subsided as
recent as December 2014. The doctor did indicate that if her symptoms returned or worsened
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that she may be a candidate for further cervical spine treatment but the Arbitrator declines to
speculate what that may look like in the future. Thus, based on the foregoing, the Arbitrator
concludes Petitioner’s cervical sprain/strain is casually related to her work accident.

ISSUE () Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and

necessary? Has Respondent paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary
medical services?

Having found in favor of Petitioner on the issue of causal connection, the Arbitrator finds
that Respondent has not yet paid for all reasonable and necessary medical services. The
Arbitrator further finds that all bills as submitted by Petitioner contain substantially all the
required data elernents necessary to adjudicate those bills.

Regarding the medical treatment rendered by Rush University emergency room,

Respondent advanced no reason why payment is not due and owing. Dr. Wehner’s opinion

. suggests that, at the very least, the emergency room treatment-was-reasonable-and necessary.~ -
Drs. Jain and Schafer opined all treatment had been reasonable and necessary. Therefore,
Respondent shall pay directly to Petitioner reasonable and necessary medical services of Rush
University in the amount of $7,916.26, Rush University Medical Group in the amount of $39.00
and University Pathologists in the amount of $50.60, as provided in Sections 8(a) and 8.2 of the
Act. Respondent is entitled to credit for any amounts already paid. '

Regarding the medical treatment rendered by Occupational Health, the Arbitrator finds
that all treatment was reasonable and necessary to treat, relieve or otherwise cure Petitioner of
—_herimjuries.” Therefore, Respondent shall pay directly o Petitioner reasonable and necessary
medical services of Occupational Health in the amount of $1,034.42, as provided in Sections 8(a)

and 8.2 of the Act. Respondent is entitled to credit for any amounts already paid to Occupational
Health.

Regarding the medical services provided by Michigan Avenue Medical Associates, the
Arbitrator finds all treatment reasonable and necessary and relies on the medical records and the
opinions of Drs. Jain and Schafet in so finding. Therefore, Respondent shall pay directly to
Petitioner reasonable and necessary medical services of Michigan Avenue Medical Associates,
as provided in Sections 8(a) and 8.2 of the Act. Respondent is entitled to credit for any amounts _ _

~ already paid.

Regarding the medical services provided by Premier Physical Therapy, the Arbitrator
finds all physical therapy treatment prescribed by Drs. Jain and Schafer was reasonable and
necessary fo treat, cure or otherwise relieve Petitioner of her cervical and shoulder condition(s).

i HH L I N PR, B N | . 11 + a1 o am i e
Respondent’s refroactive utilization review in Marclr 2615 denied all but the first 10 sessicns of

physical therapy, relying on ODG guidelines that shoulder strains allow for 10 visits and that
Petitioner should have been using a home exercise program. Retroactive utilization review
requires that the reviewer based reviews solely on the medical information available to the
attending physician or ordering provider at the time the health care services were provided. 820
ILCS 305/8.7(e)(2). Here, utilization review relied on Dr. Wehner’s opinions, which were not
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progress notes or medical freatment notes but rather opinions rendered for the purpose of
evaluation under Section 12. Further, there was no indication those medical opinions were
available to Dr, Jain, whom utilization review identified as the requesting provider. Finally, the
utilization review identified the body part in question as the neck however cited to ODG
guidelines concerning treatment for a shoulder strain. In considering and weighing the
utilization review along with all other medical evidence, Arbitrator does not find the conclusions
and recommendations of the utilization review persuasive based on the above. In addition, the
Arbitrator notes that the evidence has established the existence of tendonitis and partial thickness
rotator cuff tear and to that end, the utilization review is based on a faulty diagnoses. Therefore,
Respondent shall pay directly to Petitioner reasonable and necessary medical services of Premier
Physical Therapy $12,140.00, as provided in Sections 8(a) and 8.2 of the Act. Respondent is
entitled to credit for any amounts already paid.

Regarding the medical services provided by Skan National Radiology, the Arbitrator
finds that such treatment was reasonable and necessary to treat and diagnose Petitioner for the
cervical and right shoulder conditions. The medical evidence supports Dr. Jain’s
recommendation for such testing based on Petitioner’s continued complaints, symptoms and
pain. Therefore, Respondent shall pay directly to Petitioner reasonable and necessary medical
services of Skan National Radiology in the amount of $3,250.00, as provided in Sections 8(a)
and 8.2 of the Act. Respondent is entitled to credit for any amounts already paid.

Regarding the medical services provided by EQMD / Equity Medical Solutions, the
Arbitrator finds such prescriptions reasonable and necessary to treat Petitioner for her injuries.
Drs. Jain and Schafer, whose opinions have been adopted over those of Dr. Wehner, explained
that such treatment was reasonable and necessary to treat Petitioner. This would also include
medications for post-injury nausea and vomiting symptoms, which are a sequalae to the original
" work injury. Therefore, Respondent shall pay directly to Petitioner reasonable and necessary
medical services of in the amount of $5,898.06, as provided in Sections 8(a), 8.2 and 8.2(a-3) of
the Act. Respondent is entitled to credit for any amounts already paid.

Respondent shall be given credit for $8,604.04 for medical services already paid under
Section 8(a) and 8.2 of the Act. See, Ax1, Rx6.

ISSUE (K), (0) Is Petitioner entitled to any prospective medical care?

Having found in favor of Petitioner on the issue of causal connection, the Arbitrator
concludes that Petitioner is entitled to prospective medical care under Section 8(a). In support
thereof, the Arbitrator adopts and relies on the medical opinions of Drs. Jain and Schafer over
those of Dr. Wehner. Regarding Petitioner’s cervical condition, Dr, Jain initially noted that
Petitioner was in need of cervical facet injections but later withheld that recommendation.
Therefore, the Arbitrator will not award any prospective medical care for the cervical spine
injury.

10
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Regarding the right shoulder, Dr. Schafer opined that Petitioner had failed conservative
care and was in need of surgical intervention to address the right shoulder partial thickness
rotator cuff tear and rotator cuff tendonitis. The doctor further stated that such interventional
treatment was causally related and necessary to treat Petitioner and return her to pre-injury work.
The Arbitrator adopts these opinions as more persuasive than those of Dr. Wehner. Dr.
Wehner’s opinions on Petitioner’s need for prospective medical care are based on a faulty
diagnosis of chest sprain/strain. Dr. Wehner acknowledged the presence of a right shoulder tear
and although she categorized this as minimal, the Arbitrator disagrees with the conclusion that
Petitioner is not in need of further care. The medical evidence shows that Petitioner is
symptomatic for the right shoulder tear and that conservative care has failed and therefore is in
need right shoulder surgical intervention. The medical evidence supports the opinions of Dr.
Schafer in this regard. Respondent shall pay for an authorize right shoulder surgery as
recommended by Dr. Schafer as well as any medical treatment incidental thereto.

ISSUE (L)  What temporary benefits are in dispute?

Havmg found in favor of Pet1t10ner on the aforementloned d1sputed issues, the Arb1trator
finds and concludes that Petltmner is entitled to temporary total disability benefits from 10/6/14
— 4/6/15 representing 26-1/7% weeks Respondent shall pay Petitioner temporary total disability
benefits of $252.73/week for 26-1/7™ weeks, commencmg 10/6/14 through 4/6/15, as provided
in Section 8(b) of the Act. Respondent shall be given a credit of $2,307.36 for temporary total

dlsablhty %t have been paid.

4// 7, T 724

aria § Boca gra, Arbitrator Date
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) D Affirm and adopt (no changes) |:| Injured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d))
)SS. | [ ] Affirm with changes [ Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF WILLIAMSON ) |:| Reverse l___| Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
[ ] pTD/Fatal denied
|E Modify None of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Kevin R. Bathon,

Petitioner,
vS. NO: 14 WC 39435
State of Illinois,
Pinckneyville Correctional Center. 1 6 I w C C O 3 7 9
Respondent.

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by the Respondent herein and notice given to all
parties, the Commission, after considering the sole issue of nature and extent of Petitioner's permanent
partial disability and being advised of the facts and law, generally affirms and adopts the facts and
findings adduced as expressed in the Decision of the Arbitrator but for the calculation of credit due; the
Decision of the Arbitrator is attached hereto and made a part hereof.

The Arbitrator concluded that the claimant had demonstrated a present degree of disablement to
the right leg to the extent of 32.5% pursuant to Section 8(e)12 of the Act. The Arbitrator further found
the Respondent had established credit for a prior settlement in case 97 WC 57623 to the extent of 25%
loss to the right leg which would be set aside from this award, pursuant to Section 8(¢)17. The
Commission concurs with and adopts these findings.

The Arbitrator calculated the net award to the claimant would be 19.875 weeks, being 69.875
weeks for the present disability of 32.5% loss to the leg, less 50 wecks for the prior settlement; at the
time of that prior claim, the leg was based on a total value of 200 weeks rather than 2135, so 25% of a leg
would be worth 50 weeks.
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Section 8(e}17 holds that “...permanent partial loss of use of any such member... shall be taken
into consideration and deducted from any award for the subsequent injury.” The Commission concludes
that utilizing weeks of disability awarded as the offSet, rather than percentage loss of the body part,
creates a non-equivalent, “apples-to-oranges” comparison. The degree of prior disablement, if available,
1s a better measure of appropriate credit than weeks of disablement or the cash value of a prior award.

Accordingly, the Commission calculates the current amount due to the claimant as follows:
32.5% loss to the right leg under 8(e)12 for present disability, less 25% loss to the right leg for the prior
award, resulting in a net disablement to the claimant of 7.5% loss to his right leg over and above his
prior disablement. 7.5% loss to the leg under 8(e)12 is 16.125 weeks of disability (215 x .075 = 16.125).
The respondent shall therefore pay the claimant $735.37 per week for 16.125 weeks.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that, other than as noted above, the
Decision of the Arbitrator filed November 16, 2015, is otherwise hereby affirmed and adopted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit for all
amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.

DATED: JUN 7 - 2016 Q £ Q/

A0shua D. Luskin

0-05/25/16 /4
jd1l éé
68

Charles J. DeVrlendt

ﬂwﬂwm

“Ruth W. White o




NOTICE OF ARBITRATOR DECISION

BATHON, KEVIN R | Case# 14WC039435

Employee/Petitioner

PINCKNEYVILLE CORRECTIONAL CENTER
Employer/Respondent

On 11/16/2015, an arbitration decision on this case was filed with the Hlinois Workers' Compensation
Commission in Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed.

If the Commi_ssiori reviews this award, interest of 0.34% shall accrue from the date listed above to the day
before the date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this

award, interest shall not accrue.

A copy of this decision is mailed to the following parties:

2924 HARRIS & JONES LAW FIRM PC 0502 STATE EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT
DEVIN M JONES . 2101 3 VETERANS PARKWAY
15 N DIVISION 8T ' PO BOX 18255

DuQUOIN, IL 62832 SPRINGFIELD, IL 62754-5255

0558 ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
KYLEE J JORDAN .

601 S UNIVERSITY AVE SUITE 102
CARBONDALE, 1L 62901

0498 STATE GF ILLINOIS
ATTORNEY GENERAL

100 W RANDOLPH ST 13TH FL
CHICAGO, IL 60601-3227

1350 CENTRAL MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS CERTIFIED 23 2 true and corract copy

PO BOX 19208 pursuant to 820 ILCS 305) 14
SPRINGFIELD, IL 62794-9208

NQV 18 2015
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) [ njured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
)SS. l:' Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF Williamson ) [ ] Second Ijury Fund (§8(e)18)
& None of the above

ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

ARBITRATION DECISION
NATURE AND EXTENT ONLY

Kevin R. Bathon . --Case#14 WC-039435 - -
Employee/Petitioner
V. ‘ Consolidated cases: N/A

‘Pinckneyville Correctional Center =~ -
Employer/Respond
mployer/Respondent EBIWCC%BV?Q

The only dlsputed issue is the nature and extent of the injury. An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed
in-this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each party. The matter was heard by the Honorable'-Nancy
Lindsay, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of Herrin, on September 11, 2015. By stipulation, the
parties agree:

On the date of accident, September 25, 2014, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of
the Act.

On this date, the relationship of employee and employer did exist between Petitioner and Respondent, .
On this date, Petitioner sustained an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.

Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.

~ Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is causally related to the accident.

_In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $64,230.41, and the average weekly. wage was $1,235.20. ...

At the time of injury, Petitioner was 40 years of age, married with 1 dependent child.

Necessary medical services and temporary compensation benefits have been provided by Respondent. -
Respondent has agreed that it has or will pay the causally related medical bills directly to the medical providers
~ per the'medical fee'schedule or PPO agreement, whichever is iess and that Respondent shall récéive credit for =
all medical bills previously paid by it or paid through its group medical plan for which credit is allowed under
Section 8(j) of the Act.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $- for TTD, $- for TPD, $- for maintenance, and $- for other benefits, for a
total credit of $-- The parties agreed that Petitioner received extended benefits/full pay for any lost time: "~ =

i [CArbDeeN& E.-2/10--100.W. Randolph Street -#8-200- Chicago; IL-60601- 312/814-6611- ~Toll-free 866/352-3033- Websxre wwwiiwee. i, gmr
~-Downstate offices:~Collinsville 618/346-3450 ~FPeoria 309/671-3019" Rockford 815/987-7292 ~Springfield 217/785-7084 -
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KEVIN R. BATHON v. PINCKNEYVILLE CORRECTIONAL CENTER,
No. 14 WC 039435

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

The Arbitrator ﬁnds:

Petitioner was a 40 year old correctional officer on September 25, 2014. Petitioner
testified that on September 25, 2014, he went to break up an inmate altercation and he had to
stop one inmate and hold him against the wall. Petitioner testified that he felt a pop in his right
knee when this happened and he had immediate pain.

On September 25, 2014, Petitioner presented to the Family Medical Center with
complaints of right knee pain that began when he broke up an inmate altercation. (PX2)
Stephen Priebe, P.A. prescribed Ibuprofen and ordered an x-ray of Petitioner’s right knee.

Petitioner was taken off work through October 1, 2014.

On September 25, 2014, Petitioner underwent an x-ray of his right knee. (PX3) The
findings were of a negative right knee radiograph.

On October 10, 2014, Petitioner presented to Dr. Brian Daines with complaints of right
knee pain 7/10. (PX5) Dr. Daines noted that Petitioner had been experiencing no limitations

with his right knee before his accident. Petitioner advised he had tried Ibuprofen, ice, elevation

with minimal to no relief of his symptoms. Dr. Daines recommended an MR of Petitioner’s
right knee,

On November 11, 2014, Petitioner underwent an MRI of his right knee., (PX6) The
impression was of: 1) proximal patellar tendinopathy, likely acute; 2) the ligaments and menisci
were intact; 3) there was scarring through Hoffa’s fat from prior surgery; and 4) mild to

moderate chondromalacia of the patellofemoral joint, no cartilage defect was identified.

On November 19, 2014, Petitioner presented to Dr. Daines in follow-up. (PX5) Dr.
Daines advised he planned to treat Petitioner non-operatively. Petitioner received a cortical
steroid injection. Dr. Daines advised Petitioner to do physical therapy for quadriceps and
__hamstring strengthening. Petitioner was advised to follow up in six weeks._

On December 30, 2014, Petitioner again followed up with Dr. Daines, (PX5) Petitioner
reported the injection provided minimal relief of his symptoms. Petitioner advised he still had to
limit his activity due to knee pain. Dr. Daines noted Petitioner’s right knee condition had not
responded to physical therapy, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatories, or ice. Dr. Daines
recommended hyaluronic acid injections: In the event the injections were not approved, surgery
was discussed. '

On January 21, 2015, Petitioner presented to Dr. Richard Hulsey for a Section 12
examination at Respondent’s request. (RX6) Dr. Hulsey opined that if Petitioner had not had
any recent problems with his knee prior to his accident, then he felt that the need for treatment

1
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After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes findings regarding the nature and
extent of the injury, and attaches the findings to this document.

ORDER

Respondent shall pay Petitioner permanent partial disability benefits of $735.37/week for 69.875 weeks,
pursuant to Section 8(e) of the Act, because the injuries sustained by Petitioner resulted in 32.5% loss of use of
the right leg. However, the parties agree that Petitioner received a prior settlement in case number 97 WC 57623
for 25% loss of use of the right leg. When that settlement was entered into the maximum number of weeks
allowed for the loss of use of the leg was 200 weeks; therefore, 25% loss of use of the leg equated to 50 weeks
The maximum number of weeks allowed for the loss of use of the leg on the date of this hearing was 215 weeks.
Applying the credit from the previous award (in weeks), Respondent is ordered to pay Petitioner permanent
partial disability benefits of $735.37/week for 19.875 weeks (69.875 weeks — 50 weeks credit from prior
settlement). : '

Per the stipulation of the parties Respondent is ordered to pay all reasonable and causally related medical bills
directly to the medical providers per the Illinois Medical Fee Schedule or PPO Agreement, whichever is less.
Respondent shall receive a credit for all medical bills previously paid.

Respondent shall pay Petitioner compensation that has accrued from September 25, 2014 through September
11, 2015, and shall pay the remainder of the award, if any, in weekly payments,

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a Petition for Review is filed within 30 days after receipt of this decision,
and a review is perfected in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the
decision of the Commission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice
of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however,
if an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

i :
S s S hobdig November 9, 2015
Signature’of Arbitrator Date

ICArbDecN&E p.2

NOV 16 2015
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was directly based on his work injury. Dr. Hulsey recommended a diagnostic arthroscopy to
treat Petitioner’s right knee condition.

On February 13, 2015, Petitioner presented to Dr. Daines. (PX5) Petitioner reported
continued pain in the medial aspect of his knee. Petitioner advised he wished to proceed with a
right knee diagnostic arthroscopy and partial medial meniscectomy.

On March 4, 2015, Petitioner underwent an arthroscopic medial femoral condyle
chondroplasty, anteromedial meniscal partial meniscectomy, patellofemoral chondroplasty, and
debridement of anterior scarring of Hoffa fat pad performed by Dr. Daines. (PX4)

On March 18, 2015, Petitioner presented to Dr. Daines for follow-up. (PX5) Petitioner
reported that he felt much better than he did before surgery. Dr. Daines advised Petitioner to
" continue working hard on his dynamic stabilizers, specifically his quadriceps and hamstnngs
Dr. Daines advised Petitioner to return in four weeks.

Petitioner stopped attending therapy on April 20, 2015. At that time the therapist noted
that Petitioner was tolerating high level strengthening exercises and had resumed functional
activities at home. (PX 9)

On June 2, 2015, Petitioner followed up with Dr. Daines. (PX5) Petitioner advised he
was doing his regular activities, but he occasionally had some popping in his knee and a little
stiffness in the morning. On physical examination Petitioner had 0-130 degrees range of motion.
No instability anteriorly to posteriorly, or varus or valgus stress was noted. Dr. Daines advised
Petitioner he was doing well and was at maximum medical improvement. Petitioner was
instructed to foilow up on an as-needed basis. :

Petitioner’s case proceeded to arbitration on September 11, 2015. The sole issue was the
nature and extent of Petitioner’s injury. Petitioner testified that on September 25, 2014, he went
to break up an inmate altercation and he had to stop one inmate and hold him against the wall.
Petitioner testified that he felt a pop in his right knee when this happened and he had immediate
pain.

Petitioner testified that his knee condition has definitely improved and he confirmed that
he was released with no permanent restrictions. Petitioner testified to experiencing some ongoing
symptoms depending upon the weather. For example, his right knee swells a little bit when it
rains. Petitioner testified that his knee is a little stiffer and he has a little trouble sleeping
because his knee throbs once in a while. Petitioner testified that his right knee is probably a little
weaker, but he wouldn’t say it was a tremendous amount.

Petitioner testified that his knee affects his hobby of coaching football because he can’t
kneel down on his knee, but he is still able to coach football.

Petitioner testified that he is currently assigned as a grounds keeper at work and notices
he is slower when jumping on and off a tractor, but he is still able to do so. He doesn’t stand on
ladders for extended periods of time.
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On cross-examination Petitioner testified that Dr. Daines advised him that he could
continue to improve for up to one year after surgery.

‘Petitioner testified that he takes over-the-counter Ibuprofen when he experiences soreness
or swelling in his knee.
Petitioner testified to a little stiffness and a little trouble sleeping due to occasional

throbbing in his knee. He further testified that he doesn’t notice a tremendous amount of
weakness in his knee.

Petitioner testified that he has not seen Dr. Daines since June 2, 2015, but that he is
supposed to see him again in six months.

On cross-examination Petitioner testified that he is currently temporarily assigned to the
maintenance department, but he is still a correctional officer. Petitioner agreed that he makes the
same pay as he did prior to his accident. Petitioner testified that he has been able to perform his
job. Petitioner testified that he hopes his temporary assignment to maintenance becomes a
permanent assignment. Petitioner was unawaré of any complaints from his supérvisor régarding
the quality of his work.

Petitioner acknowledged that Dr. Daines told him he should continue to improve for up
to a year after surgery. He still performs his home exercises.

Subsequent fo the arbitration heariﬁg Reépondent’s attorney discovered that Petitioner
had a prev1ous award of 25% 1oss of use of the right leg in case number 97 WC 057623 By

Supplernent the Record Instanter A copy of the Agreed Motion has been marked as Arbitrator’s
Exhibit 5 and made a part of the record.-

The Arbitrator concludes:

Since the accident occurred after September 1, 2611, Section 8.1(b) of the Act applies.

Pursuant to Section 8.1(b) of the Act, the Commission shall base its determination of
--permanent partial-disability on-the-following factors: (i) the reported level of impairment—— ~~— — - —
pursuant to subsection (a); (ii) the occupation of the injured employee; (iii) the age of the
employee at the time of the injury; (iv) the employee’s future earning capacity; and (v) evidence
of disability corroborated by the treating medical records. No single enumerated factor shall be
the sole determinant of disability. 820 ILCS 305/8.1(b).

(i) Neither party submitted ahr'a'ting "p'l.iféﬁexif to Section 8.1(9.): 'The‘refore, the Arbitrator
gives no weight to this factor.

(i)  Occupation: Petitioner was employed as a correctional officer at Pinckneyville
Correctional Center at the time of his accident. He testified that he is back to work
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full duty. While he is temporarily assigned to a different job (maintenance) and
hopes that the position becomes a permanent one, no evidence was presented that this
temporary assignment stems from his injury or is less physical than that of a
correctional officer. Petitioner did testify that he can perform all required duties albeit
sometimes he is a little slower (as when getting on/off the tractor at work). The
Arbitrator gives this factor some weight.

(iii)  Age: Petitioner was 40 years old at the time of his injury. As such Petitioner can
reasonably be expected to live and work with the effects of his work injury fora
reasonable time into the future. Accordingly, the Arbitrator gives some weight to this
factor.

(iv)  Earning Capacity: There is no direct evidence of diminished future earning capacity
in the record. In fact, Petitioner testified he is currently paid the same amount as he
was prior to his accident. The Arbitrator gives no weight to this factor.

(v) Disability: Petitioner was a very credible witness. He did not try to exaggerate or
embellish any ongoing complaints. He was candid in acknowledging that he is getting
older and trying to balance any ongoing difficulties/symptoms with those one might
associate with the aging process. He acknowledged that his condition has improved
since the injury and that he is better since surgery. His ongoing complaints include

. swelling, difficulty kneeling, standing, and ladder climbing, and some stiffness and
weakness. His testimony was generally corroborated by his treating records.

Having considered the foregoing factors, the Arbitrator concludes that Petitioner is now
permanently partially disabled to the extent of 32.5 % loss of use of the right leg as provided in
Section 8(e) of the Act.

The parties agree that Petitioner received a prior settlement in case number 97 WC 57623. That
settlement was for 25% loss of use of the right leg. When that settlement was entered the
maximum number of weeks allowed for the loss of use of the leg was 200 weeks; therefore, 25%
loss of use of the leg equated to 50 weeks. The maximum number of weeks allowed for the loss
of use of the leg on the date of this hearing was 215 weeks.

Applying the credit from the previous award, Respondent is ordered to pay Petitioner permanent

partial disability benefits of $735.37/week for 19.875 weeks (69.875 weeks — 50 weeks credit
from prior settlement).
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Page 1
STATE OF ILLINOIS ) & Affirm and adopt (no changes) |:| Injured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d))
)SS. | [ ] Affirm with changes [ ] Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(z))
COUNTY OF COOK ) |:| Reverse D Second Injury Fund (§8(¢)18)
[ ] PTD/Fatal denied
|:| Modify IE None of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Joaquin Banderas,
Petitioner,
vs.

. NO: 14 WC 32465
Cermak Produce No. 11, Inc.,

Responden, 16I1WCC0380

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review under §19(b) having been filed by the Petitioner herein
and notice given to all parties, the Comumission, after considering the issues of temporary total
disability, causal connection, medical, prospective medical, penalties, and any and all other
issues raised during the hearing and being advised of the facts and law, affirms and adopts the
Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and made a part hereof.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the
Arbitrator filed November 10, 2015 is hereby affirmed and adopted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under §19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.
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Bond for the removal of this cause to the Circuit Court by Respondent is hereby fixed at
the sum of $1.00. The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court shall
file with the Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit Court.

N g

Marig Basurto

DATED: JUN 8 - 2016

MB/mam

0:5/19/16 . f W
43 a-u-g .

David L. Gore

o

Stephen Mathis




ILLINOIS WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
NOTICE OF 19(b)"ARBIKTRATOR DECISION

BANDERAS, JOAQUI Case# 14WC032465

Employee/Petitioner 1 6 I w C C 0 3 8 0

CERMAK PRODUCE NO 11 INC
‘ Employer/Respondent

On 11/10/2015, an arbitration decision on this case was filed with the Illinois Workers' Compensation Commission in
Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed.

If the Commission reviews this award, interest of 0.34% shall accrue from the date listed above to the day before the
date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall
not accrue.

A copy of this decision is mailed to the following parties:

1922 STEVEN B SALK & ASSOC
FRANK | GAUGHAN

150 N WACKER DR SUITE 2570
CHICAGO, IL 60606

2461 NYHAN BAMBRICK KINZIE & LOWRY
GARY WALLACE

20 N CLARK ST SUITE 1000

CHICAGO, IL 60602
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) D Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
)SS. |:| Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTYOFCOOK ) ) [ ] second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
.‘ . o - [E None of the above

ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

ARBITRATION DECISION
19(b)
JOAQUIN BANDERAS, Case # 14 WC 32465
Employee/Petitioner
V.

CERMAK PRODUCE NO. 11, INC,
Employer/Respondent

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Milton Black, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of
Chicago, on August 27, 2015 and August 28, 2015. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the

Arbitrator hereby makes findings on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this
document.

DISPUTED ISSUES

A. D Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Illinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act?

B. [ ] Was there an employee-employer relationship?

C. |:| Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?

D. El What was the date of the accident?

E. { | was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

F. IZI Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?

G. [_] What were Petitioner's earnings?

H. [ ] What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

L D What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?

J. Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?

K. Is Petitioner entitled to any prospective medical care?

L. What temporary benefits are in dispute?
[1TPD [_] Maintenance TTD

M. [E Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?

N. |:| Is Respondent due any credit?

0. [ Other

ICAvbDecl(h) 2/10 100 W, Randolph Street #8-200 Chicago, IL 60601 312/814-6611  Toll-free 866/352-3033  Web site: www.iwee.il.gov
Downstate offices: Collinsville 618/346-3450 Peoria 309/671-3019  Roclford 815/987-7292  Springfield 217/785-7084
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On the date of accident, July 23, 2014, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the
Act.

On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.

On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.

Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is nof causally related to the accident.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $25,263.16; the average weekly wage was $485.83.

On the date of accident, Petitioner was 48 years of age, single with 1 dependent child.

'Respondent has paid all reasonable and neceséary charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $4,525.71 for TTD, $N/A for TPD, $N/A for maintenance, and $2,500.00
for other benefits, for a total credit of $7,025.71.

Respondent is entitled to a credit of $0 under Section 8(j) of the Act.

ORDER

Respondent shall pay Petitioner temporary total disability benefits of $323.89/week for 5 4/7™ weeks,
commencing July 23, 2014 through September 1, 2014, as provided in Section 8(b) of the Act.

Respondent shali be given a credit of $4,525.71 for TTD and $2,500.00 for other benefits, for a total credit of
$7,025.71 that have been paid.

Petitioner's claims for any medical treatment after September 1, 2014, Petitioner's claims for any temporary total
disability benefits after September 1, 2014, and Petitioner's claims for penalties and attorneys’ fees are denied,
because Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is not causally related to the injury.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this

decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the
decision of the Commission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the
Nortice of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment;
however, if an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not

Yot [k

Signature of Arbitrator Date

November 8, 2015

ICArbDec19(b)

P 20f4
yov1 0 2015 e
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Petitioner suffered an accident arising out of and in the course of his employment with Respondent on
July 23, 2014. Petitioner was cleaning a cooler. While moving containers of meat, he injured his lower back.
Initial medical treatment was at St. Anthony Occupational Medicine for a lumbar strain (PX1, p6). An MRI
dated August 5, 2014 indicated mild degenerative disc disease (PX1, p3). Petitioner was treated with

medication, given work restrictions, and physical therapy was ordered (PX1, pp6-9).

Petitioner testified on direct examination that when he was discharged from St. Anthony Occupational
Medicine on August 29, 2014, he was told he needed to see another doctor. On cross-examination, Petitioner
admitted that he was told he needed to see another doctor for osteoarthritis and that his condition was no longer
related to his work accident. The cross-examination version is corroborated by the August 29, 2014 St. Anthony
Occupational Medicine chart note of (PX1, p22). '

Petitioner testified that he next went to Marquis Medicos for further treatment. Those records indicate
Petitioner received multiple chiropractic treatments as well as multiple physical therapy sessions from
September 2, 2014 through January 14, 2015 (PX2). Petitioner testified that he was referred to Dr. Harsoor, a
pain specialist, by the Marquis Medicos Group, for further pain management. Petitioner testified that he was

referred to Dr. Erickson (PX6) for a surgical consult by Dr. Harsoor.

On October 16, 2014, Petitioner was evaluated by Dr. Gunnar Andersson, an orthopedic surgeon at
Midwest Orthopedics. Dr. Andersson examined Petitioner and reviewed medical records. Dr. Andersson stated
that there was an essentially normal MRI. Dr. Andersson concluded that all treatment through August 29, 2014
was reasonable and necessary. Dr. Andersson further concluded that treatment beyond August 29, 2014 was not
related to the accident of July 23, 2014. Dr. Andersson further concluded that Petitioner had reached maximum
medical improvement as of August 29, 2014 (RX1). August 29, 2014 was the Friday before Labor Day.

DISCUSSION

The Arbitrator finds that Petitioner’s current condition of ill-being is not related to the accident of July

23, 2014, The Arbitrator specifically adopts the opinions of Dr. Gunnar Andersson and of Dr. Carl Gustas.

Page 3 of 4
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Therefore, the Arbitrator makes the following findings:
Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is not causally related to the injury.
Petitioner's claims for any medical treatment after Labor Day, September 1, 2014 are denied.
Petitioner's claims for any temporary total disability benefits after September 1, 2014 are denied.

Petitioner's claims for penalties and attorneys’ fees are denied.

Page 4 of 4
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Page 1
STATE OF ILLINOIS ) |:] Affirm and adopt {no changes) D Injured Workers” Benefit Fund (§4(d))
) SS. & Affirm with changes D Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF DUPAGE ) [ ] Reverse [ Second Injury Fund (§8(c)18)
D PTD/Fatal denied
[ ] Modity [X] None of the above
BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
Sheryl Faust,
Petitioner,
VS. NO: 12 WC 39900
Cadence Health, 1 6 I w C C 0 3 8 1
Respondent.

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review under §19(b) having been filed by the Petitioner herein
and notice given to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of accident,
causation, medical expenses, temporary total disability benefits and additional compensation and
attorneys’ fees and being advised of the facts and law, modifies the Decision of the Arbitrator as
stated below and otherwise affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached
hereto and made a part hereof.

The Comunission finds that in addition to the analysis performed by the Arbitrator, there
is a need to address whether Petitioner’s alleged excessive standing and bending superimposed
on Petitioner’s acknowledged pre-existing degenerative condition was sufficient to prove that her

(L9 5]

work duties were “a” cause of her current condition of ill-being.

As the Arbitrator indicated in her decision Petitioner initially signed an Application for
Adjustment of claim on November 2, 2012 in which she alleged an accident date of July 1, 2011.
Petitioner then at the start of the arbitration hearing amended her Application for Adjustment of
Claim alleging an accident date of September 1, 2011. The Commission finds that while
Petitioner’s attorney is correct in stating that they have a right to amend an Application of
Adjustment of Claim at any time prior to and during the Arbitration hearing, conversely
Respondent has a right to point out that Petitioner did at one point claim an earlier manifestation
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date with a different theory of the claim ie. excessive sitting than was ultimately presented ie:
excessive standing/bending and furthermore has the right to place Petitioner’s credibility at issue.

Currently before the Comumission is Petitioner’s amended claim with an alleged
September 1, 2011 manifestation date. Petitioner is claiming that she had to stand up/bend over
up to 12 hours a day and this caused her low back to be symptomatic. The Commission notes
that when Petitioner was asked to produce a schedule showing her work hours and how often she
perforimed her work duties 12 hours a day Petitioner responded that she would have to look at the
training schedule which she does not have in front of her but which is in the records. When she
was asked to estimate how many 12 hour shifts she was assigned, Petitioner again said she would
have to look at the record. She further stated it was a long time ago and without looking at the
training schedule she could not give an estimate of how many days a week she was assigned the
12 hour shift. While Petitioner further testified that she was bent over 60% of the time, again,
Petitioner could not recall how may days she was placed in this position. What Petitioner did
testify to was that there were two trainers in the room. One trainer was in front and one trainer in
the back of the room. Petitioner never provided any evidence in terms of the ratio of how often
she was the primary trainer in front of the room and how often she was the secondary trainer in
back of the room. At most, she again testified that she could not recall and the records would
indicate whether she was the primary or secondary trainer,

Ms. Wagner, the principle trainer for the program, testified that during the demonstration
portion of Petitioner’s job the typical hours for trainers spanned from 8 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. and a
typical work day was 8 hours long and took place between Monday and Friday with a break for
lunch. Ms. Wagner testified that the trainer was either assigned two 4 hour classes back to back
with breaks in between or worked a split shift where the trainer worked in the morning and then
worked again in the evening with down time in between in the afternoon. While Petitioner claims
she was scheduled for 12 hour shifts and she submitted PX1, an e-mail to that effect, Ms.
Wagner said she was not aware of Petitioner being scheduled for 12 hours straight. She said
there were breaks of at least a 1/2 an hour between the 4 hour sessions. Ms. Wagner further
indicated that per Petitioner’s request chairs were brought in and the two trainers divvied up
what role they performed in the training sessions. Furthermore, the CHD job description entered
as Respondent’s RX5 said Epic trainers would sit 0-35% of the day and stand 36-55% of the day.

While Dr. Popp expressed a positive causal connection opinion that increased standing
and bending forward placed stress on Petitioner’s back, he replied as such to Petitioner’s
attorney’s hypothetical containing unsubstantiated facts that Petitioner was forced to do 8-12
hour shifts over a two month period during which she was on her feet 50% of the time and was
bending over 50% of the time. Conversely, Dr. Levin, opined that there was no aggravation
referable to the lumbar spine from Petitioner’s work in August/September of 2011, Given the
evidence submitted as a whole, the Commission finds that Petitioner both failed to provide
- evidence, other than her own testimony, that there is a sufficient basis in which they can
conclude that Petitioner’s activities of standing and bending were excessive and as a result
Petitioner’s pre-existing low back condition was aggravated by her work duties.
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In terms of the mechanics of the injury itself, the Comunission questions whether
Petitioner’s sitting, standing and bending were part and parcel of Petitioner’s work activities such
that they subjected her to greater harm than a member of the general public. The Commission
finds that sitting, standing and bending are activities of daily living that are performed equally by
workers and non-workers alike and that are performed in all aspects of a daily living. As such the
question became one of whether or not these activities were required to be performed in an
excessive manner in which Respondent subjected Petitioner to a greater harm of injury than a
member of the general public. As indicated above, the Commission does not believe Petitioner
provided sufficient evidence to support that her work duties and specifically her alleged
excessive standing and bending subjected her to a greater harm of injury than a member of the
general public. Thus, the Comunission finds that Petitioner’s claim is not substantiated by the
evidence contained in the record and as such is not compensable under the Act.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that since Petitioner failed to
prove she sustained any accidental injury as a result of the September 1, 2011 accident her claim
for compensation is hereby denied.

The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court shall file with the
Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit Court.
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NOTICE OF .-'1'9(_b) ARBITRATOR DECISION

FAUST, SHERYL Case# 12WC039900

16I1WCC0381

CADENCE HEALTH
Employer/Respondent

On 10/26/2015, an arbitration decision on this case was filed with the [linois Workers' Compensation Commission in
Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed.

If the Commission reviews this award, interest of 0.11% shall accrue from the date listed above to the day before the

date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall
not accrue.

A copy of this decision is mailed to the following parties:

1869 PRESBREY & ASSQC LLC
KURT NIERMANN

821 W GALENA BLVD

AURORA, IL 60506

0075 POWER & CRONINLTD
ELENA CINCIONE

800 COMMERCE DR SUITE 300
QAKBROOK, IL 60523
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FINDINGS
On the date of accident, 9/4/2011, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act.
On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.
On this date, Petitioner did not sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.
Timely notice of this accident was not given to Respondent.
Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is not causally related to the accident.
In the .year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $70,000.00; the average weekly wage was $1,346.15.
On the date of accident, Petitioner was 57 years of age, single with 0 dependent children.
Respondent kas paid all reasonable and necessary charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $0 for TTD, $0 for TPD, $0 for maintenance, and $0 for other benefits,
for a total credit of $0.

Respondent is entitled to a credit of $21,160.68 under Section 8(j) of the Act.
ORDER

The Arbitrator finds that the Petitioner failed to establish that the sustained a compensable work accident.

All other issues are rendered moot and all requested compensation and benefits are denied.

In no instance shall this award be a bar to subsequent hearing and determination of an additional amount of
medical benefits or compensation for a temporary or permanent disability, if any.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Perition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this

decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the
decision of the Commission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice

of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however,
if an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

Signature of Arbitrator Date

ICArbDec19(b)

OCT 2 g 2015
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A: I was in pain....Because I was sitting so much I was in increasing pain. Lumbar
pain was intense going down my legs. Cervical pain that I had never experienced
before was the new pain that I had as a result of the sitting. But I also had lumbar
pain from being in one position for an extended period of time. (T. 17-18)

The second phase of the EPIC job began the last week of August, 2011. (T. 17) required
Petitioner to train groups of physicians on the use of the EPIC software program in an
auditorium, classroom setting. (T.17) Each training session had two trainers: the lead
trainer stood at a podium in front of the class while the secondary trainer walked around
the classroom assisting physicians who with the database. (T.21-23) Petitioner testified
that she spent six days per week performing the secondary trainer role which required
her to bend over in a “fulcrum position” to assist the seated physicians on the database.
(T. 24) She estimated that 60% or more of her time as the secondary trainer was spent
in this position. (Id.)

Petitioner testified that the trainers were not allowed breaks during a training session
(which lasted four to six hours) nor were the trainers allowed to sit in chairs. (T.25)

This phase of the EPIC job lasted for 8 weeks. She worked anywhere from four to twelve
hour days, 6 days a week. (T.22, 25, 31)

Petitioner testified to experiencing agonizing pain during this period of time at work:

I could not feel my legs because I was never sitting, I was always standing. So I
had the continued — I had numbness and radiating pain down my legs when I
would be the person standing. When I was the trainer who was assigned
second position in the back, bending I would have searing pain in my lumbar
region to the point I was reduced to tears. (T. 26)

On direct exam, Petitioner testified that she had prior low back pain involving “an
impingement” at L5-S1 resulting from a biking incident two years prior to the alleged
injury manifestation date. She was treated with “a spinal injection” which, according to
her, was “well treated”. Petitioner further testified that she was “just fine” as long as she
was “moving and doing the normal things” she did in her job prior to the Epic position.
(T. 20) Petitioner testified that her job prior to the Epic position did not require sitting
for entire shifts. (Id.).

When questioned on cross-exam about her prior back condition, Petitioner testified that
she had “couple injections” prior to July 2011. (T. 64).

Respondent’s Exhibit 1 is Petitioner’s original Application for Adjustment of Claim.
Petitioner testified on cross that the date of accident is July 1, 2011 and that she signed
the document.

Petitioner testified that she sought initial care at the Delnor pain clinic with her primary
care physician, Dr. Cladis who instituted work restrictions of no standing for more than
four hours which was accommodated by Respondent. (T. 31-32)

Respondent eventually terminated Petitioner in January of 2013 after Petitioner’s work
was further restricted by Dr. Cladis. (T. 32-33)

2
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On cross, Ms. Wagner testified that it was Petitioner who requested that chairs be
furnished for the trainers.

Medical Records Prior to the Alleged Injury Manifestation Date

On May 31, 2006, Petitioner was examined by a physicians’ assistant, reporting that she
felt sharp pain in right hip and felt something “pop” three days after the car accident.
She reported pain running down the hip and leg and the PA identified bruises on the
bilateral hip area. Exam of the back was normal and the hips showed no weakness and a
full range of motion. A “hip flexor strain” was the assessment. (RX 5)

On June 18, 2007, Petitioner underwent a DEXA scan at Delnor Community Hospital
which revealed osteopenia in Petitioner’s hip and lumbar spine. (Id.).

On September 9, 2009, Petitioner underwent another DEXA scan. (Id.) Petitioner was
diagnosed with osteopenia of the lumbar spine and bilateral femoral necks. (RX 5).

On June 16, 2010, Petitioner presenied to Dr. Cladis at Greater Valley Medicine
(Internal Medicine and Chiropractic) with complaints of intermittent hip pain, radiating
into the buttock that began one month ago. Petitioner was diagnosed with pirformis
syndrome. Various chiropractic manipulations were performed. (Id.)

On June 26, 2010, Petitioner presented to Delnor hospital with a history of left glute
pain for the last month after riding her bicycle for approximately 20 miles in Wisconsin.
Petitioner reported consulting with her family doctor within a couple of days after the
biking episode who gave her a Medrol Dosepack. (RX5) Petitioner reported treating
with a chiropractor approximately two weeks ago who administered various forms of
treatment that helped for a limited time. (Id.) Petitioner reported increasing pain in
her buttocks over the past 2-3 days that caused difficulty walking. Petitioner reported
radiation of pain to the anterior aspect of her left thigh since the initial onset of pain.
(Id.) Petitioner was diagnosed with sciatica and left buttock/low back pain and
prescribed Toradol 60 mg and Norco 10mg.

On June 30, 2010, Petitioner underwent a lumbar MRI at Delnor Community

Hospital. (RX 4) The MRI report noted a history of left buttock pain. The MRI findings
note the following:

1. Degenerative disk changes at Li-L2 through L5-Si, most significant at
L3-14, L4-L5 and L5-S1;

2. Aright sided L5-S1 herniated nucleus pulposus abutted and displaced
the right S1 nerve root;

3. The L4-Ls level had bilateral facet arthritis with some foraminal
stenosis bilaterally and degenerative disk changes;

4. The L3-14 level had right greater than left facet arthritis, lateral recess
stenosis, foraminal stenosis on a bony basis and degenerative disk
changes.
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Her lumbosacral spine exhibited no tenderness on palpitation and her left sided straight
leg raise was negative. Dr. Cladis noted that her sciatica was worse. The doctor placed
work restrictions of standing no more than four hours a day and no repetitive bending,
lifting or twisting. He also recommended therapy but noted that her work schedule
would not accommodate the therapy. Petitioner was instructed to do home exercises.
Another epidural steroid injection was ordered. {Id.)>

On September 15, 2011, a physical therapy evaluation summary noted that Petitioner “is
a 57-year-old female referred with a diagnosis of sciatica/degenerative disc disease.
Symptoms initially began in June, 2010 however have worsened in the past 2 months.
Patient was in a motor vehicle accident in June, 2010 at which time she had left hip/low
back involvement with pinching- type sensation. MRI showed L5-S1 involvement with
impingement. Patient also had a nerve conduction velocity test and radiofrequency test.
Last evening at work during an Epic presentation at CDH on 9/14/11, patient tripped
over exposed cords and lurched forward which exasperated her symptoms”. (RX5)
Petitioner was prescribed physical therapy twice weekly for 6 weeks. (Id.)

Petitioner underwent a right hip MRI on August 15, 2012, which demonstrated findings
consistent with right greater trochanteric bursitis with partial tear of insertion of the
right gluteus minimus tendon.

On October 4, 2012, Petitioner presented to Dr. Cladis, with low back pain complaints
which were noted to have become more chronic due to the physical demands of her job.
(PX4) Petitioner reported her pain as constant and aggravated by 12 hour days at work.
She reported severe low back spasms/right hip pain since January of 2012 with constant
standing and walking during the “go live” process for the EPIC program. Petitioner
noted an improvement in her pain when she did a sedentary job with less standing. On
exam, her Jumbar spine was tender to palpation and she had lumbar pain and right
sciatic notch pain. She also exhibited spasms of the bilateral lumbar paraspinal
muscles. A straight leg raise test on the right was positive at 45 degrees and the left side
remained negative. The diagnoses at that time included bursitis of the right hip,
lumbago, intervertebral disk degeneration, herniated intervertebral disk and sciatica.
Dr. Cladis recommended that she reduce physical therapy and that she use 10 mg of
Flexeril three times a day. She was also restricted to sedentary activity at work, with -
limited standing, limited walking, and five hour days. Dr. Cladis further restricted her
to sit down jobs and limited her walking and standing to 30 minutes per shift.

Petitioner consulted with Dr. Craig Popp on April 4, 2013. (PX2) Dr. Popp ordered
flexion/extension lumbar X-rays on that date that showed grade 1 degenerative
spondylolisthesis at L4-L5 and degenerative disk changes at L3-L4. The films also
revealed anterior 5 mm of slippage between the posterior aspect of the L4 vertebral body
and the posterior aspect of the L5 veriebral body.

On April 7, 2013, a lumbar spine MRI showed advanced degenerative facet joint changes
with areas of synovial cysts formation posterior to the thecal sac at L4 level, likely
related to the advanced degenerative facet joint changes at the L4-L5 level with
degenerative changes also noted at L3-L4. (PX4)
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Even so, Dr. Popp thought the surgery would provide good pain relief to Petitioner. (PX1
p-12)

Dr. Popp testified that in the event that Petitioner did not receive the fusion, her

condition would continue to degenerate and she would probably be limited to sedentary
work. (PX1p.12)

Dr. Popp noted that Petitioner’s job required her to spend a significant amount of time
bending forward in an awkward position looking over people who were learning the
EPIC program. (PX1 p.13) Spondylolisthesis is a condition where one vertebral level is
already shifting in front of the next level, and bending forward creates an increased
shear force across the two vertebral bodies. (PX1 p.14) Dr. Popp opined that Petitioner’s
training activity exacerbated this pre-existing condition. (PX1 p.14) He testified that the
change in Petitioner’s work activity levels was related to the onset of the pain which he
was treating. (PX1p.20) Dr. Popp was personally familiar with Petitioner’s pre-EPIC
work activities through his own observation and her description of the duties. (PX1
p-20-21) Dr. Popp noted that he had been documenting in his notes that Petitioner’s
condition was work related throughout the treatment. (PX1 p.22) Dr. Popp also
referenced a July 21, 2014 note from Dr. Siodlarz who had been managing Petitioner’s
pain. (PX1p.22-23) Dr. Siodlarz similarly reported that Petitioner was experiencing
low back pain due to repetitive work injury. (PX1 p.23-24) Dr. Popp agreed with that
assessment, noting that Petitioner’s pre-existing low back conditions became aggravated
by the change in her work activities. (PX1 p.24)

Dr. Popp testified a synovial cyst in the spine is a sign of degeneration in the spine. (PX
1, p- 44-45). Additionally, he testified that he based his conclusions as to the cause of
her back pain on statements made by the Petitioner and not any observations of her
work activities, specifically Petitioner’s statement that she was asymptomatic prior to
working as an EPIC trainer. (PX 1, p. 48, 52).

On cross-examination, counsel for Respondent challenged Dr. Popp on Petitioner’s pre-
accident treatment history. Dr. Popp noted that he was aware that Dr. Morowski had
treated her previously for low back pain and some leg pain with epidural steroid
injections from Siodlarz. (PX1 p.26) Respondent asked whether Petitidner told him
about a car accident from 2006, her DEXA scan results, osteopenia, a nonspecific
autoimmune connective tissue condition, arthritis, sciatica, osteoarthritis, Reynaud’s
disease or the lumbar MRI spine from 2010. Dr. Popp noted that none of the
comorbidities which Respondent asked him about changed his opinion on causation.
(PX1p.51-52} The Reynaud’s was a circulatory condition which had nothing to do with
her condition. (PX1 p.36) The MRI images between 2010 and 2014 revealed a
worsening of Petitioner’s condition during the interim, supporting the idea that
Petitioner injured herself with the EPIC work. The 2014 lumbar MRI showed a
worsening of Petitioner’s condition from the 2010 MRI, with the later MRI revealing a
pseudo-disc protrusion at L4-5 superimposed upon and slightly displacing the right
neuroforaminal area, worsening of the spondylolisthesis and a larger disc herniation to
the right at L5-S1. (PX1 p.30)
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The Arbitrator notes that Petitioner was not entirely forthcoming with information
regarding her pre-existing back condition.

Petitioner testified that prior to her role in the Epic program:

I had an impingement of L5-S1 due to biking two years before and it was
diagnosed by physicians at Fox Valley Orthopedic and treated with a spinal
injection, well treated; and as long as I was moving and doing the normal
things I did in my job prior to Epic I was just fine. (PX.1, p.20)

Dr. Levin noted Petitioner’s report of “a non-work-related issue in 2010: where she was
diagnosed with L5-S1 impingement”. (Id.}. Petitioner reported to Dr. Levin that she
was given a cortisone injection and she was “100% recovered after the injection.”

While Petitioner emphasized throughout her testimony that she only suffered a L5-S1
nerve impingement in 2009 due to a biking accident, her medical records indicate a
more extensive pre-existing condition. The levels at which the fusion was performed in

April 2015 were the same levels noted to have been afflicted with degenerative disc
disease.

The Arbitrator finds it disconcerting that Petitioner failed to provide for the Arbitrator’s
review medical records relating to her prior back complaints. Petitioner’s medical
records exhibits do not contain records prior to July 2011 and do not document
Petitioner’s pre-existing degenerative back condition. Respondent’s Exhibits 4 and 5 do
provide documentation of Petitioner’s pre-existing degenerative back condition.

The Arbitrator finds Petitioner’s medical history to be inconsistent with her testimony

that she was “just fine” and her statement to Dr. Levin that she was “100% recovered”
prior to her alleged manifestation date

The medical records demonstrate:

1. That Petitioner suffered a biking accident sometime in May of 2010;

2. On June 26, 2010, Petitioner presented to Delnor hospital with a history of
left glute pain for the last month after riding her bicycle for approximately 20
miles in Wisconsin. Petitioner reported increasing pain in her buttocks over
the past 2-3 days with pain so intense that she had difficulty walking;

3. On June 30, 2010, Petitioner underwent a lumbar MRI at Delnor Community
Hospital. (RX 4) The MRI report noted a history of left buttock pain. The
MRI findings note degenerative disk changes at L1-L2 through L5-S1, most
significant at L3-L4, L4-Ls and L5-S1; a right sided L5-S1 herniated nucleus
pulposus abuited and displaced the right S1 nerve root; L4-L5 bilateral facet
arthritis with some foraminal stenosis bilaterally and degenerative disk
changes:

4. On October 28, 2010, Petitioner presented to Dr. Cladis who noted a history
of a herniated intravertebral disk. (RX5)

5. On January 20, 2011, Petitioner received an epidural steroid injection in her
lumbar back. '

i0
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) I:I Affirm and adopt (ne changes) |:| Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
) SS. I:] Affirm with comment I:_I Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF DUPAGE ) [ ] Reverse [ ] Second Injury Fund (58(c)18)
@ Modify None of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Joseph Bonasorte,

Petitioner,

V8. NO: 12 WC 18561

Village of Addison, 1 6 I w C C 0 3 8 2
Respondent.

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by Respondent herein and notice given to
all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of causal connection and nature and
extent of permanent disability and being advised of the facts and law, modifies the Decision of
the Arbitrator as stated below and otherwise affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator,
which is attached hereto and made a part hereof.

The Commission modifies the Arbitrator’s Decision finding that Petitioner was
temporarily totally disabled from May 8, 2012 through July 22, 2012, a period of 10-6/7 weeks.
The Arbitrator did not award TTD benefits as this was not disputed. However, the Arbitrator
gave Respondent credit of $8,414.52 for TTD benefits paid by Respondent. There cannot be a
credit against no award. The parties stipulated on the Request for Hearing form that Petitioner
was temporarily totally disabled from May 8, 2012 through July 22, 2012. The Commission
modifies as per the parties stipulation. The Comumission affirms all else.
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IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to
Petitioner the sum of $775.06 per week for a period of 10-6/7 weeks, that being the period of
temporary total incapacity for work under §8(b) of the Act.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall pay to
Petitioner the sum of $235.00 for reasonable, necessary and related medical expenses under
§8(a) of the Act, subject to the Medical Fee Schedule under §8.2 of the Act.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
the sum of $695.78 per week for a period of 64.50 weeks, as provided in §8(e) of the Act, for the

reason that the injuries sustained caused the permanent disability of the right leg to the extent of
30%.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for all amounts paid, if' any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.
The Commission notes that Respondent paid $8,414.52 in TTD benefits and Respondent shall
have credit for medical bills paid.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under §19(n) of the Act, if any.

There is no bond for the removal of this cause to the Circuit Court by Respondent
pursuant to §19(f)(2) of the Act. The party commencing the proceedings for review in the
Circuit Court shall file with the Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit
Court.

DATED: JUN § - 2016 j//& %/

MB/maw

005/19/16 Mario
43

urt

u:w

David L. Gore




o ILLINOIS WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
NOTICE OF ARBITRATOR DECISION

BONASORTE, JOSEPH Case# 12WC018561

16I1WCC0382

VILLAGE OF ADDISON
Employer/Respondent

On 11/5/2015, an arbitration decision on this case was filed with the [llinois Workers' Compensation
Commission in Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed.

If the Commission reviews this award, interest of 0.28% shall accrue from the date listed above to the day
before the date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this
award, interest shall not accrue.

A copy of this decision is mailed to the following parties:

1404 KETTER, BARRY A
111 WWASHINGTON ST
SUITE 926

CHICAGO, IL 60602

2542 BRYCE DOWNEY & LENKOV LLC
EDWARD A JORDAN

200 N LASALLE ST SUITE 2700
CHICAGO, IL. 60601



16IWCCO382

STATE OF ILLINOIS ) D Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund
(84(d))
} )SS. Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OFDuPAGE ) ., [ second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
RO B SR None of the above

ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
ARBITRATION DECISION

JOSEPH BONASORTE Case # 12 WC 018561
Employee/Petitioner
v

VILLAGE OF ADDISON
Employer/Respondent

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of
Hearing was mailed to each party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Steven
Fruth, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of Wheaton, on 07/24/2015. After
reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes findings on the
disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.

IMSPUTED ISSUES

A, |:| Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Illinois Workers'
Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act?

[ | Was there an employee-employer relationship?

D Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's
employment by Respondent?

. [_] What was the date of the accident?

[ was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

IE Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury? -
. ] What were Petitioner's earnings?

H. D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

I. [ ] wWhat was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?

J

. Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and
necessary? Has Respondent

paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?
K |:| What temporary benefits are in dispute?
[]1TPD [ ] Maintenance []TTD
L. What is the nature and extent of the injury?
M. [_] Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?
N. [ _]1s Respondent due any credit?
0. Other §8a medical remains open

0w

HmEg
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On 02/23/2012, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the
Act.

FINDINGS

On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and
Respondent.

On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of
employment.

Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.
Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is causally related to the accident.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $59,934.16; the average weekly wage
was $1,162.59.

On the date of accident, Petitioner was 31 years of age, married with 1 dependent
children.

Petitioner has received all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent has paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical
services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $8,414.52 for TTD, $0 for TPD, $0 for
maintenance, and $0 for other benefits, for a total credit of $8,414.52.

Respondent is entitled to a credit of $0 under Section 8(j) of the Act.

ORDER

PERMANENT PARTIAL DISABILITY:

The Arbitrator finds that Petitioner sustained a permanent partial disability to the extent of 30% loss of
use of the right leg, and that Respondent shall pay Petitioner permanent partial disability benefits of
$695.78/week for 64.5 weeks, as provided in §8(b)2, §8(e), and §8.1b(b) of the Act.

MEDICAIL BENEFITS:
Respondent shall pay $235.00 to Elmhurst Orthopedics, subject to the fee schedule, in accord with §8.2 of
the Act. Further, medical benefits under § 8(a) shall be remain open and Respondent shall pay reasonable

and necessary medical services, pursuant to the medical fee schedule, provided in §8(a) and §8.2 of the
Act.

CREDITS:

Respondent shall be given a credit of $8,414.52 for TTD. Respondent shall be given a credit for medical
benefits that have been paid.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after
receipt of this decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this
decision shall be entered as the decision of the Commission.
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STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set
forth on the Notice of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day
before the date of payment; however, if an employee's appeal results in either no change or a
decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

D
: November 4, 2015

Signature of Arbitrator Date
ICArbDec p. 2

Nov 5 - 208
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Joseph Bonasorte v. Village of Addison
12 WC 18561

INTRODUCTION

This matter proceeded to hearing before Arbitraior Steven Fruth on July 24,
2015. Disputed Issues were: F: Is Petitioner’s current condition of ill-being causally
related to the accident?; J: Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner
reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent paid all appropriate charges for all
reasonable and necessary medical services?; L: What is the nature and extent of the
injury?

Petitioner testified at the hearing. Exhibits offered in evidence by the parties
were admitted without objections.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Petitioner testified that he was working for Respondent as an arborist on
February 23, 2012. He was removing a tree with a coworker and as they were carrying a
log to a wood chipper, the log fell on Petitioner’s right leg. Petitioner reported the injury
to his supervisor and sought medical treatment with Dr. John Nikoleit at Elmhurst
Orthopedics. (PX #1 - #5)

Following the accident Petitioner first treated with Dr. Nikoleit on February 29,
2012. Petitioner reported that he injured his right knee at work. He had a prior right
knee injury 10 years before with ACL reconstruction surgery. Examination found
tenderness at the medial joint line, clicking sensation, pain with McMurray test, pain
with valgus stressing, minimal effusion, and no ACL instability. Dr. Nikoleit diagnosed
a possible torn meniscus or medial collateral ligament strain of the right knmee.
Petitioner was fitted with a hinged brace, placed on light duty, and sent for an MRI.

Petitioner had the MRI of his right knee on March 7, 2012. No obvious meniscal
tear was noted. There was mild joint effusion and grade 2 myxoid degeneration of the
lateral meniscus. On March 14 Dr. Nikoleit thought there was a questionable tear of the
meniscus. He continued Petitioner on light duty. Petitioner began physical therapy for
his knee. Petitioner continued to have pain and popping in his knee. On April 25, 2012
Dr. Nikoleit recommended a right knee injection and surgery.

Dr. Nikolejt performed a right knee arthroscopy on May 8, 2012, involving a
partial medial meniscectomy and a trochlear chondroplasty. The post-operative
diagnoses were torn medial meniscus and chondromalacia of the trochlear. Petitioner
had physical therapy after surgery at Physico Sports and Rehabilitation Center through
July 13, 2012, at which time Petitioner had achieved his goals. Dr. Nikoleit prescribed
Synvisc injections. Petitioner followed up with Dr. Nikoleit on July 10, 2012 and
reported that he was doing much better with less pain. Dr. Nikoleit recommended
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Petitioner to return to full duty work. Petitioner testified that he returned to regular
duty work on July 23, 2012.

Petitioner testified to continuing complaints of pain and swelling in his right
knee. Although he is working full time without work restrictions he wears a brace to
support his knee. His knee will lock or give out on occasion. His pain is worse when he
stands for a long time. He testified that each step is painful. He still trims trees, which
requires lifting and carrying tree limbs and branches. He works out of a lift bucket
rather than climbs ladders.

Petitioner acknowledged that he had sustained a right ACL injury in 2002 which
required surgery. He testified that he was able to work without problems up to his 2012
accident. His doctor did not tell him then that he might have ongoing problems.

Petitioner has remained under care with Dr. Nikoleit. Petitioner has a routine of
treatment with injections of cortisone and Synvisc in his right knee: November 19, 2012;
January 16, April 10, August 23, and December 27, 2013; February 7, March 27, May 22,
November 5, and December 3, 2014; and March 11 and June 12, 2015. PX # 2 & 5) A
new MRI on March 14, 2014 showed an abnormal signal in the posterior horn and body
of the medial meniscus but it was uncertain if that represented a new tear of post-
operative changes. Dr. Nikoleit injects his knee twice a year, at intervals of about 6
months, with Synvisc. Dr. Nikoleit will inject cortisone periodically between the Synvisc
injections. Petitioner testified that the injections give temporary but not lasting relief.
Dr. Nikoleit has not modified Petitioner’s work status despite the ongoing medical
treatment. He has not had physical therapy since his discharge in July 2012.

Petitioner followed up with Dr. Nikoleit on March 11, 2015 with continued right
knee pain. Dr. Nikoleit administered a cortisone injection and refilled Petitioner’s
medications. Petitioner was also seen on June 12, 2015. (PX #5) Dr. Nikoleit diagnosed
right knee degenerative joint disease and gave Petitioner another Synvisc injection.
Petitioner was also given a toxicology screen based upon continuing use of preseription
medications.

Petitioner testified that he is still employed by Respondent as an arborist, which
is the job he had at the time of the injury. He is making the same hourly pay rate as at
the time of his injury. Petitioner testified that he has to lift and cut tree branches and
place branches in wood chippers.

Dr. Nikoleit authored a narrative report to Petitioner’s counsel dated August 13,
2014. (PX #3, #4 & #5) Dr. Nikoleit noted that he was managing Petitioner’s knee
complaints with conservative measures, including injections and prescriptive
medication. Dr. Nikoleit opined that Petitioner’s diagnosis is right knee patellofemoral
degenerative joint disease and medial compartment degenerative joint disease that is
related to the work injury. He also opined that Petitioner will require ongoing injections
and a greater than 50% likelihood of a knee replacement.

Petitioner was examined pursuant to § 12 of the Act by Dr. Ira Kornblatt, a board
certified orthopedic surgeon, on June 27, 2013 and on October 23, 2014. (RX #1 & #2)

6
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At the first exam Dr. Kornblatt reviewed Petitioner’s medical records, performed
a physical examination of Petitioner’s right knee, and drafted an impairment rating
report. On exam Dr. Kornblatt observed Petitioner’s normal gait. Petitioner was able to
squat. Petitioner had reduced flexion in the knee along with crepitance. The knee was
stable. Also, meniscal signs were negative. Dr. Kornblatt opined that Petitioner’s injury
equates to an impairment of 2% of the lower extremity. (RX #1)

Dr. Kornblatt also drafted an addendum IME and Impairment Rating Report
dated October 23, 2014. (RX #2) Dr. Kornblatt took x-rays of Petitioner’s right knee
which he stated revealed no changes from the June 2013 x-rays and well-maintained
joint spaces. Dr. Kornblatt opined that his diagnosis for Petitioner’s right knee is status-
post ACL reconstruction with a work related medial meniscus tear with ongoing
symptomatic patellofemoral pain and medial compartment arthritis. Dr. Kornblatt also
opined that Petitioner was at MMI, but would require ongoing injections and may
require a total knee replacement. Dr. Kornblatt modified Petitioner’s impairment rating
to a class 2 modifier, but continued with his opinion that Petitioner’s impairment rating
1s 2% of the lower exiremity or 1% of the whole person.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

F: Is Petitioner’s current condition of ill-being causally related to the accident?

The Arbitrator finds that Petitioner’s current condition of ill-being regarding his
right knee is causally related to his workplace accident. The Arbitrator notes that Dr.
Nikoleit and Dr. Kornblatt, Respondent’s IME physician, both opined that Petitioner
sustained a right knee injury caused by his workplace accident on February 23, 2012 and
that his current condition was causally related to the accident. Although Petitioner had
a pre-existing right knee injury, there was no evidence that he was under medical care at
‘the time of the injury or had ongoing disability or restrictions prior to the work injury.

Therefore, the Arbitrator finds that Petitioner’s right knee condition is causally
related to the February 23, 2012 injury.

J: Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and
necessary? Has Respondent paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and
necessary medical services?

The Arbitrator finds that Respondent has not paid all appropriate charges for all
reasonable and necessary medical services. Petitioner presented medical bills totaling
$235.00 from Elmhurst Orthopedics and Dr. Nikoleit for an office visit and a urine
toxicology screening tests. Prior to trial, Respondent’s counsel stated that Respondent
will agree to pay these medical bills pursuant to the fee schedule. Therefore, the
Arbitrator finds Respondent liable for these medical charges, pursuant to the fee
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schedule, and that said bills are to be paid directly to the medical providers per
Respondent’s statement at trial.

L: What is the nature and extent of the injury?

Petitioner’s injury occurred after September 1, 2011 and therefore, permanent
partial disability is determined pursuant to §8.1b of the Act. Based on the following, the
Arbitrator finds that Petitioner sustained a 30% loss of use of the right leg pursuant to
§8.1b(b), based on the following factors:

M

(i1)

(iii)

(iv)

)

Petitioner’s impairment was evaluated twice by Respondent’s retained
expert, Dr. Ira Kornblatt. Dr. Kornblatt’s assessments were based on his
reviews of Petitioner’s medical records and clinical examinations of
Petitioner. In applying American Medical Association Guide to the
Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, 6t Edition, Dr. Kornblatt assessed
Pettioner’s impairment at 2% of a leg. The Arbitrator, in noting that
impairment does not equate to disability under the Act, gives this factor
moderate weight.

Petitioner was employed as an arborist at the time of the accident. The job
activities involved lifting, bending and carrying such as cut tree branches
and trunks. The Arbitrator notes that Petitioner was able to return to
work in his prior capacity as a result of said injury. The Arbitrator notes
that Petitioner returned to regular duty work with no restrictions in July
2012, 2 months after his knee arthroscopy. Even though Petitioner
continues to complain of right knee pain, Dr. Nikoleit has not modified
Petitioner’s work status. The Arbitrator therefore gives great weight to
this factor. '

Petitioner was 31 years old at the time of his injury. His statistical life
expectancy was 47 years and his statistical worklife expectancy was 28
years. The Arbitrator gives great weight to this factor.

Petitioner returned to his prior employment following his surgery. There
was no evidence that his earning capacity has been adversely affected by
his injury. The Arbitrator gives no weight to this factor.

Petitioner sustained an injury to his right knee which required
arthroscopic repair of a torn medial meniscus and a trochlear
chondroplasty. Before his surgery Petitioner went through physical
therapy without significant relief.  Post-operative physical therapy
provided some but not total relief. Following surgery Petitioner returned
to work but continued to receive periodic medical care for his continuing
complaints. He has a degenerative knee joint which requires injections of
cortisone and Synvise, a synovial fluid replacement, several times a year.
Petitioner’s treating physician, Dr. Nikoleit, has opined that Petitioner has
a greater that 50% likelihood of need a total knee replacement.
Respondent’s § 12 expert, Dr. Kornblatt, did not dispute Dr. Nikoleit’s
opinion regarding a future knee replacement or its relation to the
workplace accident. The Arbitrator gives great weight to this factor.

8
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Therefore, the Arbitrator finds that Petitioner sustained permanent partial
disability to the extent of 30% loss of use of Petitioner’s right leg pursuant to §8(b)2 and

§8.1b(b) of the Act, equaling 64.5 weeks of permanent partial disability benefits at the
maximum rate of $695.78 per week.

S5/ 7%

Steven J. Fruth, Arbitrator

November 4, 2015
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Page 1
STATE OF ILLINOIS ) Affirm and adopt (no changes) D Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
) SS. |:| Affirm with changes D Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF ) D Reverse D Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
WILLIAMSON D PTD/Fatal denied
I:] Modify & None of the above
BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
Mary Field,
Petitioner,
VS. NO: 13WC007005

Pinckneyville Community H S Dist 101,

Respondent, 16IWCC0383

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by the Respondent, “herein and notice
given to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of accident, permanent partial
disability, and being advised of the facts and law, affirms and adopts the Decision of the
Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and made a part hereof,

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMIS SION that the Decision of the
Arbitrator filed April 2, 2015 is hereby affirmed and adopted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under §19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitionef on adcount of said acmdental injury.

DATED: JUN 10 2016 ‘
MIJB/bm Michae‘ T Brenﬂanv

0-6/7/16
ISy
%(%W

Thomas J. Tyrrell V/




', ILLINOIS WORKERS' CONMPENSATION CONMISSION
NOTICE OF ARBITRATOR DECISION

FIELD, MARY Case# 13WC007005

Employee/Petitioner

PINCKNEYVILLE COMMUNITY H S DIST 101

S — 16IWcCco0383

On 4/2/2015, an arbitration decision on this case was filed with the Illinois Workers' Compensation
Commission in Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed.

If the Commission reviews this award, interest of 0.13% shall accrue from the date listed above to the day
before the date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this
award, interest shall not accrue.

A copy of this decision is mailed to the following parties:

4377 MICHAEL MILES ATTORNEY AT LAW
PO BOX 907
CARBONDALE, |L 62903

1723 McBREARTY HART & KELLY LLC
BRIAN K McBREARTY

222 S CENTRAL AVE SUITE 200

ST LOUIS, MO 63105-3509



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) [T Injured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d))
)SS. I:I Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF Williamson ) [_] Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
None of the above

ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
ARBITRATION DECISION

Mary Field Case # 13 WC 7005
Employee/Petitioner
cases:

Pingneyvills Community H.. Dist 101 16THW¢ C0383

Employer: Respondent

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Edward Lee, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of
Herrin. on 02/13/2015. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes findings on
the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.

DISPUTED ISSUES

A. D Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Illinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act?

B. \:l Was there an employee-employer relationship?

C. XI Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?

D. D What was the date of the accident?

E. [I Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

F. X Is Petitiouer's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?

G. D What were Petitioner's earnings?

H. D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

L D What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?

J. Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services? '

K. D What temporary benefits are in dispute?
[ ]TPD [[] Maintenance (] TID
L. What is the nature and extent of the injury?
M. I:] Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?
N. D [s Respondent due any credit?

0. [_] Other

ICArbDec 2 10 100 W. Randolph Street #8-200 Chicago, IL 60601 312/814-6611 Toll-free 866/352-3033  Web site: www.iwee. il gov
Downstate offices: Collinsville 618/346-3450  Peoria 300/671-3019 Rockford 815/987-7292  Springfield 217/785-7084
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On 05/04/2012, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act.

On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.

On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.
Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is causally related to the accident.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $42,844.88; the average weekly wage was $823.94.
On the date of accident, Petitioner was 63 years of age, married with 0 dependent children.

Petitioner ;fz&s rgt:ei‘féd all f:easohablg and necessary medical services.

Respondent has not paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

ORDER

Respondent shall pay Petitioner permanent partial disability benefits of $495/week for 70 weeks, because the
injuries sustained caused the 35% loss of the left leg, as provided in Section 8(e) of the Act.

The Respondent will be responsible for the reasonable and necessary medical expenses of $80,791.88. Pursuant
to a stipulation between the parties, the Respondent will pay the expenses directly to the provider and have use
of the Fee Schedule or any negotiated rates. The Respondent will also receive a credit for any medical expenses
paid by its group health provider pursuant to the rules and protections of section 8().

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this
decision, and perfects a review in accordance witi the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the

decision of the Commission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice
of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however,
if an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not acerue.

The Arbitrator finds the following facts:

The Petitioner testified that in the morning of May 4, 2012, she was en route to Pinckneyville Community
High School, the Respondent’s campus and her usual and customary place of employment. As she drove her car
near the parking lot she would routinely enter, she became aware that the entrances to the lot were blocked off
by vehicles as part of a “Senior Prank Day.” The Petitioner also observed loud music and groups of high school
students milling around in a party-like atmosphere. Due to the blockades, the Petitioner parked next the football
practice field which was across a side street from the north side of the school. The Petitioner exited her vehicle
and took a direct route to the school entrance. She crossed the side street and walked across a section of mowed
grass that was between the sidewalk of the side street and the school parking lot. As she walked across the
morning grass, she slipped, fell and suffered compound fractures to her lower left leg.
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The Petitioner téstified that:she wasn’t sure if she slipped on the wet grass or stepped in a small hole. The
Petitioner further testified that the strip of grass was not flat but had a slight decline from the sidewalk to the
parking lot. Photographs introduced by both parties show the section of lawn and illustrate a slight downgrade in
the terrain. Although there was an entrance for motorists near the section of grass where the Petitioner fell, she
testified that students’ vehicles were blocking the entrance and she wanted to steer away from the students who
had likely been partying for several hours. The Petitioner further testified that she would normally park in the
parking space that was closest to the school doors, but this space was also in the area blocked off by the
students. On the paved area of the parking lot there were no markings to guide pedestrians walking from across
the street to the school. The section of grass was open from the side walk to the parking lot and there were no
signs instructing pedestrians to stay off of the grass. (Petitioner’s Group Exhibit 8a-c.}

-; %

The Petitioner testified that while she laying on the ground, she recalls talking with the school nurse who
came to the scene, but does not remember talking with anyone else. She further testified that she was transported
by ambulance to Carbondale Memorial Hospital where she was admitted onto an inpatient floor. On March 7,
2012, three days following the accident, Dr. David Wood, MD, an orthopedic surgeon, performed an open
reduction internal fixation (ORIF) procedures of the Petitioner’s lower left tibial pilon fracture and left distal
fibula fracture. Dr. Wood’s post-operative diagnoses was left tibial pilon fracture and left fibula fracture. The
Petitioner testified that she went through a period of rehabilitation which included rest and physical therapy. She
further testified that on November 13,2012, Dr. Wood told her that she was as good as she was going to get
and therefore she has not scheduled a follow up appointment with Dr. Wood since that date.

The Petitioner testified that her summer break consisted almost entirely of rest and rehabilitation of the left
lower extremity. At the start of the Fall Semester, 2012, the Petitioner testified that she resumed her duties asa
high school art teacher. She further testified that due to the residual of her injury she struggled to maintain a
pace that she believed was needed in order for her to perform up to necessary standards. She testified that she
could not walk around the classroom to work with art students on an individual basis, at times she had to prop
her leg on a chair to reduce swelling and she always had to be careful when walking the hallways due to loss of
balance. The Petitioner further testified that two years following the accident, she continues to experience pain
and swelling ir: her lower left leg. She testified that she often wears therapeutic socks, uses a variety of pain-
relieving salves, including horse liniment at night time, and takes over the counter pain medication on a frequent

basis,

Superintendent Keith Hagene testified for the Respondent. He testified that he was en route to the school
when he received a call on his cellphone that the Petitioner had fell and suffered injury. He testified that he was
only minutes from the school at the time he received the call. He further testified that when he arrived at the
scene. the ambulance was there and the Petitioner had already been packaged and placed in the ambulance.
Superintendent Hagene also testified that he was able to access the parking lot where the party was taking place
with his vehicle and he believed that there were better routes for the Petitioner to travel from her car to the
school doors. Superintendent Hagene also testified that he believed the city owned the section of grass where the
Petitioner fell but the grass is cut and maintained by the school. He described the section of grass as being
similar to a “first cut” section of a golf course. He also testified that players for the school’s football team would
walk across the same area where the Petitioner fell but most would walk on the asphalt driveway to cross the
street. not the grassy section, while going to the practice field. (See for illustration Petitioner’s group exhibit 8a-

c).

Former Pinckneyville Community High School student Mariah R. Scherer testified that she was a participant
in the Senior Prank Day and was on the premises at the time the Petitioner fell. She testified that the Senior
Prank Day was a school tradition although not a school-sponsored event. She testified that she was standing on
the sidewalk that the Petitioner walked over moments before she fell. Ms. Scherer further testified that she
thought there were better options for the Petitioner to travel. Ms. Scherer testified that she had previously
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marked on maps and diagrams of the scene produced by the Respomitﬁ.\tl‘drmtegmat her circles on the
drawings showing a space between the vehicles and the grass indicated a larger area than the actual space that
may have been available to the Petitioner at that time. She further testified that she did not recall what kind of

vehicles were blocking the entrance way or whether the vehicles were cars or pickup trucks.
The Arbitrator decides the disputed issues as follows:
C. Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?

The Arbitrator finds that the Petitioner had an accident that arose out of and in the course of her employment
with the Respondent on May 4, 2012. The Arbitrator specifically finds the Petitioner to be credible. She testified
that the Senior Prank Day 2012 consisted of the students’ blocking the parking lot off from the teachers.
Superintendent Hagene testified that the year before, the Senior Prank Day seemed to have had accelerated in
aggressiveness over years past. Superintendent Hagene further testified that the administration knew that the
prank was taking place before the accident occurred. The Petitioner testified that blocking teachers’ parking
spaces was a prarnk that had been performed in years past. Students were not disciplined for being involved in
the prank day. The Petitioner parked in an area that provided the most direct route from her car to the school
doors. although it was much farther away than her customary parking space. The school tradition of Senior
Prank day while not a school-sponsored event, was implicitly approved by the school administrators and the
blocking the teachers from parking in their customary parking spaces was a known activity. Accordingly, the
Petitioner was within the scope of her employment when she was directed to park across the street from the
school.

After she parked, the Petitioner took the most direct route from her car to the school doors, while
maintaining a distance from the students, their music and their vehicles. The Petitioner testified that although
she was not scared of the students, she was focused on their activities and desired to avoid close contact.
Although the Petitioner was not exactly sure whether she slipped on the morning grass, or tripped in an unseen
hole, the pictures of the scene indicate that the strip of lawn dips slightly, Under the circumstances, the
Petitioner, as a teacher and therefore an intended iarget of the prank, experienced an increased risk of harm than
that of the general public. Furthermore, her choice of route across the mowed grass and away from the students,
the vehicles, and the party was reasonable. Cf. Anderson v. Oakton Community College, 13 IWCC 0520,

F. Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?

The Arbitrator finds that the Petitioner’s current condition of ill-being as it relates to the left tibial pilon
fracture and left distal fibula fracture is related to the work accident. The evidence supports that the Petitioner
slipped. fell, and broke her leg. The treatment records reflect emergent treatment for compound displaced
fractures of the tibia and fibula, hospital admittance, surgery, therapy, and post-surgery follow up care. In April
2014, the Petitioner sought a follow up visit with Dr. Craig Furry, her primary physician for concerns with the
left leg following a minor incident involving her grandson—this visit is also related to the work accident.

J. Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary?

The Arbitrator finds that the following bills are reasonable and necessary:

Pinckneyville Ambulance Service $971
Orthopedic Institute of Southern Illinois $7297
Memorial Hospital of Carbondale $60,631,78
Cape Radiology Group $237.00

Brigham Anesthesia $1653.00
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Southern Illinois Medical Services $3291.00
Perry County Health Department : $3291.00
Dr. Craig Furry $81.00
Marshall Browning Hospital $6630.00
Total $80,791.78

Pursuant to a stipulation between the parties the Respondent will pay the bills directly to the providers, have
use of the Fee Schedule or any negotiated rate, and receive a credit for any bills paid by its group health provider
pursuant to Section 8(j).

L. What is the Nature and Extent of the Injury? .

Pursuant to Section 8.1b of the Act, several factors are to be considered in determining permanent partial
disability (“PPD™).

With regard to the initial factor, enumerated in Section 8.1.b(a), no AMA impairment rating was submitted
into evidence. As such, this factor will not be part of the PPD determination. Caruso v. Costco 14 IWCC 0484
(2014)

With regard to factors two (occupation), three (age), and four (future earning capacity), the Petitioner
testified that she returned to her job as a high school art teacher at the start of the following school year. She
further testified that she struggled the entire year with performing her duties. At the cnd of the 2012-2013 school
year, she testified that she was eligible for retirement benefits and therefore retired. She testified that she loved
teaching and her ongoing problems with her left leg were significant factors in her decision. At the time of the
injury she was 63-years old.

The final factor involves evidence of disability corroborated by the treating medical records. The Petitioner
testified that twc years following the accident, she continues to experience pain an¢ swelling in her lower left
leg. She testified that she often wears therapeutic socks, uses a variety of pain-relieving salves, including horse
liniment at night time, and takes over the counter pain medication on a frequent basis. The Petitioner’s
testimony is corroborated by the medical evidence. A photograph of an X-Ray taken of the left lower leg and
foot show significant hardware installed in the Petitioner’s lower extremity. (Petitioner’s Exhibit O). Dr. Wood
stated in his medical report dated August 28, 2012, that he did not recommend elective removal of the hardware.
(Petitioner’s Exhibit 3) In his November 13, 2012, note, Dr. Wood encouraged the Petitioner to increase her
activities as much as possible and to “get the most out of it.” He also warned about eventual arthritis of the left
ankle. (Id.)

Based on the above factors, the Arbitrator finds support in his finding that the Petitioner sustained the
permanent loss of 35% of the left leg pursuant to Section 8(¢)12 of the Act.

@ ( o R__ 3/27/(7

Signature of Arbitrator Date

ICArbDec p. 5

APR 2 - 2015
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Page 1
STATE OF ILLINOIS ) Affirm and adopt (no changes) D Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
)SS. | [ ] Atfirm with changes | L] Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF ) [ I Reverse | ] second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
JEFFERSON [ pTD/Fatal denied
D Modify None of the above
BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
Cathy Purcell,
Petitioner,
vs. NO: 14WC018228

Rome School,

Respondert, 16I1WCC0384

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review under §19(b) having been filed by the Respondent, herein
and notice given to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of medical expenses,
prospective medical care, and being advised of the facts and law, affirms and adopts the Decision
of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and made a part hereof. The Commission further
remands this case to the Arbitrator for further proceedings for a determination of a further
amount of temporary total compensation or of compensation for permanent disability, if any,
pursuant to Thomas v. Industrial Commission, 78 I11.2d 327, 399 N.E.2d 1322, 35 Ill.Dec. 794
(1980).

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the
Arbitrator filed August 20, 2015, is hereby affirmed and adopted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that this case be remanded to the
Arbitrator for further proceedings consistent with this Decision, but only after the latter of
expiration of the time for filing a written request for Summons to the Circuit Court has expired
without the filing of such a written request, or after the time of completion of any judicial
proceedings, if such a written request has been filed.
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14WC018228
Page 2

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under §19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.

Bond for the removal of this cause to the Circuit Court by Respondent is hereby fixed at
the sum of $4,600.00. The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court
shall file with the Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit Court,

(
DATED:  JUN 102016 &}"W

MJIB/bm Michadl J. Brenman
0-6/7/16
052 j [ F
U L e
Kevin W. Lamb

T pra L gnel

Thomas J. T)‘géll




T ILLINOIS WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
> NOTICE OF 19(b) ARBITRATOR DECISION

PURCELL, CATHY Case# 14WC018228

Employee/Petitioner

ROME SCHOOL 161WCCO384

Employer/Respondent

On 8/20/2015, an arbitration decision on this case was filed with the Illinois Workers' Compensation Commission in
Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed.

If the Commission reviews this award, interest of 0.24% shall accrue from the date listed above to the day before the
date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall

not accrue,

A copy of this decision is mailed to the following parties:

1239 KOLKER LAW OFFICES PC
JASON R CARAWAY

9423 W MAIN ST

BELLEVILLE, IL 62223

0560 WIEDNER & McAULIFFE LTD
KRISTOPHER DUNARD

1 N FRANKLIN ST SUITE 1900
CHICAGO, IL 60606
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STATE OF ILLINOIS )

D Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
)SS. |:| Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF Jefferson ) [ ] second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
& None of the above

ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

ARBITRATION DECISION
19(b)
Cathy Purcell Case #14 WC 18228
Employee/Petitioner
v. ' Consolidated cases: NfJA
Rome School

Erloe R 16IWCC0384

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Michael Nowak, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of
Mt. Vernon, on 3/6/15. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes findings on
the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.

DISPUTED ISSUES

A. |:| Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Illinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act?

I___' Was there an employee-employer relationship?

D Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?
. |:| What was the date of the accident?

]___l Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?

. [_] What were Petitioner's earnings?

. D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

D What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?

Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?

K. IX] Is Petitioner entitled to any prospective medical care?

~mmamMEUQw

L. |:| What temporary benefits are in dispute?
[ 1TPD [_] Maintenance L]TID

M. D Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?
N. D Is Respondent due any credit?

0. [_] Other

ICArbDecl9(b} 2/10 100 W. Randolph Street #8-200 Chicago, IL 60601 312/814-6611  Tollfree 866/352-3033  Web site: winr.iwec, il.gov
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On the date of accident, 2/26/13, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act.

FINDINGS

On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.

On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.

Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is causally related to the accident.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $15,131.35; the average weekly wage was $290.98.

On the date of accident, Petitioner was 55 years of age, single with 0 dependent children.

Respondent has not paid all reasonable and necessary charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $0 for TTD, $0 for TPD, $0 for maintenance, and $0 for other benefits,
for a total credit of $O Ty ; ‘;

Respondent is entitled to a cred1t of $0 under Section 8(j) of the Act.

ORDER
Respondeﬁt shall pay outstanding reasonable and necessary medical services of $4,528.10, as set forth in
Petitioners® Exhibit 12, pursuant to the fee schedule, as provided in Sections 8(a) and 8.2 of the Act.

Respondent shall be given a credit for medical benefits that have been paid, and Respondent shall hold
petitioner harmless from any claims by any providers of the services for which Respondent is receiving this
credit, as provided in Section 8(j) of the Act.

Respondent shall authorize and pay for the pending surgery purposed by Dr. Matthew Gornet.
In no instance shall this award be a bar to subsequent hearing and determination of an additional amount of
medical benefits or compensation for a temporary or permanent disability, if any.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this
decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the

decision of the Commission.
STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice

of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however,
if an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

Signature of . A{}bltrator Date

MIGS 0 2019

ICArbDec19(b)
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FINDINGS OF FACT 161‘VCC0384t

At the time of her accident Petitioner was a teacher’s aide and bus monitor for Respondent. On February
26, 2013 the bus she was working on was rear ended by a car. (Tr. 12) At the time of impact Petitioner was
moving towards the seat in front of her. She was violently thrown back in her seat. The vehicle which struck the
bus caught fire and became entangled with the bus after the collision. (Tr. 13) Petitioner immediately began to
care for the children on the bus, and during this time did not notice any kind of pain. (Tr. 14) Petitioner testified
she did start to experience pain in her neck and back later in the evening on the day of the accident. By the
evening she had restricted range of motion in her neck. (Id.)

Petitioner testified she had no prior neck pain complaints like she began to experience after the accident.
She saw her primary care provider the next morning. (PX. 1) She presented with headaches and neck pain at
10/10 on the pain scale. She was taken off work for 3 days. Other than these three days, Petitioner has continued
to work. (Tr. 19) Petitioner initially attended two months of physical therapy. (PX. 2) During this time an MRI
was taken at Salem Hospital which revealed disc herniations at C4-5 and C6-7, as well as a disc bulge at C5-6.
(PX. 4)

Petitioner was then referred for orthopedic evaluation and treatment at the Orthopedic Center of
Southern Iltinois (OCSI) (PX. 5) She first saw Dr. Steinke. He causally connected her headaches and neck pain
to the bus accident and ordered an additional month of physical therapy. Petitioner next underwent three
injections at the hand of Dr. Smith at OCSIL. (Id.) In June 2013, Dr. Steinke indicated that if her symptoms did
not improve, she would possibly be a candidate for a cervical fusion at C5-6. Petitioner received no lasting relief
from the injections. (PX. 5 & Tr. 17)

Dr. Steinke then left OCSI and Petitioner’s care was transferred to Dr. Donald Kovalsky. (PX. 5) Dr.
Kovalsky only saw Petitioner once and opined he disagreed with his former colleague Dr. Steinke’s
recommendation for a disc replacement. Instead, Dr. Kovalsky believed that if her neck symptoms did not
improve, the surgical procedure would consist of a diskectomy and fusion at C5-6. (Id.) Petitioner testified she
was dissatisfied with Dr. Kovalsky and the way he treated her and that she had to wait for six hours to see him.
(Tr. 19) Petitioner then asked her primary care provider for a referral to Dr. Matthew Gornet.

Dr. Gornet ordered an MRI which revealed a disc herniation at C5-6 with a fragment of disc encroaching
on her right foramen. Dr. Gornet causally connected her symptoms and diagnosis® to the bus accident. After
another failed injection at the hands of Dr. Boutwell, Dr. Gornet recommended a single level disc replacement at
C5-6. (PX. 6)

Petitioner testified she wishes to have the surgery proposed by Dr. Gornet. She credibly testified that she
continues to have major headaches that feel like someone is hitting her in the head. (Tr. 20) She also credibly
testified that she has a reduced and painful range of motion in her cervical spine. (Id.) Petitioner continues to try
to manage these symptoms with Flexeril, Ibuprofen and Aleve so that she can work. (Tr. 21)

On May 1, 2014, Petitioner was examined by Dr. Lange at the request of the Respondent. (PX. 11) Dr.
Lange was then deposed. On direct examination Dr. Lange opined one of the reasons he disagreed with Dr.
Gornet’s proposed surgery was that Petitioner never presented with classical radicular symptoms. (PX. 11, 220)
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On cross exarination however, Dr Lange admitted the Petitioner, did in fact present with right shoulder pain
when she saw Dr. Gornet on June 28, 2014. (PX. 11, 236) Dr. Lange further admitted she also presented with
trapezius pain upon her first visit with Dr. Gomet. (PX. 11, 237)

Dr. Lange causally connected Petitioner’s current neck pain to the bus accident. He opined she
aggravated her pre-existing degenerative disease process in her cervical spine. (PX. 11, 221) He also testified
the treatment she had received prior to his examination was reasonable and necessary. (PX. 11, 221). Dr. Lange
also opined Petitioner was not at MMI, recommending a cervical facet injection. (PX. 11, 223) However, Dr.,
Lange opined the surgery proposed by Dr. Gornet was not causally connected to the accident, and that it had no
chance of helping the Petitioner. (PX. 11, 245) Dr. Lange concluded his opinions by indicating the Petitioner
would have causally connected neck pain into the future and that she should avoid continuous or repetitive
overhead work as a result of the bus accident. (PX. 11, 247)

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Issue (F): Is Petitioner’s current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?

The medical records and opinions contained therein, in conjunction with Petitioner’s credible testimony,
indicate there is a causal connection between Petitioner’s bus accident of February 26, 2013 and her current
state of ill-being. Further, both Petitioner’s treating physicians and Respondent’s §12 examiner, agree that
Petitioner’s ongoing symptoms are causally related to the motor vehicle accident.

Based upon the foregoing and the record taken as a whole, the Arbitrator finds Petitioner’s current
condition of ill being is related to the accident.

Issue (I): Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has
Respondent paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?

Issue : Is Petitioner entitled to any prospective medical care?
Y prosp

Again, Petitioner’s treating physicians and Dr. Lange are in agreement that all of the treatment which
Petitioner received up to the point of Dr. Lange’s §12 exam on 5/1/14 was both reasonable and necessary.
Respondent does not dispute these charges. Rather the dispute involves Respondent’s liability for the charges
related to an epidural steroid injection performed on 5/ 19/14 and prospective treatment recommended by Dr.
Gornet.

Dr. Lange does not feel Petitioner is a surgical candidate. Dr. Steinke, Dr. Kovalsky, and Dr. Gornet all
agree Petitioner is a surgical candidate although they recommend distinct procedures. Dr. Steinke and Dr.
Gornet believe C5-6 disc replacement surgery is the favored procedure while Dr. Kovalsky favors a discectomy
and fusion at C5-6.

While he disagreed with Dr. Gornet’s surgical recommendation, Dr. Lange himself causally connected
her ongoing cervical pain to the accident and recommended further care. In addition he opined Petitioner’s
cervical pain would continue into the future. Petitioner has undergone significant conservative care involving
months of physical therapy and four injections which did not provide significant lasting relief, Petitioner’s
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testlmony regarding these conservative measures and their lack of effectiveness was credible and supported By
the medical records submitted at arbitration.

The Arbitrator further finds the opinions of Dr. Gornet, Dr. Kovalsky, and Dr. Steinke with regard to the
need for surgical intervention more persuasive than that of Dr. Lange. With regard to which surgical procedure
to perform the Arbitrator finds the procedure recommended by Dr. Gornet to be reasonable.

Based upon the foregoing and the record taken as a whole, the Arbitrator finds the medical treatment
rendered to Petitioner up to the date of hearing, including the injection performed on 5/19/14, has been both
reasonable and necessary. Further the Arbitrator finds the surgery recommended by Dr. Gomet is both
reasonable and necessary. Respondent shall pay medical expenses of $4,528.10 as set forth in PX12 pursuant to
the fee schedule and shall authorize and pay for the surgical procedure recommended by Dr. Gornet and any
other treatment associated there with.

Respondent shall be given a credit for medical benefits that have been paid, and Respondent shall hold
petitioner harmless from any claims by any providers of the services for which Respondent is receiving this
credit, as provided in Section 8(j) of the Act.

Page S of 5



12WC028830

Page 1
STATE OF ILLINOIS ) Xl Affirm and adopt (no changes) D Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
)SS. | [ ] atfirm with changes [ ] Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(2))
COUNTY OF COOK ) D Reverse EI Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
|:| PTD/Fatal denied
|:| Modify X] None of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS® COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Nancy Carlson,
Petitioner,
VS. NO: 12WC028830

State of Illinois,

Respondent, 16IWCC0385

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by the Petitioner, herein and notice given to
all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of nature & extent, and being advised of
the facts and law, affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and
made a part hereof.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the
Arbitrator filed December 14, 2015, is hereby affirmed and adopted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under §19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit

for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitionerioy account of s¢id accidental injury.
DATED: JUN 10 2016 }/[”Ji‘ui % ey

MIB/bm Michael {J. Brennan
0-6/7/16

052 me

Kevin W. Lambo

Thdmas J . Tyrr




Coy ILLINUID WURNRERD CUNMPFENDALIUN CUNMISDIUN
NOTICE OF ARBITRATOR DECISION

CARLSON, NANCY Case# 12WC028830

Employee/Petitioner

—— 16IWCC0385

On 12/4/2015, an arbitration decision on this case was filed with the Iitinois Workers' Compensation
Commission in Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed.

If the Commission reviews this award, interest of 0.41% shall accrue from the date listed above to the day
before the date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this
award, interest shall not accrue.

A copy of this decision is mailed to the following parties:

0146 CRONIN PETERS & COOK
KENNETH D PETERS

221 N LASALLE ST SUITE 1454
CHICAGO, iL 60801

5782 ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
KELLY KAMSTRA

100 W RANDOLPH ST 13TH FL.
CHICAGO, IL 60801

0502 STATE EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT
2101 S VETERANS PARKWAY

PO BOX 19255

SPRINGFIELD, IL. 62794-9255

0499 CMS RISK MANAGEMENT

801 S SEVENTH ST &M CERYIFIED as 2 true and corract copy
PO BOX 19208 pursuant to 820 1LCS 305]14
SPRINGFIELD, IL 62794-9208

DEC 4- 2015




STATE OF ILLINOIS

COUNTY OF COOK

El Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))

|| Rate Adjustment Fund (58(z)

| | Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
None of the above

ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

NANCY CARLSON
Employee/Petitioner

V.

STATE OF ILLINOIS
Employer/Respondent

ARBITRATION DECISION

Case #12 WC 28830

16IWCC0385

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing
was mailed to each party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Robert Williams,
arbitrator of the Workers’ Compensation Commission, in the city of Chicago, on
November 16, 2015. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the arbitrator hereby
makes findings on the disputed issues, and attaches those findings to this document.

ISSUES:

A. D Was the respondent operating under and subject to the Illinois Workers'
Compensation or Occupational Diseases Act?

B. D Was there an employee-employer relationship?

C. & Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of the petitioner's

employment by the respondent?

. D What was the date of the accident?

. [:l Was timely notice of the accident given to the respondent?

. D What were the petitioner's earnings?

D
E
F. & Is the petitioner's present condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?
G
H

. I__—I What was the petitioner's age at the time of the accident?
L D What was the petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?
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I Were the medical services that were provided to petitioner reasonable an
necessary?

K. What temporary benefits are due: [ | TPD [ ] Maintenance [X] TTD?
L. What is the nature and extent of injury?

M. D Should penalties or fees be imposed upon the respondent?

N. D Is the respondent due any credit?

0. D Prospective medical care?

FINDINGS

» On April 12, 2012, the respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of
the Act.

+ On this date, an employee-employer relationship existed between the petitioner and
- respondent. .

» Timely notice of this accident was given to the respondent.

» In the year preceding the injury, the petitioner earned $83,573.00; the average weekly
wage was $1,607.17.

+ At the time of injury, the petitioner was 59 years of age, single with no children under
18.

« The parties agreed that the fespondent paid $1,051.19 in medical benefits and is entitled
to a Section 8(j) credit for the amount. B

ORDER:

+ The respondent shall pay the petitioner temporary total disability benefits of
$1,071.45/week for 7-2/7 weeks, from May 24, 2012, through July 13, 2012, which is
the period of temporary total disability for which compensation is payable.

» The petitioner’s request for permanent partial disability benefits is denied.

* The respondent shall pay the petitioner compensation that has accrued from April 12,
2012, through November 16, 2013, and shall pay the remainder of the award, if any, in
weekly payments.

» The petitioner is awarded her out-of-pocket costs of $579.44.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS: Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days

after receipt of this decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules,
then this decision shall be entered as the decision of the Commission.

Il

¥
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STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE: If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the
rate set forth on the Notice of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed
below to the day before the date of payment; however, if an employee's appeal results in
either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

WM December 2,

2015December 2, 2015
Signature of Arbitrator Date

DEC 4 - 2018
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The petitioner, a data analyst with duties requiring computer keyboarding and
processing, saw Dr. Weidrich on April 12, 2012, and reported pain and numbness in her
hands and right elbow. She felt that her hands were like before her two prior right and left
carpal tunnel releases. She complained that her hands were getting worse and that she
only uses her hands to type continuously. She reported a diagnosis of Dupuytren’s
disease in her left hand and a prior right lateral epicondylitis. His diagnosis was bilateral
carpal tunnei syndrome, epicondylitis lateral elbow and Dupuytren’s disease. An EMG
on April 16 revealed bilateral median neuropathies at her wrists. The doctor limited the
petitioner’s use of her hands on April 19®, The petitioner took sick leave for five days
from April 19% through the 23", and then returned to work.

On May 23" the petitioner reported no relief of her right elbow symptoms with
physical therapy and a painful right carpal tunnel that wakes her up. Dr. Wiedrich opined
that the EMG test showed that carpal tunnel syndrome was worse than before her prior
sﬁrgéries. The petitioner was advised to stop worki'ng. The petitioner reported falling onto
her left hand and thumb on June 20™ but felt that her left carpal tunnel was improving.
The petitioner reported improved but continuing hand and right elbow symptoms on July
12", She was released to work activities with limited use of her hands. On August 1%, the
petitioner reported some increaseq but tolerable symptoms with four-hour workdays. She
reported increased symptoms with work and gradual improvement while resting at a
follow-up on December 21% and waxing and waning but better symptoms on March 22
and July 24, 2013. Dr. Wiedrich noted no change in the petitioner’s symptoms on

November 14, 2013, and opined that her symptoms were stable. At follow-ups on May 5
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and November 3, 2014 Dr Wiedrich noted waxing and waning symptoms aggravated by
work and relieved with rest.

The petitioner has a history of bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome, and arm and wrist
pain. She had a right carpal tuﬁnel release on April 27, 1998, and another right
decompression on October 19, 2004. On April 7, 2005, the petitioner had a left carpal
tunnel release. On December 14, 2010, she had surgery for release of her left index, long
and ring trigger fingers. She was also diagnosed with Dupuytren’s Disease. The petitioner
was diagnosed with left lateral epicondylitis in May 2009.

FINDING WHETHER THE PETITIONER’S ACCIDENT AROSE OUT OF AND IN THE COURSE OF
THE EMPLOYMENT WITH THE RESPONDENT:

Based upon the testimony and the evidence submitted, the petitioner proved by a
preponderance of the evidence that she sustained repetitive traumas to her wrists on April
12, 2012, arising out of and in the course of her employment with the respondent.
Although the petitioner had pre-existing carpal tunnel syndromes with her hands, when
she sought medical care for her hands on April 12, 2012, she felt that her hand symptoms
were the same as they were before her carpal tunnel releases. Also the petitioner’s work
duties required mostly continuous computer keyboarding, which she felt increased her
hand symptoms.

The petitioner failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that she
sustained a repetitive trauma to her right elbow on April 12, 2012, that arose out of and in

the course of her employment with the respondent.
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FINDING REGARDING WHETHER THE MEDICAL SERVICES VIDED TO PETITIONER
ARE REASONABLE AND NECESSARY:

The medical care rendered the petitioner for her bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome
was reasonable and necessary. Th.e petitioner is awarded her out-of-pocket costs of
$579.44. The balance of her medical costs was paid by her group health insurance. The
medical care rendered the petitioner for her right elbow was not reasonable or necessary

and is denied.

FINDING REGARDING WHETHER THE PETITIONER’S PRESENT CONDITION OF ILL-BEING
IS CAUSALLY RELATED TO THE INJURY:

Based upon the testimony and the evidence submitted, the petitioner proved that
the current condition of ill-being with her bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome is causally
related to the work injury. The petitioner failed to prove that her current condition of ill-
being with her right elbow is causally related to a work injury.

FINDING REGARDING THE AMOUNT OF COMPENSATION DUE FOR TEMPORARY TOTAL
DISABILITY:

The petitioner was off of work and entitled to temporary total disability benefits
from May 24, 2012, through July 13, 2012. The respondent shall pay the petitioner
temporary total disability benefits of $1,071.45/week for 7-2/7 weeks, from May 24,
2012, through July 13, 2012, as provided in Section 8(b) of the Act, because the injuries
sustained cansed the disabling condition of the petitioner.

FINDING REGARDING THE NATURE AND EXTENT OF INJURY:

The petitioner’s claim #99 WC 67443 for bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome was

settled for 26% loss of use of the right hand and 15% loss of use of the left hand on July

17, 2006.
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petitioner’s injury in regard to her occupation, age or future earning capacity, as
delineated in Section 8.1(b)(i) through (iv) of the Act, nor can any effect be reasonably
inferred from the evidence. Regarding Section 8.1(b)(v), the petitioner complains of
tingling fingertips and problems with keyboarding. She has flare-ups and her right hand is
worse than her left hand. The petitioner is permanently hmited to four hours of
keyboarding per day with 5-minute breaks after 20 minutes of typing and a lifting
restriction of less than ten pounds.

The petitioner failed to prove that she is entitled fo permanent partial disability
benefits for her bilateral carpal tunnel syndromes. The evidence is insufficient to
establish that the petitioner has a disability greater than 26% for her right hand or 15% for
her left hand. In addition, the petitioner failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence
that her typing duties were the cause of her recurrent carpal tunnel syndrome. It is only
- probable that her typing duties played a part in the worsening of her bilateral hand
Symptom-s. In addition, Dr. Vender opined that the petitioner had a systemic
predisposition for developing musculoskeletal and neurologic abnormalities and his
physical examination disclosed only limited findings. The petitioner’s request for

permanent partial disability benefits is denied.
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Page 1
STATE OF ILLINOIS ) Affirm and adopt (no changes) |:] Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
)8S. [ ] Affirm with changes [ ] Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF COOK ) I:] Reverse I:I Second Injury Fund (§8(¢)18)
[ ] pTD/Fatal denied
D Modify |Z None of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

. Michael W, Staine,

Petitioner,
vs. ' NO: 13WC 19605

Brius Telecom Solutions, LLC.,

161WCC038¢6

Respondent,

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review under §19(b) having been filed by the Petitioner herein
and notice given to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of accident,
temporary total disability, temporary partial disability, medical, causal connection and being
advised of the facts and law, affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached
hereto and made a part hereof. The Commission further remands this case to the Arbitrator for
further proceedings for a determination of a further amount of temporary total compensation or
of compensation for permanent disability, if any, pursuant to Thomas v. Industrial Comimission,
78 I11.2d 327, 399 N.E.2d 1322, 35 Ill.Dec. 794 (1980}).

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the
Arbitrator filed November 9, 2015, is hereby affirmed and adopted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that this case be remanded to the
Arbitrator for further proceedings consistent with this Decision, but only after the latter of
expiration of the time for filing a written request for Summons to the Circuit Court has expired
without the filing of such a written request, or after the time of completion of any judicial
proceedings, if such a written request has been filed.
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Page 2

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under §19(n} of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.

Bond for the removal of this cause to the Circuit Court by Respondent is hereby fixed at
the sum of $100.00. The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court shall
file with the Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit Court.

’ . »
DATED: : 041
0041416 JUN 1 0 zmﬁ David L, Gore

DLG/re /Zf % —

Mario Basurto

Stephen Mathis




Lt ILLINOIS WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
NOTICE OF 19(b) ARBITRATOR DECISION

STAINE, MICHAEL W Case# 13WC019605

Employee/Petitioner

BRIUS TELECOM SOLUTIONS LLC 1 61 WCCO 3 8 o

Employer/Respondent

On 11/9/2015, an arbitration decision on this case was filed with the Illinois Workers' Compensation Commission in
Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed.

If the Commission reviews this award, interest of 0.28% shall accrue from the date listed above to the day before the
date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall
not accrue.

A copy of this decision is mailed to the following parties:

0222 GOLDBERG WEISMAN & CAIRO LTD
DAVID L CAPLAN

1 E WACKER DR 38TH FL

CHICAGO, IL 60601

2837 LAW OFFICES JOSEPH MARCINIAK
JAMES MIRRO

2 N LASALLE ST SUITE 2510

CHICAGO, L 60602



STATE OF ILLINOIS ')

o [ mijurcd Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
)$s. || Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF COOK ) |_] Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
& None of the above

ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

ARBITRATION DECISION
19(b)
Michael W. Staine . ase # 13 WC 19605
Employee/Petitioner 1 6 I %V C C 0 3 8 G
v. ' Consolidated cases:
Brius Telecom Solutions, LL.C
Employer/Respondent

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Lynette Thompson-Smith, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the
city of Chicago on August 25, 2015. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes
findings on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.

DISPUTED ISSUES

A. |:| Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Illinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act? |

|:| Was there an employee-emiployer relationship?

0 w

. Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?
. [_] What was the date of the accident?

|:| Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?
. D What were Petitioner's earnings?
. ] What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

|:| What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?

el s o B

E] Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services? ‘

K. Is Petitioner entitled to any prospective medical care?

L. [X] What temporary benefits are in dispute?
X] TPD [] Maintenance > TTD

M. [_] Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?
N. D Is Respondent due any credit?

0. D Other

{CArbDect9(b) 2/10 100 W. Randolph Street #8-200 Chicago, IL 60601 312/814-6611 Toll-free 866/352-3033  Web site: www.iwec.il.gov
Downstate offices: Colfinsville 618/346-3450 Peoria 309/671-3019 Rockford 815/987-7292 Springfield 217/785-7084
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FINDINGS

On the date of accident May 29. 2013, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act

On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.
On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.

Tilnely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being regarding the left shoulder is causally related to the accident, Petitioner

current condition of ill- bemg regardmg hlS ‘alleged right shoulder and cervieal injury is not causally related to
the accident.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $_88.200.00; the average weekly wage was $ 2,940.00.
On the date of accident, Petitioner was _41  years of age, married with _2__ dependent children.
Respondent has paid all reasonable and necessary charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $ 107,676.73 _ for TTD, $ 0.00 for TPD, $.0.00 00 for mamtenance and $
0.00_ for other benefits, fof a total credit of'$_107,676.73 .

Respondent is entitled to a credit of $_0.00 under Section 8(]) of the Act.
ORDER
Petitioner's current condition of ill-being regarding the left shoulder is causally related to the accident. Petitioner

current condition of ill-being regarding his alleged right shoulder and cervical injury is not causally related to
the accident. : : :

Petitioner has not proven, by a preponderance of the evidence that he is entitled to prospective medical
treatment therefore, none is awarded.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $107,676.73 for TTD $3,567.75 for TPD, and $0.00 for maintenance
benefits, for a total credit of $107,676.73. :

In no instance shall this award be a bar to snbs‘equenf heanngand determination of an additional amount of
medical benefits or compensation for a temporary or permanent disability, if any.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS: Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this

decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the
decision of the Commission..

" STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE: If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice
of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however
“if an cmployece's appeal results in cither no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue. '
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Finding of Facts

The disputed issues in this matter are: 1) accident; causal connection; 3) medical bills; 4) temporary
total disability; 5) temporary partial disability; and prospective medical treatment. See, AX1.

Mr. Michael W. Staine (“Petitioner”) alleges injuries to his left shoulder, right shoulder and cervical
spine incurring on May 29, 2013. He testified that he was working for Brius Telecom Solutions, LLC
(“Respondent”) at a cell site when he tripped on conduit and fell into a cabinet, trying to catch himself
with his left arm. Petitioner went to Winfield Moody Health Center on May 31, 2013, for a follow up
visit for muscle spasms and twitching all over the body. The history noted pain in the back of the left
shoulder for two to three (2-3) days. He next went to Dr. Silver on June 6, 2013, where history was
noted as working on May 29, 2013, when he tripped on a conduit and tried to stop his fall by grabbing
a pole with his left arm and wrenching his shoulder. Diagnosis was left shoulder rotator cuff
impingement and he was given a cortisone injection and referred for physical therapy. He returned to
Dr. Silver on July 30, 2013, where continued pain in the left shoulder was noted. Petitioner saw Dr.

Dasgupta on August 27, 2013, presenting with right upper extremity pain and it was noted he had
been treated previously for low back pain. Tr. pp. 33-34; PX2-4, 5.

An MRI of the left shoulder, performed on September 23, 2014, showed a suspected small focal tear
involving the mild insertional fibers of the distal supraspinatus tendon; at least partial-thickness and
involving the bursal surface. An MRI of the right shoulder, performed the same date; showed mild
tendinosis and/or strains of the distal supraspinatus and infraspinatus-tendons with suspected
shallow fraying along the bursal surface of the distal supraspinatus tendon. Petitioner returned to Dr.
Silver on October 1, 2013; and arthroscopic surgery for the left shoulder was recommended.

Petitioner subsequently changed his mind about surgery and wanted to try additional conservative
care first, including injections. His condition did not improve, and surgery was again scheduled for
December 13, 2013. The surgery was then rescheduled to the end of January 2014, but petitioner had
not received cardiac clearance. Petitioner again saw Dr. Silver on March 7 2014, where it was noted he
was to do a stress test over the next three days and will proceed with surgery, if he got clearance.
Petitioner finally underwent left shoulder arthroscopy by Dr. Silver on May 20, 2014. PX2.

Petitioner started physical therapy, and then returned to Dr. Silver on July 18, 2014 wherein the
doctor noted right shoulder pain and claimed that Petitioner injured it at the time of the original
injury. Petitioner underwent examination of the cervical spine by Dr. Patel, on September 15, 2014,
and a October 22, 2014 MRI of the cervical spine showed degenerative cervical spondylosis with
broad-based disc bulges. On October 29, 2014 Dr. Silver recommended a right shoulder arthroscopy.
PXa4.

Petitioner subsequently underwent an independent medical examination (“IME”) by Dr. Forsythe on
December 29, 2014. He provided an accident history of tripping on a conduit when he lunged with his
left upper extremity to hold onto something and felt pain, and that his right shoulder subsequently
struck a bank of cabinets. Dr. Forsythe found that the petitioner likely sustained a contusion of the

right shoulder which has since resolved; and a left shoulder rotator cuff strain, which was
3
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subsequently treated with arthroscopy. The doctor opined that he would consider both conditions
causally related if, in fact, the petitioner’s stated history to him was accurate. He found Petitioner
manifested mild symptom magnification with inconsistent effort and non-physiological responses,
and that the left and right shoulder examinations were essentially normal with subjective complaints
not supported by objective findings. As such, he recommended the Petitioner return to full duty work,
and that no further treatment was indicated. RXi.

A repeat cervical MRI performed on February 23, 2015, was read to show a disc bulge at C6-7.
Petitioner saw Dr. Mehta on May 12, 2015 and an EMG was recommended, following review of the
cervical MRI and another injection. He returned to Dr. Mehta on June 9 2015, and it was noted that
the neck pain was much better. The petitioner returned periodically for follow-up visits with Dr.
Silver, who continued to recommend right shoulder arthroscopy, as of July 30, 2015. PXs 2-4.

Deposition of Dr. Ronald Silver, dated June 29, 2015
In.-his. evidence deposition, the doctor.stated that Petitioner fell to-the ground on-his right shouldet.
Later in the deposition he testified that the initial note referred to Petitioner falling on the left
shoulder. He then proceeds to claim that petitioner fell on both shoulders; hitting the ground on one
shoulder and then rolling over on his other shoulder. Not only does that mechanism of injury seem -
highly unlikely, it is also unsupported by the petitioner’s testimony at hearing. Dr. Silver agreed that
there is no mention of any injury or pain complaints to the right shoulder or cervical spine in his
records for three (3) months following the date of accident. He also testified that it is his practice to
ﬁﬁmmmmmmvm
petitioner initially told him about the right shoulder. The Arbitrator notes that this doctor’s testimony
regarding the petitioner mechanism of accident is confusion and contradictory. PXt.

Deposition of Dr. Amit Mehta, dated June 11, 2015

On direct examination, this doctor testified that the petitioner’s condition of ill-being regarding his
neck and right shouid-were causaily reiated to the accident-of May 29, 2013; after cross-examination,
after confirming that the medical records hold no reference to any injury to these body parts for at
least three (3) after the accident; the doctor admitted that it was possible that Petitioner’s complaints
regarding those regions were not related to this accident. PX3.

Conclusions of Law

C ' Did an acc1dent occur that arose out of and in the course of Petltloners
‘employinent by Resporideni?

- A decision by the Commission cannot be based upon speculation or conjecture: Deere and Company
v Industrial Commission, 47 11l.2d 144, 265 N.E. 2d 129 (1970). A petitioner seeking an award before -

the Commission must prove bv a prppnqr:lnrqpna of credible evidence each element of the claim.

s L A AR L AVFAWINNIWIHE W -l LLA WL

Illinois Institute of Technology v. Industrial Commission, 68 Ill.2d 236, 369 N.E.2d 853 (1977).
Where a petitioner fails to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that there exists a causal
connection between work and the alleged condition of ill-being, compensation is to be denied. Id.

4
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The facts of each case must be closely analyzed to be fair to the employee, the employer, and to the
employer’s workers’ compensation carrier. Three “D” Discount Store v Industrial Commission, 198
IILApp. 3d 43, 556 N.E.2d 261, 144 [ll.Dec. 794 (4th Dist. 1989).

The burden is on the Petitioner seeking an award to prove by a preponderance of credible evidence all
the elements of his claim, including the requirement that the injury complained of arose out of and in
the course of his or her employment. Martin vs. Industrial Commission, 91 Ill.ad 288, 63 Ill.Dec. 1,
437 N.E.2d 650 (1982). The mere existence of testimony does not require its acceptance. Smith v
Industrial Commission, 98 1ll.2d 20, 455 N.E.2d 86 (1983). To argue to the contrary would require
that an award be entered or affirmed whenever a Petitioner testified to an injury no matter how much
his testimony might be contradicted by the evidence, or how evident it might be that his story is a
fabricated afterthought. U.S. Steel v Industrial Commission, 8 Ill.2d 407, 134 N.E. 2d 307 (1956).

It is not enough that the petitioner is working when an injury is realized. The petitioner must show
that the injury was due to some cause connected with the employment. Board of Trustees of the
University of Illinois v. Industrial Commission, 44 Ill.2d 207, 214, 254 N.E.2d 522 (1969); see also
Hansel & Gretel Day Care Center v Industrial Commission, 215 Ill.App.3d 284, 574 N.E.2d 1244
(1991). . : :
The Illinois Supreme Court has held that a Petitioner’s testimony standing alone may be acceptéd for
the purposes of determining whether an accident occurred. However, that testimony must be proved
credible. Caterpillar Tractor vs. Industrial Commission, 83 Ill.2d 213, 413 N.E.2d 740 (1980). In
addition, a Petitioner’s testimony must be considered with all the facts and circumstances that might
not justify an award. Neal vs. Industrial Commission, 141 Ill.App.3d 289, 490 N.E.2d 124 (1986).
Uncorroborated testimony will support an award for benefits only if consideration of all facts and
circumstances support the decision. See generally, Gallentine v. Industrial Cormmission, 147 lll.Dec
353, 559 N.E.2d 526, 201 Ill.App.3d 880 (2nd Dist. 1990), see also Seiber v Industrial Comrission,
82 Ill.2d 87, 411 N.E.2d 249 (1980), Caterpillar v Industrial Commission, 73 Ill.2d 311, 383 N.E.2d
220 (1978). It is the function of the Commission to judge the credibility of the witnesses and to
resolve conflicts in the medical evidence, and assign weight to the witness’ testimony. O’Dette v.
Industrial Commission, 79 Ill.ad 249, 253, 403 N.E.2d 221, 223 (1980); Hosteny v Workers'
Compensation Commission, 397 1. App. 3d 665, 674 (2009).

The parties agree that Petitioner sustained an accidental injury to his left shoulder. However, there is
a dispute as to whether the petitioner injured his right shoulder and cervical spine during the accident
that occurred on May 29, 2013. The accident histories, as documented by various medical providers
over approximately three (3) months following the accident date, only mention an injury to the left
shoulder. Petitioner first went to Winfield Moody Health Center on May 31, 2013, where a history is
given of pain in the back of the left shoulder for two to three (2-3) days. There is no mention of injury
or pain complaint for the right shoulder or cervical spine. Petitioner first saw Dr. Silver on June 6,
2013 and reported that he tripped on a conduit and “tried to stop his fall by grabbing a pole with his
left arm and wrenched the left shoulder feeling his left shoulder pop and then fell to the ground on the
shoulder”. Again, there is no mention of any injury or pain complaint invelving the right shoulder or
cervical spine. Petitioner continued to follow-up with Dr. Silver; and the July 30, 2013 note again

does not mention any injury to the right shoulder or cervical spine.
5
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F. Is Petitioner’s current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?

In order for an injury to be deemed compensable, Petitioner must establish it arose out of and in the
course of the employment. “An injury ‘arises out of employment when it originates from some risk
related to the employment, thereby establishing a causal connection between the injury and the
occupation.” Wise v Industrial Commission, 54 Ill.2d 138, 142 (1973); Material Service Corp. v. _
Industrial Commission, 53 Ill.2d 429, 292 N.E.2d 367; Thurber v. Industrial Commission, 49 Ill.2d
561, 276 N.E2d 316. “A compensable injury occurs ‘in the course of employment when it is sustained
while Petitioner is at work or while he performs reasonable activities in conjunction with his
employment.” Wise v Industrial Commission, 54 ll.2d 138, 142 (1973); Hydro-Line Manufacturing
Co. v. Industrial Commission, 15 Ill.2d 156, 154 N.E.2d 234; Associated Vendors, Inc. v. Industrial
Commission, 45 Ill.2d 203, 258 N.E.2d 354.

It is established law that at hearing, it is the employee’s burden to establish the elements of his claim
by a preponderance of credible evidence. Illinois Bell Tel. Co. v. Industrial Comm™n., 265 Ill. App. 3d
681; 638 N.E. 2d 307 (15t Dist. 1994).-This.includes.the issue.of whether Petitioner’s-current state of.
ill-being is causally related to the alleged work accident. Id. A Petitioner must prove causal
connection by evidence from which inferences can be fairly and reasonably drawn. Caterpillar
Tractor Co. v. Industrial Comm'n., 83 Ill. 2d 213; 414 N.E. 2d 740 (19806)." Als6, causal ¢ofinection
can be inferred. Proof of an employee’s state of good health prior to the time of injury and the change
immediately following the injury is competent as tending to establish that the impaired condition was
due to the injury. Wesnnghouse Elecmc Co. v. Industr:al Comm’n, 64 Ill 2d 244, 356 N E 2d 28

a chain of events including Petitioner’s ab111ty to perform the dutles before the date of the accident

and inability to perform the same duties following that date. Darling v. Industrial Comm’n, 176
I1L.App.3d 186, 193 (1986).

The petitioner’s initial visit to AthletiCo for physical therapy was on August 6 2013; and pain
compiaints were only noted for-the leit-shoulder. It-was not until his August 20, 2013 follow-up at
AthletiCo, that there was any mention of a right shoulder issue. The first mention of right shoulder
pain in Dr. Silver’s records, is on August 29, 2013, wherein he states that the right shoulder is also
~ troubling Petitioner, due to the overuse he has placed over the past few months. The doctor adds a
postscript to that note stating that the petitioner fell on his right shoulder, so the symptoms are a
combination of the original injury and overuse as well. The Arbitrator notes that that contention is
contradicted by the testimonies of Dr. Silver and the petitioner.

" The petitioner testified at hearing that he crashéd into a cabinet, holding a laptop in his right hand;
stating that he tried to catch himself and had pain in his Ieft shouider. Not only was there no report of
right shoulder pain for three (3) months after the accident, but the histories given in the medical
" records state various mechanisms of injury. Dr. Silver’s testimony as to accident history is also '
contradictory. In his evidenceé deposition, he stated that Petitioner fell to the ground on his right
shoulder. Later in the deposition he testified that the initial note refers to falling on the left shoulder.
He then proceeds to claim that the petitioner fell on both shoulders, hitting the ground on one

shoulder and then rolling over on his other shoulder. Not only does that mechanism of injury seem
6
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highly unlikely, it is also wholly unsupported by petitioner’s testimony at hearing. Dr. Silver agreed
that there is no mention of any injury or pain complaints to the right shoulder or cervical spine in his
records for three (3) months following the date of accident. He also testified that it is his practice to
take accurate notes. However, he then goes on to claim that he had a “personal recollection” that the
petitioner had initially told him about the right shoulder. The Arbitrator does not find the testimony
of Dr. Silver to be persuasive, regarding the mechanism of Petitioner’s injury.

Dr. Forsythe provided an IME opinion that he would consider both alleged shoulder injuries to be
causally related to the alleged work accident, “if in fact that patient’s stated history is accurate”. As
has been pointed out, the accident histories are inconsistent and contradictory. Furthermore, the
doctor opined that the petitioner sustained a contusion to the right shoulder which has since resolved.
This is consistent with the objective testing; while the left shoulder MRI showed a partial thickness
tear of the rotator cuff, the right shoulder MRI does not. He found both left and right shoulder
examinations to be essentially normal, with Petitioner’s subjective complaints not supported by
objective findings. The Arbitrator also notes that the petitioner has returned to work as of April 8,
2015, despite his treating physicians stating that he could not work. This further supports the IME
doctor’s note of symptom magnification, inconsistent effort on strength testing; and non-physiological
responses to provocative maneuvers. The Arbitrator finds the opinion of Dr. Forsythe to be more
persuasive than that of Dr. Silver. Based on the inconsistent mechanisms of injury, gaps in treatment
and reporting of right shoulder complaints, lack of objective findings; and Petitioner’s ability to return
to work, the Arbitrator does not find the right shoulder injury to be causally related to the work
accident. o '

With respect to the alleged cervical injury, the records show there were no cervical complaints for over
a year after the work accident. Petitioner saw Dr. Dasgupta at Elmwood Park Same Day Surgery
Center on August 27, 2013 and noted an injury to the left shoulder on May 29, 2013. He notes he was
improving with physical therapy for the left shoulder, but now has right-sided shoulder and arm pain.

In the October 28, 2013 follow-up visit, complaints are only noted in the shoulders. Indeed, the first
injection done on November 12, 2013, is to the right shoulder. The Petitioner did not return to -
Elmwood Park until September 15, 2014, which is the first note of neck complaints. The cervical MRI
on October 22, 2014 was limited and showed only disc bulging. On May 12, 2015, the petitioner noted
that his neck pain is much improved, and an EMG was recommended. Dr. Mehta testified in his
evidence deposition, that petitioner injured his left shoulder on the date of accident, and that he didn’t
fall or strike the right shoulder or neck. He further stated that there was no report of a cervical injury
or pain complaints after the work accident. Dr. Mehta testified that the cervical complaints may not
‘be related to the work accident, that the cervical MRI results may or may not correlate to the accident;
and that he has not taken the petitioner off work, due to these alleged maladies. Due to the lack of
cervical complaints for over a year after the accident, the lengthy gap in treatment and Dr. Mehta’s
equivocation as to causal connection, the Arbitrator finds that the cervical spine complaints are not
causally connected to the work accident.
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J. Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and

necessary? Has Respondent paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and
necessary medical expenses?

The Arbitrator finds that medical services provided to the petitioner for the left shoulder incurred
through the December 29, 2014 IME date were reasonable and necessary. The Arbitrator further
finds that the respondent has paid all charges incurred through December 29, 2014, the date to the
IME. Because Petitioner has not proven, by a preponderance of the evidence, that his condition of ill-
being with respect to the right shoulder and cervical spine are causally related to the work accident,
the charges for those medical services subsequent to the December 29, 2014 are not awarded.
Because the Arbitrator finds Dr. Forsythe’s opinion persuasive with respect that no further treatment
is required for the left shoulder; charges for medical services for the left shoulder, subsequent to the
December 29, 2014, are also denied.

K. Is Petitioner entitled to any prospective medical care?

The petitioner has not proven, by a preponderance of the evidence, that he is entitled to prospective
medlcal care, therefore it is not awarded.

- L.. 'Whattemporary benefits are in dispute? ' e - .
The parties are in agreement that temporary partial dlsablllty (“TPD "} is owed from June 8, 2013
through June 28, 2013. Temporary total disability benefits (“TTD”) were properly paid from July 1,
201,;, through Tanuu"y 2;, 2015. The Arbitrator finds the opinion of Dr. Forsythe to be persuasive

Arbltrator concludes that Petltloners condltlon of lll-belng w1th respect to the right shoulder and
cervical spine are not causally related to the work accident. As such, additional TPD and TTD benefits
are denied.
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) |:| Affirm and adopt (no changes) |:| Injured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d))
) SS. [:I Affirm with changes l:l Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF PEORIA ) Reverse | Causal connection] D Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
|:| PTD/Fatal denied '
D Modify IE None of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Patricia A. Walker,

Petitioner,

vs. NO: 11 WC 8621

Illinois Dept. of Human Services, 1 6 I w C C 0 3 8 7

- Respondent,

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by the Respondent herein and notice given
to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of accident, causal connection, notice,
medical bills and permanent disability and being advised of the facts and law, reverses the
Decision of the Arbitrator as stated below and finds that the Petitioner failed to prove that her

current condition of ill-being was causally connected to the alleged accident on September 20,
2010. '

The Petitioner testified that the last day she actually worked for the Respondent was on
June 16, 2010. She retired from Respondent for reasons unrelated to this alleged claim in
November of 2012, At Arbitration she testified that she worked for Respondent since 1996 and
her job title was data entry/office work. She then worked at Tazewell around 2002 or 2003. She
testified that over 50% of her job was data entry. Her wrists would rest on the desk while she was
keyboarding and that her hands were bent upwards. (Transcript Pgs.11-18)

She claimed that the chair she used in Tazewell was defective and wouldn’t work. It was
dropped down below the average comfortable position to do her work. It created numbness in her
arms and hands which went clear up to her elbows. She would have problems at night. She
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wanted a new chair because the one that she had was unfit for her to do her job. She testified that
she took a doctor’s note to Tazewell asking for a new chair. She did not have the note available
at the Arbitration hearing. (Transcript Pgs. 18-23)

Petitioner further testified that she wore splints on both wrists. She wore them at home, at
work and to bed. She got them from a doctor but she could not remember which doctor she had
seen. She eventually saw Dr. Garst on September 20, 2010 and told him about her hand
numbness. She saw him again in December and was referred to Dr. Mitzelfelt in January 2011.
Mitzelfelt ordered an EMG and then did carpal tunnel surgery on her left on March 31, 2011 and
then on her right on May 15, 2012. (Transcript Pgs. 24-27)

Petitioner claimed that she filled out the Workers” Compensation notice of injury report
on October 26, 2010 and gave it to Respondent on that date. Sue Beeney was the representative
of the Respondent that she gave the notice to. She further alleges that she got a lawyer on March
2, 2011 because she was not getting any response back from Springfield. She was assigned a
caseworker although she further testified that she doesn’t have that information with her at the
Arbitration hearing. (Transcript Pgs. 37-38)

The Commission takes note of Respondent Exhibit 2 which is the employee’s first notice
of accident. It is dated October 26, 2010 but stamped received by Department of Human Services
on June 16, 2011.

Dr. Mitzlfelt, who originally treated Petitioner for an unrelated knee replacement, saw the
Petitioner on February 17, 2011. On that date he received a history of the Petitioner complaining
of bilateral hand numbness and tingling that has been getting progressively worse. He noted that
this occurs especially when she works. (Petitioner Exhibit 2) Mitzlfelt testified at his deposition
that based on a reasonable degree of medical certainty her job was definitely an aggravating
factor. When he had seen her the first time she had mentioned that the numbness and tingling had
been getting worse especially in respect to her work. He testified that it was getting harder for
her to do it. (Petitioner Exhibit 3 Pgs. 7-9) Petitioner last worked for Respondent 10 months prior
to that date.

The Commission finds the testimony of Dr. Williams more persuasive than that of Dr.
Mitzlfelt. Dr. Williams testified that he felt that her carpal tunnel syndrome was neither
aggravated nor caused by her work. The typing she described was intermittent and Petitioner did
other tasks like answering the phone, pushing buttons, doing the mail, stapling and collating
papers. It is also significant that Petitioner was not working at the time she presented to Dr.
Garst of her carpal tunnel symptoms. If a person hasn’t worked since 2010 and her symptoms
were no better months later, it would lead one to believe that something besides her work was
contributing to her symptoms. One would expect that when one takes away the thing that is
allegedly bothering you, your symptoms would actually improve and not stay the same or
continue to worsen. (Respondent Exhibit 1 Pgs. 10-11)

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Petitioner failed to
prove that her bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome was causally connected to the job duties she
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performed until June 16, 2010.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit

for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petiti )er 1 agcoynt of sAid geidentgld injury.
Z W Z

DATED:
JUN ‘1 0 2016 Charles Y, DeVriendt

—/ﬁoshua D. Luskin

Lot ! tichis

Ruth W. White

HSF
O: 4/13/16
49
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Employee/Petitioner

IL DEPT OF HUMAN SERVICES !
Employer/Respondent B = 1 6 I w C C 0 3 8 7

On 5/20/2015, an arbitration decision on this case was filed with the Illinois Workers' Compensation
Commission in Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed.

If the Commission reviews this award, interest of 0.08% shall accrue from the date listed above to the day
before the date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no cha.nge or a decrease in this
award, interest shall not accrue.

A copy of this decision is mailed to the following parties:

4707 LAW OFFICE OF CHRIS DOSCOTCH 0502 STATE EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT
2708 N KNOXVILLE AVE 2101 8 VETERANS PARKWAY
PEORIA, IL 61604 PO BOX 19255

SPRINGFIELD, IL 62794-9255

5116 ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
GABRIEL CASEY

500 S SECCOND ST

SPRINGFIELD, IL 62706

0498 STATE OF ILLINOIS
ATTORNEY GENERAL

100 W RANDOLPH ST 13TH FL
CHICAGO, IL 80601-3227

CERTIFIED as a frue and coract o
fursuant {0 820 ILCS 30514

1745 CMS - RISK MANAGEMENT
801 S SEVENTH ST &M £ an .
PO BOX 19208 7 MAY 20 2018

SPRINGFIELD, IL 62794-9208
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) [ jured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
)SS. [ ] Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(e))
COUNTY OF PEORIA ) [ ] second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
None of the above

_ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
ARBITRATION DECISION

PATRICIA A. WALKER Case #11 WC 8621

Employee/Petitioner

v, Consolidated cases:

ILLINOIS DEPT. OF HUMAN SERVICES
Employer/Respondent

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable D, DOUGLAS McCARTHY, Arbitrator of the Commission, in -
the city of PEORIA, on 04/14/15. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes
findings on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.

DISPUTED ISSUES

Al El Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Illinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act?

B. D Was there an employee-employer relationship?
idan accident oeeur tHat arcse out of and in the course nf PEUTioNer's SMployment Dy Respondent?
D What was the date of the accident?
. Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?
@ 1s Petitioner's current condition of iil-being causally relaied to ihe mjury?
. ] What were Petitioner's earnings?
D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the acmclent‘?
D ‘What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?

& Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?

K. D What temporary benefits are in dispute?

N L] TPD [] Maintenance _ . ] TID

L. - What is the nature and extent of the 1n]ury° '

M. [:I Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?

N. l_—] Is Respondent due any credit?

0. D Other

H-Hmcai"ﬂ_mu

ICArbDec. 2/10. 100 W. Randolph Street #8-200 Chicago, IL 60601 .312/814-6611 . Toll-free 866/352-3033  Web site: www.fwee,il gov- .
Downstate offices: Collinsville 618/346-3450 Peoria 309/671-3019  Rockford 815/987-7292  Springfield 217/785-7084
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On 09/20/10, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act.

FINDINGS

On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.

On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.
Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is causally related to the accident. _ _

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $39,780.00; the average weekly wage was $765.00.
On the date of accident, Petitioner was 63 years of age, single with 0 dependent children. |
Petitioner as received all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent has not paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent shall be given a credit.of $0 for TTD, $0 for TPD, $0 for maintenance, and $0 for other benefits,
for a total credit of $0.

Respondent is entitled to a credit of $0 under Section 8(j) of the Act.

ORDER

THE PETITIONER HAS SUSTAINED THE PERMANENT PARTIAL DISABILITY TO THE EXTENT OF 15 % LOSS OF USE OF THE
RIGHT HAND REPRESENTING 30.75 WEEKS OF DISABILITY AND 12.5% LOSS OF USE OF THE LEFT HAND REPRESENTING
25.625 WEEKS OF DISABILITY USING A PPD RATE OF $459.00 PURSUANT TO SECTION 8(E) OF THE ACT.

THE RESPONDENT IS LIABLE FOR REIMBURSEMENT TO MEDICARE FOR THE CONDITIONAL PAYMENTS MADE FOR THE
PETITIONER’S CARPAL TUNNEL SURGERIES IN THE AMOUNT OF $3,844.30.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this
decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the
decision of the Commission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice
of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however,
if an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

Signature 4f Arbitrator

DL M fuﬂ? %,7 S, 20)s

ICArbDec p. 2

AN 2 0 2010
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PATRICIA A. WALKER )

V. ) Case # 11 WC 8621
)
)

ILLINOIS DEPT. OF HUMAN SERVICES

IN SUPPORT OF THE ARBITRATOR'S MEMORANDUM OF DECESION, THE
ARBITRATOR MAKES FINDINGS REGARDING THE FOLLOWING ISSUES:

> C. Did an accident occur that arose out of an in the course of
Petitioner's employment by Respondent?

> E. Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

» F. Is;he petitioner’'s present condition of ill-being causally related fo the
injury”

~» J. ‘Werethe medical services that-were provided {o-Petitionerreasonable-
and necessary? Has Respondent paid all appropriate charges for all
reasonable and necessary medical services?

» L. What is the nature and extent of the injury?

Statement of Facts

for the IIImms Department of Human Ser\nces from 1996 through November 2012

Petitioner worked in Peoria untll 2002 and the Pekin IDHS office from 2002 through
2012,

Petitioner's last day worked was June 6, 2010. Petitioner took medical leave for
unrelated condition to her knees. Petitioner never returned to work after taking the
medicai leave on June 8, 2010-

Petitioner's job was a clerk typist/office assistant. Petitioner worked at the front
desk in Peoria and PekKin. Petitiorier did initial intake with each client. Petitioner
estimated that she handled approximately 300 fo 500 cases per day in Peoria and 75 fo
-~ 200 in Pekin. Each intake required a few minutes of data entry. She would typethe - .=~
person’s name and request into the computer. Then she would enter the name of the
person being seen. She would type three to four sentences commenting on the
r-nqtnmere. remleqt Qhe alqn dld qmal!er 10b'=, on "-'-Iaturdavq tvmna names. and numberq

PR

Petitioner testified that she spent over 50% of her time performing data entry. - -
This testimony is consistent with the volume of clients that she was seeing on average
in Peoria and Pekin. Petitioner testified that her other duties included answering the
phone, filing, and other related paperwork duties.
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Respondent introduced into evidence a job description (Respondent’s exhibit #5).
The demands of the job state that she uses her hands for typing and good finger

dexterity 4 to 6 hours per day. This job description is consistent with Petitioner's
testimony

Petitioner demonstrated for the Arbitrator how she entered data on the computer.
Petitioner testified that she rested her wrists on the desk with her hands in an extended
position. Petitioner testified that she always performed data entry with her hands
resting on a hard table at both offices.

Respondent did not offer any evidence to rebut the description of Petitioner's job
duties nor the manner in which she performed her job duties.

Respondent disputed notice in this matter. Petitioner testified that she filled out
the CMS Waorkers’ Compensation Employees Notice of Injury form on October 26, 2010.
Petitioner testified that she took that to the Pekin Administrative office on that date.
Petitioner testified that Cheryl Schlobohm was on leave for a medical condition and the
Notice of Injury form was furned into Sue Benny. Sue Benny was another administrator
at the Pekin office. This testimony is not rebutted.

Respondent turned in multiple forms from CMS which suggested that the State
was not provided notice of this injury until June 16, 2011 based upon received stamps
on the paperwork. Respondent did not call a witness with personal knowledge of when
those documents were actually stamped. Respondent did not call the person who
stamped the documents. ' '

Respondent cailed Kelly Lynch (nee Lanane) to testify. Kelly Lynch was an area
supervisor. She was not Petitioner's direct supervisor, nor was she working at the
Tazewell office in October 2010. Kelly Lynch began working in the Pekin office in 2011
and never worked with the Petitioner. She said she first learned of the claim on June 15,
2011, when she was contacted by Ms. Schlobohm.

Respondent’s attorney requested that the arbitration hearing be bifurcated for an
additional day of testimony so he could present Ms.Schlobohm as a witness. The
Arbitrator granted the request. On the next morning, Respondent’s attorney reported to
the Arbitrator that Ms. Schiobohm would not be appearing to testify, and elected to rest
his case. As stated above, the Petitioner testified that she reported the claim to Ms.
Benny in Pekin on October 26, 2010 as Ms. Schlobohm was not at work on that date. In
light of Ms. Schlobohm’s failure to appear, the Petitioner’s testimony on notice is
unrebutted.

Additionally, Respondent’s denial of notice of the injury until June 2011 is
rebutted by the fact that Petitioner filed an Application for Adjustment of Claim on March
1, 2011 with proof of service to the workers’ compensation division of the lllinois
Department Human Services on that date.
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On September 20, 2010 Petitioner sought care with her family physician at Unity
Point Methodist for bilateral hand numbness. She was diagnosed with, among other
things, carpal tunnel syndrome. She was seen again on December 16, 2010 with similar
complaints. She said that she had been wearing a wrist brace. She was diagnosed with
bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome, and an order was entered to refer her to an
orthopedist. Petitioner was eventually referred to orthopedic surgeon Dr. Don
Mitzelfelt. On February 17, 2011 Dr. Miizelfelt examined Petitioner and suspected

bilateral carpal funnel syndrome. Dr. Mitzelfelt requested an EMG. The EMG was
performed on March 1, 2011 at IMPR.

Petitioner provided IPMR with a history of 3 year duration of progressive
numbness and tingling in her hands related to work. Petitioner tried splints which only
improved nocturnal symptoms. Petitioner reported that she continued to have

significant numbness and tingling in the left greater than right. The EMG revealed mild
to moderate bilateral carpal tunnel.

2012 Petitioner underwent right carpal tunnel surgery. Petitioner testified that her
recovery from her right carpal funnel was worse than compared to the left.

Petitioner was released by Dr. Mitzelfelt without restrictions. Petitioner testified
that her numbness and tingling improved. Petitioner continues to experience residual
periodic numbness and tingling in both hands depending on activities such as
gardening. Petitioner testified that her grip is weaker in her hands as a resuli of her

carpal tunnel. She relates dropping items and having difficulty 1ifting househoid things
such as coffee cups, pots or pans. Petitioner has not sought medical treatment for her
carpal tunnel syndrome since 2012.

At this time Petitioner is retired and has.no further plans of returning to the
workforce.

On October 19, 2011 Petitioner was examined at the request of the Respondent
by Dr. James Williams. Petitioner testified that she gave Dr. Williams a description of
her general job duties. Petitioner testified that she was not asked nor did she
demonstrate the manner in which she positioned her hands while performing data entry.
Additionally, Petitioner was not asked if she rested her wrists on a hard surface while
typing. Dr. Williams examined Petitioner after her left carpal tunnel surgery, but before -
her right carpal tunnel release. . Dr. Williams has not examined Petitioner since her right
carpal tunnel surgery. '

Dr. Williams and Dr. Mitzelfelt both provided testimony in this matter. Dr.
Mitzelfelt was provided with a hypothetical regarding Petitioner's work duties. The
hypothetical included Petitioner stopping work in June 2010 and continuing to have
numbness and fingling in her hands. Dr. Mitzelfelt was informed that Petitioner worked
for the State of illinois for over 20 years and typed a majority of the day with her wrisis
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'restihg on é'haf_d sAurface while keyboarding. Based upon these factors, Dr. Mitzeifelt
testified that carpal tunnel is definitely an aggravating factor.

Dr. Mitzelfelt was asked about Petitioner's symptoms not improving after
stopping work. Dr. Mitzelfelt testified that age is a factor in this regard. Based upon
Petitioner’s being older, it is less likely that the carpal tunnel would spontaneously
resolve with cessation of the inciting work activity. Dr. Mitzelfelt testified that younger
workers with carpal tunnel can change jobs or quit jobs and resolve carpal tunnel by
stopping the repetitive aggravating activity.

Dr. Mitzelfelt testified that flexion and extension of the wtist increases the
pressure over the median nerve and has been linked to the development of carpal
tunnel syndrome when the flexion and extension-occurs on a repetitive basis. Dr.
Mitzelfelt testified that resting wrists on a hard surface while keyboarding can contribute .
to carpal tunnel because it increases the pressure anteriorly over the median nerve.

Dr. Williams provided testimony in this matter. Dr. Williams concluded that
Petitioner's work activities would not have aggravated or caused her bilateral carpal
tunnel. This was based upon Dr. Williams understanding of Petitioner’s job duties. Dr.
Williams testified that Petitioner’s typing was intermittent. This is contradicted by
Petitioner’s testimony and the Respondent’s job description which showed Petitioner's
typing frequency. Dr. Williams also testified that Petitioner’s lack of symptom
improvement after quitting working was an indication that her work activities were not
confributing to her symptoms.

On cross examination Dr. Williams testified that he did not receive any additional
records since October 19, 2011 including the right carpal tunnel operative report. Dr.
Williams testified that he was not provided a specific percentage of time that Petitioner
was typing each day. Dr. Williams had no criticisms of Dr. Mitzelfelt. In regards to Dr.
Mitzelfelt's testimony regarding younger people stopping work, Dr. Williams testified that
it is possible that an older person would not notice a lessening of symptoms when
stopping work due to age. Dr. Williams testified that work splints are used to put a
patient’s wrist in a neutral position and reduce the pressure over the median nerve. Dr.
Williams explained that it is pressure over the median nerve that causes a mechanical
or a vascular effect on the median nerve. In regards to ergonomics Dr. Williams
testified that if Petitioner was resting her wrist on a hard surface while typing that the
direct pressure over the median nerve could possibly contribute or aggravate
Petitioner’'s carpal tunnel syndrome.

In terms of other risk factors for carpal tunnel, Petitioner is female and has
hypertension, but there is no evidence of the Petitioner having rheumatoid arthritis,
diabetes, or thyroid problems. Dr. Williams testified that neither fibromyalgia nor
osteoarthritis play a role in development of carpal tunnel symptoms.

Both doctors testified that Petitioner’'s treatment for bilateral carpal tunnel to
include surgery was reasonable and necessary.



Petitioner introduced into evidence conditional payment log from Medicare
indicating conditional payments by Medicare for Petitioner's bilateral carpal tunnel
syndrome in the amount of $3,844.30. Respondent objected to liability for these bills.

Conclusions of Law

1. The Arbitrator finds that the Petitioner provided notice to the Respondent.
Petitioner testified that she turned in the Notice of Injury form on October
26, 2010 to Sue Benny, with said form being introduced into ‘evidence as
Respondent’s Exhibit 2. Petitioner's testimony is not rebutted.

2. The Arbitrator finds that the Petitioner’s bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome
and bilateral carpal tunnel releases are causally refated to her work duties.
The Arbitrator’s opinion is based upon Petitioner keyboarding a majority of

~ the day with her wrist resting on a hard surface in-an extended position.
Dr. Williams did not have information regarding the specific times that
Petitioner keyboarded. Dr. Williams mistakenly believed that Petitioner
was keyboarding on an intermittent basis. This assumption is contradicted
by Petitioner's testimony and Respondent’s job description. Finally, Dr.
Mitzelfeli testified that the act of keyboarding, especially with resting the
wrist on a hard surface would definitely aggravate carpal tunnel syndrome.
Dr. Williams testified that typing while resting wrists on a hard surface

could possibly aggravate carpal tunnel syndrome.

3. Petitioner introduced into evidence conditional payments by Medicare in
the amount of $3,844 30 for Petitioner's bilateral carnal tunnel surgeries,
Respondent is found liable for the same. Both Dr. Williams and Dr.
Mitzelfelt both testified that the treatment to include surgery was
reasonable and necessary for Petitioner.

4. [n regards to permanent partial disability, the Arbitrator finds that the
condition in Petitioner’s both hands are permanent. Petitioner has had a
good recovery. This case is pre-September 2011. Petitioner is retired
from employment. Petitioner has residual periodic numbness in both

*“hands and reduced grip strength. ' Petitioner testified that her right hand is
worse than her left. Based upon the.evidence and Petitioner’s. testimony,
the Arbitrator finds that the Petitioner sustained a permanent partial
disability of 15% to the right hand and.12.5% of the ieft hand pursuant o .
Section 8(e) of the Act.
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Page 1
STATE OF ILLINOIS ) % Affirm and adopt (no changes) D Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
) SS. |:| Affirm with changes D Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF ) D Reverse |:| Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
CHAMPAIGN [ ] PTD/Fatal denied
D Modify IE None of the above
BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS* COMPENSATION COMMISSION
David Foy,
Petitioner,
vs. NO: 14WC 42464

North American Lighting, 16IWCCO 3 8 8

Respondent,
DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review having been filed by the Respondent herein and notice given
to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of accident, temporary total disability,
causal connection, medical, notice, permanent partial disability and being advised of the facts
and law, affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator, whicli is attached hereto and made a
part hereof.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the
Arbitrator filed September 29, 2015, is hereby affirmed and adopted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Respondent pay to
Petitioner interest under §19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Respondent shall have
credit for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of the Petitioner on account of said accidental
injury.

Bond for removal of this cause to the Circuit Court by Respondent is hereby fixed at the
sum of $17,500.00. The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court shall
file with the Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Revigw in Circuit Court.

DATED: JUN 1 0 2016
0040716

Dahdk.
DLG/jre
045 %/

Mario Basurto

Lol Tt

Stepfien Mathis




B ?‘ . ILLINOIS WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
' ' NOTICE OF ARBITRATOR DECISION

FOY, DAVID Case# 14WC042464

Employee/Petitioner

14WC042463

LIGHTING \
————— 16IWCC0388

On 9/29/2015, an arbitration decision on this case was filed with the Illinois Workers' Compensation
Commission in Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed.

If the Commission reviews this award, interest of 0.10% shall accrue from the date listed above to the day
before the date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this
award, interest shail not accrue.

A copy of this decision is mailed to the following parties:

0157 ASHER & SMITH
DREW P GRIFFIN

1119 N MAIN ST PO BOX 340
PARIS, IL 61944

0445 RODDY LAWLTD
STEPHEN A CARTER

303 W MADISON ST SUITE 1900
CHICAGO, IL. 60606



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) |:| Injured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d))
)SS. [ Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF CHAMPAIGN ) [ | Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)
None of the above

ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

ARBITRATION DECISION
DAVID FOY Case # 14 WC 42464
Employce/Petitioner )
V. Consolidated cases: 14 WC 42463
NORTH AMERICAN LIGHTING
‘Employer/Respondent

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Douglas McCarthy, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city
of Urbana, on August 14, 2015. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes
findings on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.

DISPUTED ISSUES

. [:I Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Illinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act?

B. D Was there an employee-employer relationship?

C. Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?
D. D What was the date of the accident?

E. El Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

F. Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?

G

H

I

J

>

. D ‘What were Petitioner's earnings?
. |:| What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?
[:| ‘What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?
Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?
K. L—_| ‘What temporary benefits are in dispute?
[ 1TPD [T Maintenance []TID
L. ‘What is the nature and extent of the injury?
M. D Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?
N. Is Respondent due any credit?
0. D Other

ICArbDec 2/10 100 W. Randoliph Street #8-200 Chicago, IL 60601 312/814-6611 Toll-free 866/352-3033  Web site: www.iwec.il. gov
Downstate offices: Collinsville 618/346-3450 Peoria 309/671-3019 Rockford 815/987-7292  Springfield 217/785-7084
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On October 6, 2014, Respondent was operating under and subject to the provisions of the Act.

On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.

On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.
Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent. |

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being #s causally related to the accident.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $34,082.36; the average weekly wage was $655.43.
On the date of accident, Petitioner was 48 years of age, single with 0 dependent children.

Petitioner has received all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent has not paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $3558.01 for TTD, $ for TPD, $ for maintenance, and
$ for other benefits, for a total credit of $3558.01.

Respondent is entitled to a credit of $ under Section 8(j) of the Act.

ORDER

Respondent shall pay Petitioner permanent partial disability benefits of $393.26 /week for 32.25 weeks because
the injury sustained caused 15% loss of use of right leg, as provided in Section 8(e)(12) of the Act.

Respondent shall pay the Petitioner temporary total disability benefits from November 19, 2014 through January
18, 2015, a period of 8 5/7 weeks, at a rate of $436.95 per week.

Respondent shall pay the amount of $912.00 for necessary medical services that were provided to Petitioner as a
result of this accidental injury, pursuant to the Fee Schedule (Petitioner’s Exhibit 20).

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this
decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this demsmn shall be entered as the
decision of the Commission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice
of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however,
if an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

32% A_arz 22, 201§~
Si itrator Datl

ICAtbDec .2 SEP 2 g 2013
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The parties in this matter stipulated that on October 6, 2014, Petitioner and Respondent were
operating under the Illinois Workers” Compensation Act and that their relationship was one of
employee and employer. The Parties further agreed orally at the hearing that at least three
medical bills known to Petitioner at this time and related to this accident remain unpaid, and the
parties stipulated that Respondent would pay said unpaid medical bills if found liable for the
claim. The balance sheet that was admitted into evidence as Petitioner’s Exhibit 20 shows these
unpaid amounts from the dates of 12/29/14, 1/8/15, and 1/29/15 total $912.00. (PX 20) This
case was tried in consolidation with 14 WC 42463, As the Arbitrator stated at trial, the

‘Petitioner’s exhibits would be and have been renumbered to reflect the fact that one set of
exhibits were used for both claims, Virtually all issues in this case were contested, as well as
whether the Respondent is entitled to any credit for a prior settlement received by the Petitioner
in the State of Florida.

FINDINGS OF FACT:

The Petitioner, David Foy (hercinafter “Petitioner”), testified that he had been an employee of
Respondent since approximately November 2013. Petitioner further testified that on October 6,
2014, the date of the accident, his job description was that of “material handler.” Respondent’s
company primarily produces lights, including headlights for automobiles. Petitioner testified
that his job as material handler required him to transport various types of product necessary to
the manufacturing process to various parts of Respondent’s facility. Petitioner testified that he
would transport this product with the aid of what he referred to as “rollers.” From Petitioner’s
testimony, it seems that a roller is akin to some form of handcart: a sort of platform on wheels
upon which product could be loaded and then pushed by an employee. Petitioner testified that he
did not operate a forklift to move the product—he actually had to load the product onto the roller
and then use his own physical capabilities to move the product. Petitioner currently is still an
employee of Respondent, and he continues to work as a material handler.

On October 6, 2014, Petitioner testified that while engaged in his employment, he tried to push a
skid containing some form of materials out of his way so he could continue his path of
transporting other material. Petitioner testified that as he pushed the skid, he extended his right
leg behind him. On the second push, he felt a sharp pop in his knee. He further explained that
the pain he experienced was so sensational and intense that it brought him to the ground.

Petitioner testified that after being helped up by one of his supervisors, he promptly filled out a
written accident report. The history on the accident report is consistent with the history he
explained at arbitration. (PX 20)

Petitioner then testified that he was taken to Paris Community Hospital in Paris, Illinois, and this
testimony is confirmed by report from Paris Community Hospital. (RX 4) The report shows as a
history from the Petitioner that his injury occurred at work while trying to “push” a box. His
examination showed a decrease of range of motion with pain. The diagnosis was that of a knee
sprain.

On October 7, 2014, according to a record in evidence, Petitioner presented to the occupational
medicine clinic complaining of the pain he was experiencing from the accident the day prior.
(RX 5) Petitioner’s explanation of the way the accident occurred as recorded in this document
(RX 5) substantially matches what he testified to and what he printed by hand and signed on the
Accident Report he completed at work immediately following the accident. He said that he was
pushing carts and had a sudden pop in the right knee. His examination on that date showed
edema of the right knee into the calf, with noted effusion and a limited range of motion. He was
diagnosed with a knee injury with possible ligament involvement, and an MRI was
recommended.



On October 30, 2014, Petitioner had his first appointment with Dr. Madsen, an orthopedic
surgeon. (PX 15) At this appointment, Dr. Madsen’s report indicated that Petitioner explained
hiow he sustained his injury, which, again, was substantially the same explanation that Petitioner
had previously testified to and reported on the Accident Report. According to the medical report,
Petitioner presented to the Dr. Madsen that the pain was “constant” and “achy, sharp, and
burning in quality” and that it was elevated in the mornings. Dr. Madsen’s physical examination
noted effusion and lack of full extension. Dr. Madsen ordered that Petitioner have an MRI
performed and a follow up appointment scheduled. Dr. Madsen did allow the Petitioner to return
to work, but restricted him to clerical duty only. The initial diagnosis from Dr, Madsen was right
knee internal derangement. (PX 15)

The MRI was performed on November 6, 2014. The Petitioner was found to have
tricompartmental arthritis, a tear of the posterior horn of the medial meniscus and degenerative
changes of the lateral meniscus. (PX 18)

Dr. Madsen performed right knee arthroscopy on Petitioner on November 19, 2014. He basically
repaired a radial tear of the medial meniscus and smoothed out arthritic areas under the patella
and trochlear groove. Dr. Madsen’s postoperative diagnosis of the Petitioner was as follows:
right knee medial meniscus tear; right knee chondromalacia tibial plateau; right knee
chondromalacia patella; and right knee multiple osteochondral loose bodies. (PX 16)

On December 4, 2014, Petitioner followed up with Dr. Madsen. At this follow-up, Dr. Madsen’s
report indicates that Petitioner told Dr. Madsen that he continued to experience intermittent pain
that required him to use crutches and ice, and Petitioner rated the pain as “5/10.” (PX 14) Dr.
Madsen ordered that the Petitioner was to begin physical therapy and that he was to continue to
be off work. (PX 14)

On January 8, 2014, Petitioner again saw Dr, Madsen. (PX 13) In his report, Dr, Madsen noted
that Petitioner complained that the pain was “sharp™ and that Petitioner rated the pain as “6-7 out
of 10 in severity.” (PX 13) Upon physical examination, Dr. Madsen noted Petitioner to be in
moderate pain, ordered Petitioner to continue physical therapy, and continued to restrict him
from returning to work. (PX 13)

The last time Petitioner treated for this injury caused by the accident was on January 29, 2015,
when Petitioner had a follow-up appointment with Dr. Madsen. (PX 12) At this appointment,
according to Dr. Madsen’s report, Petitioner rated the pain he was experiencing in his knee as “7-
8 out of 10.” His examination showed minimal swelling and pain with flexion and extension.
Nonetheless, Dr. Madsen returned the Petitioner to full duty work. He further indicated that the
Petitioner was at MMI and had an AMA impairment rating of 7 % loss of the leg. He gave no
explanation as to how he arrived at that figure.

After his last appointment with Dr. Madsen, Petitioner returned to work and continued in his
full-duty capacity. At the hearing, Petitioner testified that his right knee was painful; more so
than the left. He said it was particularly painful in the morning and that the pain woke him up at
night on occasion.

Prior to the accident, the Petitioner testified that he’d injured the knee in Florida and that he had
surgery. He said that following the surgery, his knee felt good and he returned back to normal.
On cross-examination, he acknowledged that he did complain to Dr. Madsen of right knee pain
prior to his accident while he was recovering from left knee surgery. He said that it did hurt from
walking on it at that time, and that he had little pains in the knee in October prior to his accident.



PSS 161WCC0388

Medical records of the Florida injury were admitted into evidence. They show treatment by Dr.
Boneberger for both knees between February 18 and November 12 of 2010. (RX 7) Surgery was
performed on May 3, 2010, and the operative report showed a tear of the posterior medial
meniscus, Grade 4 cartilage loss of the medial femoral condyle, Grade 1 softening of the trochlea
and chondromalacia of the patella. After therapy, Dr. Boneberger noted at his last examination
that the Petitioner had a normal range of motion. He gave him no restrictions and assigned an
impairment rating without explanation of 3 % of the leg.

Respondent offered additional records, which were admitted. The records were offered in
connection with a settlement and claimed credit, and they are summarized in the conclusions of
law.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW:

Based on the evidence presented at arbitration, the Arbitrator concludes that the Petitioner did
establish that he sustained an accidental injury that arose out of and in the course of his
employment by Respondent. The arbitrator finds that notice of the accident was provided to
Respondent within the time limits of the Act. In fact, based on the exhibits of the parties, (PX 20
& RX 12), the Arbitrator is unsure why notice was not stipulated to by the Respondent. The
Arbitrator further finds that Petitioner has demonstrated through his uncontroverted testimony
that his accidental injury was causally connected to his current condition of ill-being.

While the Petitioner did have pre-existing injury to the right knee which was apparent on the x-
ray’s done on the date of accident, he had no record of treatment after his release in Florida in
November 2010. He worked for the respondent in a fairly heavy duty job as a material handler
from November 18, 2013 until injuring his left knee the following March. Again, no evidence
was admitted to show he had any ongoing problems prior to that injury. Following his left knee
surgery, he did experience some pain in the right knee and did once ask Dr. Madsen for
treatment in July 2014. However, he testified to a clear traumatic event on October 6, 2014 while
pushing a skid, and he gave consistent histories on his accident report, the emergency room, the
occupational nurse practitioner and Dr. Madsen.

In addition, all of the examinations during the first week following the accident show findings
consistent with an acute injury. There were no gaps in treatment. Dr. Madsen performed surgery
just six weeks following the accident, and in surgery found a radial tear of the medial meniscus.
The Arbitrator notes the operative report from Florida, and notes that after the right medial
meniscus was repaired, Dr. Bonenberger found the remainder of the meniscus to be stable. (RX .
7)

The Petitioner was asked by the Respondent’s attorney if he had told the insurance claims
representative that he hurt his right knee by overcompensating for the left, but he said he didn’t
recall the conversation. No evidence was offered by the Respondent to prove that the
conversation had occurred, nor when it occurred. Even if he did had some right knee pain from
overcompensation when he was recovering from his left knee surgery, it would not be evidence
sufficient to overcome the evidence of acute trauma on October 6.

As the Arbitrator has found in the Petitioner’s favor on accident and causal connection, the
Petitioner is also entitled to TTD benefits for the periods claimed along with medical subject to
the Fee Schedule.

Respondent argues that it is entitled to a credit against whatever award the Arbitrator may order
in this matter. This argument is based on the allegation that Petitioner has previously had a
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permanent partial loss to the same member that Petitioner has injured in this matter and that
Petitioner was compensated for this alleged loss in an out-of-state workers’ compensation action
in the state of Florida. In support of its argument, Respondent introduced into evidence some of
Petitioner’s medical records from the state of Florida from around 2010 (RX 7) and
documentation related to a settlement Petitioner received in Florida that same year. (RX 16)
Further, Respondent introduced into evidence the case of Keil v. Industrial Comm’n, 331
H1.App.3d 478 (3d Dist. 2002) in support of its position. (RX 17)

The Illinois Workers’ Compensation Act states as follows:

“In computing the compensation to be paid to any employee who, before the accident for
which he claims compensation, had before that time sustained an injury resulting in the
loss by amputation or partial loss by amputation of any member, including hand, arm,
thumb or fingers, leg, foot or any toes, such loss or partial loss of any such member shall
be deducted from any award made for the subsequent injury. For the permanent loss of
use or the permanent partial loss of use of any such member or the partial loss of sight of
an eye, for which compensation has been paid, then such loss shall be taken into
consideration and deducted from any award for the subsequent injury.”

820 ILCS 305/8 (e)(17).

At trial, Petitioner testified that he had previously had a workers’ compensation claim in Florida.
Petitioner testified that his prior Florida workers’ compensation matter concluded when a
settlement had been reached. Petitioner testified that the net payment he received from
settlement was approximately $30,000.00. However, Petitioner testified that he had no
knowledge of what the settlement was based on, as well as the fact that he had no knowledge of
exactly what he was being compensated for.

Respondent entered into evidence several documents, all with substantially the same heading:
“State of Florida, Division of Administrative Hearings, Office of the Judges of Compensation
Claims, Daytona Beach District Office.” (RX 16) The Arbitrator believes that the total amount
of Petitioner’s prior out-of-state settlement can be ascertained from the document entitled,
“Motion for Approval of Attorney’s Fee and Allocation of Child Support Arrearage for
Settlements under Section 440.20(1 1)(c),(d) and (¢) Florida Statutes.” That Motion recites a
settlement amount of $35,000.00. (RX 16)

The Arbitrator finds this Motion extremely vague with regards to how it relates to Petitioner’s
Florida workers’ compensation case and the partial permanent loss for which Respondent wants
a credit. It makes no reference to any specific work-related injury; it does not discuss any
injured body part(s) or the extent of any injury thereto; it does not indicate how the settlement
amount is compensation for any loss experienced by Petitioner. In short, this Motion contains
none of the type of information that a settlement contract or decision from this State for a
workers’ compensation claim would contain. What’s more, this document is styled as a motion,
and it appears only to seek court approval of an attorney’s fee and some amount of funds related
to “child support arrearage allocation.” (RX 16)

The only Florida document presented by the Respondent that is an order, “Order Under Section
440.201(11)(c),(d),(e). Florida Statues. (2003)” appears to simply approve the attorney’s fee and
“child support arrearage allocation” requested in the aforementioned Motion. (RX 16) The
Order does not actually approve any settlement. It does not discuss any injury to the any part of
the Petitioner’s body and the subsequent loss Petitioner suffered. It does not explain what link
there may be between the settlement that the parties had entered into independently (that
apparently is not subject to court approval in Florida) and any loss that may have been sustained
by the Petitioner as a result of his work injury.
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The Arbitrator finds that none of these court documents from Florida indicate the type of
permanent partial loss sustained by the Petitioner or the extent of whatever that loss might be. In
addition, these documents do not explain if or how the compensation provided to Petitioner
under this Florida seftlement was compensation for any partial loss of any member of the
Petitioner’s body that was a result of an injury compensable under the workers’ compensation
laws in the state of Florida.

The respondent points to the case of Keil v. Industrial Comm’n, 331 Il App.3d 478 (3d Dist.
2002). In Keil, the issue presented was whether the Commission had the authority under
8(e)(17) of the Illinois Workers’ Compensation Act to grant a credit to an employer for a prior
out-of-state award based on a loss for which the employee had previously been compensated.
Keil, 331 Ill.App.3d at 479. The employee in that case, Gary Keil, prior to seeking benefits
under the I1linois Workers’ Compensation Act, had been awarded a 17-1/2 percent loss of use of
his right leg in an Jowa workers’ compensation case that resulted in him receiving $21,000.00 in
compensation. Id.

Ultimately, the Keil court held that, “the Commission may grant credit for out-of-state awards
pursuant to section 8(e)(17).” Id. at 481 (emphasis added). However, the court stated that, “the
manner in which the amount of credit is determined is a factual matter for the Commission.” Id.
The court reasoned that this would allow for the requisite amount of flexibility for the
Commission to address issues of whether to grant credit for out-of-state awards on a case-by-
case basis, thereby helping to achieve the purpose of the Act. Id.

It is well settled that the party claiming the credit, in this case the Respondent, has the burden of
proving entitlement to said credit. In the instant matter, there has been no evidence presented that
indicates the nature and extent of any alleged prior permanent partial loss to a member of the
Petitioner, nor was there any evidence as to how this alleged loss may have been compensated.
Respondent wants the Arbitrator to look at the amount of the Florida settlement, examine a few
select medical records, and then determine that, based on the dollar amount of settlement,
Petitioner was compensated for some significant level of prior permanent partial loss for which
Respondent should receive a credit. The Arbitrator cannot do this.

The Florida documents make no mention of any type of loss to Petitioner’s member(s). Not only
are the documents silent as to loss, but also the Arbitrator recognizes that there are many other
factors that could have influenced the negotiation between the parties that allowed them to arrive
at that settlement figure they did. For example, based on the fact that Petitioner ceased work for
the employer as soon as the settlement was paid, the Arbitrator easily could presume that a
significant portion of the settlement was not compensation for the loss Petitioner actually
sustained, but rather for Petitioner ceasing his employment with that employer. Another
example would be that a large portion of the compensation could be for medical expenses or for
what our state would call TTD. Again, this is just speculation, but it underscores the Arbitrator’s
point: there is no way to ascertain based on the evidence whether the Petitioner had sustained a
prior loss for which he was actually compensated.

Moreover, Petitioner testified that after being treated in Florida, his knees felt just fine.
Petitioner stated that he was not experiencing any type of notable pain when he left Florida, and
he further testified that his knee was free of any notable pain or disability when he commenced
work for Respondent. '

There is no way to know, based on the evidence, whether Petitioner suffered a prior permanent
partial loss in Florida for which he was compensated, and, if so, what the extent of that loss or
compensation for that loss was. Therefore, the arbitrator finds that, after appropriate
consideration, no credit will be awarded to Respondent as it had requested in this matter.



16IWCC0388

With respect to nature and extent of disability, the Arbitrator must look to the five factors
referenced by Section 8.1b of the Act.

The only evidence offered by either party concerning the AMA 6™ edition are the conclusory
comments of Dr. Madsen. As they are not accompanied by any explanation as to how the doctor
arrived at his number, they are not given any weight by the Arbitrator.

The Petitioner was 48 years old when he was injured; he worked as a material handler, a job
which required him to be on his fest moving materials around the plant with climbing and
bending as needed and he was released to full duty work. The Arbitrator finds the age to be
rather neutral; the occupation favoring the Petitioner’s claim of disability and there was no
showing of a future wage loss.

His objective findings from Dr. Madsen at his last visit on January 29, 2015 are noted above.

Based upon all of the above factors, the Arbitrator awards the Petitioner 15 % loss of use of the
left leg.
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Page 1
STATE OF ILLINOIS ) & Affirm and adopt (no changes) I:I Injured Workers® Benefit Fund (§4(d))
)8S. | [] Atfirm with changes [ ] Rate Adjustment Fund (58(z)
COUNTY OF MCCLEAN ) D Reverse D Second Injury Fund (§3(e)18)
[ ] pTD/Fatal denied
|:| Modity None of the above
BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
Bradley Wildermuth,
Petitioner,
V5. ' NO: 13 WC (09536

ABF Freight, 161WC00389

Respondent,

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Timely Petition for Review under §19(b) having been filed by the Respondent herein
and notice given to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of medical, causal
connection, vocational rehabilitation, and 19(d) suspension of benefits and being advised of the
facts and law, affirms and adopts the Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and
made a part hereof. The Commission further remands this case to the Arbitrator for further
proceedings for a determination of a further amount of temporary total compensation or of
compensation for permanent disability, if any, pursuant to Thomas v. Industrial Commission, 78

111.2d 327, 399 N.E.2d 1322, 35 Ill.Dec. 794 (1980).

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the

Arbitrator filed August, 28, 2015 is hereby affirmed and adopted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that this case be remanded to the
Arbitrator for further proceedings consistent with this Decision, but only after the latter of
expiration of the time for filing a written request for Summons to the Circuit Court has expired
without the filing of such a written request, or after the time of completion of any judicial

proceedings, if such a written request has been filed.
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner
interest under §19(n} of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit
for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.

Bond for the removal of this cause to the Circuit Court by Respondent is hereby fixed at
the sum of $1.00. The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court shall
file with the Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit Court.

CAED, jUN 13 2016 /‘// %/
Mﬂasurto

MB/ »

M wd §. Mt

43

David L. Gore

Lol Ty

Stephen Mathis




- . ' ILLINOIS WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
NOTICE OF 19(b) ARBITRATOR DECISION

WILDERMUTH, BRADLEY Case# 13WC009536

Employee/Petitioner

ABF FREIGHT 161W000389

Employer/Respondent

On 8/28/2015, an arbitration decision on this case was filed with the Illinois Workers' Compensation Commission in
Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed.

If the Commission reviews this award, interest of 0.20% shall accrue from the date listed above to the day before the
date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall
not accrue.

A copy of this decision is mailed to the following parties:

1874 AMES LAW OFFICES
STEVEN AMES

1000 THIRD ST PO BOX 55
ORION, IL 61273

2965 KEEFE CAMPBELL BIERY & ASSOC
TIMOTHY J O'GORMAN

118 N CLINTON ST SUITE 300

CHICAGQO, IL 60661
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) ‘:‘ Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
)SS. [ ] Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))
COUNTY OF McLean ) [ ] second Injury Fund (§8(¢)18)
None of the above

ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

ARBITRATION DECISION
SECTION 19 (B)
Bradley Wildermuth Case #13 WC 9536
Employee/Petitioner
v. Consolidated cases:
ABF Freight
Employer/Respondent

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Nofice of Hearing was mailed to each
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Douglas McCarthy, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city
of Bloomington, on June 30, 2015. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes
findings on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.

DISPUTED ISSUES

A. D Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Illinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act?

[ | Was there an employee-employer relationship?

D Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?
D What was the date of the accident?

|:| Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent? _

. {] Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?

D What were Petitioner's earnings?

D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

|:] What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?

D Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?
What temporary benefits are in dispute?
[ ]TPD Maintenance []TID
[I What is the nature and extent of the injury?
. |:| Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?
D Is Respondent due any credit?
Other Vocational Rehabilitation, Determination under Section 25.5

H-H,m_mrﬁ.m,wow

e

czzr

ICArbDec 2/10 100 W. Randolph Street #8-200 Chicago, IL 60601 312/814-6611 Toll-free 866/352-3033  Web site: www.iwce.il gov
Downstate offices: Collinsville 618/346-3450 Peoria 309/671-3019  Rockford 815/987-7292 Springfield 217/785-7084
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On 1/9/12, Respondent was operatmg under and subject to the provisions of the Act.

FINDINGS

On these dates, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.

On these dates, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.
Timely notice of these accidents was given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is causally related to these accidents.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $36,604.88; the average weekly wage was $703.94,
On the date of these accidents, Petitioner was 45 years of age, married with 2 dependent children.
Petitioner has received all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent has paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $42,001.46 for TTD, $0.00for TPD, $0.00 for maintenance, and $0.00
for other benefits, for a total credit of $42,001.46.

ORDER
The Arbitrator finds the Petitioner’s current condition of ill being is causaily related to his accident.

The Respondent has paid temporary total disability i in the proper amount and the proper time frame by the
evidence in this case.

Respondent is order to provide vocational rehabilitation benefits to the Petitioner, beginning with a vocational
assessment as described in Commission Rule 7110.10 (a).

Respondent is ordered to pay maintenance benefits in the amount of $469.29/week beginning May 15, 2015.

Petitioner has not committed fraud as described in Section 25.5 of the Act.

In no instance shall this award be a bar to subsequent hearing and determination of an additional amount of
medical benefits or compensation for a temporary or permanent disability, if any.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this

decision, and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the
decision of the Commission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Nofice
of Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however,
if an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

D2 N é%ﬂq‘,lf, 201§

Signature 8F Arbitrator /

NG 8 209



Brad Wildermuth v. ABF Freight Systems Inc.
07 WC 51489 ' ‘

The Arbitrator finds the following facts: 1 6 I w C C 0 3 8 9

Petitioner worked accident-free as a truck driver for respondent, ABF Freight Systems
Inc., for about 12 months prior to his January 9, 2012 accident. He testified his duties included
driving a semi, hooking up and unhooking trailers and loading/unloading freight.

Petitioner testified that he is right hand dominant, and he never had a hand or finger
injury prior to his employment with respondent. Petitioner said that on January 9, 2012 he was
loading a trailer when a two wheel hand truck struck his right index finger. There were no
witnesses, but he immediately contacted his supervisor, Scott.

Petitioner testified he saw Genesis Immediate care that day, had negative finger x-rays,
and was given a splint and Ibuprofen. The following day he saw Genesis Occupational Health
and was eventually referred to Dr. Connolly at Orthopedic and Rheumatology Associates, who
told him nothing could be done surgically to improve his finger pain. He was also referred to
Hammond Henry Physical Therapy. (Pet. Ex 1).

Petitioner testified that he was then referred by his family physician, Dr. Evan Kvelland,
to Dr. Tyson Cobb of Orthopedic Specialists, who on 6-11-12 performed a right index MP joint
arthroscopic synovectomy with debridement surgery. (Pet. Ex 3). He then saw Kewanee
Hospital Physical Therapy. (Pet. Ex 4).

On 2-28-13 Dr. Cobb recommended a fusion of the right index MP joint to resolve
intractable pain. (Pet. Ex 3). As noted in that record and in his testimony, petitioner
immediately objected to a fusion because of a preexisting anxiety disorder which would make
having his finger fixed in an extended position psychologically unbearable. He saw Dr.
Kvelland who referred him for treatment to Bridgeway where he saw a social worker and a
psychiatrist. (Pet. Ex 6).

Petitioner’s independent examining psychologist, Richard Hutchison, Ph.D., testified that
he diagnosed petitioner with:

... a panic disorder with agoraphobia. That means particularly he
can't stand to be enclosed in small spaces kind of a thing. And then
obsessive compulsive disorder. That relates to all of that counting
and having to have the shower curtain right and the drawers right
and wanting to straighten my pictures in my reception room, stuff
like that. And then major depressive disorder, recurrent, of
moderate degree. And that means that he has got a severe
depression that seems to recur and has been there for quite a while.
(Pet. Ex. 11, Hutchison Dep. 19:18-20:4).

Dr. Hutchison opined:

... based on his psychological state, the fusion and casting of his
finger would probably overwhelm him psychologically and lead to
a significant deterioration in his mental status. And so ... it's
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highty doubtful that in his current emotional state he would be able

to comply with having the fusion surgery. (Pet. Ex. 11, Hutchison

Dep. 22:20-23:1).

On 9-4-13 Dr. Cobb assessed petitioner as status post right index finger MP joint
arthroscopy and evaluation of ulnar and collateral ligaments with synovectomy with persistent
progressive symptoms and more significant dorsal swelling over the last month; stenosing
tenosynovitis with no catching, clicking or locking; and “severe anxiety, preventing
- immobilization or fusion.” He referred petitioner for an FCE. (Pet. Ex. 3). On 9-17-13,

petitioner demanded vocational rehabilitation with maintenance and filed a petition for same.
(Pet. Ex. 7).

On cross examination in his deposition, Dr. Cobb testified, “[petitioner’s] anxiety with
tmmobilization puts him at significant risk of having some kind of a bad outcome or
complication during the early postoperative period should he rip off his immobilization during an
anxiety attack in the middle of the night or something.” (Pet. Ex. 10, Cobb Dep. 33:6-22).

On 12-10-13 petitioner underwent an FCE at Kewanee Physical Therapy, which the
therapist deemed to have an invalid result. (Pet. Ex. 10 11:2-17, ex. 3 to the deposition).
Petitioner then underwent a 2-13-14 FCE at Rock Valley Physical Therapy with a valid result.
His permanent work restrictions were 20# lifting floor to waist, 20# lifting waist to shoulder, 204
carry with two hands thirty feet, 10# 1 hand carry thirty feet, and 60# pushing or pulling thirty
feet. (Pet. Ex. 10, ex. 2 to the deposition). Dr. Cobb concurred with those restrictions, per his 4~
1-14 letter and his 5-1-15 deposition (Pet. Ex. 10 11:2-17; ex. 5 to the deposition). Dr. Cobb said
the restrictions were appropriate because, “[ajnytime he loads the MP joint or makes a fist or

grasps with the fist, it's going to activate and load that joint and create pain.” (Pet. Ex. 10, Cobb -
Dep. 12:1-6).

Dr. Cobb said the Rock Valley Physical Therapy FCE was more appropriate for setting
permanent restrictions than the Kewanee Hospital Physical Therapy FCE, because he “tend[ed]
to ignore FCE’s when a patient’s failed a validity testing because it suggests that it’s not an
accurate assessment.” (Pet. Ex. 10, Cobb Dep. 12:21-13:1). So far as understanding why
petitioner may have had an invalid FCE the first time around, Dr. Cobb testified:

Well, if they're having significant pain, it's going to cause them to
self-limit. So, you know, I think it's -- in the setting where a
patient's having a lot of acute pain -- and, you know, I don't know
what was happening the day that he had his test, but we could
speculate that maybe his flexor sheath was inflamed and with more
of the trigger finger appearance that I saw at one time and that Dr.
Vender indicates. And if that were true, then, you know, after a
single attempt of trying to grip and having substantial, sharp pain,
one tends to self-limit and to simply -~ just self-preservation, if you
will.” (Pet. Ex. 10, Cobb Dep. 13:2-17).
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On Cross exammation, Dr. Cobb testified the Rock Valley Physical Therapy therapist
who conducted the second FCE, of 2-13-14, was Greg Monson, who the doctor said “is an
experienced therapist, and .. does a good job. ... I've seen a lot of his reports ....” (Pet. Ex. 10,
Cobb Dep. 29:24-30:1-8).

Dr. Michael Vender, respondent’s independent examining physician, said petitioner’s
51.7 percent validity finding on his first FCE indicated “lack of motivation in trying to determine
whether he could return to work.” (Resp. Dep. Dr. Vender 21:12-17). Dr. Vender testified:

... functional capacity evaluations are very misleading. It is not
uncommon for them to underestimate somebody's work
capabilities, which may have to do with patient motivation or just
the interpretation of the study or how the study was done. Also on
the opposite end it can overestimate somebody's work capabilities.
So they are -- they are just not very objective. Too much subjective
-- subjectivity to them. In this particular case it is not necessary
because we know what the functional deficits are. It is not
someone who had multiple injuries to the hand where things don't
move, the wrist is stiff, the fingers are stiff, maybe one finger is
missing. In those cases it sometimes could be hard to assess
exactly what the function loss is and how it is going to impact on
different activities. In this case we know what's wrong with the
hand. It's relatively straightforward. It doesn't take much more than
common sense to be able to figure out what you can and can't do.
(Resp. Dep. Dr. Vender 18:3-19:6).

On cross examination, Dr. Vender admitted portions of his physical examination of
petitioner were subjective like FCE’s, saying, “I'm actually giving him the benefit of the doubt
when I say it's unstable and tender. I'm giving him the benefit of the doubt that there is
something wrong. So while there is subjectivity to it, I am giving him the fact that I think it's
abnormal.” (Resp. Dep. Dr. Vender 32:13-24).

On cross examination, Dr. Cobb testified that with the use of a splint “there may be some
aspects of his functional abilities that would be enhanced with the splint, and at the same time,
some of them might be inhibited because the splint’s going to limit motion. (Pet. Ex. 10, Cobb
Dep. 21:11-17). He testified that if petitioner underwent the prescribed fusion, “I suspect we
could increase his function if we could get a stable fusion. If, on the other hand, we operated on
him and we wound up with a nonunion because he had some type of an anxiety-related event and
tore his immobilization off in the middle of the night shortly after surgery, then we could wind

up with a situation that's infinitely worse than what it currently is.” (Pet. Ex. 10, Cobb Dep.
14:13-25).

Dr. Vender opined that with a fusion, petitioner could return to his old job. (Resp. Dep.
Dr. Vender 13:17-21). Dr. Vender recommended a fusion for the MP joint because petitioner

“had a painful MP joint and that's one way of making it not painful.” (Resp. Dep. Dr. Vender
30:17-20).
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Petitioner testified he is currently unable to do his former job for respondent as a truck
driver because of all the tasks which require him to use his right hand to squeeze, lift, push and
pull, all of which would not only be beyond his restrictions, but would cause serious and chronic
pain. He listed things he could no longer do at home, such as play baseball or football with his
son. He stated on redirect that he could grasp a broom, but not tightly with his right hand.
Moreover, he admitted that he did try to carry on his activities at home as best he could with his
limitations. Yet, every time he used his right hand he paid for it with pain and swelling, being
kept up at night with the pain. He said he had trained his left hand to do ordinary things, like
brush his teeth, because such minimal movements hurt his right index finger.

Petitioner testified to the job search he had performed from May 15, 2015 through June
26, 2015, consisting of 27 employers and positions, both in the trucking industry and without.
(Pet. Ex. 8). Specifically, he applied for all of the jobs listed in respondent’s labor market
survey. He testified on cross examination he did not begin his application or interview process
by mentioning his restrictions, but as he was asked he told the prospective employer of his
restrictions. He failed to receive any offers of employment. In order to assist him in applying
for jobs and possibly locating an appropriate field for retraining, he applied for help with the
Ilinois Department of Human Services’ Division of Rehabilitation Services. (Pet. Ex. 9).

Petitioner testified that as of the time of hearing he was seeking vocational rehabilitation
provided by respondent to help him prepare for interviewing, to help him find job leads and to

help him identify possible marketable fields for which he could retrain. He said he was seeking
maintenance.

Dr. Vender opined petitioner could return to work full duty, with or without a splint.
(Resp. Dep. Dr. Vender 17:9-15; 38:20-39:1). However, Dr. Vender admitted on cross that
petitioner’s “condition was serious enough with symptoms that he needed [fusion] surgery, [as of
his] February 18th of '13 [IME] all the way up through [his] 3/18/14 [IME], yet it wasn't serious
enough that he needed any kind of work restrictions whatsoever.” (Resp. Dep. Dr. Vender
39:14-19).

Respondent’s rehabilitation consultant, Denice Vogrich, testified she was originally
retained by respondent as a medical case manager for petitioner’s case. She testified without
rebuttal that the Petitioner or his attorney refused her services in that capacity. Later, she was
asked by a representative of the employer to create a labor market survey based on the
information available in the 2014 IME report by Dr. Vender. On cross examination she admitted
that she did not review either of petitioner’s FCE’s or any other records or materials in
preparation of her labor market survey. She testified she included in the survey jobs which
petitioner could do if he were able to work full duty without restrictions with intermittent use of
a finger splint for more stabilization and comfort. She testified she did not provide vocational
rehabilitation services to petitioner because he would not work with her. However, on cross
examination, Ms. Vogrich admitted she had not offered vocational rehabilitation services to
petitioner, neither orally nor in writing. She said she did not know if petitioner’s job search as
listed in exhibit 8 was fabricated. However, she did testify on cross examination that petitioner
could benefit from her services if they were offered and he accepted them.



Brad Wildermuth v. ABF Freight Systems Inc.

wWesIs . 161WCCO389

Respondent offered surveillance video of petitioner which showed him sweeping snow
off a roof with a broom and pushing snow through a gutter with the broom handle. Further,
petitioner was shown carrying items with both hands and putting them in a vehicle. Also, he
was shown wrapping wire with his left hand around his right while on the roof. Finally,
petitioner was shown spraying a car with a pressure washer wand. For most of the video, he used
his left hand to operate the handle. Briefly, when spraying inside the driver’s door, he used his
right hand.

Therefore, the Arbitrator concludes respondent disputes the following issues and finds as
follows:

The Respondent raised the issue of causation but did not really put into evidence anything in
support of its claim. As is stated below in the discussion concerning fraud, the Petitioner treated
on a regular basis with consistent findings concerning his right hand until having his second FCE
on February 13, 2014. Even Dr. Vender, the Respondent’s IME physician, testified that the
accident injured the Petitioner’s right second metacarpal joint necessitating the surgery by Dr.
Cobb. He further opined that the injury and surgery “... helped lead to the development of the
arthritis.” (RX 2 at 41) A fusion, said Dr. Vender, was a medically reasonable freatment option.
(Id at 30) The Petitioner has not had a fusion due to his psychological condition referenced

above, and he is currently left with the symptoms he describes. The accident is causally related to
his condition ofill being.

Dr. Cobb basically released the Petitioner at MMI on September 4, 2013, when he recommended
an FCE to establish permanent limitations. The initial FCE of December 10, 2013 was deemed
tnvalid. The second valid test came in February, as mentioned above. The Respondent paid TTD
benefits from the accident date through December 9, 2013, and the Arbitrator believes that is a
fair date for ending those benefits. It does not appear from the evidence that the Petitioner has
received any treatment for his right hand since that time.

Section 8(a) of the Act provides that an "employer shall * * * pay for treatment, instruction and
training necessary for the physical, mental and vocational rehabilitation of the employee,
including all maintenance costs and expenses incidental thereto." 820 ILCS 305/8(a) (West
2010). A claimant is generally entitled to vocational rehabilitation when he sustains a work-
related injury which causes a reduction in earning power and there is evidence rehabilitation will
increase his earning capacity. National Tea Co. v. Industrial Comm'n, 97 111.2d 424, 432, 454
N.E.2d 672, 676 (1983). Pursuant to 50 Ili. Admin. Code Section 7110.10(a), either party may
request a vocational assessment when it appears a return to regular work will not occur or when
the Petitioner is off work for at least 120 days. The first question then is has the Petitioner
sustained a reduction in earning power?

His job as a truck driver/ loader was described in his initial FCE as being very heavy work. (RX
9) The second FCE, deemed valid by the examiner and adopted by Dr. Cobb, placed him
essentially at a light duty level. (PX 10, Dep. X 2)

Dr. Cobb testified that he discussed the aspects of the Petitioner’s job with him and did not feel
he could perform all aspects of the job. He said, “I think he’s a lot more likely to be able to drive
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than he is to be able to drive and do some significant loadmg * (PX 10 at 24) He said that if the
Petitioner is asked to lift too much, it could load the MCP joint and cause pain. (Id at 12)

Dr. Vender initially testified that the petitioner could not return to his normal activities, but then
said it’s very possible that he could return if he wore a splint. (RX 2 at 13) He never really gave a
straight yes or no answer to the question. Later on he said “...So the main problem with his hand
is that he doesn’t have the same function with the index finger. So that would limit his lifting
somewhat with that hand. It would be limited less if he was able to use a protective splint. So he
would have some limitations without a splint. He would have less limitations with the splint.
Brings it much closer to normal.” (Id at 16) The Arbitrator has trouble reconciling that answer
with Dr. Vender’s later statements concerning the lack of need for an FCE in this case. He said

that it didn’t take much more than common sense to be able to figure out what the Petitioner can
and cannot do. (Id at 19)

Moreover, petitioner offers the unrebutted opinion of psychologist, Dr. Hutchison, that petitioner
suffers from a panic disorder with agoraphobia, such that having a fusion of the affected finger
would not be indicated psychologically. Petitioner’s treating physician, Dr. Cobb, testified that
because the fusion of the finger is not psychologically indicated it is not medically indicated.
That being the case, there is nothing further that can be offered to petitioner to reduce his pain
and increase his function. As to function, Dr. Cobb persuasively opined that the Rock Valley

Physical Therapy FCE, with valid findings, approprlately indicates petitioner’s permanent work
restrictions.

Petitioner testified that these restrictions made it impossible for him to return to his old position
with respondent as a truck driver. Ms. Vogerich, on the other hand, testified that the Petitioner
could return to truck driving, producing a labor market survey showing many available trucking
jobs. However, she based her survey on the assumption that the Petitioner had no work
restrictions, and the Arbitrator does not feel that is indicated by the evidence. The Petitioner had
a heavy job. He has an injury which affects his ability to lift, and the testimony of both doctors

allows the Arbitrator to reasonably infer that some restrictions are needed, along with a modified
job.

Petitioner further testified that he conducted a substantial job search applying for the jobs listed
on Ms. Vogerich’s survey. He began his search on May 15, 20135, applying for 27 jobs in five
weeks, without being hired. The search, admitted as Pet. Ex. 8, shows that in many of the jobs in
trucking, the Petitioner was rejected because of his restrictions. He testified that he told the
prospective employers about his restrictions from Dr. Cobb. Other jobs sought, such as a café
clerk, sales associate and the like do not contain any information concerning the employer’s
response. Ms. Vogerich testified that the Petitioner could perform “no touch” driving jobs, which
would not involve any lifting, The Petitioner testified that he did not think such jobs existed. In
addition, petitioner has applied for vocational services with the Division of Rehabilitation

Services seeking training in conducting a job search, interviewing and exploring fields for
retraining,



Brad Wildermuth v. ABF Freight Systems Inc.

UTWOSME) IBIWCCOBBQ

At this pomt the Arbitrator feels the case is ripe for a vocational assessment, and orders the
Respondent to provide one. They should use Dr. Cobb’s restrictions as a starting point, and if
“no touch” jobs and others are available, they should be pursued.

With respect to maintenance benefits, the Arbitrator orders the Respondent to pay benefits from
May 15, 2015, when he began to look for work, forward, so long as indicated by law. While the
Petitioner’s attorney did demand voc back in October 2013, he took no other steps to find work
until May of this year. With no active treatment since Dr. Cobb’s last visit at that time, and with
no evidence of an attempt to find work after that FCE was obtained in early 2014, the
Petitioner’s request for back maintenance benefits is denied.

Respondent is also requesting the Arbitrator to make a fraud determination against the Petitioner
pursuant to Section 25.5 of the Act. Essentially the Respondent claims that the numerous
surveillance videos admitted into evidence prove that the Petitioner is capable of much more
hand function than he reported to his various physicians and therapists and, as such, his claim for
vocational rehabilitation and maintenance amounts to an intentional fraudulent claim for benefits
under the Act. For reasons stated herein, the Arbitrator does not agree and denies the
Respondent’s request.

First of all, the medical records and testimony clearly provide objective proof of the Petitioner’s
injury. Following the accident, the Petitioner was seen on eight occasions at Genesis
Occupational Health. He was found to have consistent examination findings of pain and swelling
over the second MP joint of the right hand, laxity of the joint (see 1-20-2012) and an induration
from the joint to the proximal phalanx of the index finger. The final diagnosis was a right second
MCEP joint dislocation and chronic arthritis. (PX 1) Dr. Cobb, a board certified orthopedic
surgeon specializing in hand treatment, noted the same type of consistent findings over the
course of the next three years. He observed swelling over the joint both before and after his
surgery of June 11, 2012. Dr. Garst, an orthopedic surgeon who examined the Petitioner for a
second opinion in May of 2013, noted chronic swelling and limited motion in and about the MP
joint. He diagnosed chronic soft tissue inflammation and post traumatic arthritis. (PX 3) Dr.
Vender, a board certified orthopedist who also specializes in hand treatment, saw the Petitioner
on two occasions at the Respondent’s request. On February 14, 2013, he noted visible swelling
of the joint, palpable tenderness of the dorsal and palmar aspects, a substantial decrease in
normal joint flexion and a mild decrease in extension and mild instability, (RX 2 at 11) A year
later on March 17, 2014, he saw swelling of the joint and a mild amount of decreased flexion. (Id
at 24) On both visits, he recommended the Petitioner undergo a joint fusion.

Nothing in the extensive surveillance videos refutes the objective findings noted above. For
example, the Petitioner was shown on March 6, 2014 using a broom to clean snow off a roof and
also try and dislodge ice from a gutter. While he was holding the broom with either hand, the
video did not focus on his right hand to the extent needed to determine whether his MP joint was
swollen or whether he was flexing or extending it in excess of the findings made by his
physicians. None of the other scenes depicted the finger to the extent needed for the Arbitrator to
draw any conclusions. The Arbitrator is mindful of Dr. Cobb and Dr. Vender’s testimony
concerning the Petitioner’s functional limitations. Both doctors said that he could use his hand
but that his use would be less than what he was able to do prior to his injury. Dr. Cobb opined
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that the Petitioner could lift with the right hand but probably would put the object more across
his palm than in his fingers with them being drawn into a fist, (PX 10 at 26) Dr. Vender said that
the function of the index finger is reduced. It limits the Petitioner’s ability to lift, but does not
eliminate that ability. (RX 2 at 16, 17)

The videos simply do not demonstrate the Petitioner doing any sustained gripping and lifting
with the hand while putting the right index finger into positions which the doctors said he could
not do. Neither do they indicate that the Petitioner is able to exceed the limitations set forth in the
FCE of February 13, 2014, which Dr. Cobb adopted as his recommended restrictions. They do
not show the Petitioner carrying objects over ten pounds a distance of over thirty feet. They also
do not show him lifting over twenty pounds with either or both hands to shoulder level.

As stated above, the evidence supports the Petitioner’s claim for vocational help and
maintenance. His request for those benefits is clearly not fraudulent.
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) Affirm and adopt (no changes)

) SS. I:I Affirm with changes
COUNTY OF McLEAN ) [ ] Reverse

[ ] Modify

|:| Injured Workers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
I:] Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(g))

[ 1 Second Injury Fund (§8(c)18)

[ ] PTD/Fatal denied

None of the above

BEFORE THE ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Kevin McBee,
Petitioner,
Vs. NO: 13WC 20755

16IWCC0390

DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Bridgestone Americas,
Respondent,

Timely Petition for Review under §19(b) having been filed by the Petitioner herein and
notice given to all parties, the Commission, after considering the issues of causal connection,
incurred medical, prospective medical, temporary total disability, permanent partial disability,
evidentiary ruling regarding Petrillo, and being advised of the facts and law, affirms and adopts
the Decision of the Arbitrator, which is attached hereto and made a part hereof.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Decision of the
Arbitrator filed June 4, 2015, is hereby affirmed and adopted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Respondent pay to
Petitioner interest under §19(n) of the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Respondent shall have
credit for all amounts paid, if any, to or on behalf of the Petitioner on account of said accidental
injury.

Bond for removal of this cause to the Circuit Court by Respondent is hereby fixed at the
sum of $100.00. The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court shall file
with the Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Review in Circuit Court.

JUN 1 4 2016 ’

DATED:
0060716
CJD/jrc
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féw%« W Lt

Ruth W. White
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' " ILLINOIS WORKE, RS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
9(b)/8(a) ARBITRATOR DECISION

KEVIN McBEE
Employee/Petitioner Case# 13WC020755

BRIDGESTONE 16IWCCO0390

Employer/Respondent
'i

On 6/4/2015, an arbitration decision on this case was filed with the Tliinots Workers Compensation Commission in
Chicago, a copy of which is enclosed.

If the Commission reviews this award, interest of 0.07% shall accrue from the date listed above to the day before the

date of payment; however, if an employee’s appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall
not accrue.

A copy of this decision is mailed to the following parties:

1580 BECKER SCHROADER & CHAPMAN
TODD J SCHROADER

3673 HWY 111 PO BOX 488

GRANITE CITY, IL 62040

0481 MACIOROWSKI SACKMANN & ULRICH
JEREMY SACKMAN

10 8 RIVERSIDE PLZ SUITE 2290

CHICAGO, IL 60608
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STATE OF ILLINOIS' )
)SS.
COUNTY OF McLean )

I:I Injured Werkers’ Benefit Fund (§4(d))
[ ] Rate Adjustment Fund (§8(z))

[ ] Second Injury Fund (§8(e)18)

None of the above

ILLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION

ARBITRATION DECISION
19(b)/8(A)

Kevin McBee Case # 13 WC 20755

Employee/Petitioner

; . 1 6 I sv C C 0 3 9 OConsolidated cases: ____

Employer/Respondent

An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each
party. The matter was heard by the Honorable Arbitrator Gregory Dollison, Arbitrator of the Commission, in
the city of Peoria, Illinois , on March 17, 2015. After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator
hereby makes findings on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document.
DISPUTED ISSUES

A. Was Respondent operating under and subject to the Ilinois Workers' Compensation or Occupational
Diseases Act?

D Was there an employee-employer relationship?

X Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by Respondent?
. |___] What was the date of the accident?

D Was timely notice of the accident given to Respondent?

X Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?

. D What were Petitioner's earnings?

. D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the accident?

D What was Petitioner's marital status at the time of the accident?

X Were the medical services that were provided to Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services?
. X s Petitioner entitled to any prospective medical care?

= mQmE YU Oow

NS

D What temporary benefits are in dispute?
[1TPD - [ ] Maintenance [ ]TTD

M. D Should penalties or fees be imposed upon Respondent?
N. |:| Is Respondent due any credit?

0. X Other Evidentiary Rulings

{CArbDecl9(b) 2/10 100 W. Randolph Street #8-200 Chicago, IL 60601 312/814-6611  Toll-free 866/352-3033  Web site: wwiv.iwee.il.gov
Downstate offices: Collinsville 618/346-3450  Peoria 309/671-3019  Rockford 813/987-7292  Springfield 217/783-7084
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On the date of accident, September 15, 2010, Respondent was operatmg under and subject to the provisions of
the Act.

On this-date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between Petitioner and Respondent.

On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose out of and in the course of employment.

Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.

Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is not causally related to the accident.

In the year preceding the injury, Petitioner earned $54,357.68; the average weekly wage was $1,045.34.

On the date of accident, Petitioner was years of age, married with 0 dependent children.

Respondent has paid all reasonable and necessary charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $N/A for TTD, $N/A for TPD, $N/A for maintenance, and $N/A for other
benefits, for a total credit of $N/A.

Pursuant to stipulation, Respondent is entitled to a credlt under Section 8()) of the Act for any medical paid by
the group carrier.

ORDER

Having found that Petitioner’s present right knee condition of ill-being is not causally related to the accident
sustained, Petitioner’s present 19(b)/8(a) Petitioner is hereby denied.

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this decision,

and perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the decision of
the Commission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Commission reviews this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Notice of
Decision of Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below to the day before the date of payment; however, if
an employee's appeal results in either no change or a decrease in this award, interest shall not accrue.

& / |
, ) o
\.._“ K / L " o G F. \J /5
.\‘(‘; . ; y A ;}
Slgnatur?! of Arbitrator / ' Daté

ICArbDec1%(b)



Attachment to Arbitrator Decision
(13 WC 20755)

STATEMENT OF FACTS: 1 6 IiW CC O 3 9 0

Petitioner testified that he was employed by Bridgestone as a press operator. He had been so employed
for 28 years. Petitioner testified that on September 15, 2010, he had prepped a press. While doing so, a plate
stuck to a tire. Petitioner stated that he used his right leg to break the tire free from the plate by stepping down
on the plate. Petitioner provided that as a result of this action, felt a pop in his right knee. Petitioner stated that
he would have to free plates from the tires frequently and would do so by stepping down on the plate.

Petitioner testified that he immediately reported the occurrence to his supervisor and prepared an
accident report. Thereafter, he was referred to Dr. Lawrence Nord, the Company doctor. Dr, Nord’s office
records show he began treating Petitioner on September 21, 2010, Dr. Nord recorded a history that Petitioner
presented with an “[i]nsidious onset of right knee discomfort while working at Bridgestone/Firestone. Patient
states he felt a pop and sharp pain afier pushing down on a piece of equipment at Bridgestone/Firestone.” Dr.
Nord diagnosed Petitioner with right knee internal derangement syndrome and ordered a MRI. (PX 1)

Petitioner underwent the prescribed MRI on September 22, 2010. The impression was as follows: tri-
compartmental chondromalacia; large patellofemoral joint effusion with suprapatellar and medial synovial
plica; deep quadriceps tendinopthy; deep infrapatellar bursitis; an acute subacute partial tear of the anterior
cruciate ligament at the femoral insertion site; and attenuation in size of the body and posterior horn of the
medial meniscus suggestive of a previous partial medial meniscectormy ([t was noted that if there was no
history of this, the findings would represent a complete tear). (PX 1)

Petitioner returned to Dr. Nord on September 28, 2010. The doctor diagnosed Petitioner with right knee
tricompartmental chondromalacia, acute subacute partial tear of the anterior cruciate ligament, attenuation in
size of the body and posterior horn of the medial meniscus suggestive of a previous partial medial
meniscectormy. Dr. Nord injected the right knee with Xylocaine and Kenalog. He recommended weight loss,
home exercises and physical therapy. Although Petitioner was released to return to work with no restrictions,
Dr. Nord recommended that Petitioner avoid activities that aggravate his discomfort. (PX 1)

On October 26, 2010, Dr. Nord noted Petitioner reported low-grade discomfort in the right knee.
Petitioner indicated some improvement following the injection. Dr, Nord indicated that if Petitioner’s symptoms
persisted, surgical intervention might be necessary. In a follow-up visit on November 23, 2010, Dr. Nord
recorded that Petitioner’s low-grade discomfort seemed to be aggravated by activity level and doing his work.
Dr. Nord again injected the right knee with Xylocaine and Kenalog and again indicated that if symptoms
persisted, Petitioner may require surgical intervention. {(PX 1)

On December 23, 2010, Petitioner was again seen by Dr. Nord. In addition to the previously noted
history, Dr. Nord recorded that Petitioner also had arthritis in the right knee. Dr. Nord noted that Petitioner’s
symptoms persisted despite conservative care. The doctor indicated Petitioner still had low-grade discomfort in
the right knee, which seemed to be aggravated by activity level and doing his work. Dr. Nord administered a
third injection and again indicated that surgical intervention may be necessary. Petitioner was continued on full
duty work. (PX 1) By January 27, 2011, Dr. Nord noted that Petitioner’s prognosis was improving and that
there was no need for surgical intervention at that time. The doctor recommended a Knee orthotic and returmed
Petitioner to full duty work. On March 10, 2011, Dr. Nord recorded that Petitioner still had low-grade arthritis
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discomfort in the knee. Petitioner requested an additional injection in the knee which the doctor administered
utilizing Xylocaine and Kenalog. (PX 1)

Petitioner continued treating with Dr. Nord. On August 16, 2011, Dr. Nord administered an injection of
Lidocaine and Aristospan in his right knee. On November 8, 2011, Dr. Nord noted Petitioner wanted to consider
surgical intervention at that time. Dr. Nord wrote that Petitioner was going to contact Respondent to see if he
could get off work for surgical intervention of his right knee. On February 14, 2012, Dr. Nord again
administered an injection of Lidocaine and Axistocort and put on Meloxicam. At that time, Dr. Nord indicated
Petitioner would eventually need knee replacement surgery. (PX 1)

Petitioner returned to Dr. Nord on May 15, 2012. Dr. Nord recorded that Petitioner’s right knee pain was
at 5/20 and intermittent in nature. Petitioner also provided that his knee was unstable and giving away.
Diagnosis was right knee degenerative joint disease. Petitioner received an injection in his right knee and was
to return in three months. Petitioner returned on September 11, 2012 wherein he had another right knee steroid
injection and had a diagnosis of right knee moderate to severe degenerative joint disease. The doctor also
reported that Petitioner would eventually need a total knee replacement. (PX 1)

On January 31, 2013, Dr. Nord recorded in his notes that Petitioner presented for a consultation at the
request of Sheryl at Bridgestone/Firestone. Dr. Nord noted “the symptoms have been present for two years. The
symptoms are the result of or related to a(n) direct trauma... The symptoms are severe. The pain is described as
constant catching, grinding, locking and popping...The symptoms is/are exacerbated by climbing stairs/ladders
and weight bearing. This is a continued workers’ compensation claim with BSFS (Bridgestone/Firestone). The
accident occurred in 2010. It was reported to a murse immediately.” Record submitted show “Services
Performed: 99214 Est. Pt.: comp. mod.” Dr. Nord diagnosis was right knee moderate to severe DJD. His
recommendation was a right knee total knee replacement to be set up in the near future. (PX 1)

On January 31, 2013, Dr. Nord also drafted correspondence to Sheryl Donahue at Bridgestone/Firestone,
Dr. Nord wrote, “Kevin McBee,...has been under my care and treatment for arthritis discomfort in his right
knee. The patient previously had undergone right knee arthroscopic debridement by Dr. Novotny in 2005. This
patient has underlying osteoarthritis, which is not work related. However, the extent of his knee arthritis has
progressed to the point now when he probably needs to undergo right total knee replacement. There is no causal
connection of the patient’s bilateral knee arthritis regarding his work at Bridgestone/Firestone.” (RX 3)

Petitioner testified that after he was advised he needed a total knee replacement, the claim was denied as
being work-related. Subsequent thereto he sought treatment with Dr. Mark Hansen. Petitioner first presented to
Dr. Hanson on September 4, 2013, A “Patient Information Record” prepared by Petitioner show he indicated
that his job as a “press operator” contributed to his pain. On an “Insurance Information™ form also completed by
Petitioner, indicate that his injury was not work related. Dr. Hansen records show Petitionet’s chief complaint
of “knee problem.” Records show Dr. Hanson noted Petitioner had complained of pain at the anterior and
medial portion of the right knee. Dr. Hanson noted a long history of increasing pain with time. The timing was
chronic and the context could not be identified. Also noted was that the matter was work related. Dr. Hanson
reviewed x-rays taken which he indicated revealed severe osteoarthritis right knee with varus pattern and bone
on bone medially. After performing an examination, Dr. Hanson diagnosed severe right knee osteoarthritis and
recommended a total knee replacement which was ordered on September 19, 2013. Dr. Hanson’s
recommendation was approved by Petitioner’s group health carrier, Blue Cross BlueShield of Tennessee. The
surgery was scheduled for October 28, 2013. However, during preoperatiVe screening, it was determined

Petitioner was pre-diabetic. Also, Petitioner reported developmg seizures. As a result, the scheduled total knee
replacement was cancelled. (PX 2)



Petitioner returned to Dr. Hanson on February 11, 2014. Dr. Hanson continued to assess severe right knee
osteoarthritis. Dr. Hanson commented that 33 years of working has accelerated and aggravated this arthritis and
his need for total knee replacement. Dr. Hansen recommendation for a total knee replacement continued. (PX 2)

Petitioner testified that currently he has pain radiating down his right leg. He experiences swelling in the
right knee and extended sitting causes soreness and stiffness. He provided that standing helps with same.

Petitioner testified that his employment with Respondent ended on May 30, 2013 when he developed a
seizure condition. Petitioner testified that since May of 2013 he has been working at a Sam’s Club gas station.
He testified that he works 30 hours a week and stands for that period of time. Petitioner also testified that he
did not undergo the surgery while working for Respondent because his wife was laid-off and he needed to
continue working to make ends meet. Petitioner wished to proceed with the total knee replacement.

Petitioner’s testimony and the records submitted show Petitioner underwent an arthroscopy years ago
performed by Dr. Joseph A. Novotny. Petitioner testified that he returned to work post-surgery in 2004-2005.
Petitioner stated that from the time he returned through the date of occurrence, he was “doing ok.” He indicated
he had no problems performing his duties indicating he was able to “run a room full of different presses.”
Petitioner testified that he did not miss any time from work and performed his duties through September of
2010. Petitioner could not recall if he treated for the right knee after November of 2005. He could not recall if
he had continued symptoms after November of 2005 through September of 2010.

Records submitted show Dr. Novotny performed a diagnostic right knee arhthroscopy followed by partial
medial menisectomy; chondroplasty of medial tibial plateau, lateral femoral condyle and tochlear groove. The
operative report for the right leg surgery performed on December 17, 2001 show a defect was noted in the
trochlear groove with unstable cartilage which was debrided. A meniscus tear was identified and repaired. The
report also indicated Grade I'V chondromalacia in the medial tibial plateau. That was debrided. A large full
thickness defect in the lateral femoral condyle was also debrided. The post-operative diagnosis was Grade IV
chondromalacia defect of the lateral femoral condyle and the trochlear groove and medial tibial platean. A
degenerative tear of the posterior homn of the medial meniscus was also noted. (RX 9A)

Post-operatively, Petitioner continued to treat with Dr. Novotny. Records show Petitioner was seen on
July 25, 2002, Dr. Novotny noted Petitioner had an arthroscopy-performed seven months earlier and was found
to have significant chondromalacia, and Grade IV defects both medially and laterally. The doctor noted
Petitioner had recurring right knee pain. He told the doctor that it hurt worse with stair climbing and bicycle
riding. He had pain mainly in the medial joint line. At the end of the day he had pain and discomfort with
prolonged activities. He advised Dr. Novotny that he was taking glucosamine and wearing knee sleeve which
provided some relief of his symptoms. The diagnosis was symptomatic knee arthritis with occasional

mechanical symptoms. The doctor indicated that if his symptoms worsened he may require interarticular
steroid injection. (RX 13)

Dr. Novotny’s records reflect that Petitioner was seen on October 21, 2002. Dr. Novotny diagnosed
diffuse degenerative changes with chondral defects. At that time, Petitioner complained of recurrent pain in the
right knee. He had done well for several months. He was concerned about carrying heavy loads and carrying
his son. He had sudden sharp pain with give-way sensation in the right knee. Crepitation was noted on range of
motion as well as medial joint line pain. X-rays revealed significant medial joint space narrowing with
subchondral tibial sclerosis and peripheral osteophytes in the patellofemoral joint. The diagnosis was
symptomatic degenerative joint disease of the right knee. Dr. Novotny noted that apparently, Petitioner had
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received intraarticular steroid injections from his primary care physician. Petitioner was given an additional
steroid injection that day by Dr. Novotny. (RX 13)

On November 19, 2002, Dr. Novotny authored a causal relationship opinion regarding the genesis of
Petitioner’s right knee condition. Dr. Novotny wrote, “He sustained this injury at work, Kevin’s job required
him to jump several times a day sustaining an axial load injury to his right knee. This repetitive microtrauma

ultimately led to the development of a symptomatic meniscus tear as well as symptomatic degenerative changes
related to full thickness cartilage defects in the knee. (RX 10)

On February 6, 2003, Dr. Novotny recorded that Petitioner complained of recurring right knee pain. He
continued to have episodic discomfort and he wanted to know if there was anything further which could be
done. -Dr. Novotny advised about Supartz injections and Petitioner decided he wanted the same. (RX 13)

On April 8, 2004, Dr. Novotny administered a Supartz injection. X-rays were also obtained that day
which revealed a fair amount of patellofemoral degenerative changes with superior and inferior osteophyte
formations. Dr. Novotny recorded that he thought it was most likely medial knee arthritis. He recommended
Supartz injections to see if long term significant relief was attainable. He indicated that if same failed, then
“Otherwise treatment may consist of a unicompartmental possible total knee arthroplasty.” (RX 13) In the

present claim, Petitioner testified that he could not recall whether or not Dr. Novotny had advised him in 2004
that he may need a knee replacement.

Petitioner continued to treat with Dr. Novotny through May of 2004. Dr. Novotny’s records reflect
Petitioner received three Supartz injections for a total of five Supartz injections. Prior to his last injection on
May 26, 2004, Petitioner reported symptomatic improvement. (RX 13)

Petitioner filed and pursued a claim against Respondent for the right knee injury of 2001. The
. Commission found Petitioner did not sustain the claimed right knee injury at work, rather, he sustained the right
knee injury at an amusement park (07 IWCC 484). (RX 6)

Petitioner was questioned regarding testimony he provided in that case which was held on November 11,
2005. He testified that he could not recall any of his testimony. A review of the testimony show that Petitioner
testified, at that time, that he noticed “a lot of popping, pain on the side of the [right] knee, grinding.” He stated
that “If I'm sitting down for a long period of time, it falls asleep.” Petitioner also provided that his right knee

pain was worse that his left knee. (In addition to the right knee filing, Petitioner filed a claim for his left knee
which was found compensable) (RX 4, pgs. 30-31)

Dr. Nord testified via deposition in this matter on December 8, 2014. Dr. Nord testified that when he saw
Petitioner on September 21, 2010, Petitioner complained of insidious onset of right knee discomfort. The doctor
stated Petitioner was not sure exactly what bought the pain on, but he felt a pop and sharp pain after pushing
down on a piece of equipment at Bridgestone. Dr. Nord testified that Petitioner did not mention anything about
direct trauma to the right knee. Petitioner also provided a history that he had previously undergone right knee
surgery performed by Dr. Novotny in 2006. Dr. Nord took x-rays of the right knee which he felt revealed
medial joint compartment narrowing caused by osteoarthritis. Dr, Nord stated that arthritis was not related to
the September 15, 2010 claimed injury. The doctor indicated same “would have preceded his complaint of
discomfort following his incident at Bridgestone.” Dr. Nord testified that he diagnosed Petitioner with internal
derangement with underlying arthritis. The doctor also provided that after performing an examination, he did

not feel there was any clinical evidence of an acute ACL tear. Instead he felt Petitioner’s examination and
symptoms demonstrated a chronic tear. (RX 12, pgs 8-11) (RX 12, pg. 13)
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Dr. Nord ordered a MRI of the right knee. The doctor provided that the findings showed severe
chondromalacia of the medial compartment which he felt was consistent with moderate to severe degenerative
changes, indicating arthritis in the knee. The MRI further demonstrated an acute to subacute partial tear in the
medial meniscus consistent with a previous medial meniscectomy. Dr. Nord testified that the chondromalacia
noted could not have resulted from the claimed injury because the extent of the arthritis could not have
developed in one week. He opined that the partial tear of the ACL noted on the MRI was not causally connected
to the claimed injury due to the examination and the symptoms. Dr. Nord testified that none of the findings on
the MRI were causally connected to the claimed injury as they were all chronic and pre-dated the injury. Dr.
Nord thought the injury that Petitioner complained of may have aggravated some underlying arthritis in the

knee and caused some swelling and discomfort in the knee but it didn’t seem to be causing any of the findings
on the MRI. (R¥X 12, pgs. 14-16)

Dr. Nord testified regarding Petitioner’s return visits. By October 26, 2010, Dr. Nord felt Petitioner’s
discomfort was caused by arthritis. Dr. Nord testified Petitioner had a temporary aggravation of the arthritis in
his knee. The doctor provided Petitioner at that time did not want to treat the underlying cause of his knee pain,
which was arthritis. Treatment for same would require surgery. However, Petitioner wanted intermittent
medical management. As such, steroid injections were administered. (RX 12 pgs. 19-20)

By January 27, 2011, Dr. Nord had administered three (3) injections. Dr. Nord testified that by that time

any temporary aggravation had resolved. At this point, Dr. Nord reported he was treating Petitioner solely for
his chronic knee arthritis. (RX 15, pgs 22-25)

Dr. Nord testified that when he saw Petitioner on March 10, 2011, Petitioner still complained of low grade
arthritis discomfort and requested a steroid injection which the doctor administered. Dr. Nord testified that the
temporary aggravation of Petitioner’s knee pain from the injury subsided within the first six to twelve weeks
after the incident and from that point forward, Petitioner was being treated for chronic arthritis. (RX 15, pg. 26)

Dr. Nord testified that he continued to treat Petitioner chronic arthritis. Dr. Nord testified that on
November 8, 2011, Petitioner complained of occasional give-way in the knee. Dr. Nord stated same suggested
the nature of the arthritis was becoming worse. Dr. Nord testified Petitioner’s prognosis was poor and he would
need a total knee replacement for relief. He indicated that the type of arthritis Petitioner has is one that
continues to worsen due to the bone on bone rubbing. (RX 12, pgs. 27-30)

On February 14, 2012, the diagnosis was moderate to severe arthritis. The doctor provided that he
underlying severe arthritis continued to worsen and ultimately would require a total knee replacement. (Resp.
Ex. No. 12, p. 31-36). On September 11, 2012, Petitioner had moderate to severe degenerative joint disease. Dr.

Nord provided that his condition was chronic and had become worse since he first saw Petitioner. (RX 12, pgs.
31-36)

Dr. Nord testified that he saw Petitioner on January 31, 2013. The doctor provided that the nurse at
Bridgestone requested Dr. Nord’s opinion whether the treatment he continued to provide to Petitioner was
causally related to the work injury. (At this point, Petitioner’s attorney raised a Petrillo objection which the
Arbitrator will address below.} Dr. Nord testified that he prepared a letter (See RX 3) in response to that
request. Dr. Nord indicated that the ongoing treatment was for underlying osteoarthritis and was not work-
related. He felt Petitioner would need a right total knee replacement. Dr. Nord indicated that there was no
causal connection between the bilateral knee arthritis and the Petitioner’s job. (RX 12, pg. 37-41)
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Dr. Nord was shown the entry in his records for January 31, 2013. He testified that on that date he did not
perform the initial evaluation. He testified that the history was taken by a trainer. The history indicated that
Petitioner’s symptoms were related to a direct trauma. Dr. Nord testified that he was unaware of any direct
trauma. The entry indicated that this was a continuing workers’ compensation claim. Dr. Nord testified that
that was not his opinion and he did not write that. Dr. Nord testified that he thought the workers’ compensation
aspects of the claim ended approximately three months after Petitioner was first seen. He stated that “from that
point forward, it was just strictly for chronic arthritis in the knee. (RX 12, pgs. 41-43) Petitioner’s diagnosis
was moderate to severe degenerative joint disease which Dr. Nord testified was not causally related to the
claimed injury. (RX 12, pg. 45) Dr. Nord testified that he advised Petitioner that he could consider a right total

knee replacement. The doctor however indicated the surgery would not be causally connected to the claimed
work injury. (RX 12, pg. 46)

On cross-examination, Dr. Nord testified that he signed off on the office note of January 31, 2013 and
there was no indication that any other individual co-wrote the report. Dr. Nord agreed the office note says
direct trauma. The doctor clarified the remark stating, “What I was kind of referring to as insidious onset, like it
was a temporary aggravation. I think he probably could have — with the arthritis he had in the knee, he probably
could have stepped on anything and if he pushed hard enough, could have had some pain or felt some pop in the
knee because the knee was arthritic at that time. ..it’s just another incident in his life that he probably aggravated
some arthritis in his knee and that just happened to be out at Bridgestone on that date.” (RX 12, pgs. 49-51) Dr.
Nord stated that based on Petitioner’s history of knee problems since 2005, he felt the work resulted in a

temporary aggravation and not an aggravation that continued throughout. He felt the temporary aggravation
ended in December 2010. (RX 12, pgs. 52-53)

Dr. Nord testified that when he initially offered surgery, he did not feel same was work related. He felt it
was due to the chronic arthritis in the knee. (RX 12, pg. 61) Dr. Nord testified that he stated he did not know
what damage was caused by the September 15, 2010 accident but when looking at the chronic changes on the
MRI which predate the injury, whatever happened on that day could have aggravated any one of these
conditions in here and caused temporary pain from it. (RX 12, pg. 65)

Dr. Nord testified that there are several companies that refer patients to him. Dr. Nord provided that the
companies want him to send an employment status report right after they leave the office so they know what he
has diagnosed, what restrictions he has placed on the employee and what treatment was recommended. Dr.
Nord stated Respondent is one of those companies he gets referrals from. The doctor provided that he does not
have a contractural agreement with any of them, nor does he receive any money from the directly. Respondent
has been referring employees since 1980. (RX 12 pgs. 75-76)

Dr. Nord was questioned regarding the conflicts between his letter of January 31, 2013 and his office
note. The doctor testified, “I think it seems consistent that what the trainer put down,...said the patient
presented with knee pain. It says the patient presents today for consultation through request of Cherly from
Bridgestone/Firestone. The symptoms have been present for two years, which is consistent with what the patient
said. The symptoms are a result of a related — to direct trauma, which the patient apparently told the trainer he
felt it was from this incident where he stepped down and felt a pop and pain in the knee. Said patient is no
better, which is fairly consistent, because arthritis is probably not going to get better...And it says thisis a
Workers® Comp claim at Bridgestone/Firestone. I don’t know if this case has actually been covered under
workers’ comp or the patient’s Blue Cross insurance. I personally don’t know. If that’s what he told the trainer,
then that’s what he told the trainer and that’s what he put down. Put the accident occurred in 2010. It was
reported to the nurse immediately. And so I don’t have a problem with what he put down there. My only
comment is that because of the severity of the arthritis in the knee, I felt that whatever he did when he
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aggravated the knee was just a temporary aggravation lasting for about three months after that, and that’s the
only thing that I would add to it.” The doctor further stated that he did state in the January 31, 2013 letter that
Petitioner had progressive osteoarthritis which was not work-related. (RX 12, pgs. 78-79) Dr. Nord testified
that while he was treating Petitioner he did not know whether the treatment was being paid through workers’
compensation or through Blue Cross. (RX 12, pg. 80) Dr. Nord stated that Petitioner certainly did something at

work that aggravated his knee arthritis and the nurse felt he needed to come in and see him to get evaluated.
(RX 12, pg. 85)

Dr. Nord testified that “...if look at the big picture on this progression of this patient’s arthritis in his knee,
...1 think anything he did could have caused a catch or a sharp pain in the knee because of the amount of
cartilage that had been worn off the knee. Because if it was very severe he would have had a lot of swelling in
the knee, and it was only a one (1) plus effusion, and it never changed. And if it was an acute injury that really
caused much of a problem, you would have seen like a really swollen knee, and then the swelling would have
gradually gone out, but the swelling pretty much stayed consistent throughout. (RX 12, pgs. 87-88)

On redirect examination, Dr. Nord reviewed a physical therapy report of October 20, 2010. Therein
Petitioner reported he did not have any pain. Dr. Nord testified that this suggested that Petitioner’s symptoms
from whatever occurred on September 15, 2010 were temporary and not permanent. He never imposed any
restrictions on Petitioner’s ability to work. (RX 12, pg. 94, 96-97)

The deposition of Dr. Hansen was taken May 14, 2014. Dr. Hansen testified that he first saw Petitioner on
September 4, 2013. The doctor noted that Petitioner had previously been seen by Dr. Novotny. Dr. Hansen
stated Petitioner complained of right knee pain mostly on the inner portion and in the front of the knee. Dr.
Hansen stated Petitioner conveyed that he felt work made 1t worse. Dr. Hansen noted Petitioner had undergone
surgery ten years prior which he believed was an arthroscopy. Dr. Hansen testified that Petitioner had severe
arthritis and would have expected him to have pain. The doctor provided that x-rays taken showed Petitioner
had bone-on-bone arthritis medially. He explained that same indicated Petitioner was becoming bow-legged

because he was wearing out the medial joint and also at the patella. Dr. Hansen stated he diagnosed severe right
knee osteoarthritis and recommended a total knee replacement. (PX 5, pgs. 6-8)

Dr. Hansen testified that he re-examined Petitioner on February 11, 2014 and the findings were similar.
The doctor noted Petitioner had the total knee scheduled for October but his diabetes delayed it and wanted to
talk further about surgery. Dr. Hanson continued to recommend a replacement as long as Petitioner was
medically cleared with his diabetes and seizure under control. (PX 5 pgs. 10-11)

Over objection from Respondent (addressed below), Dr. Hansen was posed a hypothetical question which
included a history of Petitioner pushing down on a piece of equipment, feeling a pop with pain in his right knee
on September 15, 2010. Included in the hypothetical was the course of treatment with Dr. Nord which included
the MRI of September 22, 2010 revealing a tri-compartment chondromalacia, large patellofemoral joint effusion
with suprepatellar and medial synovial plica; deep quadriceps tendinopthy; deep infrapatellar bursitis; an acute
subacute nartial tear of the anterior cruciate ligament at the femoral insertion site; and attenuation in size of the
body and posterior horn of the medial meniscus suggestive of a previous partial medial meniscectormy. Dr.
Hansen testified that he felt the described injury was the type of injury which could cause acceleration of the
arthritis. Dr. Hansen testified that the activity could have accelerated the arthritis but certainly did not cause it.

(PX 5, pgs. 11-16) Dr. Hansen also testified that 33 years of working accelerated and aggravated Petitioner’s
arthritis and the need for a total knee replacement. (PX 5, pg. 19)
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On cross-examination, Dr. Hansen testified that he was not aware of Dr, Nord’s treatment, findings or

recommendations. prior to the date of his deposition. The doctor indicated Petitioner never mentioned the fact
that he treated with Dr. Nord. (PX 5, pgs. 20-21)

* Dr. Hansen testified that Grade IV chondromalacia is bone-on-bone which meant the medial femoral
condyle and tibial plateau condyle were in contact. Dr. Hansen testified that he never saw the actual film of the
September 22, 2010 MRI. Dr. Hansen indicated the recommendation for the total knee replacement was for the
pre-existing osteoarthritis. He indicated that the need for the total knee replacement had nothing to do with an
ACL tear. He provided that he didn’t know Petitioner had an ACL tear when he recommended the surgery. The
doctor stated, “...if his 2010 MRI is right that he had an ACL tear, well, then, he would still have an ACL tear,
but it wouldn’t be relevant. The reason he needs a knee replacement is because he’s bone on bone.” Dr. Hansen
admitted he could not state how long Petitioner had bone-on-bone arthritis. (PX 3, pgs. 22-24)

Dr. Hansen reiterated that he didn’t know when Petitioner’s arthritis started. He provided that Dr. Novotny
found some arthritis when he scoped Petitioner in 2001. He stated that the scope was for a meniscus tear and not

for arthritis. Dr. Hansen agreed that Dr. Novotny continued to treat Petitioner after 2001 for arthritis and that the
osteoarthritis pre-dated the September 2010 incident. (PX 3, pgs. 27-29)

Dr. Hansen testified that before his deposition started, he did not know anything about a claimed
September 15, 2010 injury. The doctor provided that he did not know anything about the condition of the knee

the day before the injury or if there were any changes in Petitioner’s condition after the claimed September 13,
2010 injury. (PX 5, pgs. 29-31)

During the deposition, Dr. Hansen was shown a copy of Dr. Novotny’s records dated November 19, 2002
wherein Dr. Novotny indicated that at that point there were multiple areas of full thickness cartilage defects
which may ultimately lead to a total knee replacement. Dr. Hansen provided that same would indicate there
was evidence of full thickness cartilage defect at that time with bone-on-bone. Dr. Hansen stated that a total
knee replacement becomes appropriate treatment depending on the size of the defect. (PX 5, pgs. 31-32) Dr.
Hansen provided that persons with severe osteoarthritis will not improve on its own. The course is for it to
become worse. He indicated that given the degree of osteoarthritis Petitioner had in 2001 it was not unexpected
that twelve years later he would need a total knee replacement from the underlying condition. He also provided
that the need could occur without trauma, it is the normal course of degenerative joint disease. (PX 5, pg. 33)

Dr. Hansen reviewed additional records from Dr. Novotny. The doctor admitted that based on the records
he reviewed, the arthritis Petitioner had in February of 2003 did not improve. He still had symptomatic arthritis
in April of 2004. He admitted that a total knee replacement was one of the considerations at that time. He
testified that another option that was discussed was uni-compartment surgery and either that or a total knee
replacement would be appropriate treatment for symptomatic arthritis as noted in April of 2004. (PX 5, pgs. 34-
" 36) Dr. Hansen admitted that on July 25, 2002, Petitioner was diagnosed with Grade IV chondromalacia. Dr.
Hansen provided that symptoms of severe asteoarthritis would include pain, swelling, stiffness, loss of motion
and decreased activity. Dr. Hansen admitted that Petitioner had all these symptoms from 2001 through 2004
from the arthritis. (PX 5, pg. 38) Dr. Hansen concurred that Dr. Novotny in 2004 indicated that Petitioner may
ultimately need the same total knee replacement that he suggested twelve years later. Dr. Hansen indicated that
the need for the surgery in 2013 may be the normal deterioration of the condition Petitioner had twelve years

earlier and that the need for the surgery he was suggesting in 2013 could be related to the condition noted in
2002. (PX 5, pgs. 38-40)
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At Respondent’s request, Petitioner was evaluated by Dr. James Cohen for a Section 12 examination on
August 26, 2014. Dr. Cohen also testified via deposition in this matter.

Dr. Cohen testified that in addition to obtaining a history from Petitioner, he also performed an
examination and reviewed numerous medical records including diagnostic studies and surgical records. Dr.
Cohen reviewed an x-ray report of the right leg of July 24, 2001 which revealed slight joint space narrowing in
the medial compartment; a MRI of the right knee of November 29, 2001 revealing a tear of the medial meniscus
with degenerative changes in the posterior horn of the medial meniscus; an operative report of December 17,
2001 indicating Petitioner had Grade IV chondromalacia of the lateral femoral condyle, trochlear groove,
medial tibial plateau and degenerative unstable tear of the posterior horn of the medial meniscus (Grade IV
chondromalacia was described by Dr. Cohen as “down to the bone, bad arthritis.”). Dr. Cohen reviewed the
operative photos of Petitioner’s right knee from the December 17, 2001 arthroscopy. Dr. Cohen testified the
photo showed a full thickness large defect in the lateral femoral condyle with a large area of complete chondral
loss and degenerative changes. Bare bone on the medial aspect of the medial tibial plateau with evidence of a
medial meniscus tear was noted. Dr. Cohen testified that the photos of the surgery of December 17, 2001
revealed severe arthritis in the medial and lateral compartments of the knee. (RX 5, pgs. 14-18)

Dr. Cohen testified that he reviewed a note from Dr. Novotny of January 17, 2002. Therein, Dr. Novoty,
who released Petitioner for work, indicated that he may need further treatment as he had significant cartilage
damage as noted on the arthroscopy. Dr. Cohen noted Petitioner was seen by Dr. Novotny on July 25, 2002
wherein he was assessed with symptomatic knee arthritis with occasional mechanical pain. (RX 5, pgs. 22-23)

Dr. Cohen testified that on November 19, 2002, Dr. Novotny felt Petitioner’s prognosis was guarded in
that he had multiple areas of full thickness cartilage defect in the knee which may ultimately require a total knee
replacement. Dr. Cohen testified that this suggested that as early as 2002 Petitioner had damage to the cartilage
with advanced arthritic changes. Dr. Cohen felt that the findings noted in 2002 would have justified
recommendation for a total knee replacement at that time. Dr. Cohen reviewed Dr. Novotny’s records from
2002 through April of 2004. Dr. Cohen noted that in April of 2004, Petitioner had received a series of
injections and that the X-rays taken in 2004 revealed a fair amount of patellofemoral degenerative changes with

superior and inferior osteophyte formations. Dr. Cohen explained that there were bone spurs developing around
the front of the knee joint. (RX 5, pgs. 24-28)

Dr. Cohen testified that he reviewed Dr. Nord’s records of September 21, 2010 wherein Dr. Nord noted
Petitioner had an insidious onset of right knee discomfort and felt a pop with sharp pain after pushing down on a
piece of equipment. Dr. Cohen provided that he reviewed the film taken in September of 2010 and the MRI
report. Dr. Cohen opined same showed degenerative changes. He did not feel there was evidence of a complete
ACL tear. (RX 5, pg. 32) Dr. Cohen reviewed Dr. Hansen’s records noting the doctor’s severe right knee
osteoarthritis diagnosis on February 11, 2014. (Resp. Ex. No. 5, p. 36) Dr. Cohen testified that he also reviewed
transcripts of the evidence depositions of Dr. Hansen, and Dr. Novotny. (RX 5, pg. 37)

Dr. Cohen testified that during his examination, the ACL in the right knee seemed to be functioning fine.
Dr. Cohen testified that he reviewed the films of September 22, 2010. The findings were consistent with
degenerative arthritis of the knee and were unrelated to an injury occurring on September 15, 2010. (RX 3, pes.
39-44) Dr. Cohen also reviewed x-rays taken on September 4, 2013. The doctor opined those findings were
unrelated to the September 2010 incident, indicating they were longstanding, chronic degenerative changes. Dr.
Cohen also opined that neither the MRI nor the x-ray showed any evidence of an aggravation from the

September 15, 2010 claimed injury. (RX 5, pg 46)
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Dr. Cohen testified that he reviewed the surgical photos from 2001. He provided that the photos showed
severe arthritic changes and cartilage loss. Dr. Cohen concluded Petitioner had severe arthritic changes in the
medial and lateral compartments in December of 2001. Dr. Cohen testified that the changes in the arthritis noted
in 2010 could not be the result of an injury occurring on September 15, 2010 because progressive arthritis was
shown and not traumatic injury. Dr. Cohen testified that the records he reviewed (the September 2010 MRI, the
2013 X-rays and the office notes after 2010) were inconsistent with the conclusion that Petitioner sustained an

acute trauma on September 15, 2010. The doctor stated that all the changes noted were degenerative. (RX 5,
pes. 48-52)

Dr. Cohen testified that he agreed with Dr. Novotny’s opinion of 2005 that Petitioner at some point during
his life would most likely need a total knee replacement due to the severe arthritis. Dr. Cohen testified that
Petitioner had severe symptoms and pain in the right knee for at least three years after the 2001 arthroscopy
which was caused by severe arthritis in the knee. That type of arthritis would eventually require a total knee
replacement. Dr. Cohen was of the opinion that the incident of September 15, 2010 did not accelerate or
aggravate Petitioner’s underlying condition. The doctor felt Petitioner’s symptoms were a manifestation of a
severe arthritic condition which started and was present since at least 2001. Dr, Cohen testified that as
Petitioner’s arthritis deteriorated over time, pain could occur without any trauma. (RX 5, pgs. 52-56) Dr. Cohen
also stated that the total knee replacement that Dr. Hansen recommended is the same type of surgery Dr.
Novotny discussed back in April 2004. (RX 5, pg. 57)

On cross-examination Dr. Cohen was asked whether frequent stepping on Petitioner’s foot at work was
the type of activity that would accelerate advanced arthritis. Dr. Cohen was of the opinion that said type of the
“activity would not accelerate advanced arthritis. He indicated that “people can have a temporary increase in
symptoms from activity with arthritis, but it doesn’t change the natural history.” (RX 5, pgs. 87-88) Dr. Cohen
provided that Petitioner’s symptoms manifested themselves on September 15, 2010, as Petitioner was
complaining of pain. (RX 5, pg. 89) Dr. Cohen however stated that the symptoms Petitioner had for which he
was seen by Dr. Nord and Dr. Hansen were unrelated to the September 15, 2010 injury. Dr. Cohen stated, ““.. .he
was complaining of symptoms. But with his severe arthritic changes in his knee and the fact that he had
documented ongoing symptoms for a period of three years in the records I reviewed, that I believe that he was
having ongoing symptoms in his knee. I can’t imagine that he was symptom-free.” (RX 5, pgs. 90-91) Dr.

Cohen testified that arthritis can be aggravated by a work incident if there is a significant chondral injury. (RX
5, pg. 95)

Dr. Cohen testified that the fact Petitioner was able to work for three years after the claimed injury of
2010, demonstrated that he could work with symptomatic knee arthritis. Dr. Cohen testified that the operative
findings were significant enough to justify a total knee replacement in 2004. Dr. Cohen testified that Petitioner’s
arthritic findings from 2001 through 2004 reflected that he had Grade IV arthritis. Those are the same findings
which led Dr. Hansen to recommend a total knee replacement in 2013. (RX 5, pg. 102) Dr. Cohen testified that
there wasn’t anything in Dr. Nord’s records suggesting there was an acceleration of the underlying arthritic
condition. Dr. Cohen agreed with Dr. Nord’s January 31, 2013 report that Petitioner had underlying
osteoarthritis which was not work-related. (Resp. Ex. No. 5, p. 104) Dr. Cohen clarified that Petitioner’s job
which involved stepping on a tire would not accelerate his underlying end-stage arthritis. (RX 5, pgs. 106-107)

Dr. Cohen testified that had Petitioner undergone a total knee replacement prior to September of 2010, he would
have agreed with that treatment. (RX 5, pg. 110)

Dr. Cohen testified that the fact Petitioner had pain at work did not mean that there was a change in the
underlying condition. Dr. Cohen testified that arthritis caused Petitioner’s pain and the pain was not related or
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caused by the stepping activities at work. He would have pain while stepping, but the pain was from the
arthritis and not the activity. (RX 5, pgs 114-118)

Regarding (C) Did an accident occur that arose out of and in the course of Petitioner's employment by
Respondent, the Arbitrator finds the following.

Petitioner claimed that he sustained a work injury on September 15, 2010. Respondent has disputed that
he sustained a compensable injury at work. Petitioner’s unrebutted testimony demonstrates that on September
15, 2010, he had prepped a press. While doing so, a plate stuck to a tire. Petitioner used his right leg to break the
tire free from the plate by stepping down on the plate. As a result of this action, he felt a pop in his right knee.
Petitioner immediately reported the occurrence to his supervisor and prepared an accident report. Thereafter, he
was referred to Dr. Lawrence Nord, the Company doctor. Dr. Nord’s office records show he began treating
Petitioner on September 21, 2010. Dr. Nord recorded a history that Petitioner presented with an “[i]nsidious
onset of right knee discomfort while working at Bridgestone/Firestone. Patient states he felt a pop and sharp

pain after pushing down on a piece of equipment at Bridgestone/Firestone.” Dr. Nord diagnosed Petitioner with
right knee internal derangement syndrome.

Based on the above, the Arbitrator finds that Petitioner sustained an accident that arose out of and in the
course of his employment on September 15, 2010,

Regarding (F) Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury, the Arbitrator
finds the following.

Evidence submitted shows that Petitioner underwent surgery to the right leg on December 17, 2001. At
that time, Petitioner had a full thickness defect in the lateral femoral condyle with bone-on-bone in the medial
aspect of the medial tibial plateau. Dr. Cohen, Respondent’s expert, felt Petitioner’s complaints when seen in

August 2014 were not related to the claimed 2012 injury. He based his opinion regarding the findings in 2001
on the actual photos taken during surgery on December 17, 2001.

Petitioner testified that he had a relatively uneventful recovery subsequent to the surgery in 2001.
However, the records of Dr. Novotny show a clear course of treatment to the right knee, through at least May
of 2004 without significant improvement. Petitioner underwent a series of five supartz injections with no
evidence that his condition improved. As early as November of 2002, it was noted that Petitioner would
ultimately need a knee replacement. That recommendation was made again in April of 2004.

As aresult of the September 15, 2010 incident, Petitioner began treating with Dr. Nord who recorded a
history of insidious onset of right knee pain. Dr. Nord testified that this may have been an aggravation of pain
but 1t was only temporary. Dr. Nord testified that as of January of 2011 the temporary aggravation had clearly
resolved. Dr. Nord testified that as of that date, Petitioner’s symptoms were strictly the result of the pre-
existing arthritis. Dr. Nord also reviewed a physical therapy report of October 2010 and noted that at that time,
Petitioner’s complaints and symptoms had resolved and whatever temporary aggravation that had occurred in
September of 2010, had resolved. Dr. Nord further testified that there was no permanent aggravation as
Petitioner’s swelling in the knee did not change over the course of time he treated Petitioner. Dr. Nord testified
that if in fact there had been a traumatic event, there would have been an increase in swelling which would have
diminished over a period of time. Dr. Nord saw Petitioner from 2010 until January of 2013. He testified that
there was no change in swelling, which suggested to him that Petitioner’s condition was chronic. Dr. Nord
specifically testified that the need for the proposed knee replacement was severe, pre-existing osteoarthritis. Dr.
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Nord testified that in his opinion, the activity of September 15, 2010 did not in any way cause, aggravate or
accelerate the need for the knee replacement.

Dr. Cohen, Respondent’s Section12 examiner, who has extensive experience with knee replacements,
testified that he reviewed MRIs before and after September 15, 2010. He reviewed the films from the surgery in
2001, reviewed the MRI after September 15, 2010 and compared the same. He testified that the pre-September
2010 MRIs, films and operative reports, demonstrated a severe, degenerative, arthritic right knee condition. Dr.
Cohen testified that based on the records of Dr. Novotny and the materials he reviewed, Petitioner would have
been a viable candidate for a knee replacement as early as 2002 and was certainly a candidate in 2004. Dr.
Cohen testified that the condition Petitioner had when he examined him and the need for the knee replacement
after September 15, 2010 was strictly the result of the pre-existing degenerative arthritis which had been present
since at Jeast 2001. When asked, Dr. Cohen testified that the activity of stepping on the tire, would neither
cause, aggravate or accelerate Petitioner’s underlying arthritic condition.

Dr. Hansen offered a causal relationship via deposition in this matter. Respondent objected to Dr.
Hansen’s opinions regarding causal connection. The Arbitrator finds the testimony of Dr. Hansen is allowed
and is not in violation of the decision in Ghere. Respondent argues that the Arbitrator should exclude Dr.
Hansen’s causation testimony based on Ghere v. Industrial Comm'n, 278 Ill.App.3d 840, 215 Ill.Dec. 532, 663

N.E.2d 1046 (1996), because no report was tendered to employer in advance of the testimony notifying
employer that Dr. Hansen would testify about the issue.

The purpose of having the claimant's physician send a copy of his or her records to the employer no later
than 48 hours prior to the arbitration hearing is to prevent the claimant from springing surprise medical
testimony on the employer. Ghere, 278 111.App.3d at 845, 215 Ill.Dec. 532, 663 N.E.2d 1046. In this case,
Respondent had all of the records of Dr. Hansen as well as all of the records of Dr. Nord with unique
knowledge of same as Respondent had referred Petitioner to Dr. Nord. The court in Homebrite Ace Hardware
v. Industrial Com'n, 351 L. App.3d 333, 814 N.E.2d 126111 App. 5 Dist.,2004 found that Ghere should not be
construed strictly without looking at the circumstances. In Homebrite, the court stated the following

Here, employer contends that the Commission cannot arbitrarily determine when an opinion constitutes
surprise testimony. It suggests that the Commission must strictly adhere to Ghere and thus any
undisclosed opinion testimony must be deemed as surprise and be barred. Employer argues that it would
be unduly burdensome for a court to have to regularly inquire as to what parties expect an opposing
witness to testify to in order to guarantee no surprise. We disagree.

We find no indication in Ghere that its holding must be so strictly interpreted. The Ghere court examined
the physician's records and treatment history to determine whether the employer was put on notice
regarding the possibility that the physician might provide causation testimony. The court did not set forth
a bright-line rule or presumption that undisclosed opinion testimony constitutes surprise. Furthermore,
Ghere 1s factually distinguishable because the physician in Ghere had never treated the employee's heart
condition, whereas Dr, Heffner did treat claimant for his neck problems. Dr. Heffner's records contain
details about his treatment of claimant's neck complaints and therefore the records put employer on notice
that Dr. Heffner might testify as to a causal relationship between the neck condition and claimant's work
accident. Indeed, the only contested issue at arbitration was claimant's cervical injury. Employer's
suggestion that Dr. Heffner's testimony should have been excluded is not well taken under these facts.

In the present case, Dr. Hansen was a treating physician who undertook care of Petitioner’s right knee
condition. The sole issue in the case was need for treatment and causation of Petitioner’s knee condition.

16IWCC039¢

14



i
¥

Respondent was not surprised the day of the hearing but learned of Dr. Hanson's opinion on causation of

Petitioner’s right knee on May 14, 2014 with the Arbitration hearing taking place on March 17, 2015, The
Arbitrator finds the testimony of Dr. Hansen is allowed.

Notwithstanding the above ruling, the Arbitrator is not persuaded by Dr. Hansen’s opinion that a casual
relationship existed based on an aggravation basis. Dr. Hnasen did not know anything about Petitioner’s pre-
existing condition when he first saw Petitioner in August of 2013. He did not know anything about the
treatment with Dr. Larry Nord and has never reviewed an MRI of Petitioner’s right knee. Prior to the date of his
deposition, Dr. Hansen was unaware of a claimed injury date of September 15, 2010. The Arbitrator notes that
although Dr. Hansen’s initial office notes indicate the matter was work related and a “Patient Information
Record” prepared by Petitioner show he indicated that his job as a “press operator” contributed to his pain, an
“Insurance Information” form also completed by Petitioner, indicate that his injury was not work related. Dr.
Hansen apparently submitted his surgical recommendation to Petitioner’s group health carrier, Blue Cross
BlueShield of Tennessee. The paperwork completed by Petitioner for Dr. Hansen’s examination, suggests
Petitioner’s condition was not work-related and the bills were to be submitted to Blue Cross Blue Shield.

Dr. Hansen repeatedly testified that Petitioner had pre-existing degenerative arthritis in the knee. He
admitted that whatever occurred in September of 2010 did not cause the arthritis. He could not point te any
findings which would be the result of that activity confirming an aggravation, acceleration or exacerbation. The
doctor admitted that the only condition he intended to address with the total knee replacement was the
underlying arthritic condition and that condition pre-dated the claimed injury of September 15, 2010. He
admitted that in reviewing the records of Dr. Novotny that a total knee replacement, had been discussed with the
Petitioner at least as early as November of 2002. Given the findings of Petitioner’s knee in 2001, he was not at
all surprised that twelve years later, he may need a total knee replacement. He testified that same could occur
with or without trauma, simply as a result of the underlying discase, degeneration process.

With respect to Dr. Hnasen’s statement that Petitioner’s knee condition is the result of working at the
Company for 33 years. That opinion has little if no merit insofar as the Commission previously found in 2007

that Petitioner’s right knee complaints and conditions were not the result of an injury or activity occurring at
work.

Petitioner’s own testimony undermines his claim. Petitioner provided previous testimony in 2005
wherein he testified that he had significant ongoing problems with his right leg that had not resolved. Petitioner,
as of that date, clearly had problems, symptoms and complaints involving his right knee.

Petitioner was repeated questioned whether or not he had been advised prior to 2010 that he needed to
have a knee replacement. The records from Dr. Novotny clearly reflect that those discussions occurred at least
eight years prior to Petitioner’s claimed injury in September of 2010.

Petitioner underwent surgery for his right knee condition in December of 2001. He was off work for a
period of time and then returned to regular duty. He described his job at that time as requiring him to walk five
miles a day, bending, stooping, lifting, pushing, pulling, carrying and climbing. He testified that the job
changed after the injury but before he testified in November of 2005, The arbitration transcript clearly reflects
that as of November 11, 2005, Petitioner performed the job of press operator. This is the exact job he
performed on September 15, 2010 and the job he performed up to the date he retired, May 30, 2013. The
Petitioner admitted that after the alleged September 15, 2010 injury, he continued working and did not miss any
time from work through May 30, 2013. He admitted that not only did he continue working, but he continued
working without any limitations, restrictions or change in the way he performed his job. Petitioner admitted that
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he stopped working on May 30, 2013 for an unrelated condition. Furthermore, Petitioner was questioned
whether or not in 2004 he put off any further treatment or surgery which had been discussed because he did not

want to take time off work. Petitioner admitted that he did not want surgical treatment for the right knee at that
time as he did not want to take any further time off work.

Based on the above, the Arbitrator finds that as a result of the accident sustained, Petitioner sustained a
temporary aggravation of his right knee condition which had resolved as of January of 2011. After reviewing
Petitioner’s testimony, reviewing the medical reports and records and deposition transcripts, the Arbitrator
further finds that Petitioner failed to prove that the knee replacement currently being recommended is not
causally connected to the accident sustained on September 15, 2010. For this reason, the Arbitrator denies
Petitioner’s 19(b)/8(a) request for prospective medical.

With exception to evidentiary issues, all remaining issues are moot.

Regarding Issue (O) Evidence Rulings - Did Respondent have authorization to request a causal
connection opinion from Dr. Nord?

Dr. Nord, the Company doctor, who had been Petitionet’s treating physician most immediately
following the claimed date of accident, in his January 31, 2013 note to Respondent stated:

The patient previously had undergone right knee arthroscopic debridement by Dr. Novoiny in
20035. This patient has underlying osteoarthritis, which is not work related. However, the extent
of his knee arthritis has progressed to the point now where he probably needs to undergo right

total knee replacement. There is no causal connection of the patient’s bilateral knee arthritis
regarding his work at Bridgestone/Firestone.

Petitioner’s aftorney’s objection to the doctor’s opinion under the Petrillo is misplaced. In Hydraulics-v-

Industrial Commission 329 Tll.App.3d 166, 169-170, 768 N.E.2d 760, 76, 263 Tll.Dec. 679, 682 (TlL.App. 2
Dist.,2002) the Appellate Court wrote:

'To hold a workers' compensation claimant, by virtue of filing an Application for Adjustment of
Claim, waives his or her physician-patient privilege flies in the face of the public policy

announced by the Illinois Appellate Court in Petrillo, and more recently, the Illinois Supreme
Court in Best.”

On March 2, 1999, a hearing was held before the arbitrator pursuant to remand from the
Commission. The arbitrator took Pencak’s testimony wherein she admitted that she had not
sought claimant's permission prior to communicating with Dr. Ruder. At this hearing, the

arbitrator again excluded the new job description and Dr. Ruder's revised opinion, but admitted
the video tape. '

In this case Petitioner gave a signed release allowing Respondent to contact his treating physicians “including,
but not limited to™ his original treating physician. (Respondent’s Exhibit 7A.) He also executed for Dr. Nord a
form specifically allowing the doctor to communicate “relevant information on the Patient’s medical record”

with to insurance companies and other third party payers. A causal connection opinion is “relevant information
on the Patient’s medical record” in a Workers Compensation setting.

The pertinent portions of the release signed by the Petitioner on September 21, 2010 states:
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Release of information: The Signer her